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SUMMARY
INTRODUCTION

Warning……………………………

This summary should be read as an introduction to the Prospectus. Any decision
to invest in the Shares should be based on a consideration of the Prospectus as
a whole by the investor. An investment in the Shares involves inherent risk and
the investor could lose all or part of its invested capital. Where a claim relating
to the information contained in this Prospectus is brought before a court, the
plaintiff investor might, under national law, have to bear the costs of translating
the Prospectus before the legal proceedings are initiated. Civil liability attaches
only to those persons who have tabled the summary including any translation
thereof, but only where the summary is misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent,
when read together with the other parts of the Prospectus, or where it does not
provide, when read together with the other parts of the Prospectus, key
information in order to aid investors when considering whether to invest in such
securities.

Securities…………………………

The Company has one class of shares in issue. The Shares are registered in bookentry form with the VPS and have ISIN NO 0010892359.

Issuer………………………………

The Company's registration number in the Norwegian Register of Business
Enterprises

is

912

305

198

and

its

Legal

Entity

Identifier

(LEI)

is

549300EW945NUS7PK214. The Company's registered office is located at
Hydrovegen 6, 3933 Porsgrunn, Norway. The Company's website can be found
at www. hydrogen-pro.com and its telephone number is +47 990 79 500.
Competent authority…………

The Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway (Nw.: Finanstilsynet), with
registration number 840 747 972 and registered address at Revierstredet 3,
0151 Oslo, Norway, and telephone number (+47) 22 93 98 00 has reviewed and,
on 30 September 2022, approved this Prospectus.
KEY INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER

Who is the issuer of the securities?
Corporate information………

The Company is a public limited liability company organised and existing under
the laws of Norway pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act.
The Company was incorporated in Norway on 2 August 2013 as a private limited
liability company and transformed to a public limited liability company following
the extraordinary general meeting held on 5 September 2022, and its
registration number in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises is 912 305
198 and its Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) is 549300EW945NUS7PK214.

Principal activities…………….

HydrogenPro designs and supplies large scale hydrogen production plants in
cooperation with global partners and suppliers, all ISO 9001, ISO 45001 and ISO
14001 certified.

Major

Shareholders owning 5% or more of the Shares have an interest in the

shareholders……………

Company's share capital which is notifiable pursuant to the Norwegian Securities
Trading Act. The following table sets forth shareholders owning 5% or more of
the shares in the Company as of 29 September 2022.
Table 1 – Major shareholders
#

Shareholders

1

Richard Espeseth

Number of Shares

Percent

11,424,125

2

19.69%

TM Holding AS

9,635,182

16.60%

3

Clearstream Banking S.A.

7,043,392

12.14%

4

Mitsubishi Heavy Industries LTD

5,381,165

9.27%

5

Vivian Yanjin Chen Espeseth

3,173,571

5.47%

6

Key managing directors……

The Company's executive management consists of four individuals. The names
of the members of the management and their respective positions are presented
in the below table.
Table 2 – Overview of the executive management
Name

Current position within the Company

Richard Espeseth

Interim Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

Martin Thanem Holtet

Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

Erik Chr. Bolstad

Chief Commercial Officer (CCO)

Karoline Aafos

Chief Project Officer (CPO)

Independant

The Company's independent auditor is BDO AS, with company registration

auditor………………

number 993 606 650 and registered business address at Munkedamsveien 45A,
0250 Oslo, Norway.

What is the key financial information regarding the issuer?
In 2021, the Company decided to convert its financial reporting from Norwegian Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles ("NGAAP") to International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the EU ("IFRS"). As such,
the Company has prepared audited annual consolidated financial statements for the financial years 31
December 2021 in accordance with IFRS, with unaudited comparative figures for the financial year ended 31
December 2020 (the "IFRS Financial Statements"). Further, the Company has prepared audited annual
consolidated financial statements for the financial years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 in accordance
with NGAAP (the "NGAAP Financial Statements", and together with the IFRS Financial Statements, the
"Annual Financial Statements").
Moreover, the Company has prepared unaudited consolidated interim financial statements for the six-month
periods ended 30 June 2022 with comparable figures for the same period in 2021 (the "Interim Financial
Statements", and together with the Annual Financial Statements, the "Financial Statements") in accordance
with International Accounting Standard 34 "Interim Financial Reporting", as adopted by the EU ("IAS 34").
The Interim Financial Statements for the period ended 30 June 2022 has been subject to a limited scope audit
by the Company's auditor, BDO AS, in relation to the Listing on Oslo Børs.
The table below sets out key financial information extracted from the Company's consolidated statement of
income for the year ended 31 December 2021, 2020 and 2019 (prepared in accordance with IFRS for the
financial years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 and NGAAP for the financial years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019) and for the six-month periods ended 30 June 2022 and 2021 (prepared in accordance with
IAS 34).
Table 3 – Key Financials – Income Statement
(Amounts in NOK thousands)
Total revenue
Operating profit/loss
Net financial income and expenses

Year ended 31 December
2021
IFRS
Audited

2020
IFRS
Unaudited

2020
NGAAP
Audited

2019
NGAAP
Audited

Six-month period
ended 30 June
2022
2021
IAS 34
IAS 34
Unaudited
Unaudited

20 036

26 694

26 694

25 156

16 562

732

-60 461

-5 961

-5 954

-14 607

-49 261

-24 129

3 053

-2 280

-2 013

-895

6 970

-77

Profit/loss before income tax

-57 407

-8 241

-8 234

-16 620

-42 290

-24 206

Profit/loss for the year

-56 432

-15 967

-15 961

-12 871

-43 265

-23 842

The table below sets out key financial information extracted from the Company's consolidated balance sheet
as of 31 December 2021, 2020 and 2019 (prepared in accordance with IFRS for the financial years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020 and NGAAP for the financial years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019) and as of
30 June 2022 and 2021 (prepared in accordance with IAS 34).
Table 4 – Key Financials – Financial Position

Year ended 31 December
2020
IFRS
Unaudited

2020
NGAAP
Audited

Total assets

528 089

559 983

569 956

27 067

602 849

553 460

Total equity

511 256

515 677

515 677

-15 536

485 625

533 630

16 833

44 306

54 279

42 604

117 223

19 830

528 089

559 983

569 956

27 067

602 849

553 460

(Amounts in NOK thousands)

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
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2019
NGAAP
Audited

Six-month period
ended 30 June
2022
2021
IAS 34
IAS 34
Unaudited
Unaudited

2021
IFRS
Audited

The table below sets out key financial information extracted from the Company's consolidated statement of
cash flow for the years ended 31 December 2021, 2020 and 2019 (prepared in accordance with IFRS for the
financial years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 and NGAAP for the financial years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019) and as of 30 June 2022 and 2021 (prepared in accordance with IAS 34).
Table 5 – Key Financials – Cash Flow

Year ended 31 December

Six-month period
ended 30 June
2022
2021
IAS 34
IAS 34
Unaudited
Unaudited

(Amounts in NOK thousands)

2021
IFRS
Audited

2020
IFRS
Unaudited

2020
NGAAP
Audited

2019
NGAAP
Audited

Net cash flow from operating activities

-47 617

-3 689

28 471

-7 709

76 237

-14 018

Net cash flows from investing activities

-78 050

-9 280

-51 748

-104

-22 472

-21 070

1 812

509 088

519 396

9 074

-738

-182

Cash balance start of period

506 111

9 992

9 992

8 730

382 256

506 111

Cash balance end of period

382 256

506 111

506 111

9 992

435 283

471 174

Net cash from financing activities

What are the key risks that are specific to the issuer?
Material risk factors…………

•

The Group is subject to severe competition in the hydrogen industry

•

The Group is dependent on third-party suppliers, contractors and other
service providers

•

No Group company other than HydrogenPro Tianjin Co Ltd. has yet
entered into any written agreements with material subcontractors

•

The Company has historically accumulated operating losses and had
negative cash flow from operating activities

•

The Company's services are in part related to large construction projects
with a variety of inherent risks

•

The Company may not be able to keep pace with a significant step
change in technological development or quality requirements
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KEY INFORMATION ON THE SECURITIES
What are the main features of the securities?
Type, class and ISIN……….

All of the Shares are ordinary shares in the Company and have been created
under the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act. The Shares are registered
in book-entry form with the VPS and have ISIN NO 0010892359.

Currency, par value and

The Shares will be traded in NOK on Oslo Børs. As of the date of this Prospectus,

number of securities…………

the Company's share capital is NOK 1,160,563.42 divided on 58,028,171 Shares,
each with a nominal value of NOK 0.02.

Rights

attached

to

the

securities………………………….

The Company has one class of shares in issue, and in accordance with the
Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act, all shares in that class provide equal
rights in the Company, including the rights to dividends. Each of the Shares
carries one vote.

Transfer restrictions…………

The Shares are freely transferable. The Articles of Association do not provide for
any restrictions on the transfer of Shares, or a right of first refusal for the Shares.
Share transfers are not subject to approval by the Board of Directors.

Dividend and dividend

The Company has not established any explicit dividend policy to date, but will

policy…………………………………

strive to follow a dividend policy favorable to the shareholders.

Where will the securities be traded?
The Shares have been admitted to trading on Euronext Growth Oslo, a multilateral trading facility (MTF)
operated by Oslo Børs ASA under the ticker code "HYPRO" with ISIN NO 0010892359. On 17 August 2022, the
Company applied for the Shares to be admitted to trading and listing on Oslo Børs. The Company's listing
application was approved by Oslo Børs on 28 September 2022. Upon Listing, the Shares will be deregistered
and transferred from Euronext Growth Oslo and will be admitted to trading through the facilities of Oslo Børs.
Trading in the Shares on Oslo Børs is expected to commence on 3 October 2022, under the ticker code
"HYPRO".
What are the key risks that are specific to the securities?
Material risk factors…………

•

There may not be an active and liquid market for the Shares and the
Share price could fluctuate significantly

•

Future issuances of Shares or other securities could dilute the holdings
of shareholders and materially affect the price of the Shares

KEY INFORMATION ON THE OFFER OF SECURITIES TO THE PUBLIC AND THE ADMISSION TO
TRADING ON A REGULATED MARKET
Under which conditions and timetable can I invest in this security?
Admission to trading…………

On 17 August 2022, the Company applied for admission to trading and listing of
its Shares on Oslo Børs. Oslo Børs approved the listing application on 28
September 2022. The Company expects commencement of trading in the Shares
on Oslo Børs on or about 3 October 2022.

Why is this prospectus being produced?
Reasons for the Listing……

Compared to Oslo Børs' main list, liquity in the shares trading on Euronext
Growth Oslo are generally limited. Further, the set of rules and regulations
pertaining to Euronext Growth Oslo, including financial reporting obligations and
other continuing obligations, are less extensive than those pertaining to Oslo
Børs' main list, being a regulated market. As a result of, inter alia, these factors,
many investor choose not to invest in companies listed on Euronext Growth Oslo.
To facilitate greater liquidity in the Shares and attracting new prospective
shareholders in order to build a more diversified shareholder base, the Company
decided to transfer its shares from Euronext Growth Oslo to Oslo Børs. The

9

Company further believes that the Listing will lead to an enhanced profile with
investors, business partners and customers. In addition, the Company will have
enhanced access to the capital markets for financing of potential growth
opportunities in the future.
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2

RISK FACTORS

An investment in the Company and the Shares involves inherent risk. Investors should carefully consider the risk
factors and all information contained in this Prospectus, including the financial statements and related notes. The
risks and uncertainties described in this Section 2 "Risk factors" are the material known risks and uncertainties
faced by the Group as of the date hereof that the Company believes are the material risks relevant to an
investment in the Shares. An investment in the Shares is suitable only for investors who understand the risks
associated with this type of investment and who can afford to lose all or part of their investment.
The risk factors included in this Section 2 "Risk factors" are presented in a limited number of categories, where
each risk factor is sought placed in the most appropriate category based on the nature of the risk it represents.
Within each category, the risk factors deemed most material for the Group, taking into account their potential
negative affect for the Company and its subsidiaries and the probability of their occurrence, are set out first. This
does not mean that the remaining risk factors are ranked in order of their materiality or comprehensibility, nor
based on a probability of their occurrence. The absence of negative past experience associated with a given risk
factor does not mean that the risks and uncertainties in that risk factor are not genuine and potential threats,
and they should therefore be considered prior to making an investment decision. If any of the following risks were
to materialize, either individually, cumulatively or together with other circumstances, it could have a material
adverse effect on the Group and/or its business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition and/or
prospects, which may cause a decline in the value and trading price of the Shares, resulting in loss of all or part
of an investment in the Shares.
Risks related to the business of the Group and the industry in which it operates
The Group is subject to competition within the hydrogen services industry
The Company operates in the hydrogen services industry, which is a highly competitive and fragmented industry
that includes several large and smaller companies that compete in the markets the Company serves or will serve.
The Company's larger competitors have greater resources which could allow them to better withstand industry
downturns, compete more effectively on the basis of technology and geographic scope and retain skilled
personnel. The Company's operations may be materially adversely affected if its current competitors or new
market entrants introduce new products or services with better features, performance, prices or other
characteristics than the Company's products and services, or expand into service areas where the Company
operates. Competitive pressures or other factors may also result in significant price competition, particularly
during industry downturns, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, results of
operations and financial condition. In addition, competition among vessel services and equipment providers is
affected by each provider's reputation for safety and quality.
The Group is dependent on third party suppliers, contractors and other service providers
The Company produces, sells, delivers and installs proprietary, electrolyser systems for hydrogen production. The
electrolysers are used for hydrogen production in the Company's full scale hydrogen production plants, and
contains various components manufactured by specialized third party suppliers. There are some components
where the Company only has one supplier who, to the Company's knowledge, is also the sole or primary supplier
to other hydrogen plants in the hydrogen industry. An increased demand by the Company and its competitors for
certain other components may result in increased prices and limited availability of a steady supply of the
necessary machinery, equipment and components.
Furthermore, the Company and its third-party suppliers are dependent on access to certain raw materials, in
particular nickel and steel. However, the Company is not dependent on "noble metals" as concerns its
technological solutions. Increased prices for such relevant raw materials or lack of accessibility, whether for the
Company itself or those of its suppliers who use such materials in their components, could impair the Company's
production capability.
Moreover, the Company relies upon the timely receipt of satisfactory equipment, services and other products. If
a producer or supplier is unable to produce and/or supply orders to the Company in a timely manner, whether
due to operational difficulties, such as inclement weather conditions, a reduction in the available production
capacity or otherwise, or fails to meet the Company's quality requirements, and the Company is unable to find
alternative sources to provide substitute products, this could have an adverse impact on the Company's business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and/or prospects.
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Risk related to the contract with Mitsubishi Power Americas, Inc.
The Company has entered into a contract with Mitsubishi Power Americas, Inc. ("MWPA") for a firm purchase
order of 40 electrolyser systems by MWPA with an initial value of >USD 55.6 million (see Section 8.5.3.3
"Mitsubishi Power"). The contract is one of the largest electrolyser system purchase orders ever placed and is
deemed by the Company as material to the Group's business and/or profitability (see Section 8.10 "Dependency
on contracts, patents, licenses, new manufacturing processes, etc."). According to the general terms and
conditions under the contract, MWPA may at any time and for any reason suspend or terminate the contract.
Upon termination the Company will be entitled to compensation for goods completed and delivered, a "reasonable
amount" for goods and materials in production and "reasonable costs" paid to settle cancelled orders. Such
termination or suspension of the contract could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and
financial condition of the Group.
No Group company other than HydrogenPro Tianjin has yet entered into written agreements with
material subcontractors
No Group company other than HydrogenPro Tianjin Co Ltd. ("HydrogenPro Tianjin") has yet entered into written
agreements with any of its material subcontractors with respect to the delivery of products and services to the
Company. Consequently, no guarantees may be given that the current arrangements ensure that the Company
has a sufficient and enforceable recourse right with respect to any potential liability the Company may incur
towards its customers due to delays and/or defects related to products and/or services provided by the
subcontractors. Any such losses incurred without having recourse against the relevant subcontractor could imply
a significant adverse effect on the Company's business, prospects, financial results and results of operations.
The Group's involvement in large construction and/or commercial projects involves a variety of inherent
risks
The Group's services are partly provided in connection with large scale projects which implies risks occurring for
all large construction projects. Risks related to large projects can include, but are not limited to, impact on costs
from schedule delays, risk of cost overruns, interface issues between various sub-suppliers, non-compliance with
operating and environmental requirements as well as being subject to a clients' final investment decision ("FID").
Any such event could have an adverse effect on the Company's business, prospects and/or financial position.
Further, any delay in the financing, design, and launch of our turn-key plants could materially damage our brand,
business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.
Further, the Company participates in large commercial projects, including with regards to design and supply of
large scale hydrogen production plants, which are subject to risks of delay and cost overruns inherent in any
large construction project from numerous factors, including unexpectedly long delivery times for, or shortages
of, key equipment, parts and materials, unforeseen design and engineering problems leading to delays, labor
disputes and work stoppages, health, safety and/or environmental accidents/incidents or other safety hazards,
disputes with suppliers, last minute changes to the customer's specifications, adverse weather conditions or any
other force majeure events, and inability or delay in obtaining regulatory approvals or permits. Failure to complete
a commercial project on time may result in the delay, re-negotiation or cancellation of the contract. Further,
significant delays could have a negative impact on the Company's reputation and customer relationships. The
Company could also be exposed to contractual penalties for failure to complete the project and commence
operations in a timely manner, all of which would materially adversely affect its business, financial condition and
results of operations.
The Company may not be able to keep pace with a significant step change in technological development
or quality requirements
The market for the Company's services is characterised by continuous and rapid technological developments that
have resulted in, and will likely continue to result in, substantial improvements in equipment functions and
performance. The Company competes in the green hydrogen market, including the electrolysis industry, which is
exposed to competition from other technologies providing decarbonization solutions that are not necessarily
derived from the currently established electrolysis technologies. One of the Company's core products within the
green hydrogen segment is the alkaline high-pressure electrolysis. Furthermore, the Company owns a unique
and performance enhancing coating technology company, Advanced Surface Plating ApS ("ASP"). The Company
and other producers of electrolysers and electrolysis solutions competes against one another based on different
technological regimes. As a result, the Company's future success and profitability will be dependent in part upon
its ability to:
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-

improve existing services and related equipment;

-

feasible upscaling of production capacity;

-

address the increasingly sophisticated needs of its customers; and

-

anticipate changes in technology and industry standards and respond to technological developments on
a timely basis.

Furthermore, the Company must at all times ensure sufficient product quality and/or product performance of
electrolysers and other integrated systems to meet its customers' expectations and to remain competitive. Should
the Company's electrolysis technology for any reason turn out to be less commercially viable than competing
electrolysis technologies or for any other reasons not be favored in line with competing technologies, this may
have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flow
and prospects. Further, if the Company is not successful in acquiring or developing processes and equipment or
upgrading its existing processes and equipment on a timely and cost-effective basis in response to technological
developments or changes in standards in the industry, or the Company's product quality or performance is
deemed inferior, this may have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, results of operations and
financial condition.
Risks related to the rent of properties
The Company does not own any real property and rents its office premises at Hydrovegen 6 and its facility site
at Herøya Industripark in Porsgrunn, where Mitsubishi is the owner of the electrolyser system and is entitled to
relocate the system from Herøya Industripark. The rental agreement for Herøya Industripark expires 31
December 2022, and the Company has no option to prolong the agreement. Herøya Industripark is used as
production facilities for the testing of electrolysers and is the location for the stack high-pressure alkaline
electrolyser system to produce hydrogen to be delivered to Mitsubishi (see Section 8.5.3.3). If the rental
agreement is not prolonged and the Company is unsuccessful in a timely relocation of its production facilities,
this is likely to cause a business disruption for the Company, which in turn could materially affect the Company's
business and/or results of operations.
The Group may be negatively affected by the COVID 19 pandemic or other similar pandemics
The outbreak of the coronavirus (COVID-19) or other pandemics may have a material adverse effect on the
Group. The global spread of COVID-19 has caused significant business disruptions, significant volatility in the
international debt and equity market, and significant disruptions to the economy. The COVID-19 pandemic
continues to evolve and has resulted in the implementation of numerous measures imposed by government
authorities and business worldwide, intended to contain and limit the spread of COVID 19, such as lockdowns,
closures and quarantines. For example, the infection control measures in China early in 2022 caused a delay in
the delivery of a purchase order with Mitsubishi Power (announced by the Company on 24 August 2021) due to
lockdown of the Company's fabrication facilities in China, in addition to lockdown at major Chinese ports causing
severe transportation delays.
It is currently not possible to predict the future consequences of the pandemic for the Company, its customers,
suppliers or business partners. The Group has recently acquired a fabrication facility in China and will continue to
increase its presence in China throughout 2022 (see Section 8.4 "Strategy and objectives" and Section 8.7.1
"Fabrication site in Tianjin, China"). However, the Chinese authorities is continuing to impose restrictions in China,
including Tianjin where the Company's fabrication facility is located, which may affect the Group's planned
business operations. It is expected that the COVID-19 pandemic or other similar pandemics in the future may
result in more uncertain markets, operations becoming more vulnerable to interruptions and policy makers around
the world may gravitate towards stricter regulations impacting international trade. Such consequences will likely
impact the Company and its current and planned operations and projects as well as its customers, suppliers of
goods and services, including the Company's ability to raise capital or secure financing, future customers' ability
to buy the Company's services, and contractors' ability to provide goods and services required for the Company's
project at the agreed terms, or at all.
Any future outbreak of COVID-19 is beyond the Company's control and there is no assurance that any future
outbreak of COVID-19 or other contagious diseases occurring in areas in which the Company or its suppliers,
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partners or customers operate, or even in areas in which the Company does not operate, will not seriously
interrupt the Company's business.
Risk related to the employment contracts of management and other leading personnel
The employment contracts with members of management provide for varying protection from competitive actions
following the end of employment, such as time-limited non-compete clauses and non-solicitation of customer
clauses. However, not all of the Company's key employees are bound by non-competition or non-solicitation
clauses with effect post-employment. The Company's protection against leavers participating in competing
businesses may therefore be unsatisfactory.
There is a risk that the Company does not have sufficient protection from competitive actions following the end
of employment with the Company. For instance, the Company's former CEO Elling Nygaard resigned from his
position with effect from 21 June 2022 and his employment will be formally terminated on 30 September 2022.
As a result of the termination, the Company invoked the non-solicitation clause related to the Company's
customers, suppliers and employees for a period of 12 months. However, as the Company never specified which
customers that would be covered by the non-solicitation clause within the deadline set by the WEA, this restriction
is not enforceable towards the former CEO. As such, the CEO will be able to solicit the Company's customers
following the termination date, which may have an adverse effect on the Group's business operations, reputation
and prospects.
The Company is exposed to risk relating to the efficiency of hydrogen and price of renewable power.
The Company is dependent highly exposed to hydrogen efficiency and the price of renewable power. There is still
uncertainty regarding which electrolyser technology that will become prevailing in the future (if any). In the event
that the hydrogen energy efficiency is considered unsatisfactory compared to the efficiency of other renewable
solutions, this may result in higher price for power, increased costs on equipment and a decrease in electorlyser
stack efficiency, which in turn could negatively affect the demand for hydrogen technologies. Any decrease in
such demand due to the aforementioned factors, could materially affect the Company's revenues, results of
operation and cash flow.
The Group's strategy and vision to expand globally entails risks relating to acquisition and integration of
acquired international companies and future acquisitions
The Company may consider making strategic acquisitions to support growth and profitability. In 2021, the
Company acquired 100% of the shares in ASP (incorporated in Denmark), and, in 2022, 75% of the shares in
HydrogenPro Tianjin (as defined herein) from Tianjin HQY Hydrogen Machinery Co., Ltd. ("THM") (both
incorporated in China), please see Section 11.2 "Recent development and trends" below for further details
regarding the acquisitions. Following these two acquisitions, the Company went from being a distributor of thirdparty electrolysers to become an original equipment manufacturer (see Section 8.4 "Strategy and objectives"),
which is part of its strategic vision of increasing its global presence through development of a global supply chain.
However, there is no assurance that Hydrogen Tianjin and ASP, or any future acquisition, may be successfully
integrated units. For instance, there are prevailing geopolitical risks concerning China, such as risks related to
further sanctions due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and the current tension between China and Taiwan,
which may negatively impact the Group's expansion of its operations in China.
Further, and as underlined by the Group's strategy and vision to expand globally, also through acquisitions, the
Group may target future acquisitions. A successful growth through acquisitions is dependent upon, inter alia, the
Company's ability to identify suitable acquisition targets, conduct appropriate due diligence, negotiating
transactions on favourable terms, obtaining required licenses and authorisations and successful integration of the
acquired entities. The integration of acquired businesses is subject to a variety of unknown risk and will require
management effort, time and resources which is likely to divert management's focus from other strategic
opportunities and operational matters. Furthermore, the acquisition of companies and their integration into the
Group may not be as economically successful as expected or the management of such acquired companies may
not be immediately embedded in the organizational structure of the Group.
There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to successfully integrate any businesses acquired or to
be acquired in the future (as described above) or otherwise realise anticipated benefits of any completed, planned
or future acquisition. Each of these factors could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business,
results of operations, financial condition, cash flows and/or prospects.
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Risks related to the Group's international operations
The Group operates internationally, with operations and subsidiaries located in several jurisdictions. As of the
date of this prospectus, the Group has subsidiaries, facilities and/or is located in Norway, Denmark, China, France
and the U.S. As such, the Group's operations are consequently subject to risks inherent in international business
operations, including, but not limited to, general economic conditions in each country in which the Group operates,
overlapping and differing tax structures, problems related to management of an organisation spread over various
countries, unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, compliance with a variety of local laws and
regulations, and longer accounts receivable payment cycles in certain countries. The risks of international
sanctions, political conditions and embargos, including the ongoing situation between China and Taiwan, are
particularly relevant as concerns China, where the Group has recently acquired HydrogenPro Tianjin. The Group's
operations may also be affected by factors beyond its control, such as volatility in the world economy and in its
markets. In 2022, Denmark reached its highest level of inflation since the financial crisis in 2008, mainly due to
the volatile energy market. Inflationary pressure may lead to raised prices for businesses including labor,
materials, and energy, and consequently negatively impact the Group's operations in Denmark. Consequently,
the Group is subject to risks resulting from differing legal, political, social and regulatory requirements and
economic conditions and unforeseeable developments in several jurisdictions, including in China and Denmark.
The risks described above could cause the Group to curtail or terminate operations, result in the loss of personnel
or assets, disrupt financial and commercial markets, and generate greater political and economic instability in
some of the geographic areas in which the Group operates. There can be no assurance that the Group's operations
will not be subject to such measures and that it will be able to comply with applicable regulations in all countries
in which it operates or that the Group can do so without incurring unexpected costs. If these or other risks related
to the Group's international operations cannot be effectively managed, the business, financial condition and
results of operations of the Group may be materially affected.
Risk related to wars, including the ongoing war in Ukraine
On February 24, 2022, Russian military forces launched a military invasion of Ukraine, and sustained conflict and
disruption in the region is likely. Although the length, impact and outcome of the ongoing war in Ukraine is highly
unpredictable, this conflict could lead to significant market and other disruptions, including significant volatility in
commodity prices, financial markets, supply chain interruptions, changes in consumer or purchaser preferences
as well as increase in cyberattacks and espionage. While the Group's operations are not located in either Russia
or Ukraine, its business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations depend substantially upon
commodity prices, especially steel and nickel prices, which has been affected by the war. Furthermore, the war
has contributed to higher energy/electricity prices, which in turn may negatively impact the Group's business and
operations. Although Company intends to include price clauses to reduce the Company's exposure to commodity
price risks, or through hedging arrangements, there can be no assurance as to the level of commodity prices that
will be achievable in the future. As such, any adverse change to commodity and/or electricity prices may affect
the Company's production costs, product pricing, earnings, and credit availability.
Risks related to laws, regulations and compliance
There are no firm legal frameworks in place for the Group's hydrogen business and current regulations
may change rapidly
The Company is exposed to legal and regulatory risks, including regulations concerning the environment, both
locally and internationally. The framework for the hydrogen market, in which the Company operates, is currently
in the process of being negotiated in EU by the different institutions: the European Commission, the European
Parliament, and the European Council. As of now, the hydrogen market is fragmentally regulated in the EU's Fitfor-55 Package presented in July 2021 and there is no firm legal framework in place for the Group's business and
operations, which may make it difficult for the Company to foresee regulatory or legal changes impacting its
business. Although there are no firm legal frameworks in place for the Group, the Group may be impacted by
numerous EU regulations, such as the EU Taxonomy Regulation (EU) 2020/852, which may be of importance for
the financing of green solutions, including hydrogen power, in the future. Any actions required by the Company
in order to respond to, or prepare for, such regulatory and legal changes could be costly and/or may negatively
impact the Company's operations. Furthermore, laws and regulations could hinder or delay the Company's
operations, increase the Company's operating costs, reduce demand for its services and restrict its ability to
operate its vessels or otherwise.
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Generally, the Company may in connection with its ongoing and future geographic expansion encounter specific
industry specific government regulations, or it may have customers who are subject to such regulations, including
environmental regulations, which the Company must attempt to accommodate in the jurisdictions and markets
in which it operates and those which it intends to enter into. As such, the Company is relying on the future
implementation of sensible and uniform rules on manufacturing, safety, procession, usage, transportation and
distribution of hydrogen products and technologies. Unexpected or, in the Company's opinion, insensible
regulatory measures, or none, could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial conditions,
results of operations, cash flow and prospects.
The Group is exposed to risk relating to data protection and data privacy regulations, licenses, etc.
The Group is handling data that may relate to an identified or identifiable natural person, i.e. data subject, and
therefore qualifies as personal data within the meaning of the European General Data Protection Regulation
("GDPR") or other applicable law, legislation or regulations. The Group mainly processes personal data regarding
employees and business partners as part of its business, in which the personal data is or might be transferred
outside the EU/EEA through for example access by other companies of the Group. The Group is liable for incorrect
processing of the personal data and damages caused by unauthorised processing and disclosure of personal data.
The Group recognises the importance of adhering to applicable data protection and privacy laws and regulations,
however, the Company assumes that the Group is currently not compliant with the GDPR. Failure to comply with
data protection and privacy obligations may result in financial penalties imposed by data protection authorities,
regulatory oversight, significant brand and reputational damage, legal action (class action or breach of contract)
and shareholder divestment.
GDPR sets out significant financial penalties that can be imposed on the Group as the result of any non-compliance
with the GDPR. Unauthorised disclosure of any such information may damage the Group's brand and/or
reputation. Further, this may also lead to customers attempting to cancel ongoing agreements with the Group
and/or affect the Group's ability to retain current customers and/or attract new customers. There is a risk that a
data breach event would have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial position and result of
operation.
There is also the risk that third parties may obtain and use customer-related data or other information by
circumventing the internal security systems which is part of the Group's business secrets. Should data from
customers not be properly handled, for example as a result of misconduct on the part of employees or
commissioned persons or companies or as a result of unlawful access, or should other doubts arise as to the
security of the data collected and managed by the Group, this may impair the reputation of the Group in the
public eye and in particular result in customers refraining from making use of the Group's services which would
have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial position and results.
Risks related to disputes, litigation and legal proceedings
There are inherent risks related to the Company's business which may expose the Company to litigation, including
personal injury litigation, environmental litigation, contractual litigation with clients or other contract
counterparties, intellectual property litigation and tax or securities litigation. As described in Sections 2.1.5 "The
Group's involvement in large constructions and/or commercial projects involves a variety of inherent risks" above,
the Group is involved in large constructions and commercial projects that involves a variety of inherent risks, and
there are several risks relating to hydrogen-associated products given the chemical properties of hydrogen being
highly flammable. Hydrogen possesses high rating on the flammability scale because it is flammable when mixed
in small amounts with ordinary air and ignition can occur at low volumetric ratio of hydrogen to air. As such,
incidents involving hydrogen may occur without the direct or indirect involvement of the Company but where the
Company in any event indirectly suffers to the potential detrimental effect of such incidents on the green hydrogen
market. There are several examples of such accidents having occurred with other players in the hydrogen market.
For instance, the Norwegian authorities fined two units of NEL (a Norwegian maker of zero-emission hydrogen
technology) of a total amount of NOK 25 million for an incident at a hydrogen fuel station in 2019. The incident
was due to an assembly error of a specific plug in a hydrogen tank in the high-pressure storage unit, which led
to a hydrogen leak, creating a mixture of hydrogen and air that ignited and injured three people. The Group
cannot predict with certainty the likelihood of such incidents/accidents and the subsequent outcome or effect of
any future claim, including product claims, or other litigation matters or disputes. Any litigation or dispute may
have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial position, results of operations, cash flows and/or
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prospects due to potential negative outcomes, the costs associated with prosecuting or defending such lawsuits,
and the diversion of management's attention to these matters.
The Company is not involved in any litigation. However, the Company has previously been involved in a
disagreement with an investment bank regarding their right to a fee in relation to a private placement carried out
in 2020. The dispute was later resolved. The Company may in the future be involved in litigation matters from
time to time, and any dispute and/or litigation related to such agreements could be time consuming and impose
significant costs on the Company. Any future litigation may have a material adverse effect on the Company's
business, financial position, results of operations, and the diversion of management's attention to these matters.
The Company is also subject to the laws and regulations of several jurisdictions, and failure to properly comply
with such laws and regulations may lead to costly litigations, penalties and other sanctions. The aforementioned
circumstances could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition, results of
operations and/or prospects.
Risks related to financial matters
The Company expect to raise additional capital in the future
The Company has historically been able to raise equity capital in a timely manner, for example through its private
placement successfully completed in September 2020 (NOK 600 million in gross proceeds). There can however
be no assurance that the Company will be able to raise additional capital at the relevant time in the future. The
Company will not be successful unless the Company manages to generate (recurring) revenue and grow its
business, which will require either debt or equity capital. In order to fund the Company until it reaches a
commercial stage and to execute its growth strategy, the Company expects that it will require additional capital
in the future, which may not be available on commercial terms or at all.
If funding is insufficient at any time, the Company may be unable to fund maintenance requirements and
acquisitions, take advantage of business opportunities or respond to competitive pressures, any of which could
adversely impact the Company's results of operations and financial condition. If required funds are not available
and the Company continues to accumulate losses and negative net cash flow from operating activities, it may
have to reduce expenditure on product development and/or marketing activities, which could have a material
adverse effect on the Company's business, results of operations, financial condition, cash flow and/or prospects.
Lack of ability to obtain sufficient funding in the future could result in insolvency or liquidation of the Group.
The Group may be exposed to currency exchange rate risks
The Company's functional currency is NOK. The Company operates globally and is therefore exposed to currency
fluctuations, mainly related to USD, CNY and EUR (as defined in Section 4.2.2 "Functional currency and foreign
currency"). For instance, most commodities are priced in USD and EUR, and most of the Company's expenses
are in USD, EUR and CNY. As a result, the Company is exposed to the risks that the EUR, USD or CNY may
appreciate or depreciate relative to the NOK, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's results
of operations, financial position and/or cash flows. Although the Company intends to enter into hedging
arrangements in order to manage its exposure to currencies and interest rates, there can be no guarantees that
the Group's financial results will not be adversely affected by currency exchange fluctuations or that any efforts
by the Group to engage in currency hedging activities will be effective. Currency exchange rate fluctuations, thus,
could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows
and/or prospects.
Risks related to the Shares and the Listing
There may not be an active and liquid market for the Shares and the Share price could fluctuate
significantly
An investment in the Shares is associated with a high degree of risk and the price of the Shares may not develop
favorably. The Shares have not been listed on a regulated market prior to the Listing. Prior to the Listing, the
Shares were admitted to trading on Euronext Growth Oslo, a multilateral trading facility operated by Oslo Børs.
There can be no assurance that an active and liquid trading market for the Shares will develop or be sustained
following Listing. If such market fails to develop or be sustained, it could have a negative impact on the price of
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the Shares. Investors may not be in a position to sell their shares quickly, at the market price or at all if there is
no active trading in the Shares.
The share prices of companies admitted to trading on Oslo Børs can be highly volatile and the trading volume
and price of the Shares could fluctuate significantly. Some of the factors that could negatively affect the Share
price or result in fluctuations in the price or trading volume of the Shares include, for example, changes in the
Company's actual or projected results of operations or those of its competitors, changes in earnings projections
or failure to meet investors' and analysts' earnings expectations, investors' evaluations of the success and effects
of the Company's strategy, as well as the evaluation of the related risks, changes in general economic conditions
or the equities markets generally, changes in the industries in which the Company operates, changes in
shareholders and other factors. This volatility has had a significant impact on the market price of securities issued
by many companies. Those changes may occur without regard to the operating performance of these companies.
The price of the Shares may therefore fluctuate due to factors that have little or nothing to do with the Company,
and such fluctuations may materially affect the price of the Shares.
Future issuances of Shares or other securities could dilute the holdings of shareholders and/or materially
affect the price of the Shares
The Company's business will require capital and, to the extent the Company does not generate sufficient cash
from its operations, the Company expects that it will need to raise additional funds through public or private debt
or equity financing, collaborative arrangements, strategic alliances or from other sources to successfully execute
strategies with respect to product development and commercialization within its existing business, to fund capital
expenditures and further growth in general or for other reasons. As such, the Company may after completion of
the Listing decide to offer and issue new Shares or other securities in order to finance new capital-intensive
projects, in connection with unanticipated liabilities or expenses, in order to invite new strategic or financial
investors to the Company, or for any other purposes by way of a public offering or a private placement as the
case may be. As further described under Section 12.5 "Share incentive programs", the Company has implemented
three share option schemes for employees, consultants and board members which currently comprises up to
5,780,630 options, out of which 5,261,057 options have been granted. The granted options, as well as any new
options that may be granted, will have a dilutive effect on the Company's shareholders when exercised.
Depending on the structure of any such future issuance of new shares, certain existing shareholders may not
have the ability, or be given the opportunity to participate in such equity offering. An issuance of additional equity
securities or securities with rights to convert into equity could reduce the market price of the Shares and would
dilute the economic and voting rights of the existing shareholders if made without granting subscription rights to
existing shareholders. Accordingly, the Company's shareholders bear the risk of any future offerings reducing the
market price of the Shares and/or diluting their shareholdings in the Company.
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4

GENERAL INFORMATION
Other important information

This Prospectus has been approved by the Norwegian FSA, as competent authority under Regulation (EU)
2017/1129. The Norwegian FSA only approves this Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness,
comprehensibility and consistency imposed by Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, and such approval should not be
considered as an endorsement of the issuer or the quality of the securities that are the subject of this Prospectus.
Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the securities.
The information contained herein is current as of the date hereof and subject to change, completion and
amendment without notice. In accordance with Article 23 of the EU Prospectus Regulation, significant new factors,
material mistakes or material inaccuracies relating to the information included in this Prospectus, which may
affect the assessment of the Offer Shares and which arises or is noted between the time when the Prospectus is
approved by the Norwegian FSA and the listing of the Shares on Oslo Børs, will be mentioned in a supplement to
this Prospectus without undue delay. Neither the publication nor distribution of this Prospectus, nor the sale of
any Offer Shares, shall under any circumstance imply that there has not been any change in the Group's affairs
or that the information herein is correct as of any date subsequent to the date of this Prospectus.
The Company has furnished the information in this Prospectus. The Manager makes no representation or
warranty, express or implied, as to the accuracy, completeness or verification of the information set forth herein,
and nothing contained in this Prospectus is, or shall be relied upon, as a promise or representation in this respect,
whether as to the past or the future. The Manager disclaims, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law,
any and all liability whether arising in tort, contract or otherwise which it might otherwise be found to have in
respect of this Prospectus or any such statement.
None of the Company or the Manager, or any of its respective affiliates, representatives, advisers or selling
agents, is making any representation, express or implies, to any offeree or purchaser of the Shares regarding the
legality of an investment in the Shares. Each investor should consult with his or her own advisors as to the legal,
tax, business, financial and related aspects of a purchase of the Shares.
Investing in the Shares involves a high degree of risk. See Section 2 "Risk factors" beginning on page 11.
Presentation of financial and other information
Financial information
In 2021, the Company decided to convert its financial reporting from Norwegian Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles ("NGAAP") to International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the EU ("IFRS").
As such, the Company has prepared audited annual consolidated financial statements for the financial years
ended 31 December 2021 in accordance with IFRS, with unaudited comparative figures for the financial year
ended 31 December 2020 (the "IFRS Financial Statements"), appended hereto as Appendix C. Further, the
Company has prepared audited annual consolidated financial statements for each of the financial years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019 in accordance with NGAAP (the "NGAAP Financial Statements", and together with
the IFRS Financial Statements, the "Annual Financial Statements"), appended hereto as Appendix D and
Appendix E, respectively.
Moreover, the Company has prepared interim consolidated financial statements for the six-month periods ended
30 June 2022 and 2021 (the "Interim Financial Statements", and together with the Annual Financial
Statements, the "Financial Statements") in accordance with International Accounting Standard 34 "Interim
Financial Reporting", as adopted by the EU ("IAS 34"), appended hereto as Appendix B. The Interim Financial
Statements for the six-month period ended 30 June 2022 has been subject to a limited scope audit review by
BDO (as defined below), as such review is a listing requirement for admission to listing on Oslo Børs.
The IFRS Financial Statements is included as Appendix C (IFRS 2021 and 2020), the NGAAP Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 is included as Appendix D (NGAAP 2020), and the NGAAP Financial
Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 is included as Appendix E (NGAAP 2019) to this
Prospectus. The Annual Financial Statements has been audited by BDO AS ("BDO").
Other than set out above, BDO has not audited, reviewed or produced any report or any other information
provided in this Prospectus.
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Functional currency and foreign currency
In this Prospectus, all references to "NOK" are the lawful currency of Norway, all references to "DDK" are to the
lawful currency of Denmark, all references to "EUR" are to euro, the single currency of member states of the EU
participating in the European Monetary Union having adopted the euro as its lawful currency, and all references
to "CNY" are to Chinese yuan renminbi, the lawful currency of the People's Republic of China.
The Company has NOK as its functional currency and the Financial Statements are presented in NOK, while its
subsidiary ASP has DKK as its functional currency.
Rounding
Certain figures included in this Prospectus have been subject to rounding adjustments (by rounding to the nearest
whole number or decimal or fraction, as the case may be). Accordingly, figures shown for the same category
presented in different tables may vary slightly. As a result of rounding adjustments, the figures presented may
not add up to the total amount presented.
Alternative performance measures
In this Prospectus, the Company presents certain alternative performance measures ("APMs"), including EBITDA,
Adjusted EBITDA and Investments. The APMs are not measurements of performance under IFRS or other
generally accepted accounting principles, and investors should not consider any such measures to be an
alternative to (a) operating revenues or operating profit (as determined in accordance with IFRS or other generally
accepted accounting principles), as a measure of the Group's operating performance; or (b) any other measures
of performance under generally accepted accounting principles. The APMs presented herein may not be indicative
of the Group's historical operating results, nor are such measures meant to be predictive of the Group's future
results.
The Group believes that the APMs described herein are commonly reported by companies in the markets in which
it competes and are widely used by investors in comparing performance on a consistent basis without regard to
factors such as depreciation and amortisation, which can vary significantly depending upon accounting measures
(particularly when acquisitions have occurred), business practice or external and non-operating factors.
Accordingly, the Group discloses the APMs presented herein to permit a more complete and comprehensive
analysis of the Group's operating performance relative to other companies across periods, and of the Group's
ability to service its debt. Because companies calculate APMs differently, the APMs presented herein may not be
comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies.
The Group defines "EBITDA" as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and impairment,
corresponding to operating profit/(loss) plus depreciation, amortisation and impairment. The Group presents
EBITDA to provide useful supplemental information for understanding the underlying profit generation in the
Group's operating activities and for comparing the Group's operating performance with that of other companies
in the industry.
The Group defines "Adjusted EBITDA" as EBIDTA excluding special items, e.g. non-cash impact of incentive
program, to better present the underlying performance in the reported period.
The Group defines "Investments" as additions to property, plant and equipment (capital expenditures), plus
long term securities, intangible assets, long-term advances and investments in equity accounted investments,
including amounts recognised in business combinations for continuing operations.
The Group defines "Order backlog" as firm purchase orders with agreed price, volume, timing, terms and
conditions and where revenue is yet to be recognised. For service contracts and contracts with uncertain
transaction price, the order backlog is based on estimated revenue.
The Group defined "Order intake" as firm purchase orders with agreed price, volume, timing, terms and
conditions within a given period. The order intake includes both contracts and change orders. For service contracts
and contracts with uncertain transaction price, the order intake is based on estimated revenue. The measure
does not include potential change orders.
Third-party information
In this Prospectus, the Group has used industry and market data from independent industry publications and
market research as set out in footnotes to Section 7 "Industry and Market Overview" and Section 8 "Business of
the Group" and other publicly available information. While the Group has compiled, extracted and reproduced
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industry and market data from external sources, the Group has not independently verified the correctness of such
data. Unless otherwise indicated, such information reflects the Group's estimates based on analysis of multiple
sources, including data compiled by professional organizations, consultants and analysts and information
otherwise obtained from other third party sources, such as annual financial statements and other presentations
published by listed companies operating within the same industry as the Group may do in the future. Unless
otherwise indicated in the Prospectus, the basis for any statements regarding the Group's competitive position in
the future is based on the Group's own assessment and knowledge of the potential market in which it operates.
The Group confirms that where information has been sourced from a third party, such information has been
accurately reproduced and that as far as the Group is aware and is able to ascertain from information published
by these third party providers, no facts have been omitted that would render the reproduced information
inaccurate or misleading. Where information sourced from third parties has been presented, the source of such
information has been identified. The Group does not intend, and does not assume any obligations to update
industry or market data set forth in the Prospectus.
Industry publications or reports generally state that the information they contain has been obtained from sources
believed to be reliable, but the accuracy and completeness of such information is not guaranteed. The Group has
not independently verified and cannot give any assurances as to the accuracy of market data contained in this
Prospectus that was extracted from these industry publications or reports and reproduced herein. Market data
and statistics are inherently unpredictive and subject to uncertainty and not necessarily reflective of actual market
conditions. Such statistics are based on market research, which itself is based on sampling and subjective
judgments by both the researchers and the respondents, including judgments about what types of products and
transactions should be included in the relevant market.
The Group cautions prospective investors not to place undue reliance on the above mentioned data. Unless
otherwise indicated in the Prospectus, any statements regarding the Group's competitive position are based on
the Company's own assessment and knowledge of the market in which it operates.
As a result, prospective investors should be aware that statistics, data, statements and other information relating
to markets, market sizes, market shares, market positions and other industry data in this Prospectus (and
projections, assumptions and estimates based on such information) may not be reliable indicators of the Group's
future performance and the future performance of the industry in which it operates. Such indicators are
necessarily subject to a high degree of uncertainty and risk due to the limitations described above and to a variety
of other factors, including those described in Section 2 "Risk factors" and elsewhere in this Prospectus.
Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements
This Prospectus includes forward-looking statements that reflect the Company's current views with respect to
future events and financial and operational performance. These forward-looking statements may be identified by
the use of forward-looking terminology, such as the terms "anticipates", "assumes", "believes", "can", "could",
"estimates", "expects", "forecasts", "intends", "may", "might", "plans", "projects", "should", "will", "would" or, in
each case, their negative, or other variations or comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements are
not historic facts. These forward-looking statements are not historic facts. They appear, among other areas, in
the following sections in this Prospectus; Section 7 "Industry and market overview", Section 9 "Capitalisation and
indebtedness", Section 10 "Selected financial information and other information", and Section 11 "Operating and
financial review", and include statements regarding the Company's intentions, beliefs or current expectations
concerning, among other things, financial strength and position of the Group, operating results, liquidity,
prospects, growth, the implementation of strategic initiatives, as well as other statements relating to the Group's
future business development and financial performance, and the industry in which the Group operates.
Prospective investors in the Shares are cautioned that forward-looking statements are not guarantees for future
performance and that the Company's actual financial position, operating results and liquidity, and the
development of the industry in which the Company operates, may differ materially from those made in, or
suggested, by the forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus. The Company cannot guarantee that
the intentions, beliefs or current expectations upon which its forward-looking statements are based will occur.
By their nature, forward-looking statements involve, and are subject to, known and unknown risks, uncertainties
and assumptions as they relate to events and depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future.
Because of these known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the outcome may differ materially
from those set out in the forward-looking statements. For a non-exhaustive overview of important factors that
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could cause those differences, important factors that could cause those differences include, but are not limited
to:
•

the competitive nature of the business and industry the Group operates in and the competitive
pressure and changes to the competitive environment in general, including changes in the demand
and prices for the Group's products;

•

implementation of the Group's strategies;

•

earnings, cash flow, dividends and other expected financial results and conditions;

•

inaccuracy relating to estimates or calculations of costs on large projects;

•

failure by counterparties to meet their obligations;

•

failure to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel;

•

increases in labor cost;

•

legal proceedings;

•

damage to the Group's reputation and business relationships;

•

fluctuations of interest and exchange rates;

•

changes in general economic and industry conditions, including changes to tax rates and regimes;

•

political, governmental, social, legal and regulatory changes;

•

access to funding; and

•

operating costs and other expenses.

The risks that could affect the Group's future results and could cause results to differ materially from those
expressed in the forward-looking statements are discussed in Section 2 "Risk Factors".
These forward-looking statements speak only as at the date on which they are made. The Company undertakes
no obligation to publicly update or publicly revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable
to the Company or to persons acting on the Company's behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the
cautionary statements referred to above and contained elsewhere in this Prospectus.
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5

REASONS FOR THE LISTING

Compared to Oslo Børs' main list, liquity in the shares trading on Euronext Growth Oslo are generally limited.
Further, the set of rules and regulations pertaining to Euronext Growth Oslo, including financial reporting
obligations and other continuing obligations, are less extensive than those pertaining to Oslo Børs' main list, being
a regulated market. As a result of, inter alia, these factors, many investor choose not to invest in companies
listed on Euronext Growth Oslo.
To facilitate greater liquidity in the Shares and attracting new prospective shareholders in order to build a more
diversified shareholder base, the Company decided to transfer its shares from Euronext Growth Oslo to Oslo Børs.
The Company further believes that the Listing will lead to an enhanced profile with investors, business partners
and customers. In addition, the Company will have enhanced access to the capital markets for financing of
potential growth opportunities in the future.

24

6

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY
Dividend policy

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board of Directors will
comply with the legal requirements set out in the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act of 13 June
1997 no. 45 (the "Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act") (see Section 6.2 "Legal constraints
on the distribution of dividends") and take into account the Company's capital requirements, including capital
expenditure requirements, the Company's financial condition, general business conditions and any restrictions
that its contractual arrangements in place at the time of the dividend may place on its ability to pay dividends
and the maintenance of appropriate financial flexibility. Except in certain specific and limited circumstances set
out in the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act, the amount of dividends paid may not exceed the
amount recommended by the Board of Directors.
The proposal to pay a dividend in any year is, in addition to the legal restrictions set out in Section 6.2 "Legal
constraints on the distribution of dividends", further subject to any restrictions in the Company's borrowing
arrangements or other contractual arrangements in place at the time.
Further, the tax legislation of an investor's Member State and of the Company's country of incorporation (Norway)
may have an impact on the income received from the Shares, see Section 16 "Norwegian Taxation".
The Company intends to retain future earnings and cash to finance future growth, and therefore do not anticipate
paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
The Company has not paid any dividends on its Shares in the period covered by the historical financial information.
Legal constraints on the distribution of dividends
Dividends may be paid in cash, or in some instances as dividends in kind. The Norwegian Public Limited Liability
Companies Act provides the following constraints on the distribution of dividends applicable to the Company:
•

Section 8-1 of the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act provides that the Company may
distribute dividends to the extent that the Company's net assets following the distribution are sufficient
to cover (i) the Company's share capital, (ii) the Company's reserve for valuation variances and (iii) the
Company's reserve for unrealised gains. Any receivables of the Company which are secured through a
pledge over the Company's Shares and the aggregate amount of credit and security which, pursuant to
Sections 8-7 through to 8-10 of the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act fall within the
limits of distributable equity are to be deducted from the distributable amount;

•

the calculation of the distributable equity shall be made on the basis of the balance sheet included in the
approved annual accounts for the previous financial year, provided, however, that the registered share
capital as at the date of the resolution to distribute dividends shall be applied. Following approval of the
annual accounts for the last financial year, the general meeting of shareholders may also authorise the
Board of Directors to declare dividends on the basis of the Company's annual accounts;

•

dividends may also be resolved by the general meeting of shareholders based on an interim balance
sheet which has been prepared and audited in accordance with the provisions applying to the annual
accounts and with a balance sheet date no older than six months before the date of the general meeting's
resolution; and

•

dividends can only be distributed to the extent that the Company's equity and liquidity following the
distribution is considered sound in light of the risk and scope of the Company's business.

Pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act, the time when an entitlement to dividend arises
depends on what was resolved by the general meeting of shareholders when it resolved to issue new shares in
the company. A subscriber of new shares in a Norwegian public limited company will normally be entitled to
dividends from the time when the relevant share capital increase is registered with the Norwegian Register of
Business Enterprises. The Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act does not provide any time limit after
which entitlement to dividends lapses. Subject to various exceptions, Norwegian law provides a limitation period
of three years from the date on which an obligation is due. There are no dividend restrictions or specific procedures
for non-Norwegian resident shareholders to claim dividends.
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Manner of dividend payments
Any future payments of dividends on the Shares will be made in the currency of the bank account of the relevant
shareholder registered with the VPS and will be paid to the shareholders through the VPS. Shareholders registered
in the VPS who have not supplied the VPS with details of their bank account, will not receive payment of dividends
unless they register their bank account details with DNB Markets, a part of DNB Bank ASA (address: Dronning
Eufemias gate 30, 0191 Oslo, Norway) as the Company's VPS registrar ("VPS Registrar"), and transfer fees may
apply for payments made in such manner. The exchange rate(s) that is applied when denominating any future
payments of dividends to the relevant shareholder's currency will be the exchange rate of the relevant bank on
the payment date. Dividends will be credited automatically to the VPS registered shareholders' accounts, or in
lieu of such registered account, at the time when the shareholder has provided the VPS Registrar with their bank
account details. Shareholders' right to payment of dividend will lapse three years following the resolved payment
date for those shareholders who have not registered their bank account details with the VPS Registrar.
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7

INDUSTRY AND MARKET OVERVIEW

This Section provides an overview of the principal market in which the Group operates. Information concerning
future market developments, the markets in general, competition, industry trends and similar information, is
based on data compiled by professional analysts, consultants and other professionals. The Manager has provided
statistical information and data, and information is sourced from the Manager databases and other professional
industry sources.
The hydrogen market
Global Trends
Renewable energy and green technology are at the center of the energy transition to a less carbon-intensive and
more sustainable energy system. The shift towards renewable energy sources is happening at a record speed,
with estimates suggesting that the world's installation of renewable electricity capacity accounted for a record
high of 90% of the increase in total power capacity in 2020, according to the International Energy Agency
("IEA")1. However, according to Det Norske Veritas ("DNV"), global energy-related CO2 emissions in 2030 are
likely to be only 9% lower than 2019 emissions, and only 45% lower by 20502. This is in sharp contrast to
ambitions by the United Nations ("UN") to reduce GHG emissions by 45% by 2030 and to accomplish net zero
emissions by 2050. Thus, the current renewable electricity generation and electrification are insufficient to reach
the CO2 emission reduction targets set forth in the Paris Agreement. As an example, transitioning the power
sector to clean energy would get the world only one-third of the way to net-zero emissions, according to the IEA3.
Therefore, to achieve the targets set forth in the Paris agreement other sectors must be decarbonized, such as
the hard-to-abate sectors. Hard-to-abate sectors are those that cannot easily be decarbonized through
electrification, and include aviation, maritime, long-haul trucking and large parts of heavy industry. These sectors,
which are mainly running on fossil energy sources today, are currently responsible for around 35% of global CO2
emissions, and progress in reducing these emissions is slow4.
Consequently, to reach the communicated emission reduction targets, a wider range of technologies and
initiatives are needed to complement the production of renewable energy. This includes renewable alternatives
to fossil fuels, such as green hydrogen, for applications where electricity is unsuited. Hydrogen is seen as the
main decarbonization alternative for the hard-to-abate sectors, with biofuels in a supporting role5. However,
current global hydrogen production for energy purposes is currently negligible and will, according to DNV, only
start to scale from the late 2030s, meeting only 5% of the total global energy demand by 2050. Furthermore,
hydrogen is still largely produced from fossil fuels, notably from natural gas or from coal, resulting in an annual
release of 70 to 100 million tons of CO2 in the European Union ("EU")6 alone. For hydrogen to contribute to
climate neutrality, it needs to achieve a far larger scale and its production must become fully decarbonized. Net
zero scenario i 2050 assumes that 20% of reduction in global CO2 emissions and 22% of final energy.
Increasing the use of hydrogen as a new energy vector is a long-term endeavor, as it can take decades for a new
fuel to significantly penetrate the energy mix. Immediate action is therefore required to facilitate the scale-up
process and create the conditions needed by 2030 to ensure that hydrogen technologies can be widely diffused
to secure their long-term usefulness in the clean energy transition. This backdrop, together with expected global
population growth of 2 billion people and a 60% forecast increase in global power demand by 20507, will drive
tremendous future growth for renewable energy and, ultimately, require a re-shaping of the global energy system.
Hydrogen Use Cases
Hydrogen can be used as a feedstock, a fuel, an energy carrier or for energy storage, and has many possible
applications across industry, transportation, power generation, building and heating sectors, to name a few. As
hydrogen is light, storable, energy-dense, and produces no direct emissions of pollutants or greenhouse gases,
thus offering a solution to decarbonize several sectors, it has become a key pillar of decarbonization strategies
aiming to reach carbon neutrality. However, for hydrogen to make a significant contribution to clean energy
transitions, it needs to be adopted in sectors where it is currently almost completely absent.
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7.1.2.1

Hydrogen as an input factor

Hydrogen is used as an input factor in several industries. In such applications hydrogen can be used as a feedstock
(for instance within the petroleum industry to break down crude oil into fuel oil), a protective atmosphere (for
instance to prevent oxidation and to ensure an oxygen-free environment) or for cooling purposes (as hydrogen
is heat absorbing).
7.1.2.2

Hydrogen as a fuel

Hydrogen can be used as fuel for, among other, cars, trucks, trains, boats and airplanes as it provides zero
emissions while offering the same convenience as conventional internal combustion engine ("ICE") vehicles have
today, both with regards to range and fueling time. At the same time, it offers the benefits of an electric drivetrain,
giving a smooth and quiet drive, with fast acceleration. Hydrogen is efficiently converted to electricity in fuel cells
with water as the only emission. Fuel cells are compact and scale easily without compromising on efficiency
enabling suitability for all sizes of vehicles. For some large vehicles it is one of the very few viable zero-emission
fuels, for instance due to its short refuel time.
Hydrogen-based fuels are often compatible with existing infrastructure, such as existing natural gas pipelines,
but pipework, metering and verification interventions are required. Hydrogen produced through the methods
described in Section 7.1.3 "Methods for producing hydrogen" has a low volumetric energy density, which makes
it more challenging to store and transport than fossil fuels. It can, however, be converted into hydrogen-based
fuels and feedstocks (e.g., synthetic methane, synthetic liquid fuels and ammonia) that can be transported, stored
and distributed through existing infrastructure for fossil fuels. In fact, some synthetic hydrocarbons from
hydrogen can directly substitute for fossil equivalents.
7.1.2.3

Hydrogen as an energy carrier

Green hydrogen is, alongside electricity, considered one of the most important energy carriers of the future as it
can be produced from water and energy alone, and only emits water at the point of conversion to energy. The
downsides, which currently prevents the adoption of hydrogen as a widespread energy carrier, include concerns
about the safety and storage of hydrogen, as well as the considerably high energy requirement in its production.
However, with declining costs of production and an increasing push for decarbonization, hydrogen is gaining
foothold as an energy carrier, especially in hard-to-abate sectors where electrification is either infeasible due to
the low energy density of batteries or very costly.
7.1.2.4

Hydrogen as energy storage and grid balancing

By transforming electricity to hydrogen through electrolysis, energy can be stored for later use. Hydrogen's
energy storage capabilities are particularly relevant for intermittent renewable energy sources such as wind and
solar. Due to intermittent electricity production, power producers are not able to fully utilize the generation
potential of their plants, while system operators are finding it increasingly difficult to ensure grid stability and
security of supply. As hydrogen can be produced in periods of excess energy and used in periods of energy
shortage, hydrogen has a grid stabilizing effect and increases the value of renewable energy.
Methods for producing hydrogen
Hydrogen can be produced using all types of energy resources (coal, oil, natural gas, biomass, renewables and
nuclear), however itis in principle produced through three different techniques: electrolysis, reforming and
gasification.
7.1.3.1

Electrolysis

Electrolysis is the process of splitting water into hydrogen and oxygen using an electric current. Of the three
production techniques, electrolysis produces hydrogen with the highest purity. Even though electrolysis is
principally used in smaller applications, several electrolyser stacks can be joined together to create larger systems
of any size. Since electricity is the main input factor, and thus the main production cost, electrolysis has
traditionally been more expensive than the alternative technologies with a typical cost of USD 3-8 /kg of
hydrogen8. However, hydrogen production via electrolysis is expected to gain momentum as cheap electricity
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IEA (2021) Global Hydrogen Review 2021. (Available from: Global Hydrogen Review – Analysis - IEA)
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becomes more available in the long run. This, along with electrolysis being the only production method for carbonfree hydrogen, is making electrolysis the expected dominant hydrogen production method by mid-20409.
Electrolysis has several advantages compared to alternative production methods. First, it is the sole technology
for the production of carbon free hydrogen yielding the hydrogen with the highest purity. Second, electrolysis is
the only technology capable of handling energy storage from fluctuating energy sources such as wind and solar.
Third, electrolysis is often the preferred alternative in areas with industrial growth that have limited natural gas
or hydrogen infrastructure as hydrogen production plants based on electrolysis are very flexible with regards to
scale of production. Fourth, the production technique is subject to limited input cost fluctuation other than
electricity. Finally, electrolysis is supported by government funding for research and development ("R&D")
projects aimed to reduce carbon emissions.
7.1.3.2

Reforming

Reforming is the process by which natural gas reacts with steam in the presence of a catalyst, yielding a mixture
of hydrogen and carbon dioxide. Hydrogen produced from reforming is typically transported via pipelines or
manufactured in large on-site production units. Reforming yields medium purity hydrogen and often requires
additional purification. Reforming is considered an inexpensive method for producing hydrogen and typically costs
USD 1-3/kg of hydrogen depending on various input factors 10 . Steam methane reforming ("SMR"), where
hydrogen is derived from methane, is currently the main hydrogen production method. The emissions from SMR
can be reduced through carbon capture and storage ("CCS").
7.1.3.3

Gasification

Gasification is the process by which coal reacts with steam and oxygen, yielding a mixture of hydrogen and carbon
dioxide. This production method is considered to be the cheapest of the three technologies (typical cost of USD
1-2/kg hydrogen) when the gasification is performed at large scale centralized facilities 11. The method produces
the lowest purity hydrogen of the three production methods. Coal gasification is in general limited, but the
production technique has a large market share in China due to its low cost.
The colors of hydrogen
Hydrogen (H2) is a colorless gas, but the market typically distinguishes between the source of the H 2, mainly to
distinguish non-renewables fossil based H2 from renewably sourced H2. In recent years, colors have been used
to refer to different hydrogen production routes.
7.1.4.1

"Green" hydrogen

Green hydrogen is made by using clean electricity from renewable energy sources, such as solar or wind, to
electrolyze water. As zero-carbon dioxide is emitted in the process, green hydrogen is central in the drive to netzero emissions.
7.1.4.2

"Blue" hydrogen

Blue hydrogen is produced using steam reforming with fossil fuels, mainly natural gas, combined with CCS
technology. As the output is both hydrogen and carbon dioxide, CCS is essential to trap and store the carbon
dioxide by-product.
7.1.4.3

"Grey" hydrogen

Grey hydrogen is created using steam methane reformation with natural gas, usually methane, but without
capturing the greenhouse gasses made in the process. Currently, grey hydrogen is the most common form of
hydrogen production.
7.1.4.4

"Brown" and "Black" hydrogen

Brown hydrogen (made from brown coal) and black hydrogen (made from black coal) is obtained via gasification,
using CO2-polluting fossil fuels.
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7.1.4.5

"Pink" hydrogen

Pink hydrogen is generated through electrolysis powered by nuclear energy.
7.1.4.6

"Turquoise" hydrogen

Turquoise hydrogen is a by-product of methane pyrolysis, which splits methane into hydrogen gas and solid
carbon. Some consider that this makes turquoise hydrogen a low-emission hydrogen choice – but this depends
on the energy intense thermal process being powered by renewable energy and the carbon being permanently
stored.
7.1.4.7

Future outlook for the different types of hydrogen

Green hydrogen, which is expected to be the main long-term solution for decarbonizing hard-to-abate sectors, is
expected to dominate over time with 18% of hydrogen supply produced via electrolysis from cheap grid electricity
and 43% from electrolysis using dedicated off-grid renewables. Blue hydrogen, which will replace some of the
grey and brown hydrogen in the coming decades, will lose its cost advantage and is expected to comprise of 18%
of the total hydrogen supply for energy purposes by 2050 12 . Electrolysis powered by grid electricity is
disadvantaged by the limited number of hours of low-priced electricity. Its CO2 footprint will, however, improve
as more renewables enter the power mix. The future production of hydrogen for energy purposes will be
dominated by electrolysis using dedicated off-grid renewables, such as solar and wind farms.
Hydrogen supply
Figure 1 shows the breakdown of global hydrogen production by source. The share of SMR without carbon capture
in global hydrogen supply is expected to drop from 81% in 2019 to 63% in 2030, to 32% in 2040, and to 15%
in 2050. Coal gasification, which is also expected to adopt carbon capture towards 2050, will keep its absolute
production volumes, but lose its relative share from 19% in 2019 to 5% in 2050 as other production methods
take off. By 2050, 61% of world's 281 Mt/yr hydrogen supply will come from electrolysis, split roughly equally
between solar photovoltaic ("PV") technology (16%), onshore wind (16%), offshore wind (11%), and gridelectricity (18%)13.

Figure 1: World hydrogen production by source14
7.1.5.1

Transportation of hydrogen

Reaching the targets set in hydrogen strategies will necessitate much faster hydrogen transmission development.
Hydrogen can be transported for use or storage in either liquid or (compressed) gaseous form via trucks, ships,
railroad or in pipelines. Pipeline transport can be divided into dedicated hydrogen-pipeline transport and blending
of hydrogen with methane and use of the existing natural gas grid infrastructure. With current technology,
hydrogen can only constitute 10% of the blend but this is an active area of research and future results might
show that higher ratios are possible15.
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Existing natural gas infrastructure can act as a catalyst to scale up hydrogen transportation. In the short to
medium term, blending hydrogen into natural gas can facilitate the initial development of trade, while repurposing
gas pipelines can significantly reduce the cost of establishing national and regional hydrogen networks.
Construction costs for new-build hydrogen pipelines are typically higher than for natural gas pipelines as thicker
pipeline walls are required for hydrogen gas at larger diameters. At a similar diameter, the CAPEX of hydrogenspecific steel pipelines is 10-50% higher than for natural gas. Compared with building new hydrogen pipelines,
repurposing existing natural gas pipeline systems as dedicated hydrogen networks can be substantially less costly
and the lead times can be much shorter. Ultimately, this could improve the cost-competitiveness of hydrogen.
7.1.5.2

Hydrogen supply capacity

Several countries, as well as the countries of the European Union, include electrolyser capacity deployment goals
in their hydrogen strategies. By 2030, global installed electrolyser capacity could climb to 54 GW, given capacity
under construction and planned. If all projects at the very early planning stages are included as well, capacity
can potentially reach 91 GW by 2030. Illustrated in Figure 2, some 80 projects under construction or being
planned have capacities of >100 MW, and 11 projects target ≥1 GW. Total installed electrolysis capacity is
expected to reach 3 TW by 205016.

Figure 2: Size of electrolyser projects (existing, under construction and planned), 2010-203017
7.1.5.3

Hydrogen supply by geography

According to IEA, Europe and Australia lead hydrogen supply with 22 GW and 21 GW of projects under
construction or planned, followed by Latin America (5 GW) and the Middle East (3 GW)18.
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Figure 3: New installed electrolyser capacity based on projects under construction or planned, 2021-203019
7.1.5.4

Hydrogen supply via grid-electricity electrolysis

Electrolysers using grid-electricity face a trade-off: too low running hours mean more years before investment
costs are paid back and a higher capital expenditure ("CAPEX") component in the levelized cost of hydrogen. Too
high running hours, on the other hand, usually mean higher electricity costs. With the lack of competition,
operators can determine their annual operating hours so that total cost is minimized, which is usually in the range
of 7000-8000 h/yr20. As the current hydrogen market is limited, typical operating hours fall within this range.
With increased competition between different providers of hydrogen, electrolysers will need to reduce their
variable costs by operating only when the electricity price is low. Fortunately, as the share of variable renewableenergy sources ("VRES") in the system increases, the annual number of hours where the electricity price will
make the variable cost of electrolysis below the variable cost of SMR will also rise.
7.1.5.5

Hydrogen supply via off-grid electrolysis

Some electrolysers will choose to rely on off-grid dedicated renewable generation for hydrogen production. By
replacing the variable electricity cost over the operating lifetime with an upfront renewable investment cost, risk
from future fluctuations in electricity prices is reduced. Moreover, hydrogen produced from off-grid renewables
can be guaranteed to be fossil-free, unlike grid power, which needs certificates and other schemes to claim to be
emission-free. Cost reductions in solar, onshore wind, and bottom fixed and floating offshore wind will enable
dedicated electrolysers using these renewables to compete with SMR and grid-based electrolysers.
Hydrogen demand
According to DNV, Global hydrogen demand was around 75 Mt H2 in 2020, having grown 50% since the turn of
the millennium. Annually, refineries have consumed close to 40 Mt H2 as feedstock and reagents or as a source
of energy. Demand have been somewhat higher in the industry sector, mainly for feedstock. This distribution has
remained almost unchanged since 2000, apart from a slight increase in demand from other sectors21.
Figure 4 shows that 30% of global hydrogen demand in 2050 is from industrial heating, 16% from ships, 6%
from heavy long-range road transport, 12% from aviation, and 9% from buildings. The remaining 27% is
consumed for non-energy purposes such as refineries and ammonia production and other chemical processes22.
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Figure 4: World hydrogen demand by sector23
Cost decline of renewable energy, technological developments, and the urgency to drastically reduce greenhouse
emissions are important factors which will contribute to an exponential increase in demand for renewable
alternatives to fossil fuels, such as hydrogen. As illustrated in Figure 5, the share of hydrogen in Europe's energy
mix is projected to grow from the current level of less than 2% to 13-14% by 205024. IEA estimates that global
energy demand supplied with hydrogen could see a ten-fold increase by 2050, driven by new use cases within
power generation, transportation, industrial energy, building heat and power, and industry feedstock 25 . The
support for these estimates grows as more and more countries announce dedicated hydrogen strategies and
ambitious capacity targets for 2030 and onwards.

Figure 5: World final energy demand by carrier26
7.1.6.1

Hydrogen demand in buildings

Until 2050, hydrogen use in buildings will be limited. Hydrogen's main purpose in buildings will be to replace
natural gas as a fuel for space heating, water heating, and cooking. Hydrogen distribution can be achieved by
retrofitting current gas grids at a minimum cost or use the existing natural gas grid infrastructure with a blend of
hydrogen and natural gas. It is also possible to pipe pure hydrogen through the network, but this would require
an additional total upgrade of appliances. However, in Europe, Greater China, North America, and OECD Pacific,
current and planned gas grids are substantial and will easily accommodate the piping of hydrogen.
7.1.6.2

Hydrogen demand in manufacturing

Hydrogen is potentially a zero-emission energy carrier for applications in manufacturing. To compete on cost, this
would require carbon prices to be higher than those envisaged (USD 100/tCO2 in 2050 in Europe and USD 60/tCO2
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in Greater China)27. According to DNV, hydrogen will constitute approximately 7% of energy carriers used in
manufacturing by 2050. This development will mainly be led by Greater China, Europe and North America, where
one third of hydrogen use in manufacturing will occur in Greater China, one fifth in Europe, and one eight in North
America. The remaining world regions will each have about 5% share each28.
7.1.6.3

Hydrogen demand in road transport

The ongoing introduction of fuel cell electric vehicle ("FCEV") by major car manufacturers increases the demand
of hydrogen. Hydrogen can serve as an energy storage medium, competing with battery storage in zero-emissions
usage. In particular, long-haul heavy road transport will turn to fuel-cell solutions, despite these currently being
only half as energy efficient, more complex, and more costly compared to using batteries29. Considering the total
available funding and support for hydrogen uptake, Europe and Organization for Economic Co-operation and
Development ("OECD") Pacific stand out as leaders. But even with support, less than 3% of road-transport energy
use worldwide will use hydrogen by 205030. Regional fractions vary from as high as 17% in OECD Pacific down to
less than 0.5% in Middle East and North Africa and in Northeast Eurasia31.
7.1.6.4

Hydrogen demand in maritime transport

There are no significant battery-electric options for decarbonization of the maritime sector, with synthetic fuels,
biofuels, ammonia, and hydrogen the only low- and/or zero-carbon fuel choices available. These high-cost fuels,
which can also be implemented in hybrid configurations with diesel- and gas-fueled propulsion, is expected to
see a significant uptake, providing slightly over 42% of the maritime fuel mix by 205032.
7.1.6.5

Hydrogen demand in the aviation sector

DNV has estimated almost one fifth of fuels used in the aviation industry by 2050 to be hydrogen-based fuels.
This development is led by Europe and North America, each with a 23% share of e-fuels in the aviation sector33.
Implementing a new type of fuel in a global sector, such as aviation, requires a wide-spread production and
distribution system, along with associated infrastructure to allow global refueling. Hydrogen-based fuels are very
likely to be used for medium-haul flights, but, owing to their lasting cost disadvantage compared with fossilbased fuels, significant uptake is not expected before the 2040s.
7.1.6.6

Hydrogen demand for fertilizer production

World ammonia production has increased steadily in line with population growth, as ammonia is used for fertilizer
production. As a result, the forecasted population growth implies a continued increase in world ammonia
production and thus a corresponding rise in hydrogen demand.
Regulations and government support
Government incentives, similar to those given to renewables, are vital to stimulate technology development and
accelerate the uptake of hydrogen. It is expected that governments will provide support through funding and
reduced taxes for hydrogen infrastructure, in addition to implementing stricter emission regulations and other
national carbon pricing incentives such as fines, giving industry players increased incentives to reduce emissions.
For instance, the removal of taxes for electrolysers, which use grid electricity to produce hydrogen, would increase
global electricity demand in 2050 by 15%, according to DNV 34 . Several regional initiatives have also been
implemented to complement the national regulations. Although recent government net zero commitments create
momentum for adopting hydrogen-based fuels across the energy system, volumes are insufficient to achieve net
zero emissions by 2050.
REPowerEU is the European Commission's ("EC") plan to make Europe independent from Russian fossil fuels, and
at the same time fast forward the green transition. Hydrogen comprises a significant part of REPowerEU as EU is
targeting 10 million tons of domestic renewable hydrogen production and 10 million tons of imports by 2030. The
hydrogen will be used to replace natural gas, coal and oil in hard-to-decarbonize industries and transport sectors.
To accelerate hydrogen projects, additional funding of EUR 200 million is set aside for research35. The target of
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reducing Europe's reliance on Russian fossil fuels is already underway, evidenced by, among others, Norway and
Germany who have agreed on a tentative plan to build a hydrogen pipeline link to transport, initially, blue
hydrogen from Norway to Germany. Eventually, the blue hydrogen will be replaced by carbon-free green hydrogen
to reduce emissions further.
Global investments in hydrogen
To achieve net zero emissions by 2050, global cumulative investments must increase to USD 1.2 trillion by 2030
and USD 10 trillion by 2050, according to IEA. The EU has established several vehicles to invest in solutions which
support the transition to a zero-emission society by 2050. This includes, among other, the European Green Deal
Investment plan which aim is to mobilize at least EUR 1 trillion in sustainable investment over the next decade36.
As part of the Green Deal, the hydrogen strategy outlines a comprehensive investment agenda, including
investments in electrolysers, renewable power production capacity required to produce the clean hydrogen,
transport and storage, retrofitting of existing gas infrastructure and carbon capture and storage.
Supermajors are investing heavily in the hydrogen market as a result of mounting pressure to climate change.
Some selected companies include Ineos, Repsol, TotalEnergies, Air Liquide and Vinci Group. Ineos, Europe's
largest hydrogen producer, will invest more than USD 2.3 billion on electrolysis plants to make zero-carbon green
hydrogen across Europe. Repsol, the Spanish oil and gas company, will invest USD 3.0 billion in the entire
hydrogen value chain by 2030 to become the market leader in the Iberian Peninsula, and position itself as a
relevant producer in Europe. TotalEnergies, Air Liquide and Vinci Group are partnering to launch a USD 1.7 billion
“clean hydrogen” infrastructure fund to invest in low-carbon and renewable hydrogen infrastructure. Also, the
Norway-based industrial investment company Aker ASA spun out Aker Clean Hydrogen to develop, build, own
and operate clean hydrogen production plants at industrial scale. The rationale was to address the huge market
ready for global growth, and simultaneously reduce global CO2 emissions significantly.
According to McKinsey & Company's Hydrogen Council, a total of 359 hydrogen projects have been announced
globally and their location is illustrated in Figure 6. With over 80% of new projects being located in Europe, the
region remains the leader in the emerging hydrogen economy. Yet, all other regions grew proportionally faster
with over 75% increase in project announcements with China emerging as a potential hydrogen giant with over
50 hydrogen projects announced37. McKinsey & Company have estimated the total associated investment through
2030 to amount to USD 500 billion, where USD 150 billion, or 30%, can be considered “mature,” meaning that
the investment is either in a planning stage, has passed a final investment decision, or is associated with a project
that is already under construction, commissioned, or currently operational. 70% of the announced production
capacity comes from renewable energy sources, while the remaining 30% is low-carbon hydrogen generated by
fossil fuels combined with CCS. Production from renewable energy sources translates to about 70 GW of
electrolysis capacity by 2030, with solar and wind hybrid plants expected to become the main source of electricity
for hydrogen production by 2030, followed by offshore wind and solar38.
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Figure 6: Global hydrogen projects and investments across the value chain39
Today, almost all hydrogen is used at the location of production, but this is set to change. By 2030, roughly 30%
of announced production capacity will be transported, either through ships or pipelines. In the 2030s, we will see
the first dedicated hydrogen-transmission pipelines around the globe, and in 2050 DNV expects one fifth of
Europe’s pipeline capacity to be used solely for hydrogen transport. DNV is expecting a decrease in hydrogentransportation costs, reaching an average transportation cost between USD 0.4 and 0.7 per kg in 2050 40.
Natural gas demand will remain high, and hydrogen demand will grow, and consequently investments in pipelines
will continue. Four regions will represent two thirds of the investments for gas pipelines: the Indian Subcontinent
(20%), Northeast Eurasia (17%), Europe (16%), and Latin America (15%). On a more modest scale, dedicated
hydrogen pipelines will progressively be installed, reaching an accumulated USD 300 billion investment by 205041.
Cost of Hydrogen
7.1.9.1

Levelized cost of hydrogen

The standard cost measure for hydrogen production is levelized cost of hydrogen ("LCOH") which is the average
cost per kg, or alternatively per MWh, of hydrogen produced over the full lifetime of a plant. LCOH is a measure
used to account for all of the capital and operating costs of producing hydrogen. As a result, LCOH enables the
different production routes to be compared on a similar basis. However, the simplicity of the measure means that
there are factors which are not considered, such as delivery or storage costs related to the produced hydrogen,
or costs of end-use-adaptation. Such costs can be substantial.
7.1.9.2

Current cost of hydrogen

A key barrier for low-carbon hydrogen is the cost gap with hydrogen from unabated fossil fuels. At present,
producing hydrogen from fossil fuels is the cheapest option in most parts of the world. Depending on regional gas
prices, the LCOH produced using natural gas is in the range USD 0.5-1.7 per kg H2. Using CCS technologies to
reduce the CO2 emissions from hydrogen production increases the levelized cost of production to around USD
1.0-2.0 per kg, while using renewable electricity to produce hydrogen costs USD 3.0-8.0 per kg H2. The main
reason behind the high price is that renewable electricity costs can make up 50-90% of total production expenses,
depending on both electricity costs and the full-load hours of the renewable electricity supply42.
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7.1.9.3

Expected future cost of hydrogen

There is significant potential for cutting production costs through technology innovation and increased
deployment. According to IEA, the levelized cost of hydrogen from renewables can falls to as low as USD 1.3-3.5
per kg H2 by 2030 in regions with excellent renewable resources, comparable with the cost of hydrogen from
natural gas with CCUS. In the longer term, levelized cost of hydrogen from renewable electricity can fall to as
low as USD 1.0-3.0 per kg by 2050, making hydrogen from renewable electricity cost-competitive with hydrogen
from natural gas even without CCUS in several regions43. The range of levelized cost of hydrogen in 2020, 2030
and 2050 for various hydrogen production techniques are given in figure 7.

Figure 7: Levelized cost of hydrogen production by technology in 2020, 2030 and 205044
Hydrogen electrolyser market
According to Global Market Insight Inc., the hydrogen electrolyser market value exceeded USD 266 million in
2020, and is expected to hit USD 53 billion by 2030, implying a compound annual growth rate ("CAGR") of more
than 30% between 2021 and 203045. The rapid increase will be incited by, among other, declining prices for
renewable electricity and large-scale integration of renewable energy resources. Furthermore, the accelerated
demand for high purity hydrogen is boosting the uptake of hydrogen electrolyser over competitive technologies
such as SMR. Looking ahead, reducing investment costs, which can be accomplished through investments in
larger units or by using electrolysers with higher efficiency, is a key focus area for hydrogen electrolyser
manufacturers.
The global hydrogen electrolyser market is a fragmented market due to the presence of a number of regional as
well as international players. Some prominent companies in the market include Siemens AG, Nel Hydrogen, McPhy
Energy S.A, ITM Power Plc, Hydrogenics, Tianjin Mainland Hydrogen Equipment Co., Ltd, Areva H2Gen, Giner
Inc., ELB Elektrolysetechnik GmbH, GreenHydrogen.dk ApS, iGas Energy GmbH, Beijing CEI Technology Co., Ltd.,
Next Hydrogen, and Accagen SA.
Regulatory environment
Introduction
As a result of the scope of its operations, the Group is subject to a variety of laws and regulations in different
countries, including those related to the the energy industry in general and the hydrogen industry in particular.
These laws and regulations may be interpreted, implemented or amended in a manner that affects the Group's
business negatively as well as positively.
The below section sets forth a summary of material laws and regulations relevant to the Group's business
operations, as well as information regarding any governmental, economic, fiscal, monetary or political policies or
43
44

45

IEA (2021) Global Hydrogen Review 2021. (Available from: Global Hydrogen Review – Analysis - IEA)
IEA (2021) Global Hydrogen Review 2021. (Available from: Global Hydrogen Review – Analysis - IEA)
Global Market Insights (2021) Electrolyser Market. (Available from: Electrolyser Market – Analysis – Global Market Insights)

37

factors that have materially affected, or could materially affect, directly or indirectly, the Group's operations. A
more detailed presentation of the risk factors relating to the regulatory environment is given in Section 2.2 "Risks
related to laws, regulations and compliance" above.
Energy related laws, regulations and standards which are, will or could be applicable to HydrogenPro
The hydrogen market is still an emergent market thereby not a fully regulated market. The main regulation is at
present being adopted by the EU and will also have a direct effect on Norwegian undertakings.
There is not any regulation as such for the hydrogen market in Norway. A Hydrogen Strategy was published by
the former Norwegian Government on 3 June 2020. On 11 June 2021, the former Norwegian Government
presented a Road Map on energy, while also proposing the establishment of five maritime hydrogen junction
points along the coast of Norway connected to onshore industry. Moreover, a target was set to develop 5 to 10
hydrogen pilot projects by 2030.
The so-called Heilo-cooperation was also established by the Norwegian Research Council, Gassnova, Innovation
Norway and Enova. Heilo provides an overview of all public support to decarbonise Norway and a significant part
is dedicated to hydrogen projects.
The newly formed Norwegian Government provided also in their Hurdal Platform (mission statement) to establish
a hydrogen chain, to set thresholds to produce blue and green hydrogen by 2030 particularly stimulating hydrogen
to be built out for the maritime and industrial sectors. This was followed up by the State Budget 2022, with a
dedication of MNOK 8 to further research on hydrogen, MNOK 220 for the hydrogen maritime conjunction points
and MNOK 550 for the green transition to be distributed through Enova.
The Government dedicated by Meld. St.11 to the Norwegian Parliament an own chapter (Chapter 5) of the
Governments' ambition to develop the Norwegian hydrogen market. In order to support the building out of the
Norwegian hydrogen market, there are several incentive mechanisms in place already. Significant state funds are
granted through Enova, the Norwegian Research Council, and Innovation Norway.
Moreover, two Research Centres of hydrogen have been established. The Norwegian Government announced
early March 2022 the establishment of two new Research Councils in Trondheim and Bergen which are connected
to several other academic and industrial Clusters in Norway: HYDROGENi and HyValue.
Furthermore, Norway has also joined Europe's IPCEI (Important Project for Common Interest) initiative for
hydrogen.
Data protection regulations
The Group is subject to GDPR and local data privacy laws in the countries the Group operates in, and the Group
has full focus on the tasks to develop, implement and maintain data protection procedures and systems in order
to comply with these laws and regulations. The Group primarily handles the personal data of its employees, as
well as the personnel of the Group's suppliers and customers. This makes the Group exposed to data protection
and data privacy laws and regulations it must comply with, which all imposes stringent data protection
requirements and could impose penalties for noncompliance, related to storing, sharing, use, processing,
disclosure and protection of personal information and other user data on its platforms.
Tax
The Group is subject to prevailing tax laws in each jurisdiction the Group operates and will be subject to changes
in tax laws, tax treaties or regulations or the interpretation or enforcement thereof in the various jurisdictions,
possibly with retrospective effect. The Group has established and conducts operations through subsidiaries in
Denmark, China, France and the US. Procedures and actions are implemented in the Group to adhere to applicable
tax laws wherever the Group is present and conducts its operations. The Group's overall tax charge is dependent
on where profits are generated and taxed, where the respective jurisdictions have different tax systems and tax
rates.
International sanctions, export/import control and anti-money-laundering laws and regulations
The Group's international operations makes the Group exposed towards international sanctions laws and
regulations, in particular sanctions on trade and import/export, and anti-money laundering laws through its
operations in and trade across multiple jurisdictions. Furthermore, sanctions imposed on certain countries,
companies or individuals by international and regional bodies including those administered by the United Nations,
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the European Union and the U.S. Office of Foreign Assets Control could materially adversely affect the Group's
ability to establish its operations in or trade with sanctioned countries or companies and/or individuals linked with
such countries. The Group has policies, procedures and processes in place that aim to ensure that any crossborder transfer of our people, products, services, technology and funds are properly screened against all relevant
sanctions lists and programs, as well as procedures to prevent and detect red flags related to sanctions, export
controls, money laundering and terrorist financing.
Anti-bribery/anti-corruption laws and regulations
Operating an international business requires the Group to comply with the laws and regulations of various
jurisdictions. In particular, the Group's international operations are subject to anti-corruption laws and
regulations, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the FCPA) of 1977 and the United Kingdom Bribery
Act of 2010. The Group is of the view that it has the necessary governance and implemented procedures in place
to work in a manner that effectively deals with the corruption risks that are associated with delivery of services
in the areas that the Group operates.
National and international policies, including COVID-19
As of the date of this Prospectus, the Group is not aware of any national or international policies or factors that
will materially affect the Group's operation. The global outbreak of the COVID-19 virus, has, however, led to
temporary change in law in countries that the Group has operations in, and in countries that the Group sources
equipment and services from. Although the Group is not aware of any future policies or measures that will have
a material impact on its operations, it cannot not be ruled out that changes in governmental, fiscal, monetary or
political policies could materially affect, directly or indirectly, the Group's operations.
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BUSINESS OF THE GROUP
Introduction to the Company

HydrogenPro's principal business is to provide large turn-key plants for large-scale production of green hydrogen
to industrial clients. The Company's activities include design, engineering and optimization of such plants,
purchasing of parts, components and sub-systems for integration into complete plants and systems for green
hydrogen production. The activities also include commissioning and testing of such plants before these are
accepted by clients of the Company. As part of its business model, the Company provides service and maintenance
agreement related to such hydrogen production plants. The Company targets industrial applications including
power-to-gas, refinery decarbonization, synthetic fuel, fertilizer/ammonia and steel production. Hydrogen also
plays an important role for energy storage and balancing the grid as power production from solar and wind
fluctuates.
Since its inception in 2013, the Company has devoted resources to research and development of alkaline highpressure electrolyser technology and solutions. The Company's technology and solutions aim to meet the highest
standard for safety, reliability ang long lifetime. The Company employs highly competent management with
extensive experience from large industrial companies.
Geographically, HydrogenPro's market is global, but its current main projects are localised in Europe, the U.S.,
China and Japan. The Company has established full-scale fabrication facilities in Tianjin, China. The Company
works regularly with a number of established sub-suppliers globally, and for almost every component and subsystem required for integration into final hydrogen plants, the Company has alternative suppliers if required.
Sustainability, environment and social responsibility
Prioritized Sustainable Development Goals
HydrogenPro have evaluated, prioritised and adopted selected Sustainable Development Goals ("SDGs") and
made them strategically important to the Company. These prioritized SDGs work as guidelines for sustainable
business conduct and the Company intends to utilize its strengths in the global collaborative mission to achieve
sustainable development, to reduce potential negative environmental impacts and to create value for their
stakeholders. To make progress and improve its intent, the Company's ambitions and targets are set, and its
operations are aligned accordingly. The four prioritized SDGs are the following:
SDG 7: Affordable and Clean Energy
SDG 8: Decent Work and Economic Growth
SDG 12: Responsible Consumption and Production
SDG 13: Climate Action
Preserving the planet is the fundamental of HydrogenPro's business model. As HydrogenPro delivers large-scale
green hydrogen solutions targeting the hard to abate sectors, the Company's technology is well-suited to play a
significant role in accelerating the energy transition to reduce global carbon emissions. With its technology,
HydrogenPro aims to operate large scale hydrogen production facilities with lower energy consumption compared
to alternative technologies. With further technology development, HydrogenPro aims to increase production
efficiency and reduce the need of fossil-based energy resources, significantly impacting the global transition to
green energy. Furthermore, HydrogenPro aims for carbon neutrality in its supply chain set-up where strategic
initiatives regarding fabrication, sub-suppliers, construction and assembly, and service operations are
sustainable. To reduce CO2 emissions and footprint further, HydrogenPro locates its operations primarily in wellestablished industry parks or existing facilities rather than building new facilities or breaking grounds to scaleup. Finally, several components of HydrogenPro's products are recycled or taken into circularity.
Contribution to climate change
Green hydrogen production is at the core of the green energy transition and HydrogenPro's technology aims to
ensure high efficiency in large-scale green hydrogen production. The production of green hydrogen itself has zero
carbon emissions. Furthermore, electrolysis is a proven technology that is capable of transforming higher carbon
emission energy production to a greener alternative. By providing sound alternatives to fossil energy production,
HydrogenPro are directly linked to the climate change. HydrogenPro's material topics are summarized in Figure
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8. The assessment is based on the current situation and might thus change as the Company grows in size and
capacity, being able to influence its surroundings at a larger scale.

Figure 8: Materiality assessment46
Creating shareholder value
As further set out below, the Company has identified three key areas that go hand-in-hand with its capital
deployment plan: people, planet, and prosperity.
8.2.3.1

People

As the people are the Company's most valuable asset, investing in people is the core of achieving HydrogenPro's
strategic goals. HydrogenPro are seeking (1) short leave with an overall annual leave less than country average
for all locations (4%), and (2) zero accidents and work-related issued. During 2021, HydrogenPro had no
accidents, nor any injuries and sick leave was 0.9% thus successfully achieving both goals.
8.2.3.2

Planet / environment

As a member of the global green energy industry, HydrogenPro will continue to invest to achieve a leading position
in the green hydrogen industry and contribute to the acceleration of the energy transition. HydrogenPro is a
member of several strategic membership associations in the hydrogen industry and participates locally as well as
globally through the European Clean Hydrogen Alliance, Green Hydrogen Coalition and Norwegian Hydrogen
Forum and Hydrogen network for Telemark and Vestfold (being regional counties where HydrogenPro's
headquarter is located). HydrogenPro is seeking to (1) develop the most cost-efficient green hydrogen production
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technology with LCOH at $1.2/kg2 (assuming $20/MWh), and (2) reduce CO2 emissions with at least 1.5m tones
annually from its installed production capacity within the end of 2022 and 2023, respectively.
8.2.3.3

Prosperity / profit

To create shareholder value, HydrogenPro strives to scale up globally through a partnership strategy where each
party contribute with their key competencies. For each location, HydrogenPro seeks to engage and conduct
business with local suppliers and local communities according to their strategy towards carbon neutrality in the
supply chain. HydrogenPro are seeking to (1) become a global leading provider of large-scale green hydrogen
production solutions for industrial applications, and (2) achieve profitable growth and long-term shareholder value
return. Consequently, an important goal for the Company is to achieve > 1 GW installed global production capacity
by year-end 2023.
Competition and competitive strengths
The Group believes that it has many competitive strengths that differentiate it from its competitors and will enable
it to execute its growth strategy as described below. These key competitive strengths include:
Established player with proven track record and globally renowned customers
HydrogenPro is a provider of large-scale green hydrogen plants. The Company's pipeline comprises various enduses such as refinery decarbonization, power-to-gas and synthetic fuel, and its customers span from oil majors
to industrial conglomerates and energy companies. HydrogenPro's operational track record is assumed to be
widely recognized in the industry, evidenced by repeat business and new contract awards from several global
renewable industry clients such as H2V, Mitsubishi Power and DG Fuels. The Company's operational track record
has not only resulted in repeated business with existing clients but also in several new contract awards with new
clients, where HydrogenPro, inter alia, won the contract for FEED studies awarded by undisclosed energy majors.
HydrogenPro's active sales pipeline of potential projects amounts to 15,4 GW as of 30 June 2022. In addition to
the strong pipeline, HydrogenPro benefits from substantial add-on potential related to current projects due to
complete service offering.
Next-generation electrode technology and one of the world's largest electrolyser systems
Through a newly developed electrode nickel coating technology, HydrogenPro should be able to increase the
efficiency of each unit by 14% to reach 93% of the theoretical maximum (high heating value). As electricity
amounts to 70-90% of the levelized cost of hydrogen, depending on the e-market prices, the next-generation
electrode technology provides HydrogenPro with an advantage compared to current technology. Long-term
verification of the results is ongoing, but initial test runs show efficiency in line with simulated results. Such
technology enables HydrogenPro to provide a competitive offering and grow a sizeable market share.
Finally, HydrogenPro offers dynamic flexibility compared to its competitors as the hydrogen production on the
Company's electrolyser systems can be turned on and off instantly. Also, unlike traditional alkaline electrolysis
systems, HydrogenPro's high-pressure units save compression costs and are therefore well-suited for variable
loads from solar panels and wind turbines. Consequently, the Company compares favorably with alternative
technologies as the electric consumption is much lower per kg hydrogen. Furthermore, the electrolyser systems
have an overhaul time interval of ~10 years, presumably making it the longest overhaul time interval in the
industry. These elements are expected to contribute to a significantly lower CAPEX and OPEX on HydrogenPro's
systems compared to current technology, with ~20% overall cost reduction per unit hydrogen produced.
Asset light consortium strategy along in collaboration with global partners
HydrogenPro targets an asset-light consortium strategy in collaboration with global partners to reduce upfront
cost compared to wholly owned fabrication sites.
Global fabrication and engineering presence
Partnerships and joint ventures allow HydrogenPro to speed up its global expansion and footprint, and the
Company is targeting >1 GW global production capacity by end of 2023. Through the 75% owned subsidiary,
HydrogenPro Tianjin, the Company owns a 300 MW factory in China, and the Company is currently preparing the
contemplated expansion of global fabrication and engineering set-ups in strategic locations in Europe, the U.S.,
and Asia-Pacific together with global industrial companies. Such central manufacturing hubs supported by local
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assembly and service units in joint venture structures are expected to enable a more dynamic and flexible supply
chain and deliveries compared to its competitors.
Turn-key process plant easily scalable to meet any project size and needs
HydrogenPro's standardized system offers efficiency in production and design. As the standardized hydrogen
system is highly scalable, HydrogenPro is a natural and ideal contractor for large-scale industrial plants. This
competitive advantage is evident through HydrogenPro's partnerships with large industrial companies such as
Mitsubishi and ABB. Thus, by delivering turn-key plants with modular and compact design, HydrogenPro are
offering efficient renewable green hydrogen systems tailormade for the customer needs. Furthermore,
HydrogenPro is a full-fledged life cycle partner as the Company supports its customers throughout the lifecycle
of the hydrogen plant. The service offering, which generates recurring revenues, includes rapid response support,
service and overhaul, life-cycle management, predictive modeling, remote and digital services, and production
optimization. In the future, HydrogenPro are planning to develop an aftersales business with service &
maintenance, retrofitting, spare parts supply and control system monitoring. As a result, HydrogenPro will fortify
its position as a leader in the market as the Company will be able to fulfill all needs of the customer while
competitors are dependent on other companies to cover their missing service offering.
Experienced team of industry leading experts
A perceived competitive strength is HydrogenPro's executive management and key personnel. The organization
comprises an experienced engineering team consisting of industry experts with distinguished experience and
expertise within the hydrogen and renewable sectors. The Company's founder and current interim Chief Executive
Officer, Mr. Richard Espeseth, has more than 10 years' experience from the hydrogen electrolyser business,
including leading complete installation and commissioning of hydrogen plants based on current technology 47. In
addition, Tor Danielsen, senior project engineer and main responsible for mechanical design and layout of piping
and contributor vis-a-vis customer sales and R&D efforts, and Jan Henrik Kuhlfelt, CEO of HydrogenPro Tianjin
and head of the Tianjin factory, are valued and experienced individuals in the hydrogen and renewable sectors48.
Lars Pleth Nielsen, leader of the work relating to developing the Company's electrode plating facility in Aarhus,
should also be mentioned as a leading industry expert49. By combining in-depth knowledge with innovative design,
the management team continuously aspire to pioneer game-changing ideas and solutions to realize and maximize
new opportunities in a more innovative, sustainable, hydrogen-powered future.
The Management team has proven succesful in winning new contracts. For instance, the Company received a
purchase order for the world's largest stach high-pressure alkaline electrolyser system to produce hydrogen from
Mitsubishi Power, Ltd in 2021, as well as one of the largest electrolyser system purchase order ever placed from
Mitsubishi Power Americas, Ltd in April 2022 (see Section 8.5.3.3 "Mitsubishi Power"). In addition, the Company
was awarded a purchase order, exceeding USD 3 million, from Mitsubishi Heavy Industries Ltd (see Section
8.5.3.4 "Mitsubishi Heavy Industries Ltd."), also in April 2022. The Company has also been awarded the contract
for FEED studies by undisclosed energy majors (see Section 8.3.1 "Established player with proven track record
and globally renowned customers", 8.5.1.4 "Feasability studies" and 8.5.1.5 "FEED studies").
The demand for green hydrogen is accelerating all over the world and projects comprising several giga watts are
currently under development. With its technology, industry competence, and strong partners, HydrogenPro is
well-positioned to become a leading provider of large-scale green hydrogen plants.
Strategy and objectives
Original equipment manufacturer
After several years of R&D cooperation with the Danish company ASP, HydrogenPro acquired ASP in 2021.
Following the acquisition, HydrogenPro has direct access to the electrode technology developed by ASP and will
be able to utilize the technology in HydrogenPro's electrolysers. The technology can increase the efficiency of the
electrolysers in hydrogen production and reduce the electricity use in production. Additionally, in 2021
HydrogenPro acquired 75 percent of a production facility in China, with the remaining 25 percent owned by THM.
THM has a long-standing history of producing electrolyser components, parts and systems as a supplier to the
electrolyser industry in China and has over the past years expanded into assembly and sales of complete
electrolysers. Following these two events, HydrogenPro went from being a distributor of third-party electrolysers
47
48
49

All statements relating to the Company's management and key personnel is made solely in the Company's own view on a subjective basis.
Same as above.
Same as above.
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to become an original equipment manufacturer ("OEM") supplier with a scalable business model where the
Company has control over IP and core technology used in the Company's large-scale electrolysers. The Company
regards these investments in technology and production capacity to be well in line with HydrogenPro's asset light
approach to developing a global supply chain.
An advantage of the transition from being a distributor to becoming an OEM is the expected reduction in
production cost of electrolysers. Also, when combined with the next-generation electrode technology from ASP,
HydrogenPro will be able to improve electrolyser efficiency, enabling hydrogen to be produced at a lower cost. A
second advantage of being an OEM is that HydrogenPro will be less dependent on other companies as HydrogenPro
is controlling a larger part of its supply chain. Consequently, being an OEM provides an improved security of
supply.
Strategic vision
HydrogenPro's strategic vision is to be become #1 large-scale provider of green hydrogen production plants. The
Company's mission is to accelerate global decarbonisation with world-class sustainable green hydrogen solutions.
The Company's values are courage, integrity, collaboration and innovation.
The Company has defined four strategic pillars:
1)

Technological leadership

Technological leadership with high-pressure alkaline electrolyser technology is an important part of the Company's
vision. Electricity cost amounts to between 70-90% of LCOH. The Company's next-generation electrode
technology, is assumed to increase efficiency up to 14% with an equivalent reduction in electricity consumption,
enabling lower green hydrogen production cost. To seek to maintain technological leadership, the Company
continuously invests in R&D and innovation to remain competitive on a global scale through lower CAPEX and
OPEX.
2)

Global footprint

The Company plans to grow its global presence and footprint through partnerships and joint venture structures.
Such co-operations enables a more dynamic and flexible supply chain and delivery of products. This growth
strategy also reduces upfront costs compared to wholly owned fabrication sites. The Company seeks partnerships
with esteemed fabrication and construction companies to, inter alia, build industrial competence and engineering
capacity. Currently, the Company is preparing for production and engineering in Europe, US and APAC. By end of
2023, the target is to reach at least 1 GW of annual production capacity (on 100% ownership basis).
3)

Scalability

The Company provides a standardised offering which enables efficiency in production and design in order to serve
the expected rapid demand in growth over the coming years. The Company offers modular based solutions which
are easily scalable to meet any project size. The offering is delivered with large industrial partners like Mitsubishi
and ABB, and the Company is targeting additional strategic partnerships over the next few years.
4)

Life-cycle partner

The Company observes a large market within aftersales and targets recurring revenues from aftersales on
installations. An increase in installations of plant deliveries will accumulate recurring revenues and provide more
visibility on earnings capacity. Life-cycle services includes production optimization, remote and digital services,
predictive modelling, life-cycle management, service and overhaul, and rapid response support. In addition to
the delivery of the 40 electrolyser systems to Mitsubishi Power Americas, Inc. (MWPA), announced on 4th of April
2022, the Company has signed a 10 years' service and support agreement with MWPA.
Business operations
HydrogenPro generates revenue through the delivery of the entire electrolyser process, including (1) FEED
studies, (2) equipment and projects, including sale of electrolyser systems, incl. cell-stack, gas separator skid
and local control system, and (3) including installation, commissioning and long-term service agreements.
Equipment and products
The Company produces, sells, delivers and installs proprietary electrolyser systems for hydrogen production. The
electrolysers are used for hydrogen production in the Company's full-scale hydrogen production plants. The
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Company also produces, sells, delivers and installs hydrogen gas separators which are an integrated part of the
total electrolyser process plant, separating hydrogen and oxygen.
8.5.1.1

Electrolysers

Alkaline High-Pressure Electrolysers are splitting water into 2H2 + O2. These electrolysers generate gas at a
pressure of up to 50 bars and are suited for rapid variation of power input (such as PV and windmills). One of the
main advantages is that zero noble metals are needed in the production, which will positively impact future cost
structure. In addition, one benefit of the Alkaline High-Pressure Electrolysers is that O2 is also produced at high
pressure and hence can be transported in pipes without external compression.
8.5.1.2

Gas separators

The gas separator is a process-flow unit that separates the gases from the liquids after the electrolysis unit. All
control and plant-safety mechanism are built into the gas separator unit. One large gas separator from
HydrogenPro can further be connected to two large electrolysers, which is expected to save total installation
costs.
8.5.1.3

Projects and turn-key deliveries

HydrogenPro delivers large-scale hydrogen electrolysis plants in a consortium model with partners. HydrogenPro's
scope covers the entire plant lifecycle from feasibility studies to service and aftersales. In the consortium,
HydrogenPro is responsible for the initial studies, engineering, procurement and construction and delivery of
ready-to-use hydrogen electrolysis plants.
8.5.1.4

Feasibility studies

HydrogenPro performs feasibility and pre-FEED studies for clients and customer. This involves analysing the
potential and possibility of installing a full-scale hydrogen electrolysis plant for the customer. The analysis and
research is focused on location of the plant, availability of renewable energy, design requirements and the overall
feasibility of the project. The process is an iterative process in cooperation with the client where multiple
alternatives are evaluated and presented, before being further refined or discarded. Key output for the feasibility
study includes a detailed feasibility report with technical recommendation whether to continue with the project
and move to the next phase of the project.
8.5.1.5

FEED studies

Following the feasibility study and decision to continue the project, the project will move to the FEED-phase.
HydrogenPro will in this phase and study continue the analysis and work completed in the feasibility study. The
focus of the FEED phase is the technical requirements for the hydrogen plant, estimation of the costs for the
project and evaluation of potential risks. The Company identifies equipment, including electrolysers, to be
installed in the plant and the required installations to achieve the target MW production capacity for the plant.
HydrogenPro is responsible for evaluation of all installations related to the hydrogen system, while the partners
in the consortium will be responsible for studies for the electrical- and control systems and the civil works.
By completing the FEED study for clients and customer HydrogenPro can ensure their preferred and own solutions
are used for the hydrogen systems. Thus, HydrogenPro leverages its key competence in engineering, developing
and integrating large-scale hydrogen plants to ensure in-house solutions are used in the project and plant thereby
securing high-revenue projects benefitting the entire company.
8.5.1.6

Engineering, procurement and construction

HydrogenPro completes engineering, procurement, and construction ("EPC") work as part of a consortium
delivering the complete turnkey hydrogen facility. The Company is responsible for the hydrogen systems, while
the Company's partners are responsible for electrical installations and civil works.
Manufacturing of the Company's core products, the alkaline high-pressure electrolysers used in all installations,
is done in-house at the facilities in Tianjin, China (see a more detailed description of manufacturing in Section
8.5.5 "Manufacturing process"). HydrogenPro procures all input materials.
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8.5.1.7

Long-term service

HydrogenPro aims to enter long-term service contracts with the operators of hydrogen plants. Target customers
are mainly operators of hydrogen plants built by HydrogenPro, but the Company is also able to enter into service
contracts with operators of hydrogen plants built by third-party contractors.
The long-term service contracts serve as a source of recurring revenue for the Company, with regular, contracted
service and maintenance. The service includes regular inspections of the equipment and installations related to
hydrogen production, and replacement of parts. In addition, the service contracts encompass unscheduled
maintenance and repairs of hydrogen plants in case of breakdowns or other issues with production.
Partners
HydrogenPro has entered into partnerships with several companies in order to deliver turn-key hydrogen facilities.
In the partnerships, HydrogenPro is responsible for all hydrogen system deliveries, while the partnering
companies are responsible for all other aspects, such as civil works and electrical and control systems.
8.5.2.1

ABB IA Energy.

HydrogenPro and ABB IA Energy have entered into a partnership. ABB IA Energy's scope will include an integrated
electrical package comprising transformers, rectifiers, DC chokes and busbars. Hydrogen is very energy intensive
to produce sustainably - everything in the production process, each little component adds a little bit of inefficiency,
so this integrated portfolio approach will ensure that every single, possible improvement in efficiency is made.
HydrogenPro, on the other hand, will carry out a validation program designed to increase the efficiency of the
electrolyser. The validation program will include rigorous testing to see how the performance criteria and
efficiency of the electrolyser can be optimized. This will enable HydrogenPro to make further improvements to
the electrolyser system before introducing similar technology on a long-term, large scale at similar facilities
around the world.
8.5.2.2

Kvina Energy Park AS

HydrogenPro and Kvina Energy Park AS ("KEP") have entered into a co-operation agreement on the development
of a significant hydrogen hub in Kvinesdal in Norway, where HydrogenPro currently owns 50% of Kvina Energy
AS. With its location adjacent to the main electricity grid in Norway it has the potential to provide access to green
energy sources and easy connection to transportation by road, sea and train. Also, due to its location close to the
main grid, HydrogenPro and KEP expect that hydrogen produced at Kvina will be competitive in the market.
Customers
8.5.3.1

H2V Industry

In October 2018 and January 2019, HydrogenPro entered into contracts with H2V Industry ("H2V") which is a
French integrator developer of massive hydrogen production plants using electrolysis of water. Including all
potential "add on" related to these contracts, the contracts could comprise the delivery of up to 9 x 100 MW
hydrogen production plants.
The first contract, which comprises a 100 MW plant, relates to a site in the Dunkirk area where H2V intends to
produce hydrogen based on renewable energy and inject the gas into the existing pipeline currently supplying
natural gas. The contract will become effective assuming a FID is made by H2V, i.e., having received all necessary
approvals and consents for proceeding with the project, currently expected by end of 2022. The second contract
relates to the supply of a 100 MW plant in the Normandy area in France. Again, H2V intends to produce hydrogen
through the use of renewable energy.
In October 2021, H2V sold the remaining ownership of the Normandy hydrogen project, initially planned for 100
MW, to Air Liquide. Consequently, H2V has formally notified HydrogenPro that the ongoing co-operation on the
Normandy project will cease. The announced transaction has no impact on HydrogenPro's work with H2V to
mature the Dunkirk green hydrogen project, also initially for 100 MW. The companies continue to mature the
project and final investment decision is expected in the second half of 2022.
H2V also has plans for a significant expansion of its hydrogen production capacity at these locations in France
and HydrogenPro expects to be involved in additional deliveries. In March 2019, the Company established a 100%
owned subsidiary in France, HydrogenPro France SAS, in preparation of future operations.
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8.5.3.2

DG Fuels Inc.

In December 2017 the Company entered into a contract with DG Fuels Inc in the US ("DG"). DG is planning to
use green hydrogen to produce synthetic fuel to the US based aviation industry. In October 2021 HydrogenPro
injected a convertible loan of USD 3 million in DG's capital raise, together with co-investors. DG's is expected to
raise additional equity and debt to fund the construction of its production facility currently designed with a
production capacity of 10,355 barrels per day. This, in turn, will require a water electrolyser capacity of up to 839
MW, with HydrogenPro being the exclusive provider. This is a significant increase compared to the 120 MW
capacity previously announced.
DG aims to develop several facilities in North America and Europe, designed to produce low-carbon sustainable
aviation fuel by combining carbon from waste feedstock with green hydrogen from renewable sources. The
Louisiana facility is the company's first major project. Each facility will produce low-emissions fuel in a process
that converts agricultural and timber waste feedstock into fuel with a carbon efficiency of approximately 93% or
more, meaning that the project should produce more fuel with less feedstock than other relative processes.
8.5.3.3

Mitsubishi Power

On 24 August 2021, the Company announced a purchase order from Mitsubishi Power Americas, Ltd. for a 5.5
MW single stack high-pressure alkaline electrolyser system to produce hydrogen. The companies are scaling and
validating hydrogen technology to enable global efforts to decarbonize. The large single stack electrolyser system
will have a capacity of 1,100 normal cubic meters per hour (Nm3/h). In late May, the fabrication was completed,
and it will be installed at Herøya Industripark in Norway, where HydrogenPro will operate the facility. The parties
have agreed that the total value of the contract shall remain undisclosed.
In early April 2022, Mitsubishi Power Americas, Ltd. confirmed a purchase order of 40 electrolysers from
HydrogenPro, making it one of the largest electrolyser system purchase orders ever placed. The initial value of
the purchase order exceeds USD 50 million for HydrogenPro's scope of delivery. The EPC and other system
deliverables for a turn-key electrolyser green hydrogen production plant will be supplied by other companies. The
green hydrogen will mainly be consumed for power generation in the U.S.
8.5.3.4

Mitsubishi Heavy Industries Ltd.

On 19 April 2022 HydrogenPro received a purchase order for a large electrolyser for Takasago Hydrogen Park in
Japan. The initial value of the contract exceeds USD 3 million for HydrogenPro's scope of delivery. The EPC and
other system deliverables for a full turn-key electrolyser hydrogen production plant will be supplied by third
parties. The plant is planned to be operational by mid-2023. It is similar to the verification plant ongoing at
Herøya Industripark but customized to meet Japanese regulations.
Competitive landscape
The energy industry in general and the hydrogen industry in particular is highly competitive, and the Company
competes with several competitors, comprised primarily of international companies based in China and Europe.
The various companies are present in different application areas, such as Power-to-Gas, Hydrogen Fueling and
Industrials. Certain major players are present in all areas.
The companies differ in their offering of electrolysis technologies. Current technologies offered in the market
include atmospheric- and pressurized alkaline electrolysers ("ALK"), pressurized polymer electrolyte membrane
("PEM") electrolysers, and solid oxide electrolysis ("SOE"), with ALK constituting the largest market share of the
three50 HydrogenPro offers only high pressure alkaline electrolysers, but its next-generation electrode technology
is expected to allow the Company to provide cost-effective and reliable clean hydrogen electrolysers. While most
analysts predict that the LCOH will be reduced to 1.5 USD/kg in 2030, HydrogenPro can deliver green hydrogen
at approximately 1.20 USD/kg already in 2022 with the new technology. HydrogenPro is estimated to obtain a
capacity of approximately 0.3 GW, or 300 MW, which equals 2.2% of the total electrolysis capacity in 2022.
Furthermore, Bloomberg expects alkaline electrolysers to increase the market share to 75-78% in 2022,
compared to 69% in 2021, making HydrogenPro's target market favorable compared to PEM electrolysers and
SOE.51
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Bloomberg has estimated the total electrolysis manufacturing capacity in 2022 to be 13.5 GW, implying a 102%
increase from the capacity of 6.7 GW in 2020. The proportion of ALK and PEM to total capacity is expected to
remain unchanged at 74% from ALK and 26% from PEM. HydrogenPro is estimated to obtain a capacity of
approximately 0.3 GW, or 300 MW, which equals 2.2% of the total electrolysis capacity in 2022.52 Longi and
PERIC will be the largest suppliers of ALK followed by Thyssenkrupp, Cockerill Jingli Hydrogen and Sungrow. The
capacity of other significant competitors is included in Figure 9.

Figure 9: Estimate of 2022 year-end electrolysis manufacturing capacity (GW) by producer and type53
Of the 287 MW electrolysers expected to be shipped into Europe, the Middle East and Africa ("EMEA") in 2022,
Bloomberg expects 61.6% to be alkaline and 37.6% to be PEM, as illustrated in Figure 10. The remaining 0.8%
is a 2.4 MW SOE project in Netherlands, with equipment from Germany-based Sunfire. It will be the first
megawatt-scale SOE project after completion, but Bloomberg does not expect SOE to make up a large share of
the global electrolyser market in 2022. Nel, McPhy and GHS are the three largest ALK competitors in the region,
with HydrogenPro ranked fourth with regards to total ALK shipment in EMEA in 2022.54
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Figure 10: Forecast of electrolyser shipments in EMEA in 2022 by supplier55
With improved automation (or semi-automation) and economies of scale, Bloomberg expect electrolysis systems
to become 10-17% cheaper in 2022.56 Prices will drop more for western players, as the saving on labor is larger
in developed countries. Electrolyser production costs are lower in Asia, especially in China, due to cheaper labor
and a more established supply chain. Consequently, Chinese suppliers have started to sell electrolysers abroad
to take advantage of higher prices. Exported products are sold at a premium, but the final price is still less than
half of the western brands. HydrogenPro are in position to utilize this market trend following their recent
agreement with THM to create a fabrication facility in China.
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Figure 11: Benchmark electrolysis system CAPEX (nominal USD/kW) in 2021 and forecast for 202257
Manufacturing process
First, the fabrication factory in China is cutting, welding and machining the carbon steel needed to build the
electrolysers. After completion, the items are sent to the Company's Ni coating facility for surface protection.
Subsequently, the items are sent to the Company's assembly facility where they are assembled, pressure tested
and packed for transport to the end-user. HydrogenPro also have a factory in Denmark for production of
electrodes. These electrodes give the Company an advantage with regards to the efficiency of the electrolyser
(as less power is needed). For further information regarding HydrogenPro's manufacturing sites, please refer to
Section 8.7 "Property, plant and equipment".
Intellectual property
The Company's philosophy is to apply for patents on innovations that third parties may easily copy. As such, the
Company has chosen to not apply for patents on innovations that are difficult to learn, such as the Danish factory
production line of electrode optimalisation. In addition, the Company seeks to protect its fabrication processes
and other intellectual property by sharing such Company information with exclusive teams, consisting of
employees and others on a need to know basis. For example, only a small and carefully selected team know how
to assemble and tighten the Company's electrolysers.
History and important events
The table below provides an overview of key events in the history of the Group:
Table 1 – Overview of key events in the history of the Group
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Year

Event

2013

HydrogenPro AS was incorporated on 14 August 2013

2017

The Company entered into a contract with DG in the US regarding their plans to use green hydrogen to produce synthetic fuel to the
US based aviation industry.

2018

The Company entered into an agreement with H2V INDUSTRY regarding a 100MW plant at a site in the Dunkirk area in France

2019

The Company entered into an agreement with H2V INDUSTRY regarding supply of a 100MW plant in the Normandy area in France
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2020

The Company received a Purchase Order (PO) from Mitsubishi Power Systems in the US for the design and engineering of an ultra large
11MW electrolyser and the Company expects that Mitsubishi Power Systems will order a pilot plant consisting of 33MW (3 x 11MW)
when the design and engineering is completed

2020

Private Placement with gross proceeds of approximately MNOK 600 completed

2020

The Company's shares listed on Euronext Growth Oslo

2020

The Company appoints Martin Thanem Holtet as CFO

2020

The Company entered into two collaboration agreements with Hynion AS on green hydrogen supply to fueling stations

2020

The Company entered into a co-operation agreement with Kvina Energy Park on the development of a significant hydrogen hub in the
Kvinesdal municipality in Norway

2021

The Company acquires 100% of the shares in Advanced Surface Plating ApS

2021

The Company partners up with Green Hydrogen Coalition to launch green hydrogen ecosystems around North America

2021

The Company entered into a cooperation agreement on the development of a significant hydrogen hub in the Kvinesdal municipality in
Norway with plans for large scale hydrogen production in Kvinesdal at an area close to the Feda fjord
The Company entered into a MoU with H2V Industry and Mitsubishi Power Europe, forming a consortium that will develop and deliver
green industrial hydrogen projects

2021

2021
2021
2021
2021

The Company announced that H2V sold the remaining ownership of the Normandy hydrogen project, initially planned for 100MW, to
Air Liquide.
HydrogenPro announced that the Company joins key suppliers and investors in providing a convertible loan to DG's Sustainable Aviation
Fuel Facility in Louisiana, US
The Company signed an agreement with THM to take 75% ownership of core technology and intellectual property rights
The Company received ISO 9001:2015 (QMS), 14001:205 (EMS) and 45001:2018 (HS) certifications

2021

The Company received a PO from Mitsubishi Power for the world's largest single stack high-pressure alkaline electrolyser system to
produce hydrogen. The large single stack first-of-its-kind electrolyser system will have a capacity of 1100 normal cubic metres per hour

2021

The Company joined Black & Veatch and Energy Vault, Inc. in financing the remaining capital requirements of DG's sustainable aviation
fuel project in Louisiana

2022

The Company entered into a memorandum of understanding with Larsen & Toubro (L&T), an Indian multinational engaged in EPC
Projects, Hi-Tech Manufacturing and Services, for a partnership to tap the emerging Green Hydrogen market

2022

The Company was awarded a purchase order for an initial delivery of 40 electrolyser systems from Mitsubishi Power Americas, Inc.,
with an initial value of the contract exceeding USD 50 million for the Company's scope of delivery

2022

The Company received a purchase order for a large electrolyser from Mitsubishi Heavy Industries Ltd. The initial value of the contract
exceeds USD 3 million for HydrogenPro's scope of delivery

2022

Richard Espeseth is appointed as Interim CEO of the Company

2022

Admission to trading on Oslo Børs

Property, plant and equipment
The Company owns fabrication facilities in both China and Denmark, as further set out below in Section 8.7.1
"Fabrication site in Tianjin, China" and 8.7.2 "Electrode fabrication facility in Aarhus, Denmark". Please see Section
8.5.5 "Manufacturing process" for further information regarding the manufacturing process concerning
HydrogenPro's products.
Fabrication site in Tianjin, China
In November 2021, the Company acquired a fabrication facility located in Tianjin China from THM, in addition to
the intellectual property rights and the core technology of electrolyser systems for global use and application. As
at the date of this prospectus, the Company owns 75% of the fabrication facility, while the current shareholders
of THM owns the remaining 25%. The fabrication facility is headed by Jan Henrik Kuhlefelt (as further described
in Section 8.3.6 "Experienced team of industry leading experts"). The facility is conveniently located between
Tianjin and Beijing with good access to Tianjin sea-port.
The fabrication facility includes all necessary CNC (computer numerical control) machinery, welding, assembly
and testing equipment for manufacturing of electrolysers and related equipment. Furthermore, the Company is
currently in the process of upgrading and expanding the fabrication facility with additional new machinery,
processes and IT solutions in order to offer an initial production capacity of 300MW per year. The expansion is
planned to finalize within the third quarter of 2022.
Electrode fabrication facility in Aarhus, Denmark
By year-end of 2021, the Company's full-scale electrode fabrication site in Aarhus, Denmark, was completed. The
fabrication site is headed by Lars Pleth Nielsen (as further described in Section 8.3.6 "Experienced team of
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industry leading experts"). The fabrication site includes a plating line, chemical storage room, an automatic
cutting line, and an R&D lab (see Section 8.11 "Research and development").
The building itself is not owned by the Company but has been leased since 2021. The leasing contract may be
terminated by the Company no earlier than 30 June 2023 and by the lessor no earlier than 30 June 2025. For
both parties, a six-month notice period will start after a notice of termination has been provided.
Material contracts
As at the date of this Prospectus, the Group has not entered into any material contracts, outside those entered
into in the ordinary course of its business, or any other contracts entered into outside the ordinary course of
business which contains any provision under which any Group company has any obligation or entitlement which
is material to the Group.
Legal and regulatory proceedings
The Group is not, nor has been, during the course of the preceding twelve months, involved in any legal,
governmental or arbitration proceedings which may have, or have had in the recent past, significant effects on
the Group's financial position or profitability. The Company is not aware of any such proceedings which are
pending or threatened.
Dependency on contracts, patents, licenses, new manufacturing processes, etc.
Summary information on contracts and manufacturing process which the Group is currently depended on is set
out below:
-

As of the date of this prospectus, the Company has been awarded one purchase order pertaining to 40
electrolyser systems from Mitsubishi Power Americas, Ltd. as part of the Advanced Clean Energy Storage
(ACES) project as further described in Section 8.5.3.3 "Mitsubishi Power", which is currently deemed material
to the Group's business and/or profitability.

-

Furthermore, the facility and fabrication process, including intellectual property rights and core technology
of electrolyser systems, relating to fabrication of the high pressure alkaline electrolyser systems at the
fabrication facility in Tianjin, China (as further described in Section 8.3.4 "Global fabrication and engineering
presence", Section 8.1.5.6 "Engineering, procurement and construction", Section 8.5.5 "Manufacturing
process" and Section 8.7.1 "Fabrication site in Tianjin, China"), is currently deemed material to the Group's
business and/or profitability.
Research and development

The Company works extensively on R&D to ensure competitiveness in the global market. This includes
technological leadership through increased efficiency on electrolysers, reducing the electricity consumption to
produce green hydrogen, mainly led by the R&D team in Denmark and resources in Norway. Another key focus
area for the Company is ensuring competitive prices to end customers by focusing on standardised and scalable
concepts to reduce the cost of producing large-scale plants for end users.
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CAPITALISATION AND INDEBTEDNESS
Introduction

The financial information presented below has been extracted from the Group's Interim Financial Statements and
should be read in conjunction with the other parts of the Prospectus, in particular Section 10 "Selected Financial
Information and Other Information" and Section 11 "Operating and Financial Review".
This Section 9 "Capitalisation and indebtedness" provides information about the Group's unaudited consolidated
capitalisation and net financial indebtedness on an actual basis as at 30 June 2022 and, in the "Adjustment
amount" column, the estimated impact to the Group's consolidated capitalisation and net financial indebtedness
of the events described below.
Adjustments for estimated effects have been included below and a further description is included in the notes
under the table in Section 9.2 "Capitalisation" and 9.3 "Net financial indebtedness".
Other than as set forth above, there has been no material change to the Group's consolidated capitalisation and
net financial indebtedness since 30 June 2022.
Capitalisation
The following table sets forth information about the Group's unaudited consolidated capitalisation as at 30 June
2022:
Table 2 – Capitalisation

As at
30 June 2022

Adjustment
(a)

As adjusted as of the

amount(b)

date of the
Prospectus

-

(In NOK thousands)

Total current debt:
Guaranteed…………………………………………………………………………………………

-

-

Secured…………………………………………………………………………………………

-

-

-

114 771(1)

-

114 771

114 771

-

114 771

Guaranteed ………………………………………………………………………………………

-

-

-

Secured ………………………………………………………………………………………

-

-

-

2 452(2)

-

2 452

Unguaranteed / unsecured ……………………………………………………
Total current debt:…………………………………………………………

Total non-current debt:

Unguaranteed / unsecured ……………………………………………………

2 452

-

2 452

117 223

-

117 223

Share capital………………………………………………………………………………………

58

1 103(4)

1 161

Legal reserve(s)…………………………………………………………………………………

-

-

-

Other reserves……………………………………………………………………………………

485 567(3)

(1 103)

584 464

485 625

-

485 625

602 848

-

602 848

Total non-current debt:…………………………………………………
Total indebtedness…………………………………….…………………

Shareholders' equity

Total shareholders' equity………………………………………………
Total
capitalisation…………………………………………………………

(a) The data set forth in this column are derived from the Group's Interim Financial Statements for the six-month
period ended 30 June 2022:
1)

Comprising NOK 0.8 million in lease liability, NOK 3.2 million in trade payables, NOK 4.8 million in public duties

payables, and NOK 105.9 million in other short-term liabilities.
2)

Comprising NOK 1.4 million in non-current lease liabilities (IFRS 16) and NOK 1 million in non-current deferred

tax. Lease liabilities are secured in right-of-use assets.
3)

Comprising NOK 576 million in share premium, NOK 34.5 million in other paid-in equity, minus NOK 135.5

million in other equity, NOK 0.4 million in foreign currency rate differences and NOK 10 million in not controlling
interest.
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(b) Adjustments:
1)

The extraordinary general meeting in HydrogenPro AS on the 5 September 2022 passed the resolution of

increasing the Company's share capital with NOK 1,10 million from NOK 58 thousand to NOK 1,16 million by
transfer of a corresponding amount from the Company's unrestricted equity to the Company's share capital.
Net financial indebtedness
The following table set forth information about the Group's consolidated net financial indebtedness as at 30 June
2022:
Table 3 – Net financial indebtedness

As at
30 June 2022

Adjustment
(a)

amount

(b)

As adjusted as date
of the Prospectus

(In NOK thousands)

(A)

Cash

435 283(1)

-

435 283

-

-

(B)

Cash equivalents

-

(C)

Other current financial assets

-

-

-

(D)

Liquidity (A)+(B)+(C)

435 283

-

435 283

(E)

Current financial debt (including debt instruments, but
excluding current portion of non-current financial debt)

-

-

-

(F)

Current portion of non-current financial debt

8402)

-

840

840

-

840

(434 443)

-

(434 443)

-

1 397

-

-

-

(G)

Current financial indebtedness (E + F)

(H)

Net current financial indebtedness (G – D)

(I)

Non-current financial debt (excluding current portion and
debt instruments)

(J)

Debt instruments

(K)

Non-current trade and other payables

(L)

Non-current financial indebtedness (I+J+K)

(M)

Total financial indebtedness (H+L)

1 397

(2)

-

-

-

1 397

-

1 397

(433 046)

-

(433 046)

(a) The data set forth in this column are derived from the Group's Interim Financial Statements for the six-month
period ended 30 June 2022:
1)

As extracted from the line item "Cash and cash equivalents" in the Interim Financial Statements, comprising

only cash and non-cash equivalents.
2)

Recognized lease liabilities on the balance sheet amount to NOK 2.2 million whereas NOK 1.4 is classified as

non-current and NOK 0.8 million is classified as current.
Working capital statement
The Company is of the opinion that the working capital available to the Group is sufficient for the Group's present
requirements, for the period covering at least 12 months from the date of this Prospectus.
Contingent and indirect indebtedness
The Group does not have any material contingent or indirect indebtedness as of the date of the Prospectus beyond
that described in the tables above.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND OTHER INFORMATION
Introduction and basis for preparation

The Company has prepared the audited consolidated IFRS Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31
December 2021 in accordance with IFRS, with unaudited comparative figures for the financial year ended 31
December 2020. Further, the Company has prepared the audited consolidated NGAAP Financial Statements for
the financial years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 in accordance with NGAAP.
Moreover, the Company has prepared unaudited consolidated Interim Financial Statements for the six-month
period ended 30 June 2022 in accordance with IAS 34. The Interim Financial Statements has been subject to a
limited scope audit review by BDO (BDO AS).
The Financial Statements, which are included as Appendix B (IAS 34 2022 and 2021), Appendix C (IFRS 2021
and 2020), Appendix D (NGAAP 2020 and 2019) and Appendix E (NGAAP 2019) to this Prospectus, were audited
by BDO (BDO AS). The auditor's reports do not contain any modifications of emphasis on matters.
Summary of accounting policies and principles
For information regarding accounting policies and principles, see note 2 of the Company's IFRS Financial
Statements, attached hereto as Appendix C (IFRS 2021 and 2020).
Condensed consolidated statement of profit and loss
The tables below set out selected data extracted from the Financial Statements.
Table 4 – Consolidated statement of profit or
loss

Year ended 31 December

Six-month period
ended 30 June
2022
2021
IAS 34
IAS 34
Unaudited
Unaudited

2021
IFRS
Audited

2020
IFRS
Unaudited

2020
NGAAP
Audited

2019
NGAAP
Audited

Revenue from contracts with customers

20 036

26 694

26 694

25 156

16 562

732

Total revenue

20 036

26 694

26 694

25 156

16 562

732

Costs of goods sold

11 632

6 323

6 323

15 452

11 365

831

Personnel expenses

32 878

10 988

10 988

7 706

27 787

11 744

5 215

357

357

49

5 292

2 186

Other operating expenses

30 772

14 987

14 981

16 556

21 379

10 099

Operating profit/(loss)

(60 461)

(5 961)

(5 961)

(14 607)

(49 261)

(24 129)

4 374

1 905

1 905

1106

9 194
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(Amounts in NOK thousands)
Operating income and operating expenses:

Depreciation and amortization expense

Financial income
Financial expenses

1 321

4 185

4 185

3 119

2 224

430

Net financial income and expenses

3 053

(2 280)

(2 280)

(2 013)

(6 970)

(77)

(57 407)

(8 241)

(8 241)

(16 620)

(42 290)

(24 206)

Profit/(loss) before income tax
Income tax expense

(975)

7 727

7 727

(3 749)

975

(364)

(56 432)

(15 967)

(15 967)

(12 871)

(43 265)

(23 842)

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

337

-

-

-

(458)

-

Exchange difference on translation of foreign
operations

337

-

-

-

(458)

-

(56 096)

(15 967)

(15 961)

(12 871)

(43 723)

(23 842)

(56 096)

(15 967)

(15 961)

(12 871)

(43 543)

(23 842)

(0,98)

(0,36)

(0,28)

(0,41)

(0,75)

(0,41)

Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income:

Net Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the year
attribute to:
Equity holders of the parent company
Earnings per share (in NOK):
Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share
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Statement of financial position
The table below sets out selected data extracted from the Financial Statements. The development in the balance
sheet is commented further in Section 11 "Operating and financial review".
Table 5 – Consolidated statements of financial
positions – Assets

Year ended 31 December

Six-month period
ended 30 June
2022
2021
IAS 34
IAS 34
Unaudited
Unaudited

2021
IFRS
Audited

2020
IFRS
Unaudited

2020
NGAAP
Audited

2019
NGAAP
Audited

Intangible assets

48 970

45 001

55 308

5 893

67 657

46 626

Property, plant and equipment

22 637

2 756

2 756

66

47 513

11 564

2 975

334

-

-

2 199

1 414

Non-current tax assets

975

-

-

7 727

-

455

Investments in associated companies

101

50

50

50

278

50

Loan to associated companies

634

-

-

-

938

-

(Amounts in NOK thousands)
Assets
Non-current assets

Right of use assets

Other receivables
Total non-current assets

48 597

7

7

7

34 019

7 268

124 890

48 148

58 122

13 743

152 603

67 377

Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other receivables

308

-

-

-

313

-

13 042

3 183

3 183

1 146

8 002

1 038

7 594

2 541

2 541

2 186

6 648

2 849

Cash and bank deposits

382 255

506 111

506 111

9 992

435 283

471 174

Total current assets

403 199

511 835

511 835

13 324

450 245

475 061

Total assets

528 089

559 983

559 588

27 067

602 849

542 438

2019
NGAAP
Audited

Six-month period
ended 30 June
2022
2021
IAS 34
IAS 34
Unaudited
Unaudited

Table 6 – Consolidated statements of financial
positions – Equity
(Amounts in NOK thousands)

Year ended 31 December
2021
IFRS
Audited

2020
IFRS
Unaudited

2020
NGAAP
Audited

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Share premium account
Other equity contributed
Other equity
Translation reserves

58

57

57

31

58

58

576 141

542 170

542 170

9 843

576 141

574 588

26 800

9 098

9 098

1 460

34 505

17 016

(92 081)

(35 648)

(35 648)

(26 871)

(135 536)

(59 490)

432

-

337

Non-controlling interest
Total equity

10 025
511 256

515 677

515 677

(15 536)

485 625

533 630

-

-

-

-

-

-

1 365

180

-

-

1 397

103

-

-

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing debt
Non-current lease liabilities
Other long term liabilities

10 307

Deferred tax
Total non-current liabilities

1 055
1 365

180

10 307

-

2 452

103

Current liabilities
Current lease liabilities

1 610

154

-

-

840

154

Trade creditors

3 290

7 184

7 184

3 193

3 164

5 063

Public duties payables

5 071

1 102

1 102

796

4 823

2 765

56

Other short term liabilities

5 497

35 686

35 686

8 160

105 943

2 181

Total current liabilities

15 468

44 126

43 972

12 149

114 771

10 163

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

16 833

44 306

54 279

35 413

117 223

10 266

528 089

559 983

569 956

27 067

602 849

542 438

Statement of cash flow
The table below sets out selected data extracted from the Financial Statements.
Table 7 – Cash flow statement

As at 31 December

As at 30 June

2021
IFRS
Audited

2020
IFRS
Unaudited

2020
NGAAP
Audited

2019
NGAAP
Audited

2022
IAS 34
Unaudited

2021
IAS 34
Unaudited

(57 407)

(8 241)

(8 241)

(16 620)

(42 290)

(24 206)

5 215

357

357

237

5 292

2 186

Option cost no cash effect

18 533

7 638

7 638

1 460

8 044

9 402

Change in accounts receivable

(9 859)

(2 037)

(2 037)

(1 140)

5 041

2 145

(Amounts in NOK thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities
Net Income / (Loss) before tax
Depreciation, amortisation & impairment

Change in inventory
Change in accounts payable
Write-down shares
Effect of foreign currency translation
Change in other accruals
Change in other item-limited items
Net cash flows from operating activities

(3 894)

3 990

3 990

1 387

(6)

-

(125)

(2 120)

7

0

0

0

-

7

337

0

0

0

(881)

12

(548)

(5 398)

-

-

101 163

(1 475)

-

-

26 762

6 966

-

-

(47 617)

(3 689)

28 471

(7 709)

(76 237)

(14 048)

(20 793)

(2 333)

(2 333)

(54)

(3 789)

(9 171)

(8 079)

(6 947)

(49 415)

-

-

(6 632)

Cash flows from investing activities
Change in tangible assets
Change in intangible assets
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired

(14 847)

Change in other investing activities

(49 178)

0

-

(50)

(3 836)

(7 268)

Net cash flows from investing activities

(78 050)

(9 280)

(51 748)

(104)

(22 472)

(21 070)

-

(23 264)

(23 264)

(770)

(738)

(77)

1 812

532 353

532 353

9 845

1 812

509 088

519 396

9 074

(738)

(182)

506 111

9 992

9 992

8 730

382 256

506 111

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of loan
Change in non-payable deferred tax due to
consolidation

10 307

Proceeds from Equity Issue
Net cash flows from financing activities
Cash balance start of period

259

Net change in cash

(123 855)

496 119

496 119

1 262

53 028

(34 937)

Cash balance end of period

382 256

506 111

506 111

9 992

435 283

471 174

Statement of changes in equity
The table below sets out selected data extracted from the Annual Financial Statements.
Table 8 - Statement of changes in equity
Translatio
n

capital

reserves

-

-

-

(14 000)

(14 000)

(13 970)

-

-

-

-

(12 871)

(12 871)

(12 871)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Share

capital

premium

30

Profit for the period
Other comprehensive

(Amounts in NOK thousands)

Equity as at 1 January 2019

57

Uncovere
d loss

Total

Not
controllin

Other
paid-in

Share

other
equity

g interest

Total
equity

Issue of share capital

1

9843

-

-

-

-

9844

Cost of share-based payment

-

-

1460

-

-

-

1460

Equity as at 31 December
2019

31

9 843

1460

-

(26 871)

(26 871)

(15 537)

Equity as at 1 January 2020

31

9 843

1 460

-

(26 871)

(26 871)

(15 537)

-

-

-

-

7 190

7 190

7 190

31

9 843

1 460

--

(19 681)

(19 681)

(8 347)

-

-

7 638

-

-

0

7 638

26

532 327

-

-

-

-

532 353

-

(15 967)

(15 967)

(15 967)

Equity as at 31 December
2020

57

542 170

9 098

-

(35 648)

(35 648)

(515 677)

Adjusted equity as at 1
january 2021

57

542 170

9 098

-

(35 648)

(35 648)

515 677

Profit for the period

-

-

-

-

(56 432)

(56 432)

(56 432)

Other comprehensive

-

-

337

337

Issue of share capital

1

33 971

-

-

-

0

33 972

Cost of share-based payment

-

-

17 702

-

-

-

17 702

Equity as at 31 December
2021

58

576 141

26 800

337

(92 080)

(91 743)

511 256

Equity as at 1 January 2022

58

576 141

26 800

337

(92 080)

511 256

-

511 256

(43 265)

(43 265)

(180)

(43 445)

Effect of implementing
Equity adjusted as at 1
January 2020
Cost of share-based payment
Issue of share capital
Profit for the period

337

Profit for the period
96

Other comprehensive

96

Issue of share capital
7 705

Cost of share-based payment

7 705

Non controlling interest by
aquestition

Equity as at 30 June 2022

58

576 141

34 505

433

(135
536)

475 601

10 205

10 205

10 025

485 626

Acquisition of HydrogenPro Tianjin from THM
On 12 April 2022, the Company entered into the definitive agreement to acquire 75 percent of the shares of
HydrogenPro Tianjin. HydrogenPro Tianjin received the business license to operate on 9 June 2022. HydrogenPro
Tianjin has been consolidated by the Company from the same date and the business combination is reflected in
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022.
HydrogenPro Tianjin is a provider of electrolyzer systems, headquartered in Tianjin, China, with approximately
35 employees. HydrogenPro Tianjin specializes in manufacturing and assembly of hydrogen systems, including
steel system structures and high-pressure piping, and has its production facilities also in Tianjin, China.
HydrogenPro Tianjin will bring significant systems assembly capacity and know-how and complement the
capabilities of the Group, improving control of the value chain and accelerating time to market.
All hydrogen systems have since the start of production been exclusively delivered to the Company and
HydrogenPro Tianjin's revenues are as such eliminated in the financial statements of the Company.
HydrogenPro Tianjin is determined to be a "business" since it is capable of being conducted and managed for the
purpose of providing goods to customers generating a net income. Reference is made to the definition of a
"business" in IFRS 3 appendix A and the description above. The acquisition is therefore accounted for as a
"business combination" when applying the acquisition method, cf. IFRS 3 paragraph 4. The steps followed when
applying the acquisition method follows from IFRS 3 paragraph 5. The Company is an existing business and
identified as the acquirer in accordance with IFRS 3 paragraph 6. The acquisition is accounted for in the financial
statements of the Company on the acquisition date.
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Pursuant to the Commission Delegated Regulation (Annex 1, item 18.4.1) a transaction which represents a gross
change, i.e., more than 25%, in either (i) total assets, (ii) revenue or (iii) profit or loss, pro forma figures
consistent with the historical financial information included in a prospectus should be prepared and presented.
Although HydrogenPro Tianjin's revenues for the year ended 31 December 2021 make up 25% of the Company's
revenues for the same period, these will be eliminated in the consolidated financial statements of the Company
as all production is delivered to the Company, and as such, the transaction will not constitute a gross change in
revenue. Profit and total assets of HydrogenPro Tianjin for the year ended 31 December 2021 make up 1% and
2% of the Company's profit and total assets, respectively, for the same period.
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

This operating and financial review should be read together with Section 4.2 "Presentation of financial and other
information", Section 7 "Industry and Market Overview", Section 8 "Business of the Group", Section 10 "Selected
Financial and Other Information" and the Financial Statements, including related notes, included in Appendix B
(IAS 34 2022 and 2021), Appendix C (IFRS 2021 and 2020), Appendix D (NGAAP 2020) and Appendix E (NGAAP
2019) of this Prospectus. This operating and financial review contains forward-looking statements. These forwardlooking statements are not historical facts, but are rather based on the Group's current expectations, estimates,
assumptions and projections about the Group's industry, business, strategy and future financial results. Actual
results could differ materially from the results contemplated by these forward-looking statements because of a
number of factors, including those discussed in Section 2 "Risk factors" and Section 4.4 "Cautionary note
regarding forward-looking statements" of this Prospectus, as well as other sections of this Prospectus.
Key factors affecting the Group's results of operations and financial performance
The Group's results of operations have been, and will continue to be, affected by several factors, most of which
are beyond the Group's control. The key factors that Management believes have had a material effect on the
Group's results of operations during the period under review, as well as those considered likely to have a material
effect on its results of operations in the future, are described below.
The demand for green hydrogen
The Company provides large-scale electrolyser systems, primarily for industrial customers. Cost competitiveness
of green hydrogen vs. fossil alternatives is thus a key factor for customers placing purchase orders. This is mainly
driven by competitive price on renewable electricity, carbon emission duties and potential subsidies of green
hydrogen. Other key factors that may impact the customers' investment decisions include, but are not limited to,
access to renewable energy, secured necessary financing, necessary permits and approvals.
Project execution and timing of revenue
The Company executes large projects with revenue recognition in accordance with the percentage of completion
principle, hence delays in project execution will delay revenues recognition in the financial statements. Also, the
customer contracts typically include technical requirements, liquidated damages etc., and a potential breach of
the contractual obligations could have a material adverse impact on the Company's profit.
Pandemics (incl. COVID-19)
Pandemics, including COVID-19, could have an adverse impact on the Company's operations and profit, e.g.
supply chain disruptions or shut down of fabrication facilities. In early 2022, infection control measures in China
led to a lock down which caused a delay in the delivery, but the production of the system was finalized in the
second quarter 2022 and the delay had no negative contractual implications for HydrogenPro.
Raw material prices
There are relatively few components in the Company's product offering but some of them are exposed to
fluctuations in the commodity prices, e.g. steel and nickel. The Company is closely monitoring raw material prices
and seeks to reduce the impact on the Company's profits through inclusion of raw material prices clauses in
contracts with customers, agreements with sub-suppliers or potentially financial derivatives.
Recent developments and trends
As announced by HydrogenPro on 1 September 2022, Delta Air Lines has entered into an offtake agreement with
DG Fuels, where DG Fuels will supply Delta Air Lines with 385 million gallons of sustainable aviation fuel, starting
in 2026. This commitment from Delta is estimated to make up more than one third of the total volume of the
capacity at DG Fuels' Louisiana facility. HydrogenPro will play a vital role in supplying hydrogen to the DG Fuels
plant with the delivery of its high-pressure alkaline electrolysers. HydrogenPro expect the contract to be signed
during Q1 2023. The first delivery of electrolysers is estimated to occur in 2024.
Segment information for the Group
See below for segment information related to the Group for the periods indicated.

60

The table below presents revenues generated by each of the Group's segments for the six-month periods ended
2022 and 2021 and years ended 31 December 2021, 2020 and 2019.
Table 9 – Consolidated revenue by operating segment
(Amounts in NOK thousands)
Revenue from engineering services
Revenue from sale of goods
Total revenue

As at 31 December

As at 30 June

2021
IFRS
Audited

2020
IFRS
Unaudited

2020
NGAAP
Audited

2019
NGAAP
Audited

2022
IAS 34
Unaudited

2021
IAS 34
Unaudited

3 700

25 069

25 069

18 139

1 279

667

16 337

1 625

1 625

7 017

15 283

65

20 036

26 694

26 694

25 156

16 562

732

Revenue from engineering services includes sales of pre-engineering services and FEED- studies. Revenue from
sale of goods is revenue from projects that inlcudes sale of electrolyser-systems.
The Group generates revenues in 4 geographic areas: Norway, Europe, America and Asia Pacific.
The table below presents revenues for each of the Group's geographic areas of activity for the six-month periods
ended 30 June 2022 and 2021 years ended 31 December 2021, 2020 and 2019.
Table 10 – Consolidated revenue by geographic area
(Amounts in NOK thousands)

As at 31 December
2020
IFRS
Unaudited

2020
NGAAP
Audited

2019
NGAAP
Audited

2022
IAS 34
Unaudited

2021
IAS 34
Unaudited

0

136

136

947

1 170

-

Norway
Europa
America
Asia Pacific
Total

As at 30 June

2021
IFRS
Audited

906

8 413

8 413

24 209

112

731

16 204

18 144

18 144

-

14 608

-

2 926

-

-

-

672

-

20 036

26 694

26 694

25 156

16 562

731

Description of key line items
Revenues
Revenues are from the sale of Hydrogen electrolyser systems and engineering services. Long term fixes-price
contracts are valued to the percentage of completion method. The degree of completion is calculated as expenses
incurred as a percentage of estimated total expense.
Cost of goods sold
Cost of materials consist mainly of direct costs to energy, steel, water, nickel, planting chemicals and lye. In
addition, comes costs to suppliers of manufactured production inputs.
Salary and personnel expenses
Wages, salaries, bonuses, pension, and social security contributions, paid annual leave and sick leave are accrued
in the period in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Company. The Company has
pension plans for employees that are classified as defined contribution plans. Contributions to defined contribution
schemes are recognized in the statement of profit or loss in the period in which the contribution amounts are
earned by the employees.
Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses consist mainly of consultancy fees and external personnel.
Depreciation, amortization and impairment
Depreciation, amortization and impairment consists mainly of depreciation of intangible assets and property,
plant and equipment from ASP.
Financial income and expenses
Finance income consists mainly of interest income and foreign exchange gains. Finance expenses consists mainly
of foreign exchange expenses.
Income tax expenses

61

Income tax expenses represent reversal of calculated deferred tax.
Results of operations
Results of operations for the six-month period ended 30 June 2022 compared to the six-month period
ended 30 June 2021
Table 11 - Consolidated statement of profit or loss

Six-month period ended 30 June
2022
IAS 34
Unaudited

Change in %

2021
IAS 34
Unaudited

Revenue from contracts with customers

16 562

2 163%

732

Total revenue

16 562

2 163%

732

Costs of goods sold

11 365

- 1 268%

831

Personnel expenses

27 787

- 137%

11 744

5 292

- 142%

2 186

Other operating expenses

21 379

- 112%

10 099

Operating profit/(loss)

(49 261)

- 104%

(24 129)

Financial income

9 194

2 505%

353

Financial expenses

2 224

- 417%

430

Net financial income and expenses

6 970

9 152%

(77)

(42 290)

- 75%

(24 206)

(Amounts in NOK thousands)

Depreciation and amortization expenses

Profit/(loss) before income tax
Income tax expense
Operating profit/(loss) for the period

975

1373%

(364)

(43 265)

- 815%

(23 842)

Set out below is a description of the key reasons for the changes from period to period.
Revenue from contracts with customers and cost of goods sold
Total revenue from contracts with customers for H1 ended 30 June 2022 were NOK 16.56 million compared to
NOK 0.73 million as of H1 2021. The increase in H1 2022 mainly relates to the delivery of the Purchase Order
signed with Mitsubishi on 24th of August 2021, for the delivery of world's largest single stack high-pressure
alkaline electrolyser system, together with some other projects.
Operating costs58
Operating costs for the period H1 ended 30 June 2022 had a total of NOK 65.82 million compared to NOK
24.86 million as of H1 ended 30 June 2021. The increase in cost of goods sold was primarily due more delivery
of physical electrolysers and cell stacks in H1 2022.
During H1 2021, the Group employed some key personnel, that went in on incentive scheme resulting in
significant higher personnel costs. In total the Group had a higher increase in their internal workforce during the
second quarter in 2021. Thus the 1H 2021 do not include the equivalent payroll level as H1 2022. The Group also
made use of external accounting services, financial advisors and lawyers in order acquire the subsidiary,
HydrogenPro Tianjin. Additionally costs related to the IPO process to Oslo Børs and consultants and auditors
contributing to the translation of financial reporting into IFRS for the annual report of 2021 are included in H1
2022.
The increase in depreciation and amortization costs was a result of the added values during 2021, especially
related to the investments in production facilities in Denmark and the R&D-centre in Herøya, Porsgrunn that
increased the total carrying amount to be subject to depreciation of intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment in 2022.
Operating profit/(loss)
The operating profit/(loss) for the period H1 ended 30 June 2022 was NOK -49,3 million compared to NOK -24,1
million as of 30 June 2021. The change in operating profit (loss) was primarily due to the factors described above.
The significant increase in operating costs compared to 2021 reflects the expand the Group and professionalize
the internal functions, such as hiring project managers for each project going forward.

58

"Operating costs" comprises cost of goods sold, personnel expenses, depreciation and amortization expenses and other operating expenses
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Net financial income and expenses
Financial income and expenses for the period ended 30 June 2022 were net NOK 7 million, compared to NOK 0.1 million as of 30 June 2021. The change is mainly due to an increase in foreign exchange gain.
Income tax expenses:
Income tax for the period ended June 2022 and June 2021 was NOK 1.0 million and NOK - 0.4 million respectively.
Results of operations for the year ended 31 December 2021 compared to the year ended 31 December
2020
Table 12 - Consolidated statement of profit or loss

Year ended 31 December
2021
Change in
IFRS
per cent
Audited

(Amounts in NOK thousands)

2020
IFRS
Unaudited

Revenue from contracts with customers

20 036

25%

26 694

Total revenue

20 036

25%

26 694

Costs of goods sold

11 632

-84%

6 323

Personnel expenses

32 878

-199%

10 988

Depreciation and amortization expenses

5 215

-1360%

357

Other operating expenses

30 772

-105%

14 987

Operating profit/(loss)

(60 461)

-914%

(5 961)

Financial income

4 374

-130%

1 905

Financial expenses

1 321

68%

4 185

Net financial income and expenses

3 053

234%

(2 280)

(57 407)

-597%

(8 241)

(975)

113%

7 727

(56 432)

-253%

(12 871)

Profit/(loss) before income tax
Income tax expense
Profit/(loss) for the year

Set out below is a description of the key reasons for the changes from period to period relating to the relevant
line item.
Revenue from contracts with customers and cost of goods sold
Total revenue from contracts with customers for the year ended 31 December 2021 were NOK 20.04 million
compared to NOK 26.7 million as of 31 December 2020, a decrease that was primarily due to a high margin
engineering project with Mitsubishi in 2020. In 2021 the Group did not have active purchase orders until the
second half of the financial year. Within the first half 2021, numerous projects were dependent on the final
investment decision. For several reasons the investment decision was delayed.
Operating costs59
Operating costs for the period ended 31 December 2021 were NOK 80.5 million compared to NOK
32.7 million as of 31 December 2020. The increase in cost of goods sold was primarily due more delivery of
physical electrolyzes and cell stacks in 2021. In 2020 the Group had several projects of working hours, design
and documentation more than delivery of fabricated electrolysers systems that was part of delivery in the second
half of 2021. In 2021 the Group stacked up, especially with key personnel, that went in on incentive scheme
resulting significant higher personnel costs. In total the Group increased their internal workforce by approximately
50%. The Group also made use of external accounting services, financial advisors and lawyers in order to acquire
the subsidiary, ASP. In the end of 2021, the CEO chose to resign which also affected a spike in operating costs.
The increase in depreciation and amortization costs was a result of the added values from the acquisition of ASP
and depreciation of intangible assets and Property, plant and equipment from ASP.
Operating profit/(loss)
The operating profit/(loss) for the year ended 31 December 2021 was NOK -60.5 million compared to NOK-5.96
million as of 31 December 2020. The change in operating profit (loss) was primarily due to the factors described
above. The significant increase in operating costs compared to 2020 reflects the expand the Group and
professionalize the internal functions, such as hiring project managers for each project going forward.

59

"Operating cost" comprises cost of goods sold, personnel expenses, depreciation and amortization expenses and other operating expenses.
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Net financial income and expenses
Financial income and expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021 were NOK 4.4 million and NOK 1.3 million
respectively, compared to NOK 1.9 million and NOK 4.2 million respectively as of 31 December 2020, a significant
change due to exchange rate fluctuations and other interest income from cash and cash equivalents of NOK 550
million brought in during the last quarter of 2021.
Income tax expenses
Income tax for the year ended December 2021 and December 2020 by NOK 0.98 million and NOK 7.7 million
respectively was due to reversal of deferred tax asset in the first half of 2020. The reversal was made effective
before the capital increase, and IPO (Euronext Growth) process was complete.
Results of operations for the year ended 31 December 2020 compared to the year ended 31 December
2019
Table 13 - Consolidated statement of profit or loss

Year ended 31 December
2020
Change in
NGAAP
per cent
Audited

(Amounts in NOK thousands)

2019
NGAAP
Unaudited

Revenue from contracts with customers

26 694

-6%

25 156

Total revenue

26 694

-6%

25 156

Costs of goods sold

6 323

59%

15 452

Personnel expenses

10 988

-43%

7 706

Depreciation and amortization expenses

357

-629%

49

Other operating expenses

14 981

10%

16 556

Operating profit/(loss)

(5 954)

59%

(14 607)

Financial income

1 905

-72%

1106

Financial expenses

4 185

-34%

3 119

Net financial income and expenses

(2 280)

-13%

(2 013)

Profit/(loss) before income tax

(8 234)

50%

(16 620)

7 727

306%

(3 749)

(15 961)

-24%

(12 871)

Income tax expense
Profit/(loss) for the year

Set out below is a description of the key reasons for the changes from period to period relating to the relevant
key line items.
Total revenue and other operating income
Total revenue from contracts with customers for the year ended 31 December 2020 were NOK 26.7 million
compared to NOK 25.2 million as of 31 December 2019, an increase that was primarily due to the first Mitsubishi
project signed and delivered and completed in the last quarter of 2020.
Operating costs60
Operating costs for the year ended 31 December 2020 were NOK 32.7 million compared to NOK 39.8 million as
of 31 December 2019, a decrease in cost of goods sold primarily due to delivery of engineering, design and man
hour instead of electrolyser systems 2020. In 2019, the Group had contracts with customers with obligations to
deliver fabricated goods.
Operating profit/(loss)
The operating profit/(loss) for the year ended 31 December 2020 was NOK -5.96 million compared to NOK -14.6
million as of 31 December 2019, an improvement that was primarily due to reduced cost of goods sold compared
to 2019. The mentioned first contract with Mitsubishi was highly profitable.
Finance income and expenses
Financial income and expenses for the year ended 31 December 2020 were NOK 1.9 million and NOK 4.2 million
respectively, compared to NOK 1.1 million and NOK 3.2 million respectively as of 31 December 2019, a net
decrease that was primarily due to exchange rate fluctuations. This was primarily a result of the COVID-19
pandemic, drop in oil prices, and further a weak Norwegian krone.

60

Operating cost = Cost of goods sold, Personnel expenses, depreciation and amortization expenses and other operating expenses.
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Loss before tax
Loss before tax for the year ended 31 December 2020 was NOK 8.2 million compared to NOK 16.6 million as of
31 December 2019, an improvement that was primarily due to reduced material used in order to deliver on
projects compared to 2019.
Alternative Performance Measures
Please note that other companies may not calculate the APMs in the same manner and, as a result, the
presentation thereof may not be fully comparable to measures used by other companies under the same or similar
titles. Accordingly, undue reliance should not be placed on the APMs contained in this Prospectus and they should
not be considered as a substitute for revenue or other financial metrics.
The tables below set out certain APMs presented by the Group in this Prospectus on an annual and interim basis.
The tables below show the relevant APMs on a reconciled basis, to provide investors with an overview of the basis
of calculation of such APMs. See Section 4.2.4 "Alternative performance measures" above for a further description
of the APMs presented below.
The figures presented in the respective reconciliation tables below are, (i) for the six-month periods ended 30
June 2021 and 2020 derived from the Interim Financial Statements; and (ii) for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020, derived from the IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements.
The table below sets forth reconciliations of EBITDA, EBITDA adjusted and Investments for the periods indicated.
Year end 31
December
(Amounts in NOK thousands, unless otherwise stated)

Six months ended
30 June

2021

2020

2022

2021

Operating profit/(loss)

(60 461)

(5 961)

(28 488)

(13 925)

Depreciation and amortization expense

5 215
(55 246)

357
(5 604)

2 783
(25 705)

1 093
(12 832)

2021

2020

2022

2021

(60 461)

(5 961)

(28 488)

(13 925)

2 783

1 093

(6 111)

(a) EBITDA

(Amounts in NOK thousands, unless otherwise stated)
Operating profit/(loss)
Depreciation and amortization expense
Option cost no cash effect

5 215

357

18 533

7 638

(36 713)

2 304

5 173
(20 532)

2021

2020

2022

2021

20 793

2 333

1 538

9 108

8 079

6 947

-

3 943

49 178

-

3 627

7 268

(c) Investments

78 050

9 280

14 847

20 319

(d) Backlog*

33 341

-

793 899

0

0

-

773 447

0

(b) EBITDA adjusted

(Amounts in NOK thousands, unless otherwise stated)

Expenditures on property plant and equipment or other tangible assets
Expenditures on intangible assets
Expenditure in other investing activities (increase in non-current other
receivables)

(e) Order intake*

6 721

*The Company begun reporting on backlog and order intake in 2022, as such, the company does not have figures for the financial year ended 2020.

Financial position
Financial position as of 30 June 2022 compared to 30 June 2021
Table 14 – Compare financial position 2022 vs 2021

Six-month period ended 30 June

(Amounts in NOK thousands)

2022
IAS 34
Unaudited

Change in
%

2021
IAS 34
Unaudited

152 603

126%

67 377

Assets
Total non-current assets
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Total current assets

450 245

-5%

475 061

Total assets

602 849

9%

542 438

485 625

9%

532 173

2 452

2 288%

103

Total current liabilities

114 771

1 029%

10 163

Total liabilities

117 223

1 042%

10 266

Total equity and liabilities

602 849

11%

542 438

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Total equity
Total non-current liabilities

Set out below is a description of the key reasons for the changes from period to period.
Total non-current assets
As of 30 June 2022, the Group's total non-current assets were NOK 152.6 million whereof NOK 67.7 million in
intangible assets, NOK 47.5 million in property plant and equipment, NOK 2.2 million in right of use assets and
NOK 35.2 million in other long-term receivables. As of 30 June 2021, total non-current assets were NOK 67.4
million, whereof NOK 46.6 million were intangible assets, NOK 11.6 million in property plan and equipment and
NOK 7.3 million in other long-term receivables.
The significant changes relate mainly to different expenditures and investments. The acquisition of the subsidiary
HydrogenPro Tianjin in 2022 added both physical assets and goodwill to the total non-current assets. Other
changes relate to co-investments of NOK 36,5 million to DG Fuels (sustainable aviation fuel (SAF) project) in
Louisiana, USA, classified as other long-term receivables. The Group did also have expenditures on establishing
Herøya R&D centre in Porsgrunn with two large test run containers during 2021 and funded the setup of the
production facility in Aarhus, Denmark during 2021.
As part of non-current assets, the Right of use asset was recognized as a result of implementing IFRS 16 with
approximately NOK 2.2 million, representing lease of office space and a car.
As of 30 June 2021, the Group's non-current assets comprised of the acquisition cost related to the purchase of
a 100% stake in the subsidiary ASP and some capitalized development related to documentation work with frontend engineering and design or large hydrogen plants.
Total current assets
As of 30 June 2022, the Group's total current assets were NOK 450.3 million compared to NOK 495.2 million as
of 30 June 2021. A decrease related to strategic investments in long term assets, as described above. The cash
reduction would been significantly higher; however, it is offset by a prepayment from Mitsubishi, that is to be
recognized as revenue depending on several performance obligations in 2022 and 2023.
As of 30 June 2022, the Group had trade receivables and other receivables (current) of NOK 8 million and NOK 6
million respectively. As of 30 June 2021, trade receivables were NOK 1 million and other receivables NOK 2.9
million. The changes in trade receivables relate mainly to recognized revenue based on percent of completion in
projects, that have not been invoiced yet as of 30 June 2022. Changes in other receivables relate mainly to
increase in public duties receivables and accrued interest income.
Total equity
As of 30 June 2022, the Group's total equity was NOK 485.6 million compared to NOK 523.2 million as of 30 June
2021, a decrease that was primarily due to loss from operations, offset by change in share-based payment to
employees through incentive program.
Non-current liabilities
As of 30 June 2022, total non-current liabilities were NOK 2.5 million compared to NOK 0.1 million as of 30 June
2021. The increase relates to deferred tax of NOK 1.1 million and non-current lease liabilities of NOK 1.3 million.
Current liabilities
As of 30 June 2022, total current liabilities were NOK 114.771 million compared to NOK 10.163 million as of 30
June 2021. The increase relates to the above-mentioned prepayment from Mitsubishi, that is not subject to
revenue recognition as of 30 June 2022. The amount increased even more due to agio effects during the last

66

quarter of 2022. The amount that is nor recognized as revenue, based on unmet performance obligations from
percentage of completion of projects.
Financial position as of 31 December 2021 compared to 31 December 2020
Table 15 – Compare financial position 2021 vs 2020

As at 31 December

(Amounts in NOK thousands)

2021
IFRS
Audited

Change in
%

2020
IFRS
Unaudited

124 890

159%

48 148

403 199

-21%

511 835

528 089

-6%

559 983

511 256

-1%

515 677

1 365

658%

180

15 468

-65%

44 126

16 833

-62%

44 306

528 089

-6%

559 983

Assets
Total non-current assets
Total current assets
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Total equity
Total non-current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

Set out below is a description of the key reasons for the changes from period to period.
Total non-current assets
As of 31 December 2021, the Group's total non-current assets were NOK 124.9 million compared to NOK 48.1
million as of 31 December 2020. The significant changes relate mainly to different expenditures and capitalized
costs from development projects.
In 2021, the Group made co-investments of NOK 36.5 million to DG Fuels (sustainable aviation fuel (SAF) project)
in Louisiana, USA, and reached an agreement with Tianjin HQY Hydrogen Machinery Co., Ltd. (THM) to take
control over the fabrication supply of electrolysers going forward. HydrogenPro pre-paid approximately NOK 18
million as part of a total NOK 48 million capital injection.
The Group also had expenditure on establishing Herøya R&D centre in Porsgrunn with two large test run
containers. HydrogenPro also financed the setup of the production facility in Aarhus, Denmark during 2021.
The Group capitalized development costs in both years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 with
NOK 3.3 million and 8.5 respectively, related to documentation work with front-end engineering and design or
large hydrogen plants.
As part of non-current assets, the Right of use asset was recognized as a result of implementing IFRS 16 with
approximately NOK 3 million, representing lease of office space and a car.
In 2020, the Group's non-current assets comprised of the acquisition cost related to the purchase of a 100%
stake in the subsidiary ASP. The deal was settled 22 December 2020 and paid with issuance of shares in
HydrogenPro.
Total current assets
As of 31 December 2021, the Group's total current assets were NOK 403.2 million compared to NOK 511.8 million
as of 31 December 2020. A decrease that was primarily due to raising NOK 550 million in October 2020, that
significantly improved the Group's cash balance. In 2021, the Group made several strategic investments that
transferred some of the figures onto long term assets, as mentioned above.
As of 31 December 2021, the Group had trade receivables and other receivables (current) of NOK 13 million and
NOK 7.6 million, respectively. As of 31 December 2020, trade receivables were NOK 3.2 million and other
receivables NOK 2.5 million. This was due to the charge of Mitsubishi in line with the signed contracts and its
milestones on delivering electrolyser systems and a cell stack.
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Total equity
As of 31 December 2021, the Group's total equity was NOK 511.3 million compared to NOK 515.7 million as of
31 December 2019, a decrease that was primarily due to loss from operations, offset by change in share based
payment to employees through incentive program.
Non-current liabilities
As of 31 December 2021, total non-current liabilities were NOK 1.4 million compared to NOK 0.2 million as of 31
December 2020. The increase relates to change in non-current lease liabilities of NOK 1.2 million.
Current liabilities
HydrogenPro entered into a share purchase agreement with the initial shareholders of ASP on 20 December 2020.
As the payment was first settled through a share capital increase approved by the extraordinary general meeting
on 8 January 2021, the claims at year end 2020, was classified as other short term liabilities.
Financial position as of 31 December 2020 compared to 31 December 2019
Table 16 – Compare financial position 2021 vs 2020

As at 31 December

(Amounts in NOK thousands)

2020
NGAAP
Audited

Change in
%

2019
NGAAP
Audited

58 122

323%

13 743

Assets
Total non-current assets
Total current assets
Total assets

511 835

3 741%

13 324

569 956

2 006%

27 067

515 677

n.a.

(8 346)

10 307

-56%

23 264

43 972

262%

12 149

54 279

53%

35 413

569 956

2 006%

27 067

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Total equity
Total non-current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

Set out below is a description of the key reasons for the changes from period to period.
Total non-current assets
As of 31 December 2020, the Group's total non-current assets were NOK 58.1 million compared to NOK 13.7
million as of 31 December 2019. An increase in expenditure due to the year end 2020 were the acquisition of the
subsidiary ASP by approximately NOK 36.5 was settled. The 2019 figures consist of capitalized costs to develop
the FEED study (front end engineering and design).
By the year end December 2020, addition was made into PP&E regarding purchase of a test-run container for
production of hydrogen to NOK 3 million.
Deferred tax asset was recognized in the balance sheet in 2019, due to assets and accumulated loss that was
considered likely to benefit the company into profitability. The deferred tax asset was reconsidered and expensed
in 2020 due to the outbreak of covid-19, with significant uncertainty about the future.
Total current assets
As of 31 December 2020, the total current assets were NOK 511.7 million relative to NOK 13.3 million as of 31
December 2019. The Company made a capital increase of approximately NOK 550 million and was listed on
Euronext Growth Oslo on 14 October 2020.
Total equity
As of 31 December 2020, the Group's total equity was NOK 515.7 million compared to NOK -8.3 million as of
31 December 2019, an increase that was primarily due to capital increase through issuance of new shares. Other
changes include change in share-based payments that are expensed over profit and loss, against other paid-in
equity.
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Non-current liabilities
As of 31 December 2020, the Group's total non-current liabilities were NOK 10.3 million compared to NOK 23.3
million as of 31 December 2020. The decrease in long term debt was primarily due to repayment of convertible
debt. The debt was settles after the capital increase was completed in last quarter of 2020.
Other non-current liabilities
As of 31 December 2020, the Group had recognized Deferred tax liabilities of NOK 10.3 million as a result of
consolidation of subsidiary ASP. This was in line with NGAAP and was reversed in converting into IFRS figures.
Total current liabilities
Current liabilities for the year ended 31 December 2020 were NOK 43.9 million compared to NOK 12.1 million as
of 31 December 2019, an increase in short term assets such as claims classified as other short term debt, and
mentioned above, related to the acquisition of ASP, that was settled in the first quarter of 2021. The total claim
was NOK 32.6 million.
Liquidity and capital resources
Sources of liquidity
The Group manages its financing structure and cash flow requirements in response to the Group's strategy and
objectives, deploying financial and other resources related to those objectives. The Group's main sources of
liquidity are through equity issues, cash and cash equivalents and revenues from operating activities.
The Group's cash are held in NOK, USD, EUR and CNY bank accounts. The Company has not entered into any
financing instruments for hedging purposes.
The Group's liquidity requirements arise primarily from the requirement to fund operating expenses, working
capital and capital expenditures.
The Group's ability to generate cash from operations depends on its future operating performance, which is in
turn dependent on general macroeconomic, financial, competitive and market regulatory conditions, many of
which are beyond the Group's control, as well as other factors described in Section 2 "Risk Factors" and Section
11.1 "Key factors affecting the Group's results of operations and financial performance" above.
Cash flow for the three-month period ended 30 June 2022 compared to the same period ended 30 June
2021
Three-month period ended

Table 17 – Cash flow Q2 2022 compared to 2021

30 June

Amounts in NOK thousands

2022

2021

Net cash flows from operating activities

87 008

1 146

Net cash flows from investing activities

(20 012)

(19 438)

Net cash flows from financing activities

(371)

(39)

435 283

471 174

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Cash flow from operating activities
Net cash flows from operating activities increased by NOK 85.9 million, to an inflow of NOK 87.0 million for the
three-month period ended 30 June 2022 from an inflow of NOK 1.2 million for the three-month period ended 30
June 2021. The increase in operating cash flows was primarily due to the prepayment from Mitsubishi in line with
contracts and milestones within the projects. In 2021, increased operating costs was in line with the plan of
upscaling and hiring key personnel, but in Q2 2021 the increase of accounts payable exceeded this and led to an
inflow of NOK 1.5 million. The Group did also have some development costs and investments made, that was
expensed and not recognized as intangible assets in line with IAS 38.
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Cash flow from investing activities
Net cash flows used in investing activities increased by NOK 0.6 million, to an outflow of NOK 20.0 million for the
three-month period ended 30 June 2022 from an outflow of NOK 19.4 million for the three-month period ended
30 June 2021. The investing cash outflows in 2022 was primarily due to the acquisition of the subsidiary
HydrogenPro Tianjin, net of cash. The three-month period ended 30 June 2021 cash outflow related to investing
activities, was mainly based on expenditure on production facilities in Denmark and some prepayments to China
in line with corporation agreements.
Cash flow from financing activities
Net cash flows from financing activities decreased by NOK 0.33 million, to an outflow of NOK 0.37 million for the
three-month period ended 30 June 2022 from an outflow of NOK 0.04 million for the three-month period ended
30 June 2021. The change in financing cash flows was mainly due to payment of lease liabilities.
Cash flow for the year ended 31 December 2021 compared to the year ended 31 December 2020
Table 18 – Cash flow 2021 compared to 2020

Year ended 31 December

Amounts in NOK thousands

2021

2020

Net cash flows from operating activities

(47 617)

(3 689)

Net cash flows from investing activities

(78 050)

(9 280)

Net cash flows from financing activities

1 812

(509 088)

382 256

506 111

Cash and cash equivalents at end 31 December

Cash flow from operating activities
Net cash flows from operating activities decreased by NOK -43.9 million, to an outflow of NOK -47.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021 from an outflow of NOK -3.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2019.
The decreasing in operating cash flows was primarily due to higher activity and upscaling the business in order
to be able to handle large orders from customers. The cash outflow in 2021 are also a result of investments made
that was not recognizes to be in line with IAS 38 (intangible assets).
Cash flow from investing activities
Net cash flows used in investing activities increased by NOK 68.8 million, to an outflow of NOK 78 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021 from an outflow of NOK 9.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. The
increase in investing cash outflows was primarily due to higher expenditure on plants and machinery, investments
into intangible assets and issuance of convertible loan along with increase in other long-term receivables. In the
event were HydrogenPro would have paid cash instead of issuing shares for the acquisition of ASP, the investing
activities in the 2020 cash flow would have been NOK 36.5 million higher, in order to obtain access to the nextgeneration electrode technology.
Cash flow from financing activities
Net cash flows from financing activities decreased by NOK 507.3 million, to an inflow of NOK 1.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021 from an inflow of NOK 509.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. The
decrease in financing cash flows was mainly due to capital increase made in October 2020.
Cash flow for the year ended 31 December 2020 compared to the year ended 31 December 2019
Table 19 – Cash flow NGAAP 2020 compared to 2019 NGAAP

Year ended 31 December

Amounts in NOK thousands

2020

2019

Net cash flows from operating activities

28 471

(7 709)

Net cash flows from investing activities

(51 748)

(104)
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Net cash flows from financing activities

519 396

9 074

Cash and cash equivalents at end 31 December

506 111

9 992

Cash flow from operating activities
Total cash flows from operating activities increased by NOK 4 million, to an outflow of NOK 3.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020 from an outflow of NOK 7.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2019. The
increase in operating cash flows was primarily due to higher profitability and lower materiality used following the
active contracts with customers in 2020. These projects, especially against Mitsubishi was structured to only
include man hours and design.
Cash flow from investing activities
Total cash flows used in investing activities increased by NOK 9.1 million, to NOK -9.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2020 from an outflow of NOK 0,1 million for the year ended 31 December 2019. The increase in
investing cash flows was primarily due to the increase in intangible assets from development projects and
acquisition the container plant to be placed on Herøya Test Centre.

Cash flow from financing activities
Total cash flows from financing activities increased by NOK 500 million, to an inflow of NOK 509 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020 from an outflow of NOK 9 million for the year ended 31 December 2019. The
increase in financing cash flows was primarily due to the capital increase in 2020 of approximately NOK 550
million. The NOK 9 million in financing activities from 2019 was primarily due to increasing debt, in order to stay
liquid and cover costs until the capital increase was completed in 2020.
Financing arrangements
The Group does not have any debt or other financing arrangements in place as at the date of this Prospectus.
Financial risk and capital management
For a description of the Group's management of credit, liquidity, interest rate and foreign exchange risk, see note
20 "Financial risk management" of the IFRS Financial Statements, included as Appendix C to this prospectus.
Investments
Historical investments
The Group's material investments relate to capital expenditures in relation to its various development projects
and upscaling. The table below sets out an overview of material investments made by the Group during the years
ended 31 December 2019, 2020, 2021 and the six-month period ended 30 June 2022.

Table 20 – Historical investments
NOK millions
Engineering design - H2V-project

2019

(a)

2020

5,9

(b)

2,6

2021

(c)

3,3

Q2 2022
-

R&D centre at Herøya

-

3,0

5,2

-

Next-generation electrode technology
(ASP)

-

36,5

29,4

3.8

Hydrogen plant & machineries - Tianjin,
China (75% ownership)

-

-

18,0

14.9

DG, convertible loan

-

-

26,5

-

Other

0,05

0,03

2,7

3.8

Capital expenditures

5,95

42,13

85,2

22.5
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(d)

(a)

2019: HydrogenPro's material investments for the years ended 31 December 2019 primarily related to

capitalized costs from development of front-end engineering and design documentation process of 100MW
hydrogen production plants.
(b)

2020: Capital expenditure related to the Engineering design – H2V-project and admission toward French

authorities continued in 2020. The project included 11 planned hydrogen plants in France, with key activities and
aim to enable the Group to use the similar technology and documentation onto other projects. Capital expenditure
with the next-generation electrode technology relates to the acquisition of the subsidiary ASP in Aarhus, Denmark.
The acquisition was settled by issuance of shares in the Company and enabled the Group to access to the
advanced electrode technology. The Group also bought back one of the test-run containers from a customer,
which is currently placed in Herøya, Norway, participating as part of the R&D-centre today.
(c)

2021: Further capital expenditure in Denmark relates to the establishment of fabrication facility that was

completed during Q1 2022. This enables the Group to deliver on large orders. Throughout 2021, further capital
expenditure was related to the agreement to establish a large production plant in Tianjin, China. The legal entity
was established in June 2022, where HydrogenPro control the company through 75% ownership. Capital
expenditures were also linked to the financing capital requirements of DG's sustainable aviation fuel (SAF) project
in Louisiana. The loan was characterized as a convertible loan of USD 3 million.
(d)

Q2 2022: Capital expenditure related to the acquisition of Tianjin, China was one of the capital injections

agreed to secure ownership of 75 % in HydrogenPro Tianjin. The acquisition provides both control of the value
chain, increased production capacity and intellectual property, in order for the Group to be able to meet future
large purchase orders from customers. Other expenditure during the six-month period ended 30 June 2022 relate
to the abovementioned establishment and completion of the fabrication facilities in Denmark.
Investments in progress or for which firm commitments have been made
As at the date of this Prospectus, the total committed amount related to investments in progress is approx. NOK
17.1 million, all related to ordered machinery and equipment in the operation in China. Fulfillment of the financial
obligations deriving from existing commitments related to ongoing investments will be financed by available cash
balance and cash flow from operations, with no additional external financing required.
Joint venture
The Group holds 50% of the shares and voting rights in Kvina Energy AS accounted for as a joint venture according
to the equity method. This joint venture is a long-term development project with the plan to set up and operate
a new green hydrogen plant. The book value of the investment was 51 thousand as of 30 June 2022, and it is
the Company's assessment that this investment it not likely to give a significant effect on assets, liabilities,
financial position and/or profit and losses in the future.
For further information on the abovementioned entity, see Section 13.2 "Legal structure".
Loans and public grants
11.11.1 Loans given by the Company
The Company has entered into the following loan agreements:
●

On 18 August 2021, the Board approved the entering into of a loan agreement for a total amount of up to
NOK 4 million with Möller and Nielsen ApS (as debtor), to cover unforeseen tax implications following the
share purchase agreement for the shares in the Company's 100% owned subsidiary ASP. The loan has an
interest rate of 1.5% p.a. and matures on 20 December 2023. The loan agreement may be extended by the
parties in writing.

●

On 29 October 2021, the Company issued a convertible loan to DG Fuels, LLC ("DG Fuels") of a total amount
of USD 3 million, to finance DG Fuels' sustainable aviation fuel (SAF) project in Louisiana, together with Black
& Veatch and Energy Vault, Inc. The maturity of the convertible note is up to four years. Pursuant to the
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agreement, upon conversion to shares in DG Fuels, the Company is entitled to a number of shares that equals
the outstanding principal balance, based on the price per share at the time of conversion.
●

On 21 June 2021, the Company entered into a loan agreement with Kvina Energy AS ("KE") (as debtor) for
a total amount of NOK 3.6 million. The loan is paid through monthly payments of NOK 100,000, for the
purpose of financing the operations of KE though funding KE's purchase of services from Kvina Energy Park
AS ("KEP"). Following a share purchase agreement entered into by KE for the shares in KEP, the Company
has informed that the loan amount will be deducted from the amount to be paid if the Group should purchase
additional shares in KEP.

●

The Company has provided NOK 133,000 to its 100% owned subsidiary, HydrogenPro France. The amount
constituted an injection of capital.

11.11.2 Public grants to the Group
The Group has received the following public grants:
●

ASP has on 1 April and 28 June 2022, respectively, been granted a total of DKK 1,472,000 from
Innovationsfonden (Denmark) for the PH.D projects "Development of novel test methods for improving the
fundamental understanding of hydrogen and oxygen formation in alkaline electrolysis" and "Highperformance electrodes for alkaline electrolysis". The grants are conditioned upon the candidates graduating,
achieving certain grades on the projects and submitting signed exit-strategies within six months from the
grant dates.

●

On 7 April 2022, ASP was granted DKK 2,049,564 by Innovationsfonden for the project "H2UP". The grant is
conditioned upon submission of certain documentation and reporting of the project's progress, and consent
to comply with subsequent requirements and participation in subsequent evaluations.

●

ASP is part of the project "Dual circuit flow battery for hydrogen and value added chemical production", under
which a total of EUR 3,87 million has been granted by the Horizon Europe Framework Program, based on an
application of 23 March 2022. Of the total grant, EUR 254,875 has been granted to ASP.

●

On 6 December 2021, Energy Cluster Denmark gave a grant equal to DKK 280,000 to ASP, as well as DKK
60,000, as co-financing in total 383 hours and 50,000 in materials, and 100 hours, respectively, for an
unspecified project. There are no details concerning any conditions.

●

According to a letter of 6 December 2021, the project "Non-noble metal based high performance cathodes
adapted to alkaline electrolyzer for green hydrogen production" was granted up to NOK 300,000 by
Fondsstyret i Regionale Forskningsfond for Vestfold og Telemark. The project is a collaboration between the
Company and Universitetet i Sørøst-Norge.

●

The 2021 consolidated annual accounts mention support (tax compensations) from Skattefunn (cf. note 11)
of NOK (-1,337,000) relating to the work with setting up a technology centre.

As of the date of this prospectus, the Company does not expect any circumstances to occur, according to which
the Group would be obliged to repay the abovementioned grants.
Transactions with related entities
The Group's related parties include the related parties to the Company and its subsidiaries, as well as to the
members of the Board of Directors, and the members of management. Related parties also include companies in
which the individuals mentioned in this paragraph have significant influence.
The Company has entered into certain agreements with related entities, including (i) a statement of debt release
of 31 December 2021 in favour of ASP for an amount of DKK 16,665,671, (ii) an intercompany loan agreement

73

of 7 January 2022 with ASP (as debtor) for up to DKK 20,000,000, and (iii) a share purchase agreement of 1
February 2022 for the purchase of the shares in HydrogenPro Inc. from Richard Espeseth and Terje Mikalsen.
The Company has not entered into any related party transactions other than on arm's length terms.
Critical accounting policies and estimates
The Group's general accounting policies are summerised in note 2 in the IFRS Financial Statements, attached
hereto as Appendix C.
Trend information
The Group is not aware of any recent significant changes in the trends related to production, sales or inventory,
costs or selling prices in the period between 31 December 2021 and to the date of this Prospectus. The Group is
also not aware of any significant changes to the Group's financial performance in the period between 30 June
2022 and to the date of this Prospectus.
Further, the Company is not aware of any known trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or events that
are reasonably likely to have a material effect on the Group's prospects for at least the current financial year.
Significant changes in the issuer's financial position
There has been no significant change in the Group's financial position which has occurred since the end of the
last financial period for which the audited financial statement has been published to the date of this Prospectus.
Environmental issues affecting the Group's utilization of the tangible fixed assets
As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company is not aware of any environmental issues that may have an
effect on the utilization of any of the existing tangible fixed assets.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS, MANAGEMENT, EMPLOYEES AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Introduction

The Company's highest decision-making authority is the general meeting of shareholders. All shareholders in the
Company are entitled to attend or be presented by proxy and vote at general meetings of the Company and to
table draft resolutions for items to be included on the agenda for a general meeting.
The overall management of the Company is vested in the Company's Board of Directors and the management.
In accordance with Norwegian law, the Board of Directors is responsible for, among other things, supervising the
general and day-to-day management of the Company's business ensuring proper organization, preparing plans
and budgets for its activities, ensuring that the Company's activities, accounts and assets management are
subject to adequate controls and undertaking investigations necessary to perform its duties.
The management is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Company's operations in accordance with
Norwegian law and instructions set out by the Board of Directors. Among other responsibilities, the Company's
CEO is responsible for keeping the Company's accounts in accordance with prevailing Norwegian legislation and
regulations and for managing the Company's assets in a responsible manner.
Board of Directors
Overview
The Company's Articles of Association provide that the Board of Directors shall consist of between 3 to 7 board
members elected by the Company's shareholders. Please find details regarding the Company's members of the
Board of Directors, as at the date of this Prospectus, in the table below:
Table 21 – Overview of the members of the Company's Board of Directors
Name

Position

Served since

Term expires

Shares

Options

Ellen Hanetho

Chair

2021

2024

-

2 143 1701

Vivian Espeseth

Board Member

2022

2024

3 173 571

-

Jarle Tautra

Board Member

2021

2024

1 000

2

-

Jarle Dragvik

Board Member

2021

2024

7 7003

-

Donna Rennemo

Board Member

2022

2024

-

-

1,490,000 options are held through Opulentia Invest AS and 653,170 options are held privately.
2
Shares held through Jasmig AS
3
Shares held through Jardis Invest AS.
1

The Company's registered office at Hydrovegen 6, 3933 Porsgrunn, Norway, serves as the business address for
the members of the Board of Directors in relation to their positions in the Company.
Brief biographies of the Board of Directors
The following sets out a brief introduction to each of the members of the Company's Board of Directors:
Ellen Hanetho – Chair
Ellen Merete Hanetho has 20 years of experience from investment banking and private equity as a finance and
business development executive in corporations such as Frigaard Invest, Credo Partners, Goldman Sachs
Investment Banking Division in London and the Brussels Stock Exchange and Citibank in Brussels. She is founder
and chairperson of Cercis, a cleantech investment company established in 2020. Ellen holds a BSBA from Boston
University, US and an MBA from Solvay University, Belgium in addition to executive training from INSEAD, France
and Harvard Business School, US. Hanetho is a Norwegian citizen and resides in Norway.
Current
positions

other

directorships

and

management

Directorships:

Cercis

AS

(founder

and

chair),

Kongsberg Automotive ASA (board member), MPC
Container Ships ASA (board member), Stokke Industri
AS (board member), MPC Energy Solutions N.V.
(board member), Mybank ASA (board member),
Nordic

Technology

Group

AS

(board

Havyard Group ASA (board member)
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member),

Management position(s): N/A
Previous directorships and management positions

Directorships:

held during the last five years

member), Stor-Oslo Eiendom (board member)

Fearnley

Securities

AS

(board

Management position(s): Frigaard Invest AS (CEO)

Vivian Espeseth – Board Member
Vivian Espeseth serves both as a Board Member and Chief Representative in China of the Company. She has been
with the Company since its foundation and hold substantial insight into the Company's affairs. Vivian holds a
Bachelor of Science (B.Sc.) in Computer Scient and a Master of Business Administration (M.B.A) from the MIT
Sloan School of Management. Mrs. Espeseth is a Norwegian citizen and resides in Norway.
Current

other

directorships

and

management

Directorships: N/A

positions

Management position(s): N/A

Previous directorships and management positions

Directorships: N/A

held during the last five years

Management position(s): N/A

Jarle Tautra – Board Member
Jarle Tautra has several years of experience from multiple management positions in energy-related powerhouses
and has gained valuable and extensive international experience in project execution. His experience includes
significant commercial, strategic, and capital market expertise, as well as operational experience.
Mr. Tautra's managing experience includes Chief Executive Officer of Eureka Pumps, a Norwegian pump supplier
operating in the oil & gas and marine industry. Furthermore, Mr. Tautra has several years' experience from Aker
Group, where he held the position as Executive Vice President for Process and Construction and, later, Energy,
Development and Services in Aker Solutions, as well as Executive Vice President for Aker Kvaerner E & C Europe.
Mr. Tautra has also served as Executive Vice president for Aker Oil & Gas in Aker Maritime ASA. Prior to Mr.
Tautra’s time in the Aker Group, he held, among certain other things, several positions in Norsk Hydro ASA.
Mr. Tautra holds a master's degree in Chemical Engineering from the Norwegian Institute of Technology in
Trondheim, Norway. Mr. Tautra is a Norwegian national.
Current

other

directorships

and

management

positions

Directorships: Optime Subsea Services AS (board
member)
Management

position(s):

Keops

AS

(managing

director)
Previous directorships and management positions
held during the last five years

Directorships: Suomen Putkisto Palvelu Oy (chair)
Management position(s): N/A

Jarle Dragvik – Board Member
Jarle Dragvik is the CEO of TM Holding AS, a major shareholder of HydrogenPro AS. Mr. Dragvik has extensive
experience from numerous of senior international management positions as well as board memberships
throughout his career. Such experience is achieved through, among others, board memberships and management
positions in large companies such as Norske Skog, Norsk Hydro and Sapa AS. Mr. Dragvik has also spent five
years

in

China

during

his

career

evidencing

his

international

expertise

and

experience.

Mr. Dragvik holds a master’s degree in Management & Marketing from Oslo Business School in Norway. He has
also completed several management programs i.e., Orkla Top Management Program in Oslo/Shanghai, IMD Global
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Strategy Execution Program in Lausanne, Switzerland as well as IFL Management Program in Stockholm. Mr.
Dragvik is a Norwegian national.
Current

other

directorships

and

management

positions

Directorships: EcoFishCircle AS (board member), Gas
2 Feed AS (board member), TM Holding AS (board
member), Verji AS (chair). Rosberg AS (chair).
Management position(s): TM Holding AS (managing
director), EcoFishCircle AS (CEO), Gas 2 Feed AS
(CEO)

Previous directorships and management positions
held during the last five years

Directorships: N/A
Management position(s): N/A

Donna Rennemo– Board Member
Donna Rennemo is a Norwegian based US citizen that has worked the last 11 years in WindSim AS, a leading
provider and pioneer of CFD (Computational Fluid Dynamics) based Wind Farm Design Tools (WFDT) utilized for
the design of wind farms both onshore and offshore, first as CEO of WindSim Americas Inc. followed by WindSim
AS, and CEO of WindSim Power Inc. since 2021. Prior to working within the renewable energy sector, Rennemo
has spent several years working within the computer software industry in International Sales and Marketing
capacities in companies including ASK/Proxima ASA, Trend Micro Inc and Statoil/NEL Hydrogen. She holds a
bachelor's honors degree from Cal State Fullerton, College of Business and Economics. She is married to a
Norwegian and has two children who attend University in Norway.
Current

other

directorships

and

management

positions

Directorships: N/A
Management position(s): WindSim Power Inc. (CEO)

Previous directorships and management positions
held during the last five years

Directorships: N/A
Management position(s): WindSim AS (Interim CEO),
WindSim Americas Inc. (CEO)

Management
Overview
The management of the Company consists of 4 individuals. Please find details regarding the Company's
management, as at the date of this Prospectus, in the table below:
Table 22 – Overview of the members of the Company's management
Name

Position

Employed since

Shares

Options

Richard Espeseth

Interim Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

2013

11 424 125

-

Martin Thanem Holtet

Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

2021

1 500

150 000

Erik Christian Bolstad

Chief Commercial Officer (CCO)

2021

-

100 000

Karoline Aafos

Chief Project Officer (CPO)

2022

-

57 396

The Company's registered office, at Hydrovegen 6, 3933 Porsgrunn, Norway, serves as the business address for
the members of the management in relation to their positions in the Company.
Tormod Kløve is expected to assume the position as chief legal officer (CLO) at the earliest at 1 November 2022
and at the latest at 1 December 2022. Tormod Kløve has been granted 50,000 options in the Company, but does
not own any Shares.
Biographies of the members of management
The following sets out a brief introduction to each of the members of the Company's management:
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Richard Espeseth– Interim Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Richard Espeseth has 25 years of international industry experience from Norsk Hydro, Hydrogen Technologies,
Statoil, ABB and PRP holding a range of positions from Sales Director, and Head of Supply Chain to Chief Business
Development Officer and CEO. Richard established HydrogenPro in 2013 and has developed the company from a
start-up and into its current leading position. Richard holds an electrical engineering degree. Espeseth is a
Norwegian citizen and resides in Norway.
Current

other

directorships

and

management

Directorships: N/A

positions

Management position(s): N/A

Previous directorships and management positions

Directorships: N/A

held during the last five years

Management position(s): N/A

Martin Thanem Holtet – Chief Financial Officer (CFO)
Martin was appointed as CFO in December 2020 and joined HydrogenPro on 1 March 2021. Martin comes from
the position as VP, Head of Treasury and IR in Hurtigruten. Prior to this, he worked with strategy and M&A in
Yara International and Corporate Finance in Carnegie. Martin holds a master's degree from Norwegian School of
Economics (NHH) with a major in financial economics.
Current

other

directorships

and

management

positions

Directorships: Kvina Energy AS (board member)
Management position(s): N/A

Previous directorships and management positions

Directorships: Namdalen Wilderness Lodge AS (board

held during the last five years

member)
Management position(s): N/A

Erik Christian Bolstad– Chief Commercial Officer (CCO)
Mr. Bolstad has had several positions within Commercial, Sales & Marketing functions with long experience from
B2B (business to business) within the global shipping and shipbuilding industry. He has more than 20 years'
experience from various management positions within ABB and others. B.Sc. Electronic engineering from
University of SouthWestern Norway.
Current

other

directorships

and

management

positions

Directorships: N/A
Management position(s): N/A

Previous directorships and management positions
held during the last five years

Directorships: N/A
Management position(s): ABB (vice president global
segment Manager Offshore, oil & gas and senior vice
president, head of global sales & marketing)

Karoline Aafos– Chief Project Officer (CPO)
Ms. Aafos has held several positions within Commercial, Sales, Marketing and service functions with a long
experience in the global maritime oil and gas industry. She has more than 10 years of experience in various
management and business development positions within ABB and others. B.Sc. Marketing from Norwegian
Business School.
Current
positions

other

directorships

and

management

Directorships: N/A
Management
(owner/manager)
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position(s):

Karoline

Aafos

Previous directorships and management positions

Directorships: N/A

held during the last five years

Management position(s): ABB (Global Service Sales
Manager, Offshore Segment, Service Manager, Spare
parts, Service Sales Manager LNG and Tankers)

Tormod Kløve – Chief Legal Officer (CLO)
Mr. Kløve has eight years of experience as lawyer from the law firm Wikborg Rein Advokatfirma AS, including a
period of three years stationed in Japan as the law firm's Japan Representative. He has also served as deputy
judge, and for the last three years he has been working inhouse in PGS with work predominantly towards major
energy companies.
Mr. Kløve holds a masters degree in law from the Faculty of Law (University of Oslo).
Current

other

directorships

and

management

Directorships: N/A

positions

Management position(s): N/A

Previous directorships and management positions

Directorships: N/A

held during the last five years

Management position(s): N/A

Remuneration of the Board of Directors
For the period 1 June 2021 to 12 May 2022, Ellen Hanetho (Chair of the Board of Directors) received remuneration
in the amount of NOK 338 425. Board Members Jarle Tautra and Jarle Dragvik received NOK 126 370 each for
the period 19 October 2021 to 12 May 2022. Donna Rennemo and Vivian Espeseth have not received any
remuneration for the relevant period as they were both elected as Board Members in 2022.
Remuneration of the Management
The below table sets forth the amount of remuneration paid by the Company to its executive management for
the financial year ended 31 December 2021.
Table 23 – Remuneration of the Management
Name and position

Richard Espeseth
Martin Thanem
Holtet
Erik Christian
Bolstad

Position

Interim Chief Executive Officer
(CEO)
Chief Financial Officer (CFO)
Chief Commercial Officer (CCO)

Benefits in

Salary

kind

Bonus

Pensions

Total

costs

remuneration

(In NOK

(In NOK

(In NOK

(In NOK

(In NOK

thousands)

thousands)

thousands)

thousands)

thousands)

1 780 520

11 689

412 500

88 363

2 293 072

1 050 001

10 956

-

72 050

1 133 007

450 000

4 570

75 000

29 368

558 938
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Karoline Aafos did not receive any remuneration during the year 2021 as her employment contract was signed in
2022.
Martin Thanem Holtet (CFO), Erik Christian Bolstad (CCO) and Tormod Kløve (CLO) are covered by a bonus
scheme under which they may receivee bonuses of up to 25% of their base salary based on relevant key
performance indicators (KPIs) rekated to Group performance, personal area of responsibility and personal
performance.
In addition, the CEO of the Company's 100% owned subsidiary, ASP, may receive a bonus of op to 50% of base
salary if relevant KPIs are met. The consultant holding the role as Director of Procurement & Supply Chain may
receive a bonus of up to EURO 30,000 if relevant KPI's are met.
Employees
The Group had 21 direct employees as of 31 December 2021.
The table below shows the development in the number of employees in the Group for the years ended 31
December 2021, 2020 and 2019.
Table 24 – Employees
Group

As at 31 December 2021

As at 31 December 2020

As at 31 December 2019

21

9

9

The below table below shows the number of full-time employees of the Group by main category of activity.
Table 25 - Category of activity
Management
Other employees

As of 31 December 2021

As at 31 December 2020

As at 31 December 2019

3

3

3

18

6

6

The below table below shows the number of full-time employees of the Group by geographic location.
Table 26 - Geographic location

As of 31 December 2021

As at 31 December 2020

As at 31 December 2019

Norway

19

9

9

Europe

2

0

0

21

9

9

Total

Share incentive programs
As per the date of this Prospectus, the Company has implemented three share option schemes which currently
comprises up to a total of 5,780,630 options, out of which 5,261,670 options have been granted. Out of the
5,261,670 granted options, 258,859 options have been exercised. The options have been awarded by way of
separate stock option agreements between the Company and each relevant incentive scheme participant.
The first option scheme ("Option Scheme 1") was approved at the general meeting in 2019. Option Scheme 1
comprises up to 2,350,000 options. The options under Option Scheme 1 (except for 200,000 options which were
fully vested at the time of grant) vest over a three years' period and the term of the options is 4 years. The
vesting requires continued employment or association with the Company. As at a date on or about the date of
this Prospectus, all available options have been issued under Option Scheme 1.
On the ordinary general meeting on 28 August 2020, a second share option incentive program was approved
("Option Scheme 2"). Option Scheme 2 comprises up to 2,000,000 options each with the right to subscribe for
one share at similar terms as Option Scheme 1 with, however with the following amendments: (i) the options
may be granted to both employees, consultants and board members and (ii) the board of directors are authorised
to, in special cases, waive the requirement for full or partial vesting or determine deviating vesting structures.
As at a date on or about the date of this Prospectus, all available options have been issued under Option Scheme
2.
At the ordinary general meeting on 31 May 2021, a third share option incentive program was approved ("Option
Scheme 3"). Option Scheme 3 comprises up to 1,430,630 options each with the right to subscribe for one share
at similar terms as Option Scheme 2. As at a date on or about the date of this Prospectus, 911,670 options have
been issued under Option Scheme 3. Remaining options to be issued as per the corresponding date amount to
518,960 options.
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Options issued under Option Scheme 1, Option Scheme 2 and Option Scheme 3 are issued with the right to
subscribe for one share in the Company at various subscription prices in the range of NOK 7 – 66,60 per share.
The outstanding options granted but not yet exercised are subject to the following conditions:
Table 27 – Terms and conditions of outstanding and unexercised options
Expiry date

Average exercise price

Number of share options

2023

NOK 7

1 450 880

2024

NOK 7

1 782 378

2025

NOK 25.5

1 669 553

2026

NOK 17.7

100 000

Total

61

5 022 19861

Figure does only include granted and unexercised options
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Benefits upon termination
As per the date of this Prospectus, and further subject to the terms and conditions of the relevant employment
agreement, Richard Espeseth (Interim CEO) will upon termination by the Company receive severance pay
equivalent to six months' salary plus one (1) additional month of salary per year being employed by the Company,
counting from 2018. Martin Thanem Holtet (CFO) will upon termination by the Company receive severance pay
equivalent to 3 months' base salary.
Pension and retirement benefits
The Group's companies in Norway have defined contribution plans in accordance with local laws. The contribution
plan covers employees who work more than 20% FTE and amounts to between 0G and 12G of the salary. The
annual percentage used of the salary for pension purposes is 7%. The employees may influence the investment
management through an agreement with Gjensidige AS.
The contribution is expensed when it is accrued. As of 31 December 2021, there were 20 members covered by
the scheme. The contributions recognised as expenses amounted to NOK 1,445,000 in 2021 and NOK 557,000
in 2020.
Committees
Nomination committee
The Company's Articles of Association provide for a nomination committee elected by the general meeting. The
Company's nomination committee consists of Bjørn Gabriel Reed (committee chair) and Arild Støren Frick
(committee member). The members of the nomination committee are appointed until the annual general meeting
of the Company in 2024.
The nomination committee shall present proposals to the general meeting regarding election of the chair of the
Board, board members and any deputy members of the Board and election of members of the nomination
committee.
The nomination committee shall also present proposals to the general meeting for remuneration of the Board and
the nomination committee.
Audit committee
The Board of Directors has established an audit committee. The appointed members of the audit committee are
Ellen Hanetho (committee chair), Jarle Dragvik and Jarle Tautra. The composition of the audit committee fulfils
the requirement for qualifications and competence in accounting and auditing under the Norwegian Public Limited
Liability Companies Act.
The function of the audit committee is to prepare matters to be considered by the Board of Directors and to
support the Board of Directors in the exercise of its management and supervisory responsibilities relating to
financial reporting, statutory audit and internal control.
Remuneration committee
The Board of Directors has established a remuneration committee. The appointed members of the remuneration
committee are Ellen Hanetho (committee chair), Jarle Dragvik and Donna Rennemo.
The purpose of the remuneration committee is to evaluate and propose the compensation of the Company's
executive management team and issue an annual report on the compensation of the executive management
team, which shall be included in the Company's annual accounts pursuant to applicable rules and regulations,
including accounting standards, promulgated from time to time.
The remuneration committee shall report and make recommendations to the Board of Directors, but the Board
of Directors retains responsibility for implementing such recommendations.
Corporate Governance
The Company has adopted and implemented a corporate governance regime which complies with the Norwegian
Code of Practice for Corporate Governance, dated 14 October 2021 (the "Corporate Governance Code"), with
the following exeptions:
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•

Chair of the Board, Ellen Hanetho, holds options giving right to shares in the Company (see Section 12.5
"Share incentive programs"). These options were granted at a time when the Company was in its early
development stage, as is customary for early phase companies to remunerate skilled personnel without
putting too much strain on cash flow. Remuneration in the form of options to members of the Board of
Directors is generally not recommended as this may have the effect of weakening a board's
independence, cf. Section 11 of the Corporate Governance Code and the Company does not intend to
use options as remuneration to members of the Board of Directors going forward.

Neither the Board of Directors nor the Company's general meeting of shareholders have adopted any resolutions
which are deemed to have a material impact on the Group's corporate governance regime.
Conflict of interests
During the last five years preceding the date of this Prospectus, none of the Board Members or the members of
the Management has, or had, as applicable:
•

any convictions in relation to fraudulent offences;

•

been involved in any bankruptcies, receiverships, liquidations or companies put into administration
where he/she has acted as a member of the administrative, management or supervisory body of a
company, nor as partner, founder or senior manager of a company; or

•

received any official public incrimination and/or sanctions by statutory or regulatory authorities
(including designated professional bodies), nor been disqualified by a court from acting as a member of
the administrative, management or supervisory bodies of an issuer or from acting in the management
or conduct of affairs of any issuer.

Jarle Dragvik, Board Member of the Company's Board of Directors, is a board member of major shareholder TM
Holding AS, currently holding 9,635,182 shares in the Company. Major shareholder Richard Espeseth serves as
Interim CEO and is married to major shareholder Vivian Espeseth, who is a Board Member and employed by the
Company as Chief Representative in China.
Other than that, and to the best of the Company's knowledge, there are currently no other actual or potential
conflicts of interest between the Company and the private interests or other duties of any of the members of the
Management or the Board of Directors, including any family relationships between such persons.

83

13

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND DESCRIPTION OF THE SHARES

This section includes a summary of certain information relating to the Company’s shares and certain shareholder
matters, including summaries of certain provisions of applicable law in effect as of the date of this Prospectus.
The mentioned summaries do not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the Company’s Articles
of Association (attached hereto as Appendix A) and Norwegian law.
Company corporate information
The Company's registered legal and commercial name is HydrogenPro ASA. The Company is a public limited
liability company organized and existing under the laws of Norway pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited
Liability Companies Act. The Company's registration number in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises is
912 305 198 and the Company's Legal Entity Identifier code (LEI-code) is 549300EW945NUS7PK214.
The Company was incorporated in Norway on 2 August 2013 as a private limited liability company and
transformed to a public limited liability company following the extraordinary general meeting held on 5 September
2022.
The Shares have been created under the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act. The Shares are
registered in book-entry form with the VPS under ISIN NO 0010892359. The Company's register of shareholders
in the VPS is administrated by the VPS Registrar.
The Company's registered office is located at Hydrovegen 6, 3933 Porsgrunn, Norway and the Company's main
telephone number is +47 990 79 500. The Company's website can be found at www.hydrogen-pro.com. The
content of the Company's website is not incorporated by reference into, nor otherwise forms part of, this
Prospectus.
Legal structure
The Company functions as the ultimate parent company of the Group. The following table sets out information
about the Company's (directly or indirectly owned) subsidiaries:
Table 28 - Group structure
Share-

Voting

Country of

holding

rights

incorporation

Advanced Surface Plating ApS

100%

100%

Denmark

Hydrogenpro France

100%

100%

France

Kvina Energy AS

50%

50%

Norway

Subsidiary / Operating division

Description
Owner of the Group's Danish factory and coating technology.
Entity established for the purposes of delivering products to
French based customers.
Joint

venture

owned 50/50

by

HydrogenPro and

KEP

concerning the development of a hydrogen hub in Kvinesdal,
Norway.
Owner of the Group's Chinese fabrication facility which can

Tianjin HQY Hydrogen Machinery Co.,
Ltd

produce electrolyser components, parts and systems as a
75%

75%

China

supplier to the electrolyser industry in China in addition to
assembly and sales of complete electrolysers. The remaining
25% is owned by THM.

Hydrogenpro Inc

100%

100%

Entity incorporated for the purposes of establishing an initial

USA

U.S. footprint.

Share capital and share capital history
As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company's current share capital is NOK 1,160,563.42 divided on 58,028,171
Shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 0.02. All Shares are validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable. The
Shares will be traded in NOK on Oslo Børs.
The Company has only one class of Shares. Accordingly, there are no differences in the voting rights among the
Shares. Each Share carries one vote and all Shares carry equal rights in all respects, including rights to dividends.
The table below shows the development in the Company's share capital for the period covered by the historical
financial information, i.e. from 2019 and up to the date of this Prospectus:
Table 29 – Development in Share capital
Date
registered

Type of
change

Type of issue

Share capital
increase
(NOK)

Share capital
(NOK)
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Subscription
price
(NOK/share)

Par value
(NOK/share)

Issued
shares

Total shares

14.08.2013
27.06.2019

Incorporation
of the
Company
Share capital
increase

13.10.2020

Share capital
increase

30.10.2020

Share capital
increase

22.01.2021

Share capital
increase

03.03.2021

Share capital
increase

09.12.2021

Share capital
increase

12.09.2022

Share capital
increase

-

-

30.000,00

0.001

0.001

-

30,000,000

Share issue

1,406.36

31,406.36

7.00

0.001

1,099,949

31,406,360

24,663.00

56,069.36

22.30

0.001

24,663,000

56,069,363

1,099.95

57,169.31

7.00

0.001

1,099,947

57,169,310

1,699.95

57,769.31

53.60

0.001

600,000

57,769,310

36,997

57,806.30

7.00

0.001

36,995

57,806,307

221,863

58,028.17

7.00

0.001

221,864

58,028,171

1,102,535.25

1,160,563.42

-

0.02

-

58,028,171

Share
issuance/
private
placement
Share issue –
conversion of
convertible
loan
Share issue –
Consideration
shares in
relation to
acquisition of
ASP
Exercise of
options –
share issue
Exercise of
options –
share issue
Share capital
increase
through bonus
share issue

Lock-up
In connection with the acquisition of ASP, the Company entered into lock-up agreements with the previous owners
of ASP. Pursuant to the lock-up agreement, the shareholders are prevented from selling their shares for a fixed
period of 24 months from the closing date, which occurred on or about 23 December 2020.
Other than the above, the Company has not entered into any lock-up agreements which are currently in force.
Admission to trading
The Shares have been admitted to trading on Euronext Growth Oslo, a market operated by Oslo Børs since 14
October 2020 under the ticker code "HYPRO" with ISIN NO 0010892359. On 17 August 2022, the Company
applied for the Shares to be admitted to trading and Listing on Oslo Børs. The Company's listing application was
approved by Oslo Børs on 28 September 2022. Upon Listing, the Shares will be deregistered from Euronext
Growth Oslo and will be admitted to trading through the facilities of Oslo Børs. Trading in the Shares on Oslo Børs
is expected to commence on or about 3 October 2022, under the ticker code "HYPRO". Other than above, the
Company has not applied for admission to trading of the Shares on any other stock exchange or regulated market.
Board authorisation to issue shares
As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company is authorised to increase the share capital with up to NOK 232,
112.68 (equivalent to ca. 20% of the Company's current share capital), equivalent to a total of 11,605,634
Shares. The aforementioned authorisation was granted by the Company's extraordinary general meeting on 5
September 2022 and applies to share capital increases against cash contribution, contribution in kind and with
rights to charge the Company with special obligations, as well as share capital increases in connection with
mergers.
The authorisation is valid until the ordinary general meeting in 2023, but at the latest until 30 June 2023, and
replaces the previous authorisation to increase the share capital in connection with financing given at the annual
general meeting held 31 May 2021.
Authorisation to acquire treasury Shares
At the Company's extraordinary general meeting held on 5 September 2022, the Board of Directors was granted
an authorisation to acquire or receive security in the Company's shares with a combined par value of up to NOK
116,056.34. The authorization may only be used for acquisitions of shares to be used in connection with
acquisitions, mergers, de-mergers or other transactions.
Furthermore, the board of directors is authorised to acquire or receive security in the Company's shares with a
combined value of up to NOK 116,056.34 in connection with share incentive programs. The amount payable for
each share acquired shall be minimum NOK 1 and maximum NOK 200.
The authorisations are valid until the ordinary general meeting in 2023, but at the latest until 30 June 2023, and
replaces the previous authorisations given at the annual general meeting held 12 May 2022.
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Other financial instruments
Please refer to Section 12.5 "Share incentive programs" concerning the options plan for key personnel of and
other persons associated with the Company, which, if exercised partially or in full prior to expiration of such
options, will have a dilutive effect on the Company's shareholders.
Shareholder rights
The Company has one class of Shares on issue, and in accordance with the Norwegian Public Limited Liability
Companies Act, all Shares in that class provide equal rights in the Company, including the rights to dividends.
Each of the Company's Shares carries one vote. The rights attaching to the Shares are described in Section 13.13
"The Articles of Association and certain aspects of Norwegian law".
Takeover bids and forced transfer of shares
Prior to the Listing, the Company has not been subject to the Norwegian Securities Act regulation concerning
public takeovers.
The Company has not been subject to any takeovers while being listed on Euronext Growth Oslo.
Transferability of the Shares
The Shares are freely transferable pursuant to the Company's articles of association, meaning that a transfer of
Shares is not subject to the consent of the Board of Directors or rights of first refusal. Pursuant to the Company's
articles of association, the Company's Shares shall be registered in the VPS.
Ownership structure
As of 29 September 2022, the Company had a total of 2,455 registered shareholders in the VPS. An overview of
shareholders holding 5% or more of the Shares of the Company as of 29 September 2022 is set out below:
Table 30 – Overview of major shareholders
#

Shareholder

No. of Shares

Percentage

1

Richard Espeseth62

11,424,125

19.69%

2

TM Holding AS63

9,635,182

16.60%

3

Clearstream Banking S.A.

7,043,392

12.14%

4

Mitsubishi Heavy Industries LTD

5,381,165

9.27%

5

Vivian Yanjin Chen Espeseth

3,173,571

5.47%

Shareholders owning 5% or more of the Shares have an interest in the Company's share capital which is notifiable
pursuant to the Norwegian Securities Trading Act. See Section 15.8 "Disclosure obligations" for a description of
the disclosure obligations pursuant to the Norwegian Securities Trading Act. As at the date of this Prospectus, 4
shareholders holds 5% or more of the Shares of the Company.
The Company is not aware of any persons or entities who, directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, will exercise
or could exercise control over the Company. The Company is not aware of any arrangements the operation of
which may at a subsequent date result in a change of control of the Company.
No particular measures are initiated to ensure that control is not abused by large shareholders. Minority
shareholders are protected from abuse by relevant regulations in inter alia the Norwegian Public Limited Liability
Companies Act and the Norwegian Securities Act. See Section 13.13.2 "Certain aspects of Norwegian law" and
15.11 "Compulsory acquisition" for further information.
The Articles of Association and certain aspects of Norwegian law
The Articles of Association

62
63

Richard Espeseth currently serves as Interim CEO.
Jarle Dragvik is a board member of TM Holding AS.
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The Company's Articles of Association are set out in Appendix A to this Prospectus. Below is a summary of certain
of the provisions of the Articles of Association (office translation).
Company name
Pursuant to Section 1 of the Articles of Association, the Company's name is HydrogenPro ASA.
Registered office
Pursuant to Section 2 of the Articles of Association, the Company's business address is in the municipality of
Porsgrunn.
Purpose of the Company
Pursuant to Section 3 of the Articles of Association, the Company's business is design, fabrication, engineering,
sales, delivery and service of plants where green hydrogen and oxygen are produced. The company's primary
focus is large-scale plants aimed at large industrial costumers. The company will drive continuous innovation to
improve technology and will advocate the use of green hydrogen globally.
Share capital and nominal value
Pursuant to Section 4 of the Articles of Association, the company's share capital is NOK 1,160,563.42 divided on
58,028,171 shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 0.02.
Transfer of shares
Pursuant to Section 5, the company's shares are freely tradable.
Board of Directors
Pursuant to Section 6, the board of directors shall consist of between three to seven board members elected by
by the general meeting.
Nomination committee
Pursuant to Section 7 of the Articles of Association, the Company shall have a nomination committee consisting
of three memebers, elected by the General Meeting.
General meetings
Pursuant to Section 8 of the Articles of Association, the General Meeting shall address and decide:
•

Approval of the annual accounts and the board's statement including distribution of dividends;

•

Election of board members and auditor (if these are to be elected);

•

Any other business which by law or the Articles of Association is required to be dealth with by the geenral
meeting.

Further pursuant to Section 8 of the Articles of Association, when documents regarding matters which are to be
dealt with at the general meeting have been made available on the internet site of the Company, the requirements
in the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act which state that these documents shall be sent to the
shareholders, shall not apply. This exemption is also applicable with regards to documents which according to
statutory law shall be included in or attached to the notice of the general meeting.
Electronic communication
Pursuant to Section 9 of the Articles of Association, the Company may utilise electronic communication when it
is to provide messages, notices, information, documents etc. pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Liability
Companies Act to the shareholders.
Change of control
There are no provisions in the Articles of Association that would have an effect of delaying, deferring or preventing
a change in control of the Company.
Certain aspects of Norwegian law
13.13.2.1 General meeting of shareholders
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Through the general meeting, shareholders exercise supreme authority in a Norwegian company. In accordance
with Norwegian law, the annual general meeting of shareholders is required to be held on or prior to 30 June of
each year. Norwegian law requires that written notice of annual general meetings setting forth the time of, the
venue for and the agenda of the meeting be sent to all shareholders with a known address no later than 21 days
before the annual general meeting of a Norwegian public limited liability company listed on a stock exchange or
a regulated market shall be held, unless the articles of association stipulate a longer deadline, which is not
currently the case for the Company.
A shareholder may vote at the general meeting either in person or by proxy appointed at their own discretion. All
of the Company's shareholders who are registered in the register of shareholders maintained with the VPS as of
the date of the general meeting, or who have otherwise reported and documented ownership to Shares, are
entitled to participate at general meetings.
Apart from the annual general meeting, extraordinary general meetings of shareholders may be held if the Board
of Directors considers it necessary. An extraordinary general meeting of shareholders must also be convened if,
in order to discuss a specified matter, the auditor or shareholders representing at least 5% of the share capital
demands this in writing. The requirements for notice and admission to the annual general meeting also apply to
extraordinary general meetings. However, the annual general meeting of a Norwegian public limited liability
company may with a majority of at least two-thirds of the aggregate number of votes cast, as well as at least
two-thirds of the share capital represented at a general meeting resolve that extraordinary general meetings may
be convened with a 14 days' notice period until the next annual general meeting, provided that the Company has
procedures in place allowing shareholders to vote electronically. This has currently not been resolved by the
Company's general meeting of shareholders.
Each of the Company's shares carries one vote. In general, decisions that shareholders are entitled to make under
Norwegian law or the Articles of Association may be made by a simple majority of the votes cast. In the case of
elections or appointments, the person(s) who receive(s) the greatest number of votes cast are elected. However,
as required under Norwegian law, certain decisions, including resolutions to waive preferential rights to subscribe
in connection with any share issue in the Company, to approve a merger or demerger of the Company, to amend
the Articles of Association, to authorize an increase or reduction in the share capital, to authorize an issuance of
convertible loans or warrants by the Company or to authorize the Board of Directors to purchase Shares and hold
them as treasury shares or to dissolve the Company, must receive the approval of at least two-thirds of the
aggregate number of votes cast as well as at least two-thirds of the share capital represented at a general
meeting. Norwegian law further requires that certain decisions, which have the effect of substantially altering the
rights and preferences of any shares or class of shares, receive the approval by the holders of such shares or
class of shares as well as the majority required for amending the Articles of Association.
Decisions that (i) would reduce the rights of some or all of the Company's shareholders in respect of dividend
payments or other rights to assets or (ii) restrict the transferability of the Shares, require that at least 90% of
the share capital represented at the general meeting in question vote in favour of the resolution, as well as the
majority required for amending the Articles of Association.
In general, only a shareholder registered in the VPS is entitled to vote for such Shares. Beneficial owners of the
Shares that are registered in the name of a nominee are generally not entitled to vote under Norwegian law, nor
is any person who is designated in the VPS register as the holder of such Shares as nominees. Investors should
note that there are varying opinions as to the interpretation of the right to vote on nominee registered shares.
In the Company's view, a nominee may not meet or vote for Shares registered on a nominee account ("NOMaccount"). A shareholder must, in order to be eligible to register, meet and vote for such Shares at the general
meeting, transfer the Shares from such NOM-account to an account in the shareholder's name. Such registration
must appear from a transcript from the VPS at the latest at the date of the general meeting.
There are no quorum requirements that apply to the general meetings.
13.13.2.2 Additional issuances and preferential rights
If the Company issues any new Shares, including bonus share issues, the Articles of Association must be
amended, which requires the same vote as other amendments to the Articles of Association. In addition, under
Norwegian law, the Company's shareholders have a preferential right to subscribe for new Shares issued by the
Company. Preferential rights may be derogated from by resolution in a general meeting passed by the same vote
required to amend the Articles of Association. A derogation of the shareholders' preferential rights in respect of
bonus issues requires the approval of all outstanding Shares.
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The general meeting may, by the same vote as is required for amending the Articles of Association, authorize the
Board of Directors to issue new Shares, and to derogate from the preferential rights of shareholders in connection
with such issuances. Such authorization may be effective for a maximum of two years, and the nominal value of
the Shares to be issued may not exceed 50% of the registered nominal share capital when the authorization is
registered with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises.
Under Norwegian law, the Company may increase its share capital by a bonus share issue, subject to approval
by the Company's shareholders, by transfer from the Company's distributable equity or from the Company's share
premium reserve and thus the share capital increase does not require any payment of a subscription price by the
shareholders. Any bonus issues may be affected either by issuing new shares to the Company's existing
shareholders or by increasing the nominal value of the Company's outstanding Shares.
Issuance of new Shares to shareholders who are citizens or residents of the United States upon the exercise of
preferential rights may require the Company to file a registration statement in the United States under United
States securities laws. Should the Company in such a situation decide not to file a registration statement, the
Company's U.S. shareholders may not be able to exercise their preferential rights. If a U.S. shareholder is
ineligible to participate in a rights offering, such shareholder would not receive the rights at all and the rights
would be sold on the shareholder's behalf by the Company.
13.13.2.3 Minority rights
Norwegian law sets forth a number of protections for minority shareholders of the Company, including but not
limited to those described in this paragraph and the description of general meetings as set out above. Any of the
Company's shareholders may petition Norwegian courts to have a decision of the Board of Directors or the
Company's shareholders made at the general meeting declared invalid on the grounds that it unreasonably favors
certain shareholders or third parties to the detriment of other shareholders or the Company itself. The Company's
shareholders may also petition the courts to dissolve the Company as a result of such decisions to the extent
particularly strong reasons are considered by the court to make necessary dissolution of the Company.
Minority shareholders holding 5% or more of the Company's share capital have a right to demand in writing that
the Board of Directors convene an extraordinary general meeting to discuss or resolve specific matters. In
addition, any of the Company's shareholders may in writing demand that the Company place an item on the
agenda for any general meeting as long as the Company is notified in time for such item to be included in the
notice of the meeting. If the notice has been issued when such a written demand is presented, a renewed notice
must be issued if the deadline for issuing notice of the general meeting has not expired.
13.13.2.4 Rights of redemption and repurchase of Shares
The share capital of the Company may be reduced by reducing the nominal value of the Shares or by cancelling
Shares. Such a decision requires the approval of at least two-thirds of the aggregate number of votes cast and
at least two-thirds of the share capital represented at a general meeting. Redemption of individual Shares requires
the consent of the holders of the Shares to be redeemed.
The Company may purchase its own Shares provided that the Board of Directors has been granted an
authorization to do so by a general meeting with the approval of at least two-thirds of the aggregate number of
votes cast and at least two-thirds of the share capital represented at the meeting. The aggregate nominal value
of treasury shares so acquired, and held by the Company must not exceed 10% of the Company's share capital,
and treasury shares may only be acquired if the Company's distributable equity, according to the latest adopted
balance sheet, exceeds the consideration to be paid for the shares. The authorisation by the General Meeting of
the Company cannot be granted for a period exceeding 24 months.
13.13.2.5 Shareholder vote on certain reorganisations
A decision of the Company's shareholders to merge with another company or to demerge requires a resolution
by the general meeting of the shareholders passed by at least two-thirds of the aggregate votes cast and at least
two-thirds of the share capital represented at the general meeting. A merger plan, or demerger plan signed by
the Board of Directors along with certain other required documentation, would have to be sent to all the
Company's shareholders, or if the Articles of Association stipulate that, made available to the shareholders on
the Company's website, at least one month prior to the general meeting to pass upon the matter.
13.13.2.6 Liability of board members
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Members of the Board of Directors owe a fiduciary duty to the Company and its shareholders. Such fiduciary duty
requires that the Board Members act in the best interests of the Company when exercising their functions and
exercise a general duty of loyalty and care towards the Company. Their principal task is to safeguard the interests
of the Company.
Members of the Board of Directors may each be held liable for any damage they negligently or wilfully cause the
Company. Norwegian law permits the general meeting to discharge any such person from liability, but such
discharge is not binding on the Company if substantially correct and complete information was not provided at
the general meeting of the Company's shareholders passing upon the matter. If a resolution to discharge the
Board Members from liability or not to pursue claims against such a person has been passed by a general meeting
with a smaller majority than that required to amend the Articles of Association, shareholders representing more
than 10% of the share capital or, if there are more than 100 shareholders, more than 10% of the shareholders
may pursue the claim on the Company's behalf and in its name. The cost of any such action is not the Company's
responsibility but can be recovered from any proceeds the Company receives as a result of the action. If the
decision to discharge any of the Board Members from liability or not to pursue claims against the Board Members
is made by such a majority as is necessary to amend the Articles of Association, the minority shareholders of the
Company cannot pursue such claim in the Company's name.
13.13.2.7 Indemnification of board members
Neither Norwegian law nor the Articles of Association contains any provision concerning indemnification by the
Company of the Board of Directors. The Company is permitted to purchase insurance for its Board Members
against certain liabilities that they may incur in their capacity as such.
13.13.2.8 Distribution of assets on liquidation
Under Norwegian law, the Company may be wound-up by a resolution of the Company's shareholders at the
general meeting passed by at least two-thirds of the aggregate votes cast and at least two-thirds of the share
capital represented at the meeting. In the event of liquidation, the Shares rank equally in the event of a return
on capital.
Shareholder agreements
The Company is not aware of any shareholders' agreements related to the Shares which will be in force upon
Listing.
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14

TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS
General

The Shares may, in certain jurisdictions, be subject to restrictions on transferability and resale and may not be
transferred or sold except as permitted under applicable securities laws and regulations. Investors should be
aware that they may be required to bear the financial risk of the investment for an indefinite period of time. Any
failure to comply with these restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of any such jurisdiction.
Receipt of this Prospectus shall not constitute an offer for Shares and this Prospectus is for information only and
should not be copied or redistributed. Accordingly, if an existing shareholder receives a copy of this Prospectus,
the existing shareholder should not distribute or send the same, or transfer the Shares to any person in or into
any jurisdiction where to do so would or might contravene local securities laws or regulations. If an existing
shareholder forwards this Prospectus into any such territories (whether under a contractual or obligation or
otherwise), the existing shareholder should direct the recipient's attention to the contents of this Section 14
"Transfer restrictions".
The Shares may not be transferred or delivered, directly or indirectly, in or into, any jurisdiction in which it would
not be permissible to transfer the Shares and this Prospectus shall not be accessed by any person in any
jurisdiction it would not be permissible to transfer the Shares.
The information in this Section 14 "Transfer restrictions" is intended as a general guide only. If any recipient is
in any doubt of any of the contents of these restrictions, or whether any of these restrictions apply to that
recipient, the recipient should obtain independent professional advice without delay.
United States
The Shares have not been, and will not be, registered under the U.S. Securities Act or with any securities
regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction in the United States, and may not be offered or sold except:
(i) within the United States only to QIBs in reliance on Rule 144A or pursuant to another exemption from the
registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act; and (ii) outside the United States in compliance with
Regulation S, and in each case in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any state or territory of the
United States or any other jurisdiction. Terms defined in Rule 144A or Regulation S shall have the same meaning
when used in this section.
Each purchaser of the Shares outside the United States pursuant to Regulation S will be deemed to have
acknowledged, represented and agreed that it has received a copy of this Prospectus and such other information
as it deems necessary to make an informed investment decision and that:
•

The purchaser is authorized to consummate the purchase of the Shares in compliance with all applicable
laws and regulations.

•

The purchaser acknowledges that the Shares have not been and will not be registered under the U.S.
Securities Act, or with any securities regulatory authority or any state of the United States, subject to
certain exceptions, may not be offered or sold within the United States.

•

The purchaser is, and the person, if any, for whose account or benefit the purchaser is acquiring the
Shares, was located outside the United States at the time the buy order for the Shares was originated
and continues to be located outside the United States and has not purchased the Shares for the account
or benefit of any person in the United States or entered into any arrangement for the transfer of the
Shares or any economic interest therein to any person in the United States.

•

The purchaser is not an affiliate of the Company or a person acting on behalf of such affiliate, and is not
in the business of buying and selling securities or, if it is in such business, it did not acquire the Shares
from the Company or an affiliate thereof in the initial distribution of such Shares.

•

The purchaser is aware of the restrictions on the offer and sale of the Shares pursuant to Regulation S
described in this Prospectus.

•

The Shares have not been offered to it by means of any "directed selling efforts" as defined in Regulation
S.

•

The Company shall not recognize any offer, sale, pledge or other transfer of the Shares made other than
in compliance with the above restrictions.

•

If the purchaser is acquiring any of the Shares as a fiduciary or agent for one or more accounts, the
purchaser represents that it has sole investment discretion with respect to each such account and that
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it has full power to make the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements in behalf of
each such account.
•

The purchaser acknowledges that the Company, the Manager and their respective advisers will rely upon
the truth and accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements.

Each purchaser of the Shares within the United States purchasing pursuant to Rule 144A or another available
exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act will
be deemed to have acknowledged, represented and agreed that it has received a copy of this Prospectus and such
other information as it deems necessary to make an informed investment decision and that:
•

The purchaser is authorized to consummate the purchase of the Shares in compliance with all applicable
laws and regulations.

•

The purchaser acknowledges that the Shares have not been and will not be registered under the U.S.
Securities Act or with any securities regulatory authority of any state of the United States and are subject
to significant restrictions to transfer.

•

The purchaser (i) is a QIB (as defined in Rule 144A), (ii) is aware that the sale to it is being made in
reliance on Rule 144A and (iii) is acquiring such Shares for its own account or for the account of a QIB,
in each case for investment and not with a view to any resale or distribution to the Shares, as the case
may be.

•

The purchaser is aware that the Shares are being offered in the United States in a transaction not
involving any public offering in the United States within the meaning of the U.S. Securities Act.

•

If, in the future, the purchaser decides to offer, resell, pledge or otherwise transfer such Shares, or any
economic interest therein, as the case may be, such Shares or any economic interest therein may be
offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred only (i) to a person whom the beneficial owner and/or
any person acting on its behalf reasonably believes is a QIB in a transaction meeting the requirements
of Rule 144A, (ii) outside the United States in a transaction meeting the requirements of Regulation S,
(iii) in accordance with Rule 144 (if available), (iv) pursuant to any other exemption from the registration
requirements of the U.S. Securities Act, subject to the receipt by the Company of an opinion of counsel
or such other evidence that the Company may reasonably require that such sale or transfer is in
compliance with the U.S. Securities Act or (v) pursuant to an effective registration statement under the
U.S. Securities Act, in each case in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any state or territory
of the United States or any other jurisdiction.

•

The purchaser is not an affiliate of the Company or a person acting on behalf of such affiliate, and is not
in the business of buying and selling securities or, if it is in such business, it did not acquire the Shares
from the Company or an affiliate thereof in the initial distribution of such Shares.

•

The purchaser will not deposit or cause to be deposited such Shares into any depositary receipt facility
established or maintained by a depository bank other than a Rule 144A restricted depository receipt
facility, so long as such Shares are "restricted securities" within the meaning of Rule 144(a) (3) under
the U.S. Securities Act.

•

The purchaser acknowledges that the Shares are "restricted securities" within the meaning of Rule
144(a) (3) and no representation is made as to the availability of the exemption provided by Rule 144
for resales of any Shares, as the case may be.

•

The purchaser acknowledges that the Company shall not recognize any offer, sale pledge or other
transfer of the Shares made other than in compliance with the above-stated restrictions.

•

If the purchaser is requiring any of the Shares as a fiduciary or agent for one or more accounts, the
purchaser represents that it has sole investment discretion with respect to each such account and that
it has full power to make the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements on behalf
of each such account.

•

The purchaser acknowledges that these representations and undertakings are required in connection
with the securities laws of the United States and that Company, the Manager and its respective advisers
will rely upon the truth and accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and
agreements.
European Economic Area

Each person in a Relevant Member State who receives any communication in respect of or who acquires any
Shares pursuant to this Prospectus, will be deemed to have represented, warranted and agreed to and with the
Manager and the Company that:
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•

it is a qualified investor within the meaning of Articles 2(e) of the EU Prospectus Regulation; and

•

in the case of any Shares acquired by it as a financial intermediary, as that term is used in Article 1 of
the EU Prospectus Regulation, (i) the Shares acquired by it in an offer have not been acquired on behalf
of, nor have they been acquired with a view to their offer or resale to, persons in any Relevant Member
State other than qualified investors, as that term is defined in the EU Prospectus Regulation, or in
circumstances in which the prior consent of the Manager has been given to the offer or resale; or (ii)
where Shares have been acquired by it on behalf of persons in any Relevant Member State other than
qualified investors, the offer of those Shares to it is not treated under the EU Prospectus Regulation as
having been made to such persons.
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15

SECURITIES TRADING IN NORWAY

Set out below is a summary of certain aspects of securities trading in Norway. The summary is based on the rules
and regulations in force in Norway as at the date of this Prospectus, which may be subject to changes occurring
after such date. This summary does not purport to be a comprehensive description of securities trading in Norway.
Investors who wish to clarify aspects of securities trading in Norway should consult with and rely upon their own
advisors.
Introduction
Oslo Børs was established in 1819 and is the principal market in which shares, bonds and other financial
instruments are traded in Norway through five different marketplaces; Oslo Børs, Euronext Expand, Euronext
Growth, Nordic ABM and Oslo Connect. Oslo Børs ASA is 100% owned by Oslo Børs VPS Holding ASA, which was
in 2019 acquired by Euronext N.V., a European stock exchange with registered office in Amsterdam and corporate
headquarters at La Défense in Greater Paris which operates markets in Amsterdam, Brussels, London, Lisbon,
Dublin, Oslo and Paris. Oslo Børs ASA owns 97% of the shares in Fish Pool ASA. Oslo Børs ASA complies with the
European code of conduct commitments on service unbundling and accounting separation. Oslo Børs VPS Holding
ASA also wholly-owns the Norwegian Central Securities Depository (VPS).
Market value of shares on Oslo Børs
The market value of all shares on Oslo Børs, including the Shares following the Listing, may fluctuate significantly,
which could cause investors to lose a significant part of their investment. The market value of listed shares could
fluctuate significantly in response to a number of factors beyond the respective issuer's control, including quarterly
variations in operating results, adverse business developments, changes in financial estimates and investment
recommendations or ratings by securities analysts, announcements by the respective issuer or its competitors of
new product and service offerings, significant contracts, acquisitions or strategic relationships, publicity about the
issuer, its products and services or its competitors, lawsuits against the issuer, unforeseen liabilities, changes in
management, changes to the regulatory environment in which the issuer operates or general market conditions.
Furthermore, future issuances of shares or other securities may dilute the holdings of shareholders and could
materially affect the price of the shares. Any issuer, including the Company, may in the future decide to offer
additional shares or other securities to finance new capital-intensive projects, in connection with unanticipated
liabilities or expenses or for any other purposes, including for refinancing purposes. There are no assurances that
any of the issuers on Oslo Børs will not decide to conduct further offerings of securities in the future. Depending
on the structure of any future offering, certain existing shareholders may not have the ability to purchase
additional equity securities. If a listed company raises additional funds by issuing additional equity securities, the
holdings and voting interests of existing shareholders could be diluted, and thereby affect share price.
Trading and settlement
As of the date of this Prospectus, trading of equities on Oslo Børs is carried out in the electronic trading system
Optiq, which is the the electronic trading system of Euronext.
Official regular trading for equities on Oslo Børs takes place between 09:00 hours (Oslo time) and 16:20 hours
(Oslo time) each trading day, with pre-trade period between 08:15 hours (Oslo time) and 09:00 hours (Oslo
time), closing auction from 16:20 hours (Oslo time) to 16:25 hours (Oslo time) and a post-trade period from
16:25 hours (Oslo time) to 17:30 hours (Oslo time). Reporting of after exchange trades can be done until 17:30
hours (Oslo time).
The settlement period for trading on Oslo Børs is two trading days (T+2). This means that securities will be settled
on the investor's account in VPS two days after the transaction, and that the seller will receive payment after two
days.
Investment services in Norway may only be provided by Norwegian investment firms holding a license under the
Norwegian Securities Trading Act, branches of investment firms from an EEA member state or investment firms
from outside the EEA that have been licensed to operate in Norway. Investment firms in an EEA member state
may also provide cross-border investment services into Norway.
It is possible for investment firms to undertake market-making activities in shares listed in Norway if they have
a license to this effect under the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, or in the case of investment firms in an EEA
member state, a license to carry out market-making activities in their home jurisdiction. Such market-making
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activities will be governed by the regulations of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act relating to brokers' trading
for their own account. However, such market-making activities do not as such require notification to the
Norwegian FSA or the Oslo Stock Exchange except for the general obligation of investment firms that are members
of the Oslo Stock Exchange to report all trades in stock exchange listed securities.
Information, control and surveillance
Under Norwegian law, Oslo Børs is required to perform a number of surveillance and control functions. The
Surveillance and Corporate Control unit of Oslo Børs monitors all market activity on a continuous basis. Market
surveillance systems are largely automated, promptly warning department personnel of abnormal market
developments.
The Norwegian FSA controls the issuance of securities in both the equity and bond markets in Norway and
evaluates whether the issuance documentation contains the required information and whether it would otherwise
be unlawful to carry out the issuance.
Under Norwegian law, a company that is listed on a Norwegian regulated market, or has applied for listing on
such market, must promptly release any inside information directly concerning the company (i.e. precise
information about financial instruments, the issuer thereof or other matters which are likely to have a significant
effect on the price of the relevant financial instruments or related financial instruments, and which are not publicly
available or commonly known in the market). A company may, however, delay the release of such information in
order not to prejudice its legitimate interests, provided that it is able to ensure the confidentiality of the
information and that the delayed release would not be likely to mislead the public. Oslo Børs may levy fines on
companies violating these requirements.
The VPS and transfer of shares
The Company's principal share register is operated through the VPS. The VPS is the Norwegian paperless
centralized securities register. It is a computerized book-keeping system in which the ownership of, and all
transactions relating to, Norwegian listed shares must be recorded.
All transactions relating to securities registered with the VPS are made through computerized book entries. No
physical share certificates are, or may be, issued. The VPS confirms each entry by sending a transcript to the
registered shareholder irrespective of any beneficial ownership. To give effect to such entries, the individual
shareholder must establish a share account with a Norwegian account agent. Norwegian banks, Norges Bank
(being the Central Bank of Norway), authorized securities brokers in Norway and Norwegian branches of credit
institutions established within the EEA are allowed to act as account agents.
As a matter of Norwegian law, the entry of a transaction in the VPS is prima facie evidence in determining the
legal rights of parties as against the issuing company or any third party claiming an interest in the given security.
A transferee or assignee of shares may not exercise the rights of a shareholder with respect to such shares unless
such transferee or assignee has registered such shareholding or has reported and shown evidence of such share
acquisition, and the acquisition is not prevented by law, the Company's Articles of Association or otherwise.
The VPS is liable for any loss suffered as a result of faulty registration or an amendment to, or deletion of, rights
in respect of registered securities unless the error is caused by matters outside the VPS' control which the VPS
could not reasonably be expected to avoid or overcome the consequences of. Damages payable by the VPS may,
however, be reduced in the event of contributory negligence by the aggrieved party.
The VPS must provide information to the Norwegian FSA on an ongoing basis, as well as any information that the
Norwegian FSA requests. Further, Norwegian tax authorities may require certain information from the VPS
regarding any individual's holdings of securities, including information about dividends and interest payments.
Shareholder register – Norwegian law
Under Norwegian law, shares are registered in the name of the beneficial owner of the shares. Beneficial owners
of shares that are registered in a nominee account (such as through brokers, dealers or other third parties) may
not be able to vote for such shares unless their ownership is re-registered in their names with the VPS prior to
any general meeting of shareholders. As a general rule, there are no arrangements for nominee registration and
Norwegian shareholders are not allowed to register their shares in VPS through a nominee. However, foreign
shareholders may register their shares in the VPS in the name of a nominee (bank or other nominee) approved
by the Norwegian FSA. An approved and registered nominee has a duty to provide information on demand about
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beneficial shareholders to the company and to the Norwegian authorities. In case of registration by nominees,
the registration in the VPS must show that the registered owner is a nominee. A registered nominee has the right
to receive dividends and other distributions, but cannot vote in general meetings on behalf of the beneficial
owners. There is no assurance that beneficial owners of Shares will receive notices of any General Meetings in
time to instruct their nominees to either effect a re-registration of their Shares or otherwise vote for their Shares
in the manner desired by such beneficial owners. For more information on nominee accounts, see Section 15.13.3
"Investors could be unable to execise their voting rights for Shares registered in a nominee account".
Foreign investment in shares listed in Norway
Foreign investors may trade shares listed on Oslo Børs through any broker that is a member of Oslo Børs, whether
Norwegian or foreign. Foreign investors are, however, to note that the rights of holders of listed shares of
companies incorporated in Norway are governed by Norwegian law and by the respective company's articles of
association. These rights may differ from the rights of shareholders in other jurisdictions. In particular, Norwegian
law limits the circumstances under which shareholders of Norwegian companies may bring derivative actions. For
instance, under Norwegian law, any action brought by a listed company in respect of wrongful acts committed
against such company will be prioritized over actions brought by shareholders claiming compensation in respect
of such acts. In addition, it may be difficult to prevail in a claim against such company under, or to enforce
liabilities predicated upon, securities laws in other jurisdictions. For more information, see Section 15.3.2
"Norwegian law could limit shareholders' ability to bring an action against the Company".
Disclosure obligations
If a person's, entity's or consolidated group's proportion of the total issued shares and/or rights to shares in a
company listed on a regulated market in Norway (with Norway as its home state, which will be the case for the
Company) reaches, exceeds or falls below the respective thresholds of 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 25%, 1/3, 50%,
2/3 or 90% of the share capital or the voting rights of that company, the person, entity or group in question has
an obligation under the Norwegian Securities Trading Act to notify Oslo Børs and the issuer immediately. The
same applies if the disclosure thresholds are passed due to other circumstances, such as a change in the
company's share capital.
Insider trading
According to Norwegian law, subscription for, purchase, sale or exchange of financial instruments that are listed,
or subject to the application for listing, on a Norwegian regulated market, or incitement to such dispositions,
must not be undertaken by anyone who has inside information, as defined in Chapter 2 of the Article Market
Abuse Regulation (EU) 596/2014, pursuant to Section 3-1 of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act. The same
applies to the entry into, purchase, sale or exchange of options or futures/forward contracts or equivalent rights
whose value is connected to such financial instruments or incitement to such dispositions.
Mandatory offer requirement
The Norwegian Securities Trading Act requires any person, entity or consolidated group that becomes the owner
of shares representing more than one-third of the voting rights of a company listed on a Norwegian regulated
market (with the exception of certain foreign companies) to, within four weeks, make an unconditional general
offer for the purchase of the remaining shares in that company. A mandatory offer obligation may also be
triggered where a party acquires the right to become the owner of shares that, together with the party's own
shareholding, represent more than one-third of the voting rights in the company and Oslo Børs decides that this
is regarded as an effective acquisition of the shares in question.
The mandatory offer obligation ceases to apply if the person, entity or consolidated group sells the portion of the
shares that exceeds the relevant threshold within four weeks of the date on which the mandatory offer obligation
was triggered (or provided that the person, entity or consolidated group has not already stated that it will proceed
with the making of a mandatory offer).
When a mandatory offer obligation is triggered, the person subject to the obligation is required to immediately
notify Oslo Børs and the company in question accordingly. The notification is required to state whether an offer
will be made to acquire the remaining shares in the company or whether a sale will take place. As a rule, a
notification to the effect that an offer will be made cannot be retracted. The offer and the offer document required
are subject to approval by Oslo Børs before the offer is submitted to the shareholders or made public.
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The offer price per share must be at least as high as the highest price paid or agreed by the offeror for the shares
in the six-month period prior to the date the threshold was exceeded. If the acquirer acquires or agrees to acquire
additional shares at a higher price prior to the expiration of the mandatory offer period, the acquirer is obliged to
restate its offer at such higher price. A mandatory offer must be in cash or contain a cash alternative at least
equivalent to any other consideration offered. The settlement must be guaranteed by a financial institution
authorised to provide such guarantees in Norway.
In case of failure to make a mandatory offer or to sell the portion of the shares that exceeds the relevant threshold
within four weeks, Oslo Børs may force the acquirer to sell the shares exceeding the threshold by public auction.
Moreover, a shareholder who fails to make an offer may not, as long as the mandatory offer obligation remains
in force, exercise rights in the company, such as voting in a general meeting, without the consent of a majority
of the remaining shareholders. The shareholder may, however, exercise his/her/its rights to dividends and preemption rights in the event of a share capital increase. If the shareholder neglects his/her/its duty to make a
mandatory offer, Oslo Børs may impose a cumulative daily fine that runs until the circumstance has been rectified.
Any person, entity or consolidated group that owns shares representing more than one-third of the votes in a
company listed on a Norwegian regulated market (with the exception of certain foreign companies) is obliged to
make an offer to purchase the remaining shares of the company (repeated offer obligation) if the person, entity
or consolidated group through acquisition becomes the owner of shares representing 40%, or more of the votes
in the company. The same applies if the person, entity or consolidated group through acquisition becomes the
owner of shares representing 50% or more of the votes in the company. The mandatory offer obligation ceases
to apply if the person, entity or consolidated group sells the portion of the shares which exceeds the relevant
threshold within four weeks of the date on which the mandatory offer obligation was triggered (provided that the
person, entity or consolidated group has not already stated that it will proceed with the making of a mandatory
offer).
Any person, entity or consolidated group that has passed any of the above mentioned thresholds in such a way
as not to trigger the mandatory bid obligation, and has therefore not previously made an offer for the remaining
shares in the company in accordance with the mandatory offer rules is, as a main rule, obliged to make a
mandatory offer in the event of a subsequent acquisition of shares in the company.
Compulsory acquisition
Pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act and the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, a
shareholder who, directly or through subsidiaries, acquires shares representing 90% or more of the total number
of issued shares in a Norwegian public limited company, as well as 90% or more of the total voting rights, has a
right, and each remaining minority shareholder of the company has a right to require such majority shareholder,
to effect a compulsory acquisition for cash of the shares not already owned by such majority shareholder. Through
such compulsory acquisition the majority shareholder becomes the owner of the remaining shares with immediate
effect.
If a shareholder acquires shares representing more than 90% of the total number of issued shares, as well as
more than 90% of the total voting rights, through a voluntary offer in accordance with the Securities Trading Act,
a compulsory acquisition can, subject to the following conditions, be carried out without such shareholder being
obliged to make a mandatory offer: (i) the compulsory acquisition is commenced no later than four weeks after
the acquisition of shares through the voluntary offer, (ii) the price offered per share is equal to or higher than
what the offer price would have been in a mandatory offer, and (iii) the settlement is guaranteed by a financial
institution authorized to provide such guarantees in Norway.
A majority shareholder who effects a compulsory acquisition is required to offer the minority shareholders a
specific price per share, the determination of which is at the discretion of the majority shareholder.
Should any minority shareholder not accept the offered price, such minority shareholder may, within a specified
deadline of not less than two months, request that the price be set by a Norwegian court. The cost of such court
procedure will, as a general rule, be the responsibility of the majority shareholder, and the relevant court will
have full discretion in determining the consideration to be paid to the minority shareholder as a result of the
compulsory acquisition. However, where the offeror, after making a mandatory or voluntary offer, has acquired
more than 90% of the voting shares of a company and a corresponding proportion of the votes that can be cast
at the general meeting, and the offeror pursuant to Section 4-25 of the Norwegian Public Limited Liability
Companies Act completes a compulsory acquisition of the remaining shares within three months after the expiry
of the offer period, it follows from the Norwegian Securities Trading Act that the redemption price shall be
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determined on the basis of the offer price for the mandatory/voluntary offer unless specific reasons indicate
another price.
Absent a request for a Norwegian court to set the price or any other objection to the price being offered, the
minority shareholders would be deemed to have accepted the offered price after the expiry of the specified
deadline.
Foreign exchange controls
There are currently no foreign exchange control restrictions in Norway that would potentially restrict the payment
of dividends to a shareholder outside Norway, and there are currently no restrictions that would affect the right
of shareholders of a company that has its shares registered with the VPS who are not residents in Norway to
dispose of their shares and receive the proceeds from a disposal outside Norway. There is no maximum
transferable amount either to or from Norway, although transferring banks are required to submit reports on
foreign currency exchange transactions into and out of Norway into a central data register maintained by the
Norwegian customs and excise authorities. The Norwegian police, tax authorities, customs and excise authorities,
the National Insurance Administration and the Norwegian FSA have electronic access to the data in this register.
Other information
Investors could be unable to recover losses in civil proceedings in jurisdictions other than Norway
The Company is a public limited liability company organized under the laws of Norway. The majority of the
members of the Board of Directors and management reside in Norway. As a result, it may not be possible for
investors to effect service of process in other jurisdictions upon such persons or the Company, to enforce against
such persons or the Company judgments obtained in non-Norwegian courts, or to enforce judgments on such
persons or the Company in other jurisdictions.
Norwegian law could limit shareholders' ability to bring an action against the Company
The rights of holders of the Shares are governed by Norwegian law and by the Company's Articles of Association.
These rights may differ from the rights of shareholders in other jurisdictions. In particular, Norwegian law limits
the circumstances under which shareholders of Norwegian companies may bring derivative actions. For example,
under Norwegian law, any action brought by the Company in respect of wrongful acts committed against the
Company will be prioritized over actions brought by shareholders claiming compensation in respect of such acts.
In addition, it could be difficult to prevail in a claim against the Company under, or to enforce liabilities predicated
upon, securities laws in other jurisdictions.
Investors could be unable to exercise their voting rights for Shares registered in a nominee account
Beneficial owners of the Shares that are registered in a nominee account (such as through brokers, dealers or
other third parties) could be unable to vote for such Shares unless their ownership is re-registered in their names
with the Norwegian Central Securities Depository (VPS) prior to any general meeting of shareholders. There is no
assurance that beneficial owners of the Shares will receive the notice of any general meeting of shareholders in
time to instruct their nominees to either effect a re-registration of their Shares or otherwise vote for their Shares
in the manner desired by such beneficial owners.
Pre-emptive rights to subscribe for Shares in additional issuances could be unavailable to U.S. or other
shareholders
Under Norwegian law, unless otherwise resolved at the Company's general meeting of shareholders, existing
shareholders have pre-emptive rights to participate on the basis of their existing ownership of Shares in the
issuance of any new Shares for cash consideration. Shareholders in the United States, however, could be unable
to exercise any such rights to subscribe for new Shares unless a registration statement under the U.S. Securities
Act is in effect in respect of such rights and Shares or an exemption from the registration requirements under the
U.S. Securities Act is available. Shareholders in other jurisdictions outside Norway could be similarly affected if
the rights and the new Shares being offered have not been registered with, or approved by, the relevant
authorities in such jurisdiction.
The Company is under no obligation to file a registration statement under the U.S. Securities Act or seek similar
approvals under the laws of any other jurisdiction outside Norway in respect of any such rights and Shares. Doing
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so in the future could be impractical and costly. To the extent that the Company's shareholders are not able to
exercise their rights to subscribe for new Shares, their proportional interests in the Company will be diluted.
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16

NORWEGIAN TAXATION

The following is a brief summary of certain Norwegian tax considerations relevant to the acquisition, ownership
and disposition of Shares by holders that are residents of Norway for purposes of Norwegian taxation ("resident
or Norwegian shareholders") and holders that are not residents of Norway for such purposes ("non-resident
or foreign shareholders").
The summary is based on applicable Norwegian laws, rules and regulations as at the date of this Prospectus.
Such laws, rules and regulations may be subject to changes after this date, possibly on a retroactive basis for the
same tax year. The summary is of a general nature and does not purport to be a comprehensive description of
all tax considerations that may be relevant and does not address taxation in any other jurisdiction than Norway.
The summary does not concern tax issues for the Company and the summary only focuses on the shareholder
categories explicitly mentioned below. Special rules may apply to shareholders who are considered transparent
entities for tax purposes, for shareholders holding shares through a Norwegian permanent establishment and for
shareholders that have ceased or cease to be resident in Norway for tax purposes.
Each shareholder, and specifically non-resident shareholders, should consult with and rely upon their own tax
advisers to determine their particular tax consequences.
Taxation of dividends
Resident corporate shareholders
Dividends distributed from the Company to Norwegian corporate shareholders (i.e. limited liability companies and
certain similar entities) are generally exempt from tax pursuant to the participation exemption method (Nw.:
Fritaksmetoden). However, 3% of such dividends are taxable as general income at a current rate of 22%, implying
that dividends distributed from the Company to resident corporate shareholders are effectively taxed at a rate of
0.66%. For Norwegian corporate shareholders that are considered to be "Financial Institutions" under the
Norwegian financial activity tax, the effective tax rate of taxation of dividends is 0.75%.
Resident personal shareholders
Dividends distributed from the Company to Norwegian personal shareholders are taxed as ordinary income at a
current rate of 22% to the extent the dividends exceed a statutory tax-exempt allowance (Nw.:
Skjermingsfradrag). The tax basis is upward adjusted with a factor of 1.6 before taxation, implying that dividends
exceeding the tax free allowance are effectively taxed at a rate of 35.20%.
The tax-exempt allowance is calculated and applied on a share-by-share basis. The allowance for each share
equals the cost price of the share multiplied by a risk-free interest rate determined based on the interest rate on
Norwegian treasury bills with three months maturity plus 0.5 percentage point, and adjusted downwards with the
tax rate. The allowance one year is allocated to the shareholder owning the share on 31 December. Norwegian
personal shareholders who transfer Shares during an income year will thus not be entitled to deduct any calculated
allowance related to the transaction year. The Directorate of Taxes announces the risk free-interest rate in
January the year after the income year.
Any part of the calculated allowance one year exceeding distributed dividend on a Share (excess allowance) can
be carried forward and set off against future dividends (or capital gains) on the same Share (but may not be set
off against taxable dividends / capital gains on other Shares). Furthermore, for the purpose of calculating the
allowance the following years, any excess allowance is added to the cost price of the share and thereby included
in the basis calculating the tax-free allowance on the same share the following year.
Norwegian Personal Shareholders may hold the shares through a Norwegian share saving account (Nw.:
aksjesparekonto). Dividends received on shares held through a share saving account will not be taxed with
immediate effect. Instead, withdrawal of funds from the share saving account exceeding the paid in deposit will
be regarded as taxable income, regardless of whether the funds are derived from gains or dividends related to
the shares held in the account. Such income will be taxed with an effective tax rate of 35.20% (2022), cf. above.
Norwegain Personal Shareholders will still be entitled to a calculated tax-free allowance. Please refer to Section
16.2.2 "Taxation upon realization of shares resident personal shareholders" for further information in respect of
Norwegian share saving accounts.
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Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders
Dividends distributed to shareholders who are individuals not residing in Norway for tax purposes ("NonNorwegian Personal Shareholders"), are as a general rule subject to withholding tax at a rate of 25%. The
withholding tax rate of 25% is normally reduced through tax treaties between Norway and the country in which
the shareholder is resident. The withholding obligation lies with the company distributing the dividends and the
Company assumes this obligation.
Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders residing within the EEA for tax purposes may apply individually to
Norwegian tax authorities for a refund of an amount corresponding to the calculated tax-free allowance on each
individual share (please see "Taxation of dividends – Norwegian Personal Shareholders" above). However, the
deduction for the tax-free allowance does not apply in the event that the withholding tax rate, pursuant to an
applicable tax treaty, leads to a lower taxation of the dividends than the withholding tax rate of 25% less the taxfree allowance.
If a Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholder is carrying on business activities in Norway and the shares are
effectively connected with such activities, the shareholder will be subject to the same taxation of dividends as a
Norwegian Personal Shareholder, as described above.
Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders who have suffered a higher withholding tax than set out in an applicable
tax treaty may apply to the Norwegian tax authorities for a refund of the excess withholding tax deducted.
All Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders must document their entitlement to a reduced withholding tax rate by
obtaining a certificate of residence issued by the tax authorities in the shareholder's country of residence,
confirming that the shareholder is resident in that state. The documentation must be provided to either the
nominee or the account operator (VPS) and cannot be older than three years.
Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders should consult their own advisers regarding the availability of treaty
benefits in respect of dividend payments, including the possibility of effectively claiming a refund of withholding
tax.
Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders resident in the EEA for tax purposes may hold their shares through a
Norwegian share saving account. Dividends received on and gains derived upon the realization of shares held
through a share saving account by a Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholder resident in the EEA will not be taxed
with immediate effect. Instead, withdrawal of funds from the share saving account exceeding the Non-Norwegian
Personal Shareholder's paid in deposit, will be subject to withholding tax rate at a rate of 25% (unless reduced
pursuant to an applicable tax treaty). Capital gains realized upon realization of shares held through the share
saving account will be regarded as paid in deposits, which may be withdrawn without taxation. Losses will
correspondingly be deducted from the paid in deposit, reducing the amount which can be withdrawn without
withholding tax.
The obligation to deduct and report withholding tax on shares held through a saving account, ref. above, lies with
the account operator.
Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders
Dividends distributed to shareholders who are limited liability companies (and certain other entities) domiciled
outside of Norway for tax purposes ("Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders"), are as a general rule subject
to withholding tax at a rate of 25%. The withholding tax rate of 25% is normally reduced through tax treaties
between Norway and the country in which the shareholder is resident.
Dividends distributed to Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders domiciled within the EEA for tax purposes are
exempt from Norwegian withholding tax provided that the shareholder is the beneficial owner of the shares and
that the shareholder is genuinely established and performs genuine economic business activities within the
relevant EEA jurisdiction.
If a Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholder is carrying on business activities in Norway and the shares are
effectively connected with such activities, the shareholder will be subject to the same taxation of dividends as a
Norwegian Corporate Shareholder, as described above.
Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders who have suffered a higher withholding tax than set out in an applicable
tax treaty may apply to the Norwegian tax authorities for a refund of the excess withholding tax deducted. The
same will apply to Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders who have suffered withholding tax although qualifying
for the Norwegian participation exemption.
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All Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders must document their entitlement to a reduced withholding tax rate
by either (i) presenting an approved withholding tax refund application or (ii) present an approval from the
Norwegian tax authorities confirming that the recipient is entitled to a reduced withholding tax rate. In addition,
a certificate of residence issued by the tax authorities in the shareholder's country of residence, confirming that
the shareholder is resident in that state, must be obtained. Such documentation must be provided to either the
nominee or the account operator (VPS).
In order for a Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholder resident in the EEA to be exempt from withholding tax, the
company must provide all documentation mentioned above, as well as a declaration stating that the circumstances
entitling the company to the exemption have not changed since the documentation was issued.
Nominee registered shares will be subject to withholding tax at a rate of 25% unless the nominee has obtained
approval from the Norwegian Tax Directorate for the dividend to be subject to a lower withholding tax rate. To
obtain such approval the nominee is required to file a summary to the tax authorities including all beneficial
owners that are subject to withholding tax at a reduced rate.
The withholding obligation in respect of dividends distributed to Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders and on
nominee registered shares lies with the company distributing the dividends and the Company assumes this
obligation.
Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders should consult their own advisers regarding the availability of treaty
benefits in respect of dividend payments, including the possibility of effectively claiming a refund of withholding
tax.
Taxation upon realization of shares
Resident corporate shareholders
Norwegian Corporate Shareholders are exempt from tax on capital gains derived from the realization of shares
qualifying for participation exemption, including shares in the Company. Losses upon the realization and costs
incurred in connection with the purchase and realization of such shares are not deductible for tax purpose.
Special rules apply for Norwegian Corporate Shareholders that cease to be tax-resident in Norway.
Resident personal Shareholders
Sale, redemption or other disposal of shares is considered a realization for Norwegian tax purposes. A capital
gain or loss generated by a Norwegian Personal Shareholder through a disposal of shares is taxable or tax
deductible in Norway. The effective tax rate on gain or loss related to shares realized by Norwegian Personal
Shareholders is currently 35.20% (for 2022); i.e. capital gains (less the tax free allowance) and losses shall be
multiplied by 1.60 which are then included in or deducted from the Norwegian Personal Shareholder's ordinary
income in the year of disposal. Ordinary income is taxable at a flat rate of 22% (2022), increasing the effective
tax rate on gains/losses realized by Norwegian Personal Shareholders to 35.20%.
The gain is subject to tax and the loss is tax deductible irrespective of the duration of the ownership and the
number of shares disposed of.
The taxable gain/deductible loss is calculated per share as the difference between the consideration for the share
and the Norwegian Personal Shareholder's cost price of the share, including costs incurred in relation to the
acquisition or realization of the share. From this capital gain, Norwegian Personal Shareholders are entitled to
deduct a calculated allowance provided that such allowance has not already been used to reduce taxable dividend
income. Please refer to Section 16.1.2 "Taxation of dividends resident personal shareholders" above for a
description of the calculation of the allowance. The allowance may only be deducted in order to reduce a taxable
gain, and cannot increase or produce a deductible loss, i.e. any unused allowance exceeding the capital gain upon
the realization of a share will be annulled. Unused allowance may not be set of against gains form realisation of
other shares.
If the Norwegian Personal Shareholder owns shares acquired at different points in time, the shares that were
acquired first will be regarded as the first to be disposed of, on a first-in first-out basis.
Special rules apply for Norwegian Personal Shareholders that cease to be tax-resident in Norway.
Gains derived upon the realization of Shares held through a share saving account (Nw.: aksjesparekonto) will be
exempt from Norwegian taxation and losses will not be tax deductible. Instead, withdrawal of funds from the
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share saving account exceeding the Norwegian Personal Shareholder's paid in deposit, will be regarded as taxable
income, subject to tax at an effective tax rate of 35.20% (for 2022). Norwegian Personal Shareholders will be
entitled to a calculated tax-free allowance provided that such allowance has not already been used to reduce
taxable dividend income (please see "Taxation of dividends – Norwegian Personal Shareholders" above). The taxfree allowance is calculated based on the lowest paid in deposit in the account during the income year, plus any
unused tax-free allowance from previous years. The tax-free allowance can only be deducted in order to reduce
taxable income, and cannot increase or produce a deductible loss. Any excess allowance may be carried forward
and set off against future withdrawals from the account or future dividends received on shares held through the
account.
Norwegian Personal Shareholders holding shares through more than one share savings account may transfer their
shares or securities between the share saving accounts without incurring Norwegian taxation.
Non-resident shareholders
Gains from realization of Shares by non-resident shareholders will not be subject to taxation in Norway unless (i)
the Shares are effectively connected with business activities carried out or managed in Norway, or (ii) the Shares
are held by an individual who has been a resident of Norway for tax purposes with unsettled/postponed exit tax.
Please refer to Section 16.1.2 "Taxation of dividends resident personal shareholders" above for a description of
the availability of a Norwegian share saving acocunt
Net wealth tax
Norwegian corporate shareholders are not subject to net wealth tax.
Norwegian personal shareholders are generally subject to net wealth taxation in Norway on net (taxable) wealth
exceeding NOK 1,700,000. The net wealth tax rate is currently 0.95 per cent on net wealth between NOK
1,700,000 and NOK 20,000,000, and 1.10 per cent on net wealth exceeding NOK 20,000,000. The general rule
is that the Shares will be included in the net wealth with 75% of the Shares' listing value as of 1 January in the
assessment year, i.e. the year following the income year.
Non-resident shareholders (personal and corporate) are generally not subject to Norwegian net wealth tax, unless
the Shares are held in connection with business activities carried out or managed from Norway.
Stamp duty / transfer tax
Norway does not impose any stamp duty or transfer tax on the transfer or issuance of Shares.
Norway does not impose any inheritance tax. However, the heir continues the giver's tax positions, including the
input values, based on principles of continuity.
The Company’s responsibility for the withholding of taxes
The Company is responsible for and shall deduct, report and pay any applicable withholding tax to the Norwegian
tax authorities.
Cautionary note
Potential investors should be aware that the tax legislation of the investor's Member State and of the Company's
country of incorporation may have an impact on the income received from the securities.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Independent auditor

The Company's independent auditor is BDO AS, with registration number 993 606 650 and business address at
Munkedamsveien 45A, 0250 Oslo, Norway. BDO AS is a member of The Norwegian Institute of Public Accountants
(Nw.: Den Norske Revisorforeningen). BDO AS has been the Company's auditor throughout the period covered
by financial information included in this Prospectus.
The Consolidated Financial Statements as of and for the years ended 31 December 2021, 2020 and 2019 have
been audited by BDO AS as set forth in their report included herein.
BDO AS has not audited, reviewed or produced any report on any other information provided in this Prospectus.
Advisors
Pareto Securities AS (address: Dronning Mauds gate 3, N-0115 Oslo, Norway) is acting as Manager in connection
with the Listing.
Advokatfirmaet Schjødt AS (address: Ruseløkkveien 14-16, N-0251 Oslo, Norway) acts as the Company's
Norwegian legal counsel in connection with the Listing.
Documents on display
Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection at the Company's offices at Hydrovegen 6
3933 Porsgrunn, Norway, during normal business hours from Monday to Friday each week (except public holidays)
for a period of twelve months from the date of this Prospectus:
•

the Company's certificate of incorporation and Articles of Association;

•

all reports, letters, and other documents, historical financial information, valuations and statements
prepared by any expert at the Company's request any part of which is included or referred to in this
Prospectus; and

•

this Prospectus.

The documents are also available at the Company's website www.hydrogen-pro.com. The content of
www.hydrogen-pro.com is not incorporated by reference into, or otherwise form part of, this Prospectus.
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY

The following definitions and glossary apply in this Prospectus unless otherwise dictated by the context, including
the foregoing pages of this Prospectus:
Table 31 – Definitions and glossary
Defined terms

Meanings

Adjusted EBIDTA

EBIDTA excluding special items, e.g. non-cash impact of incentive program, to better present the
underlying performance in the reported period.

ALK

Atmospheric- and pressurised alkaline electrolysers

Annual Financial Statements

The Company's audited annual financial statements for the financial years ended 31 December 2021,
2020 and 2019.

APMs

Alternative performance measures

Articles of Association

The articles of association of the Company

ASP

Advanced Surface Plating ApS

Board Members or Board of Directors

The members of the board of directors of the Company

CAGR

Compound annual growth rate

CAPEX

Capital expenditure

CCS

Carbon capture and storage

CEO

Chief Executive Officer

CFO

Chief Financial Officer

CNY

Chinese yuan renminbi, the lawful currency of the People's Republic of China

Companies Act

Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act of 1997 No. 45

Company or HydrogenPro

HydrogenPro ASA

Corporate Governance Code

Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance, dated 14 October 2021

DG

DG Fuels Inc

DKK

Danske kroner, the awful currency of Denmark

DNV

Det Norske Veritas

EBIDTA

earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and impairment, corresponding to
operating profit/(loss) plus depreciation, amortisation and impairment

EC

European Commission

EEA

The European Economic Area

EMEA

Europe, the Middle East and Africa

EPC

Engineering, procurement and construction

ESMA

The European Securities and Markets Authority

EU

The European Union

EU Prospectus Regulation

Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2017 on the
prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading on a
regulated market, and as implemented in Norway in accordance with Section 7-1 of the Norwegian
Securities Trading Act

EUR

The single currency of the participating member states in the EU participating in the European
Monetary Union having adopted euro as its lawful currency

Euronext Growth

A multilateral trading facility operated by Oslo Børs ASA
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FCEV

Fuel cell electric vehicle

FEED

Front end engineering design

FID

Final investment decision

Forward-looking statements

All statements other than historic facts or present facts, typically indicated by words such as "believe,"
"may," "will," "estimate," "continue," "anticipate," "intend," "expect," and similar

Financial Statements

The Annual Financial Statements and the Interim Financial Statements

GDPR

The European General Data Protection Regulation

Group

The Company together with its consolidated subsidiaries

H2V

H2V Industry

HydrogenPro Tianjin

HydrogenPro Tianjin Co Ltd.

IAS 34

International Accounting Standard 34 "Interim Financial Reporting", as adopted by the EU

ICE

Internal combustion engine

IEA

International energy agency

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU

IFRS Financial Statements

The Company's audited annual consolidated financial statements for the financial years ended 31
December 2021 in accordance with IFRS, with unaudited comparative figures for the financial year
ended 31 December 2020

Investments

additions to property, plant and equipment (capital expenditures), plus longterm securities, intangible
assets, long-term advances and investments in equity accounted investments, including amounts
recognised in business combinations for continuing operations

Interim Financial Statements

The unaudited consolidated financial statements for the six-month period ended 30 June 2022 with
comparative figures for the same period in 2021, prepared in accordance with IAS 34

ISIN

Securities number with the Norwegian Central Securities Depository (VPS)

KE

Kvina Energy AS

KEP

Kvina Energy Park AS

L&T

Larsen & Toubro, Ltd.

LCOH

Levelized cost of hydrogen

Listing

Listing of the Company's Shares on Oslo Børs

Manager

Pareto Securities AS

MoU

Memorandum of understanding

MW

Megawatts

MWPA

Mitsubishi Power Americas, Inc.

NGAAP

Norwegian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

NGAAP Financial Statements

The Company's audited annual consolidated financial statements for each of the financial years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019 in accordance with NGAAP

Nm3/h

Normal cubic metres per hour

NOK

Norwegian Kroner, the lawful currency of Norway

Non-Norwegian Corporate
Shareholders

Shareholders who are limited liability companies (and certain other entities) domiciled outside of
Norway for tax purposes

Non-Norwegian Personal
Shareholders

Shareholders who are individuals not residing in Norway for tax purposes

Non-resident or foreign shareholders

Shareholders who are not resident in Norway for tax purposes
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Norwegian FSA

Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway (Nw.: Finanstilsynet)

Norwegian Public Limited Liability
Companies Act

Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act of 13 June 1997 no. 45

Norwegian Securities Trading Act

Norwegian Securities Trading Act of 29 June 2007 no. 75, as amended

OECD

Europe and Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development

OEM

Original equipment manufacturer

Oslo Børs or Oslo Stock Exchange

Oslo Børs, a stock exchange operated by Oslo Børs ASA

PEM

Pressurised polymer electrolyte membrane

Prospectus

This Prospectus dated 30 September 2022

PV

Photovoltaic

R&D

Research and development

Resident or Norwegian shareholders

Shareholders who are resident in Norway for tax purposes

Schjødt

Advokatfirmaet Schjødt AS

SDGs

Sustainable development goals

Share(s)

The Company's outstanding shares, each with a par value of NOK 0.02

SMR

Steam methane reforming

SOE

Solid oxide electrolysis

THM

Tianjin HQY Hydrogen Machinery Co., Ltd.

UN

United Nations

U.S. or United States

The United States of America

VPS

The Norwegian Central Securities Depository (Nw: Verdipapirsentralen)

VPS Registrar

DNB Markets, a part of DNB Bank ASA

VRES

Variable renewable-energy sources
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APPENDIX A:
The Company's Articles of Association

§ 1 Selskapsnavn

§ 1 Company name

Selskapets navn er HydrogenPro ASA. Selskapet er et The name of the Company is HydrogenPro ASA. The
allmennaksjeselskap.
Company is a public limited liability company.
§ 2 Forretningskommune

§ 2 Municipality

Selskapet skal ha sitt forretningskontor i Porsgrunn
kommune. Generalforsamlingen kan avholdets i
Selskapets forretningskommune eller i Oslo kommune
etter nærmere beslutning fra styret.

The Company shall have its business offices in the
municipality of Porsgrunn. General meetings can be held
in the municipality of Porsgrunn or in the municipality
of Oslo, pursuant to the further determination of the
board of directors.

§ 3 Selskapets virksomhet

§ 3 The Company's activities

Selskapets virksomhet er design, fabrikasjon,
engineering, salg, leveranse og service av anlegg hvor det
produseres grønt hydrogen og oksygen. Grønt hydrogen
utgjør et vesentlig bidrag for å redusere globale
klimagasser. Selskapet primære fokus er stor-skala
anlegg rettet mot store industrielle kunder. Selskapet
driver kontinuerlig innovasjon for å forbedre teknologi
og vil være en pådriver for anvendelsen av grønt
hydrogen globalt.

The Company's business is design, fabrication,
engineering, sales, delivery and service of plants where
green hydrogen and oxygen are produced. Green
hydrogen constitutes a significant contribution to
reducing global greenhouse gases. The Company's
primary focus is large-scale plants aimed at large
industrial customers. the company will drive continuous
innovation to improve technology and will advocate the
use of green hydrogen globally.

§ 4 Aksjekapital og aksjer

§ 4 Share capital and shares

Selskapets aksjekapital er NOK 1 160 563,42 fordelt 58 The Company's share capital is NOK 1,160,563.42
divided into 58,028,171 shares, each with a nominal value
028 171 aksjer, hver pålydende NOK 0,02.
of NOK 0.02.
§ 5 Aksjenes omsettelighet
§ 5 The negotiability of the shares
Aksjene i selskapet er fritt omsettelige.

The shares of the Company are freely tradable.

§ 6 Styre

§ 6 Board of Directors

Styret skal ha mellom 3 – 7 styremedlemmer som velges The board of the Company shall consist of up to 3 – 7
av generalforsamlingen.
board members elected by the general meeting.
§ 7 Nominasjonskomité

§ 7 Nomination committee

Selskapet skal ha en nominasjonskomité som skal bestå The company shall have a nomination committee which
av
inntil
3
medlemmer,
som
velges
av shall consist of up to 3 members, elected by the general
generalforsamlingen.
meeting.
Nominasjonskomitéen
fremmer
forslag
til
generalforsamlingen om (i) valg av styrets leder,
styremedlemmer og eventuelle varamedlemmer, og (ii)
valg av medlemmer til nominasjonskomitéen.
Nominasjonskomitéen fremmer videre forslag til
generalforsamlingen om honorar til styret og
nominasjonskomitéen,
som
fastsettes
av
generalforsamlingen.
Generalforsamlingen
skal
fastsette
instruks
for
nominasjonskomitéen.

The nomination committee shall present proposals to
the general meeting regarding (i) election of the chair of
the board, board members and any deputy members, and
(ii) election of members of the nomination committee.
The nomination committee shall also present proposals
to the general meeting for remuneration of the board
and the nomination committee, which is to be
determined by the general meeting. The general meeting
shall adopt instructions for the nomination committee.
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§ 8 Generalforsamlingen – innkalling

§ 8 General meeting – summons

På den ordinære generalforsamlingen skal følgende The annual general meeting shall address and decide:
saker behandles og avgjøres:
- Godkjennelse
av
årsregnskapet
og
- Approval of the annual accounts and the
årsberetningen, herunder utdeling av
board's statement including distribution of
utbytte;
dividends:
- Valg av styremedlemmer og revisor (dersom
- Election of board members and auditors (if
these are to be elected)
disse er på valg)
- Any other business which by law or the
- Andre saker som etter loven eller vedtektene
Articles of Association is required to be
høer under generalforsamlingen
dealt with by the general meeting
Når dokumenter som gjelder saker skal behandles på
generalforsamlingen er gjort tilgjengelige for aksjeeierne
på
selskapets
internettsider
gjelder
ikke
allmennaksjelovens krav om at dokumentene skal
sendes til aksjeeierne. Dette gjelder også dokumenter
som etter lov skal inntas i eller vedlegges innkallingen til
generalforsamlingen.

When documents regarding matters which are to be
dealt with at the general meeting have been made
available on the internet site of the Company, the
requirements in the Norwegian Public Limited Liability
Companies Act which state that these documents shall
be sent to the shareholders, shall not apply. This
exemption is also applicable with regards to documents
which according to statutory law shall be included in or
attached to the notice of the general meeting.

Styret kan beslutte at aksjeeiere kan avgi skriftlig
forhåndsstemme i saker som skal behandles på
generalforsamlinger i selskapet. Slike stemmer kan også
avgis ved elektronisk kommunikasjon. Adgangen til å
avgi forhåndsstemme er betinget av at det foreligger en
betryggende metode for autentisering av avsender.
Styret avgjør om det foreligger en slik metode i forkant
av den enkelte generalforsamling. Styret kan fastsette
nærmere retningslinjer for skriftlige forhåndsstemmer.
Det skal fremgå av innkallingen til generalforsamlingen
om det er gitt adgang til forhåndsstemming og hvilke
retningslinjer som eventuelt er fastsatt for slik
stemmegivning.

The board may decide that shareholders may cast
written votes in advance on matters that are to be
considered at general meetings of the company. Such
votes may also be cast by use of electronic
communication. The possibility to vote in advance is
conditional upon a satisfactory method for
authenticating each user being available. The board
decides whether such a method is available in advance of
each general meeting. The board may determine further
guidelines for voting in advance. The notice for the
general meeting shall state whether it is permitted to
vote in advance and the guidelines, if any, that apply to
such voting.

§ 9 Elektronisk kommunikasjon

§ 9 Electronic communication

Selskapet kan bruke elektronisk kommunikasjon når det
skal gi meldinger, varsler, informasjon, dokumenter,
underretninger ol. etter allmennaksjeloven til
aksjeeierne.

Company may utilize electronic communication when it
is to provide messages, notices, information, documents
etc. pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Liability
Companies Act to the shareholders.

§ 10 Signaturrett

§ 10 Signatory rights

Styrets leder og daglig leder hver for seg og to The Chair of the board and chief executive officer, on an
styremedlemmer i fellesskap har signaturrett.
individual basis, and two board members, on a joint
basis, have signatory rights.
§ 11 Prokura
Styret kan meddele prokura.

§ 11 Power of procuration
The Board may grant power of procuration.

§ 12 Forholdet til allmennaksjeloven

§ 12 The relationship with the Norwegian Public
Limited Liability Companies Act
The provisions of the prevailing Norwegian Public
Limited Liability Companies Act are applicable.

For øvrig henvises til den til enhver tid
gjeldende allmennaksjelovgivning.
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APPENDIX B:
The Group's unaudited consolidated interim financial statements for the six-month periods ended 30
June 2022 with comparative figures for the same period in 2021 (IAS 34)
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HydrogenPro
About

Technology
Leader

Global
Footprint

Scalability

Life Cycle
Partner

HydrogenPro designs and supplies large scale hydrogen production plants in cooperation with
global partners and suppliers. Our core product is the alkaline high-pressure electrolyser.
The company was founded in 2013 by individuals with background from the electrolysis industry. We
are an experienced engineering team of leading industry experts, drawing upon unparalleled
experience and expertise in the hydrogen and renewable energy industry.
Our advanced electrode technology enables us to increase the efficiency of each unit by 14%,
hence reducing electricity cost with 14%. This is a significant step forward as the cost of electric
power, depending on market prices, amounts to 70-90% of the total cost of producing hydrogen,
the value of such increased efficiency equals approximately the investment cost for the entire plant
in a Total Cost of Operation perspective.
Unlike traditional alkaline systems, our high-pressure units (up to 30 bar) save compression costs
and are superbly suited for variable loads from solar panels and wind turbines. Thus, we compare
favourably to alternative technologies. We are able to produce hydrogen at a lower cost, without
using noble or scarce metals, while using renewable energy sources.
The demand for green hydrogen is accelerating all over the world, and we are aiming to become the
#1 large-scale hydrogen production systems player. While most analysts predict that the cost of
hydrogen will be reduced to USD 1.5/kg in 2030, HydrogenPro can deliver hydrogen at about 1.2
USD/kg already in 2022 with the new technology (at an electricity cost of USD 20/MWh).
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Highlights
Q2 Highlights
•

Mitsubishi Power Americas confirms purchase order for 40 electrolyser
systems plus a 10-year service and support agreement

•

HydrogenPro received purchase order for a large electrolyser for Takasago
Hydrogen Park in Japan from Mitsubishi Heavy industries

•

Order intake of NOK 773 million

•

Backlog of NOK 794 million

•

HydrogenPro Tianjin received business license in June 2022

•

Funding granted for several new R&D projects in both Denmark and Norway

Subsequent events
•

Applied for admission to trading on Oslo Stock Exchange
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Highlights
Financials

Revenue
MNOK

Adj. EBITDA
MNOK

Net profit
MNOK

Net investments
MNOK

Cash and
cash equivalents
MNOK
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Q2 2022 Summary
Developments during the quarter
Market development

Successful initial verification of electrode

The Company’s active sales pipeline increased

technology

from 97 to 109 projects, with the total capacity

The factory for production of HydrogenPro’s

going from 12.7 GW to 15.4 GW during the

advanced electrode technology in Aarhus,

second quarter. There is solid progress on the

Denmark is completed. Lab tests proved a 14%

DG Fuels project in Louisiana (~840 MW

increase in efficiency compared to conventional

electrolyser capacity) with final investment

electrodes.

decision estimated in first quarter 2023.
Recent Governmental commitments, incl. the
Inflation Reduction Act in the US and RePowerEU
in Europe are expected to be a catalyst for final
investments decisions to be made by project
owners.

The initial electrolyser tests at our technology
centre show efficiency in line with simulated
results of 14%, and long-term verification tests
are ongoing.
Organizational changes
On 22nd of June 2022 HydrogenPro announced

The Company is involved with several FEED and

the resignation of Elling Nygaard from his position

Engineering studies for leading companies within

as CEO. The board appointed Richard Espeseth

the energy sector as well as other industrial

as interim CEO with immediate effect.

areas. These contracts are a part of the final
evaluation and selection process for new

Annual General Meeting

projects, hence imperative when positioning the

The Annual General Meeting was held on 12th of

Company for new contracts. In general, there is a

May 2022.

vast number of projects announced under

A total of 34 077 066 shares, representing

development for decarbonization of refinery

approx. 58.73% of the share capital was

operations as well as for Power to X (in

represented at the Annual General Meeting. All

connection with Wind and PV power sources)

proposed resolutions were resolved, incl. election

and Ammonia projects. In a bit longer

of Donna Rennemo to the Board, and re-election

perspective, it is expected that demand for green

of the present Board for two years following the

hydrogen will further develop for fuel production

Annual General Meeting.

and steel.

The Board in HydrogenPro AS now comprises

Funding granted for several new R&D projects
Funding granted, ranging from 0.27 million EUR
to 3.87 million EUR, aiming to improve our
market-leading technologies.

the following persons:
Ellen M. Hanetho (Chair of the Board), Richard
Espeseth, Jarle Tautra, Kermit Jeffrey Nash, Jarle
Dragvik and Donna Rennemo.
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Q2 2022 Summary
Developments during the quarter
Mitsubishi Power Americas, Inc. confirms

Completed fabrication of world’s largest

purchase order for 40 electrolysers systems

electrolyser cell stack

On 4th of April 2022 HydrogenPro announced

Covid-19 infection control measures in China in

that the Company has signed a purchase order

early 2022 led to a lock down of the fabrication

for the delivery of 40 electrolysers to Mitsubishi

facility which has caused a delay in the delivery

Power Americas, Inc. making it one of the largest

of the world’s largest electrolyser system, a

electrolyser system contracts ever placed. The

purchase order announced on 24th of August

initial value of the purchase order exceeds USD

2021. The entire system is being shipped from

50 million for HydrogenPro’s scope of delivery.

China to Norway, where it will be installed and

The EPC and other system deliverables for a

commissioned.

turn-key electrolyser green hydrogen production
plant will be supplied by other companies. The

Subsequent events

green hydrogen will be consumed for power

Inflation reduction act

generation in the U.S.

On 12th of August 2022 the US Congress passed
the Inflation Reduction Act (IRA) to see an

Mitsubishi Heavy Industries, Ltd confirms

offering of tax credits for low carbon hydrogen

purchase order for a large electrolyser.

production and hydrogen fuel cell-electric

On 19th April 2022 HydrogenPro announced that

vehicles signed into law.

the Company has received a purchase order for

The Act enclosed a bill which would see

a large electrolyser for Takasago Hydrogen Park

producers of clean hydrogen up to $3 per kg of

in Japan.

tax credits, as well as making up to $7,500

The initial value of the contract exceeds 3 million

available for new hydrogen-electric vehicles.

USD for HydrogenPro’s scope of delivery. The
engineering, procurement, and construction

Submission of application to Oslo Børs

(EPC) and other system deliverables for a full

On 17th of August 2022 HydrogenPro submitted

turn-key electrolyser hydrogen production plant

its application to trading on Oslo Børs by transfer

will be supplied by third parties. The plant is

of its current admission to trading on

planned to be operational by mid-2023. It is

Euronext Growth operated by Oslo Børs.

similar to the verification plant ongoing at Herøya

Subject to Oslo Børs' approval of the

Industripark but customized to meet Japanese

Company's admission application and satisfaction

regulations.

of any conditions for admission to trading set by
Oslo Børs, the Company expects that the first day
of trading of the Company's shares on Oslo Børs
in first half of fourth quarter 2022.
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Q2 2022 Summary
Outlook

The outlook for the Company’s services continues to strengthen backed by an ever-increasing focus on
the need for a green energy transition. This is manifested through an increasing number of opportunities
and projects within the green hydrogen space. Clients continue to mature projects and financing and
move steadily towards final investment decision and thus contract awards. The signing of the two firm
Purchase Orders during April 2022 are important milestones, and the Company expects to also see a
strong demand for its early phase and front-end engineering studies.
HydrogenPro is attractively positioned in this developing market due to its mature and well proven high
pressure alkaline technology, in combination with energy efficient electrode technology. The Company
has previously stated its ability to deliver a Levelized Cost of Hydrogen (“LCOH”) at a cost of USD 1.20
USD per kg (assumed electricity price of 0.02 USD/kWh).
The recent public commitments in the EU and the US to accelerate the scale-up of green hydrogen are
likely to have a significant positive impact for HydrogenPro going forward.
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Financials
Income statement
N OK million

Q2 2022

Q2 2021

YTD 2022

YTD 2021

FY 2021

Revenue, incl. other operating income

7.8

0.1

16.6

0.7

20.0

Raw materials and consumables used

8,1

0.1

11.4

0,8

11.6

Payroll expenses

8,9

2.0

17.8

3.7

17.9

Other operating expenses
Adj. EBITDA (excl. non-cash operating expenses)
Non-cash cost of incentive programs/other noncash accruals/provisions
EBITDA
Depreciation and amortization expenses
EBIT
Net financial items
Result before tax
Tax expense
Net profit

10.7

4.1

20.7

8.7

27.2

-19.9

-6.1

-33.2

-12.5

-36.7

5.8

6.7

10.7

9.4

18.6

-25.7

-12.8

-44.0

-21.9

-55.2

2.8

1.1

5.3

2.2

5.2

-28.5

-13.9

-49.3

-24.1

-60.5

7.9

0.0

7.0

-0,1

3.1

-20.6

-13.9

-42.3

-24.2

-57.4

-

0.2

1.0

-0.4

-1.0

-20.6

-13.7

-43.3

-23.8

-56.4

HydrogenPro generated revenues of NOK 7.8 million during second quarter 2022 compared to NOK 0.1
million second quarter 2021 (NOK 8.8 million in first quarter 2022). Revenues are recognized according
to the percentage of completion principle. Revenues in the quarter mainly relates to the delivery of the
Purchase Order signed with Mitsubishi on 24th of August 2021, for the delivery of world’s largest single
stack high-pressure alkaline electrolyser system. The order backlog amounts to NOK 794 million as of
30th of June 2022 vs. NOK 25 million as of 31st of March 2022.
Adjusted EBITDA (excl. option-based compensation cost of NOK 4.9 million and other payroll expenses
of NOK -0.6, which has a non-cash effect) of NOK -19.9 million during the second quarter 2022 and
NOK -6.1 million during the second quarter 2021. (NOK -13,3 in first quarter 2022).
Reported EBITDA during the quarter was -25.7 million vs. NOK -12.8 million in second quarter 2021,
(NOK -18.3 million first quarter 2022) with an operating loss of NOK 28.5 million vs. NOK 13.9 million in
the second quarter 2021. (NOK -20.8 million in first quarter 2022).
Operating expenses: NOK 8.1 million in raw materials and consumables used vs NOK 0.1 million in
second quarter 2021, (NOK 3.3 million first quarter 2022) NOK 14.4 million in total (incl. non- cash
impact) reported payroll expenses vs NOK 7.3 million in second quarter 2021 (NOK 13.3 million first
quarter 2022) and NOK 11.0 million in other operating expenses vs NOK 5.2 million in second quarter
2021 (NOK 10.4 first quarter 2022) and NOK 2.8 million in depreciation & amortization expenses vs NOK
1.1 million in second quarter 2021. (NOK -2.5 million first quarter 2022).
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Financials
Income statement
Net financial items
NOK million

Q2 2022

Q2 2021

YTD 2022

YTD 2021

FY 2021

Interest income

0.6

-

1.0

-

2.1

Net foreign exchange gain/ -expenses

7.4

-0,1

6.1

0,3

2.3

Other finance income/ -expenses

-0.1

0,1

-0.1

-0,4

-1.3

Net financial items

7.9

-0,0

7.0

-0,1

3.1

Net financial items in the second quarter amounted to NOK 7.9 million vs NOK -0.0 million in second
quarter 2021 (NOK -0.9 million in first quarter 2022). The change is mainly due to an increase in foreign
exchange gain.
Net profit (after tax) for the quarter ended at NOK - 20.6 million vs. a net profit of NOK - 13.7 million in
second quarter 2021 (NOK -22.6 million first quarter 2022).
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Financials
Balance sheet
NOK million

30.06.2022

31.03.2022

30.6.2021

31.12.2021

Total intangible assets

67.7

47.3

46.6

49.0

Plant, machinery and equipment

47.5

22.6

11.6

22.6

Financial fixed assets

37.4

53.3

9.2

53.3

152.6

123.9

67.4

124.9

Assets

Total fixed assets
Current operating assets

15.0

13.9

3.9

20.9

Cash and cash equivalents

435.3

368.7

471.2

382.3

Total current assets

450.2

382.6

475.1

403.2

Total Assets

602.8

506.4

542.4

528.1

Equity and liabilities
Total equity

485.6

491.1

532.2

511.3

Total long-terms liabilities

2.5

1.4

0.1

1.4

Total short-term liabilities

114.8

14.0

10.2

15.5

Total liabilities

117.2

15.3

10.3

16.8

Total equity and liabilities

602.8

506.4

542.4

528.1

Total assets as of 30th of June 2022 where NOK 602.8 million, whereof NOK 450.2 million in current
assets (NOK 435.3 million in cash and deposits and NOK 15.0 million in other current assets). Total fixed
asset amounted to NOK 152.6 million, whereof NOK 67.7 million in intangible assets, NOK 47.5 million in
plant, machinery, and equipment and NOK 37.4 million in financial fixed assets.
Total equity were NOK 485.6 million and total liabilities of NOK 117.2 million, whereof 114.8 million in
short-terms liabilities and NOK 2.5 million in long-term liabilities. The book equity ratio as of 30th of June
2022 was 80.6 % compared to 96.8% at 31st of December 2021.
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Financials
Cash flow
NOK million

Q2 2022

Q2 2021

YTD 2022

YTD 2021

FY 2021

368.7

489.5

382.3

506.1

506.1

Net cash flow from operating activities

87.0

1.2

76,2

-14.0

-47.6

Net cash flow from investing activities

-20.0

-19.4

-22.5

-21.1

-78.1

Net cash flow from financing activities

-0.4

-0.0

-0.7

0.2

1.8

66.6

-18.3

53.0

-34.9

-123.9

435.3

471.2

435.3

471.2

382.3

Cash balance start of period

Total changes in cash
Cash balance end of period

Net increase in cash position during the second quarter was NOK 66.6 million compared to a decrease of
NOK 18.3 million in the second quarter 2021.
Net cash flow from operating activities was NOK 87.0 million compared to NOK 1.2 million in second
quarter 2021.
During the second quarter net cash from investing activities was NOK -20.0 million vs NOK -19.4 million in
second quarter 2021.
Net cash flow from financing activities was NOK -0.4 million compared to NOK 0.0 million in second
quarter 2021.
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Financial statements

13

Consolidated statement of
comprehensive income
NOK ‘000

Note

Q2 2022

Q2 2021

YTD 2022

YTD 2021

FY 2021

7 775

133

16 562

732

20 036

Total revenue

7 775

133

16 562

732

20 036

Cost of goods sold

8 072

95

11 365

831

11 632

Personnel expenses

14 448

7 376

27 787

11 744

32 878

Operating income and operating expenses
Revenue from contracts with customers

Depreciation and amortization expense
Other operating expenses
Operating profit/(loss)
Financial income
Financial expenses
Net financial income and expenses
Profit/(loss) before income tax

3

4,5

2 783

1 093

5 292

2 186

5 215

10 961

5 494

21 379

10 099

30 772

-28 488

-13 925

-49 261

-24 129

-60 461

7 282

76

9 194

353

4 374

-584

52

2 224

430

1 321

7 866

24

6 970

-77

3 053

-20 622

-13 900

-42 290

-24 206

-57 407

-177

975

-364

-975

-20 622

-13 723

-43 265

-23 842

-56 432

Income tax expense
Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified to profit or
loss:
Exchange difference on translation of
foreign operations

-169

-458

336

Net Other comprehensive income

-169

-458

336

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the
year

-20 792

-13 723

-43 723

-23 842

-56 096

-20 611

-13 723

-43 543

-23 842

-56 096

-0,41

-0,98

Total comprehensive profit (loss) for the
year attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent company
Non-controlling interest

-180

-180

Earnings per share (in NOK)
Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary
share 1)

-0,36

-0,24

-0,75

1) Based on average 58.03 million shares outstanding for the purpose of earnings per share in 2022, and average 57,60 million shares outstanding
in 2021.
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Consolidated balance sheet
NOK ‘000

Note

30.06.2022

31.03.2022

31.12.2021

Intangible assets

4,6

67 657

47 343

48 970

Property, plant, and equipment

5,6

47 513

24 411

22 637

2 199

2 587

2 975

Assets

Right of use assets
Non-current tax asset

975

Investments in associated companies

278

278

101

Loan to associated companies

938

938

634

34 019

48 326

48 597

152 603

123 882

124 890

Other receivables
Total non-current assets
Current assets

313

294

308

Trade receivables

Inventories

8 002

7 544

13 042

Other receivables

6 648

6 073

7 594

Cash and bank deposits

435 283

368 657

382 255

Total current assets

450 245

382 568

403 199

Total assets

602 849

506 450

528 089

58

58

58

576 141

576 141

576 141

Equity
Share capital
Share premium account
Other equity contributed
Other equity
Translation reserves
Total other equity
Non-controlling interest
Total equity

6

34 505

29 588

26 800

-135 536

-114 722

-92 081

432

47

336

475 600

491 112

511 255

491 112

511 255

10 025
485 625

Interest-bearing debt
Deferred tax

1 055

Non-current lease liabilities

1 397

1 368

1 365

Total non-current liabilities

2 452

1 368

1 365

Current lease liabilities

840

1 240

1 610

Trade creditors

3 164

4 385

3 290

Public duties payable

4 823

4 107

5 071

Other short-term liabilities

105 943

4 237

5 497

Total current liabilities

114 771

13 969

15 468

Total liabilities

117 223

15 337

16 833

Total equity and liabilities

602 849

506 450

528 089
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Cash flow statements
NOK ‘000

Note

Q2 2022

Q2 2021

YTD 2022

YTD 2021

FY 2021

Net Income / (Loss) before tax

-20 622

-13 900

-42 290

-24 206

-57 407

Depreciation and amortization
expense

2 783

1 093

5 292

2 186

5 215

Option cost no cash effect

5 137

6 721

8 044

9 402

18 533

-458

9

5 041

2 145

-9 859

-2 120

-3 894

7

7

12

337

Cash flows from operating activities

Change in accounts receivable
Change in inventory

-19

Change in accounts payable

-1 221

-6
4 698

-125

Write-down shares
Effect of foreign currency translation

-458

Change in other accruals
Net cash flows from operating
activities

6

-881

101 866

2 518

101 163

-1 475

-548

87 008

1 146

76 237

-14 018

-47 617

-1 538

-9 108

-3 789

-9 171

-20 793

-4 632

-8 079

Cash flows from investing activities
Change in tangible assets

5

Change in intangible assets

4

Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash
acquired

6

Change in other investing activities
Net cash flows from investing
activities

-3 062
-14 847

-14 847

-3 627

-7 268

-3 836

-7 268

-49 178

-20 012

-19 438

-22 472

-21 070

-78 050

-371

-39

-738

-77

Cash flows from financing activities
Payment of lease liabilities
Proceeds from Equity Issue
Net cash flows from financing
activities
Cash balance start of period
Net change in cash
Cash balance end of period

259

1 812

-371

-39

-738

-182

1 812

368 658

489 505

382 256

506 111

506 111

66 625

-18 331

53 028

-34 937

-123 855

435 283

471 174

435 283

471 174

382 255
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Statement of changes in equity

NOK ‘000

Equity as at 01.01
2021:
Net loss

Share
capital

Share
premium
reserve

Other
paid-in
capital

57

542 170

9 098

Uncovered
loss

Total
other
equity

Total
equity

515 677

516 677

7 918

7 918

32 419

32 419

-59 490

523 173

523 173

-92 080

511 256

511 256

-43 265

-43 265

-35 648

7 918
1

32 418

Equity as at
30.6.2021

58

574 588

17 016

Equity as at 01.01
2022

58

576 141

26 800

337

Net loss
Currency translation
differences

96

Cost of share-based
payment

7 705

58

576 141

34 505

433

-135 536

-180

-43 445

96

96

7 705

7 705

Non controlling
interest by
aquesition
Equity as at
30.06.2022

Not
controlling
interest

- 23 842

Cost of share-based
payment
Issue of share
capital

Other
component
of equiy

475 601

10 205

10 205

10 025

485 626

17
17
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Notes to the financial statements
Note 1 – Organisation and basis for preparation

Corporate information
Hydrogenpro AS (“the Company”) is a private limited company, incorporated in Norway,
headquartered in Porsgrunn and listed on Euronext Growth, Address headquarters: Hydrovegen
6, 3933 Porsgrunn, Norway.
The Company was established in 2013 by individuals with background from the electrolysis industry which
was established in Telemark, Norway by Norsk Hydro in 1927. HydrogenPro comprises an experienced
engineering team of leading industry experts, drawing upon unparalleled experience and expertise within
the hydrogen and renewable sectors. By combining in-depth knowledge with innovative design, the
company continuously aspire to pioneer game-changing ideas and solutions to realize and maximize new
opportunities in a smarter, sustainable, hydrogen powered future. HydrogenPro designs and supplies
customized hydrogen plants in cooperation with global partners and suppliers, all ISO 9001, ISO 45001 and
ISO 14001 certified. The core product is the alkaline high-pressure electrolyser. Recently
the company acquired a new plating technology through the acquisition of Advanced Surface Plating ApS in
Denmark.
HydrogenPro is listed on Euronext Growth at Oslo Stock Exchange under the ticker “HYPRO“
Basis for preparation
The quarterly statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard 34
“Interim Financial Reporting” (IAS 34). The accounting policies applied in the preparation of the quarterly
financial statements are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021. The quarterly financial information does not include all
information and disclosures required in the annual financial statements and should be read in conjunction
with the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021, which have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (IFRS).
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except when otherwise
is stated.
Further, the consolidated financial statements are prepared based on the going concern assumption.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Norwegian kroner (“NOK”). For each entity, the
Group determines the functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. HydrogenPro has Norwegian krone (“NOK”) as its functional
currency, and Advanced Surfase Plating Asp and HydrogenPro Tianjin respectively have DKK and CNY as
their functional currency
For presentation purposes, balance sheet items are translated from functional currency to presentation
currency by using exchange rates at the reporting date. Items within total comprehensive income are
translated from functional currency to presentation currency by applying yearly average exchange rates.
The resulting translation differences are recognized in other comprehensive income.
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Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS and applying the
chosen accounting policies requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these
estimates. The estimates and the underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
The accounting policies applied by management which includes a significant degree of estimates and
assumptions or judgments that may have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the
financial statements, are summarized below:
•

Revenue recognition from contracts with customers

•

Estimating fair value for share-based payments transactions

Refer to the annual report of 2021 for more details related to key judgement and estimations.

Note 2 – Subsequent events
No events have occurred after the balance sheet date with significant impact on the interim financial
statement for the second quarter and first half of 2022.
On 12th of August 2022 the US Congress passed the Inflation Reduction Act (IRA) to see an offering of tax
credits for low carbon hydrogen production and hydrogen fuel cell-electric vehicles signed into law.
The Act enclosed a bill which would see producers of clean hydrogen up to $3 per kg of tax credits, as
well as making up to $7,500 available for new hydrogen-electric vehicles.
On 17th of August 2022 HydrogenPro submitted its application to trading on Oslo Børs by transfer of its
current admission to trading on Euronext Growth operated by Oslo Børs.
Subject to Oslo Børs' approval of the Company's admission application and satisfaction of any conditions
for admission to trading set by Oslo Børs, the Company expects that the first day of trading of the
Company's shares on Oslo Børs in first half of fourth quarter 2022.
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Note 3 – Revenue from
contracts with customers
Geografical region
NOK ‘000

Q2 2022

Q2 2021

YTD 2022

YTD 2021

FY 2021

731

906

Geografical region
Norway

172

Europe

2

America
Asia Pacific
Total revenue

1 170
133

112

7 288

14 608

313
7 775

0
16 204

672
133

16 562

2 926
731

20 036

The information above is based on the location of the customers.
The Group’s revenue from contracts with customers are recognized from sale of Hydrogen electrolyser
systems and engineering services. Long term fixed-price contracts are valued to the percentage of
completion method. The degree of completion is calculated as expenses incurred as a percentage of
estimated total expenses. Total expenses are reviewed on a regular basis. If projects are expected to
result in losses, the total estimated loss is recognised immediately.
NOK ‘000
Revenue recognized over time
Revenue recognized at point of time
Total revenue

Q2 2022

Q2 2021

YTD 2022

YTD 2021

FY 2021

7 773

133

16 153

731

20 019

2
7 775

409
133

16 562

17
731

20 036

20
20

20

Note 4 – Intangible assets
NOK ‘000
Purchase cost 01.01.2022

Technology
41 366

Patent and
licenses
11 742

Acquisition of subsidiary

Goodwill

2022
Total
53 107

21 935

21 935

21 935

75 043

Impairment
Disposals
Purchase cost 31.06.2022

41 366

11 742

Accumulated depreciation 01.01.2021

4 143

-

4 143

Depreciation year to date 2022

2 068

1 174

3 242

Net book value 31.06.2022

35 155

10 567

Economic life

5 years

5 years

linear

linear

Depreciation method

21 935

67 657

Intangible assets that have been acquired separately are carried at cost. The costs of intangible assets
acquired through an acquisition are recognized at their fair value in the Group’s opening balance sheet.
Capitalized intangible assets are recognized at cost less any amortisation and impairment losses.
Intangible assets with a definite economic life are amortised over their economic life and tested for
impairment if there are any indications. The amortisation method and period are assessed at least once a
year.
On 9th of June 2022 HydrogenPro completed the acquisition of 75 per cent of the shares of HydrogenPro
Tianjin CO Ltd. 75 per cent of goodwill arising on acquisition are recognized under intangible asset. Refer
to note 6 for more detailed information.

Note 5 – Property, plant and equipment
NOK ‘000

Plant and
machinery

Movables

Machinery and
plant in progress

2022
Total

17 179

2 774

4 021

23 975

Additions

3 145

66

280

3 491

From Machinery and plant in progress

4 301

Purchase cost 01.01.2022

Acquisition of subsidiary

-4 301

22 384

22 384

Disposals
Exchange differences

254

43

47 264

2 883

Accumulated depreciation 01.01.2021

1 171

167

1 337

Depreciation year to date 2022

1 131

143

1274

19

4

23

44 943

2 570

5-10 years

5-10 years

linear

linear

Purchase cost 31.06.2022

Exchange differences
Net book value 31.06.2022
Economic life
Depreciation method

297
0

0

50 147

47 513

Tangible assets are valued at their cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The
depreciation period and method are assessed each year.
Assets under construction are classified as non-current assets and recognized at cost until the production
or development process is completed. Assets under construction are not depreciated until the asset is
taken into use.
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Note 6 – Business combinations
Acquisiton of HydrogenPro Tianjin in June 2022
On the 9th of June 2022 HydrogenPro acquired 75 per cent of the shares of HydrogenPro Tianjin CO Ltd
(“Tianjin”). Tianjin is reported as a part of the HydrogenPro Group from June 2022.
Tianjin is a provider for electrolyzers system, headquartered in Tianjin, China with approximately 35
employees. Tianjin specializes in manufacturing and assembly of hydrogen systems, including steel system
structures and high-pressure piping, and has its production facilities also in Tianjin, China. Tianjin will bring
significant system assembly capacity and know-how and complement the capabilities of HydrgenPro,
improving control of the value chain and accelerating time to market.
Tianjin’s revenues for the year 2021 would have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statement of
HydrogenPro as all production was delivered to HydrogenPro. 2021 profit and assets as of 01.01.22 in
Tianjin amounted to no more than 2% of HydrogenPro’s consolidated values.
The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of HydrogenPro Tianjin as the date of he acquisition
were:
Fair value recognized on acquisition

(NOK 1,000)

09.06.2022

Assets
Non-current assets
Property plant & equipment
Total non-current assets

22 384
22 384

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current assets
Total current assets

18 073
11 890
29 964

Total assets
Non-current liabilities
Deffered tax liability
Other long term liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Other short term liabilities
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities

52 348

-

1 055
721
-1 776

-

12 634
-12 634
-14 410

Total identifiable net assets at fair value
Purchase consideration transferred
Goodwill arising on acquisition

-37 938
67 185
29 247

Purchase consideration transferred
Cash paid
Total consideration (payments from HP)
Adj. for HP 75% stake
Equity value (100% of subsidiary)

50 389
50 389
75 %
67 185

Analysis of cash flows on acquisition:
Total consideration (payments from HP)
Cash already paid in 2021
Cash paid in H1 2022
.
Cash paid after balance date 30.06.2022
Net cash acquired with the subsidiary
Paid by non-controlling interest
Net cash out in H1 2022
Net cash out in total

-

-

50 389
17 847
14 891
17 651
11 890
-14 847
38 498

Acquisitions after the balance sheet date
The Group did not have any acquisitions after the balance sheet date

22
22
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Alternative Performance Measures
HydrogenPro discloses alternative performance measures. This is based on the group’s experience that
APMs are frequently used by analysts, investors and other parties as supplemental information.
The purpose of APMs is to provide an enhanced insight into the operations, financing and future prospect
of the group. Management also uses these measures internally to drive performance in terms of
monitoring operating performance and long-term target setting. APMs are adjusted IFRS measures that
are defined, calculated and used in a consistent and transparent manner over the years and across the
group where relevant. Financial APMs should not be considered as a substitute for measures of
performance in accordance with the IFRS.
HydrogenPro’s financial APMs:
•

EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortization and impairment, corresponding to
operating profit/(loss) plus depreciation, amortization and impairment.

•

Adjusted EBITDA excludes special items, e.g., non-cash impact of incentive program and other
accruals/provisions, to better present the underlying performance in the reported period.

•

Net investments are additions to property, plant and equipment (capital expenditures), plus long-term securities,
intangible assets, long-term advances and investments in equity accounted investments, including amounts
recognized in business combinations for continuing operations.

•

Order Intake is defined as a firm purchase order with agreed price, volume, timing, term and conditions entered
within av given period. The order intake includes both contracts and change order. For service contracts and
contracts with uncertain transaction price, the order intake is based on estimated revenue. The measure does not
include potential change order.

•

Backlog is defined as a firm purchase orders with agreed price, volume, timing, terms and condition and where
revenue is yet to recognized. The backlog includes both contracts and change order. For service contracts and
contracts with uncertain transaction price, the backlog is based on estimated revenue. The measure does not
include potential change order.

Porsgrunn/Oslo, 22nd of August 2022
The Board of Directors
(Electronically signed)

(Electronically signed)

Ellen M. Hanetho

Richard Espeseth

Chair of the Board

Jarle Tautra

Board member

Board member

(Electronically signed)

(Electronically signed)

Kermit J. Nash

(Electronically signed)

Jarle Dragvik

Board member

Donna Rennemo

Board member

Board member

(Electronically signed)

(Electronically signed)

Richard Espeseth
CEO
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BDO AS
Leirvollen 21A, 3736 Skien
Løkkebakken 24, 3770 Kragerø

To the board of
HydrogenPro AS

We have reviewed the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of HydrogenPro AS as of June 30,
2022 and the related consolidated statement of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash
flow statement for the six-month period, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes. Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of this
interim financial information in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
as adopted by the European Union (EU) and that the consolidated interim financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express
a conclusion on this interim financial information based on our review.
Scope of Review
We conducted our review in accordance with International Standard on Review Engagements 2410,
“Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity. ”A
review of interim financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible
for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review
is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of
all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion.
Conclusion
Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the
accompanying interim financial information does not give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the entity as of June 30, 2022, and of its financial performance for the six-month period
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the
European Union (EU) and prepared in accordance with IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.
BDO AS
Espen Åsulfsen
State Authorized Public Accountant
(signed electronically)

BDO AS, et norsk aksjeselskap, er deltaker i BDO International Limited, et engelsk selskap med begrenset ansvar, og er en del av det internasjonale
nettverket BDO, som består av uavhengige selskaper i de enkelte land. Foretaksregisteret: NO 993 606 650 MVA.

Penneo Dokumentnøkkel: N887M-V26W5-A2N3Q-K26JU-NXN7F-FCABA

Report on Review of Interim Financial Information

Signaturene i dette dokumentet er juridisk bindende. Dokument signert med "Penneo™ - sikker digital signatur".
De signerende parter sin identitet er registrert, og er listet nedenfor.

"Med min signatur bekrefter jeg alle datoer og innholdet i dette dokument."

Espen Åsulfsen

Penneo Dokumentnøkkel: N887M-V26W5-A2N3Q-K26JU-NXN7F-FCABA

Partner
På vegne av: BDO AS
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Key achievements
2021
Acquired world-leading electrode company
Jan 2021 - Acquired world-leading electrode technology through ASP in Denmark. This is a
game changing technology advantage that reduces electricity consumption by 14% which equals
approx. the investment cost for the entire plant in a total cost of operation perspective, with
variations depending on the electricity price. Industrial-scale production facility in operation from
end of 2021.

Strategic move to manufacture complete electrolyser systems
Nov 2021 - Signed agreement to acquire leading Chinese high-pressure alkaline technology
company including world-wide IP rights. The capacity has been expanded to more than 30
people with a new board and CEO. The first HydrogenPro electrolysers are in production and
capacity will be 300 MW p.a.

Achieved ISO certification
To ensure products and services meet the needs of customers through an effective management
system through internationally recognized standards.

Active sales pipeline by year end 2021 of 12 GW. Never seen a stronger market. In
addition, several engineering studies are in progress for major companies for large scale
production plants.

Year to date 2022
Received one of the world’s largest electrolyser system purchase orders
April 2022 - received firm purchase order for one of the world’s largest electrolyser system
contracts ever, with an initial contract value exceeding USD 50 million.

HydrogenPro AS
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CEO letter
2021 was a momentous year for HydrogenPro! We moved from
technology innovation and system concept development to
focusing on large-scale projects and production capacity.
As the year started, we acquired Advanced Surface Plating
ApS in Denmark, which has developed technology to
significantly improve the efficiency of electrolysers. Towards
the end of the year, we set up a subsidiary in Tianjin, China,
with a 300MW annual electrolyser production capacity, giving
us complete technology ownership. This was the first major
step of HydrogenPro’s global technology and fabrication plan.

Even more importantly: With our next-generation electrode
technology we are able to increase the operating efficiency
of each unit by 14%. This is key, as electric power is by far
the main cost element when producing hydrogen. In fact, the
value of the increased efficiency equals the investment cost
for the entire plant in a total cost of operation perspective,
with variations depending on the electricity price.
In order to take advantage of our leading technology and the
exciting market opportunities we see, we target a fabrication
capacity in excess of 1 gigawatt by year-end 2023.

In between these two events, we onboarded excellent staff
members, significantly strengthening our project execution
capability. We strengthened our various business partnerships.
We built local presence and customer relations to potential
customers. Not least, we received a purchase order from
Mitsubishi Power for the world’s largest single stack highpressure alkaline electrolyser system. This is an important
milestone that demonstrates our technological leadership.

To put this in perspective: During 2021, our active sales
pipeline grew from 4.9 gigawatts in the first quarter to 12
gigawatts by year end.

I would also like to mention that along with the financial
reporting for 2021, we are also publishing our first
sustainability report, reflecting our firm commitment to the UN’s
Sustainable Development Goals.

This makes me excited when looking ahead, on behalf of
HydrogenPro, and on behalf of the planet.

Sustainability remained at the top of the public agenda during
the past year, and we saw robust public commitments to meet
the 2030 and 2050 CO2 reduction targets.
It also became increasingly clear that hydrogen will be
an essential element in this green transition. Technology
has matured to the point where hydrogen produced from
renewables has become commercially competitive with fossil
alternatives in several regions across the globe.

I have worked with energy and hydrogen for a long time, and I
have never seen anything like the market opportunities we are
now faced with. Customers from all continents are exploring
our hydrogen technology solutions.

Elling Nygaard
CEO

HydrogenPro is at the forefront of this trend. We reduce capital
expenditure through technology and innovation, with the
design for the world’s largest cell stack.
HydrogenPro AS
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VISION

Become #1
provider of largescale green
hydrogen plants

VALUES

Business model &
value proposition
MISSION

Accelerate global
decarbonization
with world-class
sustainable
green hydrogen
solutions

Courage
Integrity
Collaboration
Innovation
HydrogenPro AS
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HydrogenPro aims to become a world-leading provider
of alkaline high-pressure electrolyser technology
plants and solutions to meet the highest standard for
safety, reliability and long lifetime. We deliver turn-key
plants for large-scale production of green hydrogen.
Modular and compact design, our advanced hydrogen
production plants offer efficient, renewable green
hydrogen in accordance with customer needs.
The company was established in 2013 by individuals
with background from the electrolysis industry, which
was established in Telemark, Norway, by Norsk Hydro
in 1927. Our organisation comprises an experienced
engineering team of leading industry experts, drawing
upon unparalleled experience and expertise within
the hydrogen and renewable sectors. By combining
our in-depth knowledge with innovative design, we
continuously aspire to pioneer game-changing ideas
and solutions to realize and maximize new opportunities
in a more innovative, sustainable, hydrogen-powered
future.

5

INVESTMENT CASE

HydrogenPro to become #1 large-scale provider of green
hydrogen production plants
Technology
Leader

Global
Fabrication

Scalability

• High-pressure alkaline

• 300MW production capacity in

• Standardization offers efficiency

• Next-generation electrode

• Additional production hubs in

• Easily scalable to meet any

electrolysers

Asia by 2Q 2022

technology, enabling significant
lower green hydrogen production
cost

HydrogenPro AS
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Asia, America and Europe in
planning

in production and design
project size

Life Cycle
Partner

• Full-fledged life cycle partner
• Targeting recurring revenues

from aftersales on installed base
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HYDROGEN OUTLOOK AND MAIN END-USER SEGMENTS

Hydrogen outlook and main end-user segments
Global trends and outlook for green hydrogen

To reach net-zero emissions by 2050, annual clean energy investment worldwide will need to
more than triple vs. the current level by 2030 to around $4 trillion.
In its recent assessment of the global hydrogen markets, the International Energy Agency
(“IEA”) asserted that due to limited global production of low carbon hydrogen, lack of cost
competitiveness and limited use in sectors with potential, such as long-distance transport, the
adoption of hydrogen falls short of what is required for achieving global net-zero by 2050. IEA’s
net-zero by 2050 scenario is contingent upon a significant step-change in global hydrogen
production (i.e. 212 million tonnes and 530 million tonnes by 2030 and 2050 respectively,
compared to 87 million tonnes in 2020), which requires a substantial increase in installed
electrolysis capacity of up to 850 GW by 2030 and almost 3,600 GW by 2050 (compared to
current 0.3 GW).

Hydrogen is needed to develop renewables, and the drop in renewable power prices makes
green hydrogen competitive with fossil alternatives.
Refining and industrial applications constitute more or less all current hydrogen demand and is
produced almost exclusively from fossil fuels, resulting in close to 900 Mt of CO2 emissions. But
there are encouraging signs of progress. The global capacity of electrolysers, which are needed
to produce hydrogen from electricity, doubled over the last five years to reach just over 300 MW
by mid-2021. Around 350 projects currently under development could bring global capacity up
to 54 GW by 2030. Another 40 projects accounting for more than 35 GW of capacity are in the
early stages of development. If all those projects are realised, global supply of hydrogen from
electrolysers could reach more than 8 Mt by 2030. While significant, this is still well below the
80 Mt required by that year in the pathway to net-zero CO2 emissions by 2050 set out in the IEA
Roadmap for the Global Energy Sector.

Green hydrogen is key to a climate-friendly future. Power-to-gas, balancing of the grid, Clean
Fuels and Industrial Hydrogen has seen significant demand growth for these applications in the
marketplace. We continue to believe that all these markets will grow further over the coming
years based on the commitment by governments worldwide to mitigate climate change, the
growth of renewables in the energy mix and the need to decarbonise industrial processes.
Green hydrogen can be a real opportunity for the industry to achieve climate neutrality. To make
use of this potential, it is essential to take active steps to develop hydrogen technology and
commercially develop sustainable business models across the entire value chain for hydrogen
gas and gas-to-liquid.

Increased use of renewable energy, combined with intensified electrification, could prove
decisive for the world to meet key climate goals by 2050. This study from the International
Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA) highlights immediately deployable, cost-effective options for
countries to fulfil climate commitments and limit the rise of global temperatures. The envisaged
energy transformation would also reduce net costs and bring significant socio-economic
benefits, such as increased economic growth, job creation and overall welfare gains.

The majority of costs stem from the cost of renewable power. We have seen rapid growth
in renewable capacity in the last few years, and this strong trend is forecasted to continue.

Awards by the several public financing programs, incl. IPCEI and EU Green Deal are likely
catalysts to realise industrial-scale projects going forward.

HydrogenPro AS
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IRENA finds that hydrogen from renewable energy could play a central role in the global energy
transformation.
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”Green”
hydrogen

The colors of hydrogen

Hydrogen (H2) is a colourless gas, but the market
typically distinguishes between the source of the H2,
mainly to distinguish non-renewable fossil-based H2
from renewably-sourced H2.

”Brown”
hydrogen
Brown hydrogen is derived
when CO2-polluting fossil fuels
react with steam during a more
straightforward and cheaper
extraction process called steam
methane reformation. It’s called
‘grey’ hydrogen when natural
gas, usual methane, is
used.

”Turquoise”
hydrogen

Green hydrogen is certainly central
in the drive to net-zero emissions because
electrolysers that split water into its two elements
of hydrogen and oxygen produce emission-free
energy; the only by-product is water vapour when used
as a fuel. As well as being a clean fuel that burns to
high temperatures, green hydrogen is an energy carrier
and an input (‘feedstock’) for synthetic fuels. By contrast,
green H2 is produced by a fossil-free water electrolysis
process (2H2O –> 2H2 + O2), where the electricity comes
from renewable sources, such as solar and wind. The
combustible element is light and energy-dense by
weight (2.6 times more energy than natural gas per
kilo). Currently, the main uses for H2 around the
world are ammonia synthesis (55%), chemical
and petrochemical refineries (25%), and
methanol production (10%).

”Grey”
hydrogen
Grey hydrogen is produced by
methane steam reforming (CH4 + 2H2O
–> 4H2 + CO2) in a high temperature and
pressure nickel heterogeneously catalysed
process without collecting the associated
carbon dioxide. Almost all hydrogen
produced today is dirty hydrogen,
which has found niche use for
decades in oil refining and
ammonia for explosives
and fertiliser.

Turquoise hydrogen is a by-product
of methane pyrolysis, which splits
methane into hydrogen gas and solid
carbon. Some consider that this makes
turquoise hydrogen a low-emission
hydrogen choice — but this depends on
the energy-hungry thermal process
powered by renewable energy and
the carbon being permanently
stored.

”Blue”
hydrogen
Blue hydrogen is hydrogen
obtained using fossil fuels,
typically natural gas. The carbon
produced is separated from the H2
stream and stored, for example,
geologically in depleted gas
fields or buried under the
sea.

Other colours of hydrogen
“Pink hydrogen” is hydrogen generated through electrolysis powered by nuclear energy.
Some use ”yellow hydrogen” to refer to hydrogen made through electrolysis with solar power,
alternatively referred to as electrolysed hydrogen made using the power of mixed origin — i.e.
the mix of renewable and fossil power flowing through the grid.
“White hydrogen” is naturally occurring geological hydrogen found in underground deposits and
created through fracking.

HydrogenPro AS
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Selected industrial end-users

Refineries

Ammonia for fertiliser production

Steel production

Refineries use large amounts of hydrogen in the refinery
operations, typically generated from fossil sources (natural
gas).

Ammonia—one nitrogen atom bonded to three hydrogen
atoms—may not seem like an ideal fuel. Its energy density by
volume is nearly double that of liquid hydrogen—its primary
competitor as a green alternative fuel—and it is easier to ship
and distribute. You can store it, ship it, burn it, and convert
it back into hydrogen and nitrogen. Around 40% of Europe’s
hydrogen production is consumed for ammonia production.
Companies worldwide produce $60 billion worth of ammonia
from natural gas every year, primarily as fertilizer. Hydrogen
from electrolysis could take large parts of this market in the
long term, which today is covered by hydrogen from natural
gas.

According to the World Steel Association, steel is one of
the largest industrial sources of greenhouse gases. It is
responsible for roughly 7 to 9 per cent of all direct emissions
from fossil fuels.

Europe’s hydrogen production is currently around 9 million
tonnes per year (Mt/y); according to the International Energy
Agency (IEA), about half of this hydrogen is consumed by
refineries.
The refinery companies are increasing their focus on green
hydrogen projects, helping to reduce their carbon footprint.
The introduction of hydrogen removes sulphur from raw
materials for gasoline production, diesel oil and gasoline. Raw
oil contains several natural sulphur compounds. Hydrogen is
used for this, and the process produces hydrogen sulphide
(H2S), which ends up in the refinery’s fuel gas. Direct
combustion of fuel gas that contains H2S, also known as “sour
gas”, results in major emissions of SO2 (Sulphur dioxide) from
refineries. Therefore, the fuel gas is purified before combusted
in the refinery’s combustion plant. The carbon emissions come
later when engines are used.

HydrogenPro AS
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More green steel production is expected in the future due to,
among other things, help from hydrogen from electrolysis. The
potential use of hydrogen as a reducing agent is many times
larger than the amount of H2 used in the ammonia industry.
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Power to gas

Synthetic (hydrogen-based) jet fuel (PtX)

A gas grid is more cost-effective than an electricity grid; a gas
pipe can transport 10-20 times more energy than an electrical
cable for the same investment. Europe has a well-developed
gas grid that can be converted to accommodate hydrogen at a
minimal cost.

Electro fuels (drop-in fuels) could supply a large amount of
aviation’s growing energy needs. To meet half of Europe’s
2050 aviation energy needs would require 24% of the current
European electricity generation. Combining CO₂ and H₂ then
results in synthetic fuel, such as gasoline, diesel, gas, or
even jet kerosene. Drop-in jet fuels have aggregate properties
equivalent to conventional (petroleum-based) jet fuels. As
such, drop-in fuels are fully miscible with traditional jet fuels,
and they are fully compatible with existing aircraft engines and
the existing fuel infrastructure (tanks, pipelines, equipment,
etc.). Present studies suggest that the fuel itself (excluding any
excise duties) could cost between 1.00 and 1.40 euros a litre
in the long run.

Several European studies have concluded that up to 10
per cent hydrogen by volume can be mixed into natural
gas, but that concentrations above 2% by volume will/may
(recommendations differ) entail further necessary changes to
components in the natural gas network (subsurface storage,
analysis equipment) and equipment that utilises natural gas
and gas turbines. The capacity for mixing hydrogen in gas
pipelines to export natural gas to Europe may also be an
option from Norway and North Africa. The hydrogen/natural
gas mix may be used directly like conventional natural gas,
or the hydrogen may be separated from the natural gas and
used as hydrogen. The challenges will be more pronounced
to combust these mixes as the higher percentage of hydrogen
by volume is fed into the network regionally and between
countries.

HydrogenPro AS
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Energy outlook
Global hydrogen projects and investment across the value chain4

Snapshot of roadmaps globally
1. The US has launched a
‘hydrogen shot’ known as
‘111’ for one dollar for one
kg in one decade1
2. The UK intends to be the
“Qatar of hydrogen”2
3. Japan wants to be a
“hydrogen society”3

Sources:
1.
US Department of Energy. Hydrogen.energy.gov/eere/fuelcells/hydrogen-shot
2.
Source: UK government. ‘PM speech at the Global Investment Summit: 19 October 2021.’ gov.uk/government/speeches/pm-speech-atthe-global-investment-summit-19-October-2021
3.
Source: The Japanese government. ‘Creating a hydrogen society to protect the global environment.’ 2017. japan.go.jp/tomodachi/2017/
spring-summer2017/creating_a_hydrogen_society.html
4.
Source: Hydrogen Council and McKinsey & Company. ‘Hydrogen insights. An updated perspective on hydrogen investment, market
development and momentum in China.’ July 2021. Page 3. hydrogencouncil.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Hydrogen-Insights-July2021-Executive-summary.pdf
5.
Source: Australian government. ‘Growing Australia’s hydrogen industry.’ Undated. industry.gov.au/policies-and-initiatives/growingaustralias-hydrogen-industry. Source: Speech by Angus Taylor, minister for industry, energy and emissions reduction. ‘Keynote address
at the 2021 Australian hydrogen conference.’ 26 May 2021. minister.industry.gov.au/ministers/taylor/speeches/keynote-address-2021australian-hydrogen-conference.
6.
NSW government. ‘NSW hydrogen strategy to drive investment, create jobs and power prosperity.’ 13 October 2021. nsw.gov.au/mediareleases/nsw-hydrogen-strategy-to-drive-investment-create-jobs-and-power-prosperity
7.
Source: International Energy Agency. ‘The future of hydrogen.’ June 2019. (Source: ‘Regional workers the winners as Fortescue Future
Industries announced Global Green Energy Manufacturing Centre for Queensland.’ 10 October 2021. com.au/news/regional-workers-thewinners-as-fortescue-future-industries-announces-global-green-energy-manufacturing-centre-in-queensland/. Source: ffi.com.au/. As of
28 October 2021
8.
Significant growth required to meet green H2 demand in IEA 2050 Net Zero Emission Scenario: Executive summary – Global Hydrogen
Review 2021 – Analysis - IEA
9.
European Clean Hydrogen Alliance https://ec.europa.eu/growth/industry/strategy/industrial-alliances/european-clean-hydrogen-alliance/
project-pipeline_en)
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4. China, with 53 projects
underway, is a “potential
hydrogen giant” in a world
where more than 350
hydrogen projects are
proceeding as US$ 500
billion is invested by 20304
5. Australia’s government is
investing A$1.2 billion to
fulfil a national hydrogen
strategy5 announcing A$275
million in its latest budget

to create four ‘hydrogen
hubs’ to generate producer
economies of scale6. New
South Wales is dangling
A$3 billion in incentives
to encourage A$ 80 billion
investments to make the
state an “energy and
economic superpower”7
6. Similar promises from
Canada, the EU, France,
Germany, the Netherlands
and Sourth Korea to total at
least 50 worldwide8
7. Spain and Portugal are
positioning themselves
as lead producers and
exporters of green H2 in
Europe, with a pipeline of
151 large-scale projects
(>100 MW) totaling roughly
4 GW9
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Board of Directors Report
2021 highlights

Other notable events during the year include:

2021 was a transformative year for HydrogenPro. The
Company executed two major milestones to become an
original equipment manufacturer with a scalable business
model:
•

•

The acquisition of 100% of the shares in Advanced
Surface Plating (“ASP”) was completed on 8th of January
2021 and the full-scale fabrication facility in Denmark was
completed by year end 2021. Through this acquisition,
HydrogenPro is the owner of a proprietary next generation
advanced electrode technology which has the potential
to improve the operating efficiency of our high-pressure
alkaline electrolysers with up to 14%, translating into
a projected levelized cost of hydrogen of USD 1.2/kg
(assuming electricity price of USD20/MWh).
In November 2021 HydrogenPro signed an agreement
with Tianjin HQY Hydrogen Machinery Co., Ltd. (“THM”)
to take control of 75 percent of THM, where HydrogenPro
takes ownership of core technology and intellectual
property rights. The initial annual electrolyser production
capacity will be 300MW to be set up in Tianjin, China,
thereby completing the first major step in HydrogenPro’s
global technology and fabrication plan. HydrogenPro will
become owner of the core technology and intellectual
property rights. The fabrication company will be 25
percent owned by the existing owners of THM.

•

•

•

On 24th of August 2021 HydrogenPro received a purchase
order from Mitsubishi Power for the world’s largest single
stack high-pressure alkaline electrolyser system to produce
hydrogen.
The large single stack first-of-its-kind electrolyser system
will have a capacity of 1100 normal cubic metres per hour
(Nm3/h). It will be installed at Herøya Industrial Park in Norway
with HydrogenPro operating the facility.

HydrogenPro AS
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•

On 28th of April 2021. HydrogenPro entered into a cooperation agreement on the development of a significant
hydrogen hub in the Kvinesdal municipality in Norway with
plans for large scale hydrogen production in Kvinesdal at
an area close to the Feda fjord. With its’ location adjacent
to the main electricity grid in Norway it is expected a
yearly allocation of 500-800MW electricity which will
provide the basis for annual production of around 100
000 tons of hydrogen gas.
On 29th of May 2021 it was announced that HydrogenPro
(OSE: HYPRO), H2V Industry and Mitsubishi Power
Europe entered into an MoU forming a consortium that will
develop and deliver green industrial hydrogen projects.
The MoU will form a long-term partnership, combining
the value proposition and expertise of H2V Industry,
HydrogenPro and Mitsubishi Power Europe supporting
the European and French initiatives to reach the
decarbonisation goals. Through this MoU the consortium
partners will develop and deliver large scale hydrogen
projects, including currently on-going projects.
On 22nd of October 2021, HydrogenPro announced that
H2V sold the remaining ownership of the Normandy
hydrogen project, initially planned for 100MW, to Air
Liquide. The transaction was announced by Air Liquide
in a news release issued Wednesday evening on 20
October 2021. Consequently, H2V has formally notified
HydrogenPro that the ongoing co-operation on the
Normandy project will cease. The announced transaction
has no impact on HydrogenPro’s work with H2V to mature
the Dunkirk green hydrogen project, also initially for
100MW. The companies continue to mature the project.
On 29th of October 2021 HydrogenPro announced that the
Company joins key suppliers and investors in providing
a convertible loan to DG Fuels’ Sustainable Aviation
Fuel Facility in Louisiana, US. HydrogenPro injects a

convertible loan of USD 3 million in DG Fuels’ capital
raise. DG Fuels is expected to raise additional equity and
debt to fund the construction of its production facility
currently designed with a production capacity of 10,355
barrels per day which will require a water electrolyzer
capacity of up to 839 megawatts (MW), with HydrogenPro
being the exclusive provider, which is a significant
increase compared to the 120 MW previously announced.
In December 2021, the Company received ISO 9001:2015
(QMS), 14001:205 (EMS) and 45001:2018 (HS) certifications.
The ISO certificates are internationally recognized standards
that ensures that products and services meet the needs of
customers through an effective management system. The
Company will continue to develop and improve its systems
further with focus on quality, environment and health and
safety.
In line with the growing market HydrogenPro continues to
scale up the organization through hiring new management
resources and personnel with extensive electrolyser and
project experience. Elling Nygaard was appointed new CEO
effective 1 November 2021.
The Company’s active sales pipeline increased significantly
during the year. At closing of 2021 the active sales pipeline
consisted of 84 projects totaling 12.0 GW of electrolyser
capacity. The size of projects continues to increase with an
average plant size of 143 MW, the increase in project size is
illustrated by an average size of new projects in the pipeline
during fourth quarter of 211 MW per project.
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Financials
Income statement
HydrogenPro generated revenues of NOK 20.0 million in 2021
which was mainly related to the purchase order from Mitsubishi
Power for the world’s largest single stack high-pressure
alkaline electrolyser system.
Operating expenses amounted to NOK 80.5 million, whereof
NOK 11.6 million in raw materials and consumables, NOK
32.9 million in payroll expenses, NOK 30.8 million in other
operating expenses and depreciation & amortization expenses
of NOK 5.2 million. The increase in operating costs reflects a
continued build-up of the organization and systems needed to
execute and deliver high quality to our customers.

Total equity amounted to NOK 511.3 million and total liabilities
of NOK 16.8 million, whereof NOK 15.5 million in short-term
liabilities and NOK 1.4 million in long-term liabilities/provisions.

Shares and dividend

The equity ratio as of 31st of December 2021 was 97%.

As of 31st of December 2021 the number of shares outstanding
was 58,028,171 with a par value of NOK 0,001/share. The
number of shareholders was 2682, compared to 1993 as of
31st of December 2020. All shares are of the same class and
with equal voting and dividend rights.

Balance sheet
Total assets as of 31st of December 2021 were NOK 533.1
million, whereof NOK 403.2 million in current assets (NOK
382.3 million in cash and deposits, NOK 20.6 million in total
debtors and 0.3 million in inventories) and NOK 129.9 million
in non-current assets, whereof NOK 56.3 million in intangible
assets, NOK 25.6 million in tangible fixed assets and NOK 48.0
million in financial fixed assets.

Operating profit was NOK – 60.5 million.

Total equity amounted to NOK 518.0 million and total liabilities
of NOK 15.0 million, whereof NOK 13.7 million in short-term
liabilities and NOK 1.4 million in long-term liabilities/provisions.

Net financial income and expenses amounted to NOK 3.1
million, which consisted of NOK 4.4 million as financial income
and NOK 1.3 million as financial cost.

The equity ratio as of 31st of December 2021 was 97%.

Tax on ordinary result was NOK -1.0 million, mainly related to
deferred tax assets on depreciation of technology.

Cash flow statement
Net increase in cash during the financial year was NOK -123.9
million. Net cash flow from operating activities was NOK -47.6
million.

Annual net profit for the year ended at NOK – 56.4 million.
Balance sheet Total assets as of 31st of December 2021
were NOK 528.1 million, whereof NOK 403.2 million in current
assets (NOK 382.3 million in cash and deposits, NOK 20.6
million in total debtors and 0.3 million in inventories) and NOK
124.9 million in non-current assets, whereof NOK 49.0 million
in intangible assets, NOK 3.0 in right of use assets, NOK
22.6 million in tangible fixed assets and NOK 50.3 million in
financial fixed assets.
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Net cash flow from investing activities of NOK -78.0 million This
includes R&D spending of NOK 47.8 million which relates to
the acquisition of Advanced Surface Plating ApS (“ASP), and
NOK 16.6 million related to the completion of the full-scale
electrode fabrication facility in Denmark.
Net cash flows from financing activities were NOK 1.8 million.

HydrogenPro is listed on Euronext Growth at Oslo Stock
Exchange under the ticker “HYPRO“.

The market capitalization as of year-end 2021 was NOK 868.1
million
Given the Company’s early stage of development and strategic
ambitions, the Board of Directors does not recommend a
dividend for the year 2021.

Risks

Through its ordinary operating activities, the Company is
exposed to various types of risk and this exposure to risk is
expected to increase as the Company gradually becomes
more involved in the actual delivery and system integration of
large-scale electrolyser plants. The Company is proactively
working to identify risks and taking risk mitigating initiatives to
the extent this is practicable and appropriate.
Below follows a description of the Company’s main risks and
uncertainties. Additional risks and uncertainties that the
Company currently believes are of less importance or that are
currently not known to the Company, may also have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flow.
Demand for hydrogen and thus the interest in acquiring the
Company’s services, may be volatile and are affected by
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numerous factors beyond the Company’s control. Some of
these relate to the cost of producing and delivering hydrogen,
expectations regarding future energy prices, governmental
laws, regulations and permissions, local and international
energy and climate policies and economic conditions,
technological changes, delivery and schedule risks, transport
risks, Covid 19 lockdown etc.
Furthermore, the Company depends on its’ ability to ensure
sufficient product quality and performance of the electrolyser
systems to meet the customer’s expectations and to remain
competitive.
Violations of and/or changes in laws and regulations, including
environmental laws could increase costs or change the way
the Company does business. Similarly, changes in laws could
make operating the Company’s business more expensive or
require the Company to change the way in which it conducts
its business. The hydrogen industry is in its development
phase and is not currently subject to industry specific
government regulations in all regions.
Disruptions of deliveries by the Company’s suppliers could
increase operating costs, decrease revenues and adversely
impact the Company’s operations. Commodity price risk,
especially steel and nickel prices, may affect production costs,
product pricing, earnings, and credit availability. The Company
seeks to include price clauses to reduce the Company’s
exposure to currency rate and commodity price risk, or
alternatively through financial instruments.
The Company may be subject to litigation that could have
an adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of
operations, cash flows, financial condition and/or prospects.
There are inherent risks related to the Company’s business
which may expose the Company to litigation, including
personal injury litigation, environmental litigation, contractual
litigation with clients or other contract counterparties,
HydrogenPro AS
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intellectual property litigation and tax or securities litigation.
The Company is not involved in any litigation.
A further spread of the corona virus (COVID-19) or a similar
pandemic could potentially have a material adverse effect on
the Company.
The Company uses information technology systems to conduct
its business, and disruption, failure or security breaches
of these systems could materially and adversely affect its
business and results of operations.
The Company’s functional currency is NOK. The Company
operates globally and is therefore exposed to currency
fluctuations, mainly related to USD, EUR and CNY. The
Company’s exposure to interest rates was mainly related to
interest earned on the Company’s cash position with banks.
The Company’s exposure to currencies and interest rates is
managed on a continuous basis.
The Company is exposed to credit risk. Any failure in the
ability or willingness of a counterparty to fulfil its contractual
obligations may have a significant adverse effect on the
Company’s business, prospects, financial results and/or
results of operations.
The Company may require additional capital in the future to
execute its strategy or for other purposes, which may not be
available on favorable terms, or at all.

Corporate governance report

With our ambition to become a leading supplier of water
electrolyser systems for industrial applications, the Company
has a responsibility to commit to high standards relating to
working environment and personnel welfare, environmental
impact and business practices.

Following the IPO in October 2021, the Company has
implemented guidelines, policies and procedures relating to
human rights, employee rights and social matters including
prevention of corruption, harassment and discrimination.
Please see Corporate Governance Report in the next main
section.

Environment

The core of Hydrogen Pro’s business model is to provide
large-scale green hydrogen solutions, hence. sustainability is
at the core of our offering through combating climate change.
The Company’s hydrogen solutions have zero emissions when
connected to renewable power sources as solar, wind or hydro
power.

Key events after the balance sheet date
Received purchase order for an initial delivery
of 40 electrolysers to Mitsubishi Power
Americas, Inc.
On 3rd of February 2022 HydrogenPro announced that the
Company has signed a contract for an initial delivery of 40
electrolysers to Mitsubishi Power Americas, Inc. making it one
of the largest electrolyser system contracts ever placed. On
4th of April 2022, it was announced that Mitsubishi confirmed
a firm Purchase Order. The initial value of the contract exceeds
USD 50 million for HydrogenPro’s scope of delivery. The
EPC and other system deliverables for a turn-key electrolyser
green hydrogen production plant will be supplied by other
companies. The green hydrogen will be consumed for power
generation in the U.S.
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MoU with L&T for delivery of Hydrogen
Electrolysers in India
On 27th of January 2022 HydrogenPro announced a
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with Larsen & Toubro
(L&T), an Indian multinational engaged in EPC Projects, HiTech Manufacturing and Services, for a partnership for delivery
of hydrogen electrolysers in India. Under this agreement,
HydrogenPro and L&T will jointly work towards setting up
of a joint venture in India for Gigawatt-scale manufacturing
of Alkaline Water Electrolysers based on HydrogenPro
technology for Indian market and other select geographies.
The proposed joint venture in India is in line with L&T’s
strategic vision to be present across the green energy value
chain and HydrogenPro’s strategy of establishing a global
manufacturing footprint to maintain cost leadership and ensure
local presence.

Status of purchase order with Mitsubishi
announced 24th of August 2021
The world’s largest single stack high-pressure alkaline
electrolyser system is currently being fabricated in China.
Covid-19 infection control measures in China in 2022 has led
to a lock down which has caused a delay in the delivery. The
main part of the gas separator skid has been completed and
the assembly of the electrolyser is on-going where progress is
pending a Covid-19 lockdown at a sub-supplier.

The production of the system will be finalized within four weeks
after the sub-supplier re-opens its facilities. The current delay
has no negative contractual implications for HydrogenPro.
After the system is completed, it will be transported to Norway
for installation and commissioning.

A continuous focus on technology and innovation, to fortify
the Company’s position as a technology frontrunner is a
key strategic priority. The advanced electrode technology
will undergo full-scale validation during 2022 and several
other innovative efforts will be carried out to maintain cost
leadership.

Outlook

HydrogenPro is attractively positioned in this developing
market due to its mature and well proven high pressure
alkaline technology in combination with energy efficient
electrode technology. The electrode technology will now be
verified on a full-scale basis. With the new technology the
Company will be able to deliver a Levelized Cost of Hydrogen
(“LCOH”) of USD 1.20 per kg (assumed electricity price of
USD20/MWh)

With the significant increase in the active sales pipeline and
recent contract awards the outlook for the Company’s services
continue to strengthen backed by an ever-increasing focus
on the need for an energy transition away from fossil energy
sources. The purchase order with Mitsubishi Power Americas,
Inc. announced on 4th of April 2022, is one of the world’s
largest electrolyser systems contracts every placed. This
was an important milestone, and the Company sees a strong
demand for its early phase and front-end engineering studies.
Clients continue to mature projects and financing and move
towards final investment decision and thus contract awards.
The main objective with the Company’s global fabrication
plan, in cooperation with large industrial partners, is to scaleup globally where each party can contribute with its key
competencies. The MoU signed with Larsen & Toubro in India,
is a proof that HydrogenPro’s offering is attractive for large
industrial players, and the Company will continue to roll out
a global fabrication footprintin North America and Europe, in
addition to India and China.

Going concern and statement from the
Board of Directors
In accordance with section 3(3a) of the Norwegian Accounting
Act, the Board of Directors, confirms that the going-concern
assumption is met and that the annual accounts for the
Company for 2021, to the best of our knowledge, have been
prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards,
and that the information provided in the financial statements
gives a true and fair view of the Company’s assets and
liabilities.

Porsgrunn/Oslo, 7 April 2022
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Corporate governance report
1. Implementation and reporting on
corporate governance
With our ambition to become a leading supplier of alkaline
high-pressure electrolyser systems for industrial applications,
the Company will commit to high standards relating to working
environment and personnel welfare, environmental impact and
business practices.
We are maintaining a high ethical standard as an honest and
reliable corporation. We continue to build our reputation as a
trusted supplier and partner. We are adopting and complying
with principles of corporate responsibility and in our daily
operations, that demonstrate integrity and transparency.
HydrogenPro reports and have policy commitments for
a responsible business conduct in accordance with the
Norwegian Accounting Act § 3-3b, c, OECD guidelines
for Multinational Enterprises, sustainability, human rights,
employee rights and social matters including prevention of
corruption, labour violations, harassment, and discrimination.
HydrogenPro was listed on Euronext Growth on the Oslo Stock
Exchange on 14th of October 2020, under the ticker “HYPRO”.
As a listed Company, HydrogenPro will comply with applicable
provisions of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, the Market
Abuse Regulation (MAR), the Continuing obligations for
companies listed on Euronext Growth, the Norwegian Private
Limited Liability Companies Act and all other applicable laws
and regulations.

Corporate Governance and will provide explanations of any
non-compliance with the Code. The corporate governance
document for HydrogenPro covers all sections of The
Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance and is
available in the Annual report and on the website hydrogenpro.com. For the reporting period of 2021 HydrogenPro
provides an integrated financial and sustainability report
addressing sustainability topics according to the Global
Reporting Initiative (”GRI”) core standard.

2. The business

HydrogenPro was founded in 2013 by individuals with
background from the electrolysis industry which was
established in Telemark, Norway by Norsk Hydro in 1927.
We are an experienced engineering team of leading industry
experts, drawing upon unparalleled experience and expertise
in the hydrogen and renewable energy industry. HydrogenPro
designs and supplies hydrogen plants in cooperation with
global partners and suppliers, all ISO 9001, ISO 45001 and
ISO 14001 certified.

The corporate governance is valid for all HydrogenPro
operations, locations and employees employed directly or
in-directly. The Company will work closely with suppliers to
ensure the same integrity, transparency and compliance as
expected of HydrogenPro.

Our core product is the alkaline high-pressure electrolyser.
In January 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of
Advanced Surface Plating ApS in Denmark, a company that
has developed an advanced electrode technology. With this
technology we are able to increase the efficiency of each
unit by 14% to reach 93% of the theoretical maximum. This
is a significant step forward as the cost of electric power,
depending on market prices, amounts to 70-90% of the cost
of producing hydrogen, the value of such increased efficiency
equals approximately the investment cost for the entire plant
in a Total Cost of Operation perspective.” The Company’s
headquarter is located in Porsgrunn, Norway. As of 31st of
December 2021 HydrogenPro AS has operations in Norway,
Denmark and China.

HydrogenPro’s Board of Directors and executive management
is committed to following The Norwegian Code of Practice for

The Board of Directors has the responsibility to define
objectives, strategies and define the Company’s risk profile
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based on a holistic risk assessment to ensure value creation
for its shareholders and stakeholders in a sustainable manner.
As input factors into this process, the Board of Directors will
take the risk assessment, stakeholder and materiality- and
engagement assessment, financial, social and environmental
matters into considerations. All material topics including
positive and negative impacts will be considered at the highest
governance body at HydrogenPro.
As the highest governance body, the Board of Directors has
made the following sustainability statement for HydrogenPro:
Our ambition is to accelerate global decarbonization with
world-class technology- and cost-efficient sustainable green
hydrogen solutions.

3. Equity and dividends

The number of shares outstanding as of 31st of December
2021 was 58,028,171 with a par value of NOK 0,001/share.
The Company has no explicit dividend policy at this point in
time as HydrogenPro’s operations are not currently generating
positive cash flow. The Company does consequently not
expect to pay dividends in the near future. There can be no
assurance that in any given year a dividend will be proposed
or declared. In deciding whether to propose a dividend and
in determining the dividend amount, the Board of Directors
will take into account capital expenditure plans, financing
requirements, legal restrictions as well as the need to maintain
appropriate financial and strategic flexibility.

4. Equal treatment of shareholders

HydrogenPro upholds equal treatment of shareholders and
potential investors. HydrogenPro has implemented a process
for handling sensitive information to ensure that the Company,
its employees and representatives fulfil their obligations
regarding the handling and publication of sensitive information.
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The Company has only one share class, and all shareholders
have equal rights. Existing shareholders are given priority
in the event of share capital increases unless special
circumstances warrant deviation from this principle.
Transactions between the Company and related parties,
including members of the board or persons employed by the
Company either personally or through companies belonging to
related parties, must be based on terms
achievable in an open, free and independent market, or on the
basis of a third-party valuation.

5. Shares and negotiability

All shares in HydrogenPro carry one vote and are freely
transferable. The Company’s shares are listed on Euronext
Growth Oslo, under the ticker ´HYPRO´. The articles of
association contain no restrictions on transferability.

6. General Meetings

The General Meeting is the highest decision-making authority
of the Company. All shareholders of the Company are entitled
to attend and vote at General Meetings and to table draft
resolutions for items to be included on the agenda for a
General Meeting. Shareholders who cannot attend the meeting
in person will be given the opportunity to vote. The General
Meeting will normally be held each year by the end of June,
with notice of the event and documents available on the
Company website no later than seven days before the annual
General Meeting. Shareholders may participate and vote, in
person or by proxy, as long as they are registered with the
Norwegian Registry of Securities (VPS).
The Public Companies Act stipulates that at least 21 days’
notice must be given to call a general meeting of a listed
company. The Company is currently a limited liability company
HydrogenPro AS
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and follows the Limited Liability Companies Act where the
notice period prior to a general meeting is set to at least one
week.
The Company endeavours to ensure that meeting documents
are sufficiently detailed to enable shareholders to take a view
on all matters to be considered. The deadline for notifying
attendance at a General Meeting is set as close to the meeting
as possible.
General Meetings are chaired by the board chair if no-one
else is elected to do so. Minutes of General Meetings are
published in the form of stock exchange notifications and on
the Company’s web site.

7. Nomination committee

HydrogenPro does not currently have a nomination committee
due to the current development of the Company and the limited
size and complexity of the current Board of Directors. To
remedy this non-compliance with the Code the Company will
seek to elect and implement a nomination committee over the
next 12 months.

and may be re-elected. Board members are encouraged
to own shares in HydrogenPro, please see an overview of
shareholdings by each board member included in the notes in
the Annual Report.
The board includes executive personnel due to the nature of
the Company and its strategic development. According to the
development and evolving nature of the Company, the Board
of Directors intends to be an independent function of the
Company. It is of outmost importance to the Board of Directors
to be compliant with prevailing laws, regulatory framework and
legislations regarding transactions, impartiality, instructionsand the work of the Board of Directors
The Board functions as an effective collegiate body through
frequent board meetings and handling of relevant and
strategically relevant needs, as well as operating independently
of any special interests. An overview of the Board of Directors
can be found in the annual report and on the Company’s web
site.

9. The work of the Board of Directors

8. Board of Directors: composition and
independence

The Board of Directors ensures that the Company’s business
is properly organised with its purpose, values, objectives,
strategies and policies developed and managed, and that plans
and budgets are prepared.

The board members including the chair of the Board are
elected by the General Meeting. The composition of the
Board of Directors is structured to represent the interests
of all shareholders, meet the Company’s need for expertise,
capacity, balanced decision- making, diversity and to navigate
the Company in a sustainable manner. Pursuant to Article 5 of
the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors shall consist
of 2-6 members elected by the General Meeting. The current
Board of Directors consists of five members, one woman and
four men. All members are elected for a term of two years

The Board of Directors’ rules of procedure and board
meeting agenda addresses any material interests pertaining
to e.g. the Company’s financial position, business- and asset
management, accounts subject to controls, tax governance
and sustainability topics including health and safety, quality,
human rights and environmental topics. This work includes
management of material environmental topics, potential risks
and opportunities and the Company´s potential impact on
the economy, environment and social dimension. Evaluation
and initiatives required to address the impact of such
17
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material topics are delegated to the executive management
at HydrogenPro, led by the CEO. The CEO, or any person
in which the delegation is given, has the responsibility of
reporting back to the Board of Directors in a timely and
frequent manner, ensuring information, transparency and
management of the topic at the highest governmental level.
The Board of Directors has issued instructions for its own
work and for the executive management with emphasis on
their responsibilities and duties. The instructions state how
the Board of Directors and executive management should
handle agreements with related parties, including whether
an independent valuation must be obtained. In accordance
with Norwegian law, the Board of Directors is responsible
for, among other things, supervising the general and day-today management of the Company’s business. This includes
ensuring proper organization, preparing plans and budgets for
its activities ensuring that the Company’s activities, accounts,
and assets management are subject to adequate controls and
undertaking investigations necessary to perform its duties. The
Board of Directors is responsible for control and approval of
any financial reports.
In case of impartiality matters, especially considering the chair
of the board, such matters are chaired by some other member
of the board.
The board evaluates its composition, collective knowledge and
board work at least once per year. The evaluation may also
cover the way in which the board functions, at both individual
and group level, in relation to the objectives that have been set
for its work, including financial and non-financial matters like
sustainability, diversity, human rights and environmental issues.
Board matters for decision are informed about and handled
in accordance with the Norwegian Private Limited Liability
Companies Act and potential incapacity. When identifying a
potential conflict of interest, the board maps the extent and
potential impact of the conflict of interest, and then implement
HydrogenPro AS
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measures to avoid this. In situations where the conflict of
interest is resolved by a board member not participating in the
consideration and decision that has an impact on his or her
own part or related parties, this board member is excluded.

10. Risk management and internal
control
Risk management and internal controls are important
to HydrogenPro and enable the Company to achieve its
strategic objectives in a sustainable, safe and quality oriented
manner. Risk management is an integral part of the Board’s
and executive management’s decision-making processes,
organisational structure, and internal procedures and systems.
Risk management and internal control requirements are
frequently, and at least annually, evaluated by the Board of
Directors and the executive management, implementing risk
reducing initiatives and establishing appropriate procedures.
The Company has a management system, which includes
routines, descriptions and procedures which all employees
have access to and is trained in. It is of strategic importance
that employees or stakeholders in general, reports any noncompliance, critical concerns or grievances. All concerns
reported are managed according to established routines,
making sure the Board of Directors is involved accordingly.
Health, safety and risk mitigation is a mandatory topic in board,
management and operational meeting with learning processes
to increase knowledge and make revisions of existing
procedures. In the situation of any negative impacts, the Board
of Directors is committed and responsible for cooperation
in the process of remediation of the impact and address the
grievances in an appropriate manner.
HydrogenPro’s regular business activities and operations entail
exposure to various types of risks and actions to remedy the
risks experienced. The Company intends to be compliant with
local laws, regulations and legislations.

The process of identifying, evaluating and implementing of
risk reducing initiatives in relation to financials, tax, financial
implications and other risks and opportunities due to climate
change, health and safety, environmental issues, operations
and suppliers assessed for risks related to corruption,
child- and forced labour, and the freedom of association and
collective bargaining is open, transparent and regulated in the
management system, with the Board of Directors responsible
for monitoring of the process and the management of the risks
assessed. The Company also engages with external expertise
to ensure tax compliance in the countries it operates.

11. Remuneration of the Board of
Directors
The General Meeting proposes and approves remuneration of
the Board of Directors according to votes. The compensation
is competitive in the current market situation and based on
market statistics regarding remuneration of board members.
HydrogenPro does not have a remuneration committee as of
2021 but engages with shareholders at the General Meeting to
suggest appropriate remuneration.
The remuneration of the Board of Directors reflects the board’s
responsibility, expertise, time commitment and the complexity
of the Company’s activities. The remuneration of the Board of
Directors comprises a fixed annual amount.
In a building phase of the Company, share options have been
granted to board members. Additionally, members of the
Board of Directors have taken on selected assignments for the
Company in addition to their appointment as a member of the
Board to support the Company in the current growth phase.
The Company is currently recruiting new resources to fulfil the
objective of no additional assignments to be carried out by the
Board of Directors after 2022.
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The award of share options and board remuneration are
outlined in the notes of the financial statement.

14. Take-overs

Management remuneration policy is under development and
will be published as part of the 2022 integrated report, latest.
For decision on remuneration and employment of executiveand senior personnel the CEO holds the signatory rights.

In the event of a takeover situation, the Company’s Board and
management will endeavour to ensure equal treatment of all
shareholders. The Board will ensure that shareholders are
given relevant information and sufficient time to evaluate any
bona fide bid, and endeavour to provide a recommendation to
shareholders as to whether or not a bona fide bid should be
accepted. The Board and management will help ensure that
there are no unnecessary disruptions to the business in the
event of a takeover. Moreover, such a situation will be governed
by the provisions applicable to listed companies.

13. Information and communications

15. Auditor

12. Salary and other remuneration for
executive personnel

HydrogenPro complies with all applicable disclosure laws
and practices, seeks transparency and is committed to
provide its shareholders with precise and relevant information
to ensure that the Company’s share price reflects its true
value and prospects. The Board of Directors has established
guidelines for the Company’s reporting of financial, nonfinancial (ESG) and other information based on transparency
and the requirement for equal treatment of all participants in
the securities market. The Investor Relations (”IR”) activities
is conducted by the IR team with delegated responsibility
from the Board of Directors, which includes the CFO, the
CEO, and the Chair of the Board as well as other personnel
appointed by the team. Only members of the IR team can act
as spokesperson on behalf of the Company.
The Company has implemented a process for handling
sensitive information to ensure that the Company, its
employees, and representatives fulfil their obligations
regarding the handling and publication of sensitive information.
HydrogenPro’s financial calendar, press releases and stock
exchange notices are published on Oslo Børs’ platform
Newsweb and is made available on the Company’s web site.

HydrogenPro’s auditor is BDO AS. The partners of BDO AS
are members of The Norwegian Institute of Public Accountants
(Nw.: “Den Norske Revisorforeningen”). The auditor provides
a statement each year confirming its independence (see
“Independent Auditor’s Report”). The fee payable to the
auditor is specified in the notes to the financial statement. The
sustainability report is not subject to assurance/audit for the
reporting period of 2021.
The auditor attends the Board meeting at which the annual
financial statements are approved. The auditor presents an
annual audit plan to the Board of Directors. The Board has
adopted guidelines on management’s use of the auditor for
services other than auditing. The Board of Directors reviews
the Company’s internal control procedures with the auditor
at least once a year, including weaknesses identified by the
auditor and proposals for improvement.

The insider lists are maintained by the CFO.
HydrogenPro AS
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Board of Directors
Ellen Merete Hanetho

Jarle Tautra

Chair of the board
Ellen has been on the HydrogenPro’s Board of Directors since
August 2019, has 20 years of experience from investment
banking and private equity as a finance and business
development executive in corporations such as Frigaard Invest,
Credo Partners, Goldman Sachs Investment Banking Division
in London and New York, and the Brussels Stock Exchange
and Citibank in Brussels. She is founder and chairperson
of Cercis, a cleantech investment company established in
2020, along with additional six positions as chairperson for
other Norwegian companies. Ellen holds a BSBA from Boston
University, US and an MBA from Solvay University, Belgium
in addition to executive training from INSEAD, France and
Harvard Business School, US. Ms. Hanetho is a Norwegian
national, non-executive and independent.

Director
Jarle Tautra has been on the HydrogenPro’s Board of Directors
since October 2021, has several years of experience from
multiple management positions in energy-related powerhouses
and has gained valuable and extensive international experience
in project execution. His experience includes significant
commercial, strategic, and capital market expertise, as well as
operational experience. Mr. Tautra’s managing experience has
mainly been achieved through his former managing positions
including chief executive officer of Eureka Pumps, a Norwegian
pump supplier operating in the oil & gas and marine industry.
Furthermore, Mr. Tautra has several years’ experience from
Aker Group, where he held the position as Executive Vice
President for Process and Construction and, later, Energy,
Development and Services in Aker Solutions, as well as
Executive Vice President for Aker Kvaerner E & C Europe. Mr.
Tautra has also served as Executive Vice president for Aker
Oil & Gas in Aker Maritime ASA. Prior to Mr. Tautra’s time in
the Aker Group, he held, among certain other things, several
positions in Norsk Hydro ASA. Mr. Tautra holds a master’s
degree in Chemical Engineering from the Norwegian Institute
of Technology in Trondheim, Norway. Mr. Tautra is a Norwegian
national, non-executive, independent, and holds two positions
as chairperson at other Norwegian companies.

Richard Espeseth
Director
Richard founded HydrogenPro in 2013 and has been on the
Board of Directors ever since. He has 25 years international
industry experience from Norsk Hydro, Statoil, ABB and
RPR. More than 10 years of experience from the hydrogen
electrolyser business. M.Sc. in Mechanical Engineering from
South Dakota School of Mine & Technology. Mr. Espeseth is a
Norwegian national, non-independent and holds an executive
position at the Company.
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Board of Directors

HydrogenPro AS

Kermit J. Nash

Jarle Dragvik

Director
Kermit J. Nash has been on the HydrogenPro’s Board of
Directors since October 2021, is a US-based attorney with
nearly 20 years of experience as practicing counsel and brings
key legal and business competence to the board of directors
of HydrogenPro AS. Mr. Nash is one of the partners in Saul
Ewing Arnstein & Lehr LLP and practices a wide range of
law with main focus on corporate law. He counsels domestic
and international clients on legal issues connected with their
business operations, governance, strategy, and investments,
and has represented both acquirers and investors, including
private equity funds and venture capital firms, hedge funds
and wealth funds. Mr. Nash’s breadth of experience, together
with the hundreds of deals he has led, positions him to
handle complex transactions involving multiple jurisdictions.
He holds a Juris Doctor degree from the Hamline University
School of Law, as well as studies in ethics and comparative
international law at Rothberg International School, Hebrew
University. Furthermore, Mr. Nash holds a B.A., summa cum
laude, from Northwestern College. Mr. Nash is a US national,
non-executive, independent and holds two additional positions
as board member.

Director
Jarle Dragvik is the CEO of TM Holding AS, a major
shareholder of HydrogenPro AS and has been on the
HydrogenPro’s Board of Directors since October 2021,
Mr. Dragvik has extensive experience from numerous of
senior international management positions as well as board
memberships throughout his career. Such experience is
achieved through, among others, board memberships and
management positions in large companies such as Norske
Skog, Norsk Hydro and Sapa AS. Mr. Dragvik has also
spent five years in China during his career evidencing his
international expertise and experience. Mr. Dragvik holds
a master’s degree in Management & Marketing from Oslo
Business School in Norway. He has also completed several
management programs i.e., Orkla Top Management Program
in Oslo/Shanghai, IMD Global Strategy Execution Program in
Lausanne, Switzerland as well as IFL Management Program in
Stockholm. Mr. Dragvik is a Norwegian national, non-executive,
non-independent and holds five additional positions as
chairperson at other Norwegian companies.
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Elling Nygaard

Erik Chr. Bolstad

CEO
Elling was appointed CEO in October 2021. He has a
wide sales and business experience from project-oriented
technology businesses, where strategic partnerships have
played a central role. For more than 20 years, he has held
a number of senior management positions, lately working
at ABB specifically on hydrogen, including developing a
global partnership with HydrogenPro. He has also held the
CEO position at several technology companies. He holds
an electrical engineer degree, and economy- and market
management from BI.

CCO
Several positions within Commercial, Sales & Marketing
functions with long experience from B2B within the global
shipping and shipbuilding industry. More than 20 years’
experience from various management positions within ABB and
others. B.Sc. Electronic engineering from University of SouthWestern Norway.

Martin Thanem Holtet

Richard Espeseth

CFO
Martin was appointed as CFO in December 2020 and joined
HydrogenPro on 1st of March 2021. Martin comes from the
position as VP, Head of Treasury and IR in Hurtigruten. Prior to
this, he worked with strategy and M&A in Yara International and
Corporate Finance in Carnegie. Martin holds a master’s degree
from Norwegian School of Economics (NHH) with a major in
financial economics.

CBDO
Richard founded HydrogenPro in 2013. He has 25 years
international industry experience from Norsk Hydro, Statoil,
ABB and RPR. More than 10 years of experience from
the hydrogen electrolyser business. M.Sc. in Mechanical
Engineering from South Dakota School of Mine & Technology.
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ESG report
HydrogenPro designs and supplies green hydrogen plants in
cooperation with global partners and suppliers.
Our core product is the alkaline high-pressure electrolyser.
Recently we acquired a new plating technology through the
acquisition of Advanced Surface Plating in Denmark. With
our new electrode technology, we are able to increase the
efficiency of each unit by 14% to reach 93% of the theoretical
maximum. This is a significant step forward as the cost of
electric power, depending on market prices, amounts to 7090% of the hydrogen production cost, and the value of such
increased efficiency equals approximately the investment cost
for the entire plant in a Total Cost of Operation perspective.
The new technology is proven in a small industrial scale unit,
and a production facility that can handle full size electrodes
was completed by year-end 2021. Global fabrication site
is planned in Asia, Europe and USA to satisfy demand for
local content and not the least, minimize the lifecycle carbon
footprint.
Unlike traditional alkaline electrolysis systems, our highpressure units (up to 30 bar) save compression costs and
are therefore well-suited for variable loads from solar panels
and wind turbines. We compare favourably with alternative
technologies as the electric consumption is much lower per kg
hydrogen. Hereto comes, that our electrolysis units do not use
any noble metals or polyfluorinated alkyl substances.
The demand for green hydrogen is accelerating all over
the world. Projects comprising several giga watts (GW) are
currently under development and with our leading technology,
industry leading competence, and strong partners, we are
aiming to become #1 provider of large-scale green hydrogen
plants.

HydrogenPro AS

Integrated report 2021

Sustainable Development Goals
HydrogenPro respects and supports the UN Sustainable
Development Goals (SDG). We have evaluated, prioritized and
adopted selected goals and made them strategically important
to us. We intend to utilize the strengths of our Company
in the global collaborative mission to achieve sustainable
development, to reduce potential impacts and to create value
to our stakeholders.
Our prioritized SDG’s are our guidelines for sustainable
business conduct. To make progress and prove our intent,
ambitions and targets are set and we are aligning our
operations accordingly.

HydrogenPro has a scalable business model, and our vision is
to become #1 provider of large-scale green hydrogen plants.
To create shareholder value requires us to work holistically on
the key areas; people, planet, and prosperity. These go handin-hand with our capital deployment plan:

People
Our most valuable asset is our employees. To invest in our
people is thus the core of achieving our strategic goals.

Planet
We will continue invest to take a leading position in the green
hydrogen industry to accelerate the energy transition.

Prosperity
To create shareholder value our approach is to scale up
globally through a partnership strategy where each party
contribute with their key competencies.

CFO Message

Preserving the planet is the fundament of our business model.
At HydrogenPro we deliver large-scale green hydrogen
solutions, targeting the hard to abate sectors where our
industry-leading technology is perfectly suited to play a
significant role in accelerating the energy transition to reduce
global carbon emissions.
The market opportunities are enormous. By 2050, hydrogen
is forecasted to contribute with 20% of global emission
abatement, where hydrogen will be 22% of final energy
demand. For the planet to achieve net zero by 2050 this will
require more than 100 GW of annual increase in electrolyser
capacity.

MARTIN THANEM HOLTET
CFO
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Strategy
Goals and ambitions
Segment

People

Planet

Prosperity

1. Health and safety are essential for the
success of HydrogenPro AS
2. Our ambition is zero accidents and work
related ill health at the Company

1. Most cost-efficient green hydrogen
production technology
2. Contribute to global CO2 reduction

1. Global leading provider of large-scale
green hydrogen production solutions for
industrial applications
2. Profitable growth and long-term
shareholder value return

1. Short leave/overall leave - less than
country average of our locations
• Norway: 4%
• China: 4%
• Denmark 4%
2. Zero accidents and work related ill
health

1. Levelized cost of hydrogen at USD 1,2
pr.kg (assuming USD20/MWh)
2. Reduce CO2 emissions with at least 1,5m
tons annually (equals approximately
350,000 cars) from our installed
production capacity

1. >1GW installed global production
capacity by year-end 2023

1. Annually (2023)
2. Annually (2024)

1. 2022
2. 2023

1. 2023

SDGs

Ambition

Goals

Target date
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Stakeholders and stakeholder
engagement
Sustainability is a key issue of operations. This includes the
Board of Directors, the executive management and throughout
the entire organization. The sustainability report for 2021 is
HydrogenPro’s first report of its kind, including the stakeholder
and materiality assessment. Representatives from the Board
of Directors, executive management and key personnel from
the organization have worked together to identify and evaluate
all potential stakeholders of the Company. Please see further
details in the stakeholder matrix.
Stakeholders and stakeholder engagement is a top priority at
HydrogenPro. As a developing company in a major industry,
being one of the potentially most sustainable and contributing
technologies to the green energy transition, stakeholder
views, impacts and contributions are an integrated part of
the goals and strategies of our Company. We engage with
a wide range of stakeholders where we have our business
today, and where we seek to build strategic relations for the
future. It is important to us that we engage with naturally and
dedicated, and maintain good relations with our stakeholders.
Both our internal and external stakeholders’ voices are heard
and listened to. We engage to be transparent, create a sense
of contribution to the development of the Company, and to
evaluate and initiate actions where we are aware of potential
negative impacts.
During 2021, we engaged with our stakeholders on what
they found most relevant regarding the development of
HydrogenPro. The views and interests from our stakeholders
are considered when defining our material topics and focus
areas and their potential positive and negative impact on the
economic, environmental, and social (including human rights)
dimension. The topics was identified, evaluated, prioritized
and addressed in our assessment. Strategic initiatives were
assessed and proposed for execution in 2022. The process of
HydrogenPro AS
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our stakeholder and materiality assessment is to be developed
until the next reporting period to deepen the insight and
engagement of our stakeholders.

Employees
Our employees are the core of the Company being the
single most important contributor to our growth and target
achievements. We value and encourage an open, transparent
and “we-can-do” culture with centred around delivering quality.
Our employees are on-boarded and trained according to the
requirements for their role and are followed up on a regularly
basis by their respective manager. The Company had 20
direct employees at the end of the financial year, whereof
three women and 17 men. The Company had no accidents or
injuries of staff during 2021 and sick leave was 0.9%.

Investors
HydrogenPro focuses on generating profitable growth and
creating shareholder value. We engage continuously with our
shareholders to encourage an open and transparent dialogue
based on the principles of equal treatment of all shareholders.
Sustainability and shareholder value creation go hand-in-hand,
and we sincerely believe that the integration of sustainability in
our strategy will result in value creation for our shareholders.

Customers
By delivering high quality and continuing to develop highvalue solutions, we engage continuously with our customers.
Thorough engagement and involvement we develop products
above customer satisfaction while having sustainability and
green energy as a key value. Customer involvement is crucial
to further enhance efficiency and reduce energy input needs.

sustainable. HydrogenPro engages actively with business
relations in the supply chain about fundamental principles as
local job creation and suppliers, short transport distances,
no use of noble metals, no environmental harmful materials,
business relations with carbon neutral commitment, emission
reduction plans and the use of renewable energy. Supply chain
involvements, agreements, audits, and qualification processes
are continuously monitored, evaluated and revised accordingly.

Local communities
We are actively working together with local communities where
HydrogenPro has a presence, on how to best manage material
topics way and have a positive impact on society, people,
businesses and the environment. We engage through dialogue
and collaboration with local universities and educational
institution, hiring local employees and using local suppliers
where suitable and possible.

Governments and regulators
We engage with governmental and regulating stakeholders
through extensive dialogue regarding engineering,
manufacturing and assembly facilities and projects to make
sure all qualifications, certifications, and procedures are met,
especially pertaining to waste and water management. We
also ensure dialogue with stock exchange, tax authorities, and
other relevant regulating bodies regularly to be transparent and
compliant, including anti money laundering.

Suppliers
We aim for carbon neutrality in our supply chain set-up where
We aim for carbon neutrality in our supply chain set-up where
strategic initiatives regarding fabrication, sub-suppliers,
construction and assembly, and service operations are
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Material topics

The most prioritized material topics with impact on the
economic, environmental, social and people dimensions are:

Technology development and efficiency
Technology development will increase efficiency of the
production facilities, reduce energy needs and create more
value to end-users. This can generate higher sales and thus
growing the Company and the need for more employees, and
ultimately a financially stable employer. It can generate return
on investment to shareholders and reduce CO2 emissions- and
footprint, and hence reducing the need of fossil-based energy
sources.

Manufacturing and assembly facilities
and scale-up possibilities
Our assembly facilities and scale-up possibilities in Norway,
Denmark and China are potentially high-impact economic,
environmental, and social topics. We locate our operation
primarily in well-established industry parks or existing
facilities rather than building new facilities or breaking
grounds to scale-up. The facilities we use are compliant with
local legislation regarding health, safety, and environmental
standards, and are subject to annual inspection by local
authorities. We build robust spill-protection, water recycling
and safety barriers. We train and develop our employees
and make sure our production and waste management are
compliant with local legislations and well managed through our
management system.

Value chain
We are working every day to ensure a resilient and -highquality value chain of suppliers, aligned with our operationand scale-up needs. We seek cooperation and control over
material availability, prognosis of material needs and develop
counter initiatives in case of bottlenecks. The impact of
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the value chain on the economic, environmental and social
dimension is potentially severe and we will continue working
to reduce or remove negative impacts. HydrogenPro continues
to engage with the value chain to increase sustainability
matters as well as providing efficiency, resilience and highquality deliveries. There could be potential risks in our value
chain, especially in regions where we have limited knowledge
or insights into sub-suppliers and the very origin of the raw
materials. Even though we have strict routines for supplier
screening, including social and environmental criteria’s, our
current reach of authority is limited. Our goals for the coming
years are to develop our ability to influence suppliers and subsuppliers with focus on anti-corruption, human rights, forcedand child labour.

Knowledge and expertise
HydrogenPro is a company working with high-end technology,
engineering, manufacturing and assembly. To scale up the
Company and reach Company goals, having expertise and
the right knowledge available will be mandatory. We have
continuous focus on scaling the Company´s access to talent
and experienced resources and can report a growth in
employees of approximately 75% in 2021 vs. 2020. In 2022, we
plan to hire more resources, growing at our existing locations
and establish new locations to grasp attractive opportunities
and achieve our strategic focus on local operation and
employment.

Occupational health and safety

High quality project execution in relation to performance and
proof of concept is what we target and work for. The electrode
technology developed in Denmark will be full-scale basis.
This will be part of the validation program conducted together
with Mitsubishi Power in connection with Mitsubishi Power’s
purchase order for the world’s largest single-stack electrolyser
system, to be in operation close to our Headquarters at
Herøya, Norway.

It is important for us to have a safe working environment,
employees, and a value chain with HESQ awareness at the
core. Parts of our manufacturing and assembly operation is to
work with hazardous and chemical materials, which represents
a potential risk. We conduct training and knowledge sharing to
increase awareness and we have clearly defined procedures
to reduce the potential risk and to continue to build safety
awareness into our company culture. Any potential or actual
incidents are evaluated and followed up according to our
management system routines. When deviations or potential
improvements are identified we seek to swiftly implement
required initiatives to converting learning into practise.

Energy management

Zero carbon solutions and climate risks

Through HydrogenPro’s technology, it is possible to operate
large-scale hydrogen production facilities with lower energy
consumption compared to alternative technologies. The
reduction in energy input to achieve required output is crucial
to lower operating expenditures for customers and its overall
energy impact, making our products and solutions sustainable
and making a bigger impact on the global transition to green
energy.

The core of HydrogenPro is our technology that ensures high
efficiency in green large-scale hydrogen production. The
production of green hydrogen itself has zero carbon emissions.
Furthermore, it is a proven technology that is capable of
transforming higher carbon emission energy production to a
greener alternative. Green hydrogen production is at the core
of the green energy transition and will be crucial for reaching
the Paris agreement and global climate targets. By providing
sound alternatives to fossil energy production, we are directly

Project execution and performance
of technology
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One of the most significant milestone developments from 2021
to 2022 is the established presence in China the acquisition
of a fabrication facility. The Chinese entity is expected to
be established in Q2 2022. We are not obliged to include
the entity for the 2021 sustainability report, but we have
considered the possible potential negative impacts in the 2021
assessment to prevent and mitigate the potential risks.
The 2021 sustainability report is our first sustainability report
and first dedicated initiative to be open, transparent and
predictable regarding our efforts within sustainability. For
the coming report period of 2022 we have a clear target of
conducting research and assessments to define how we can
implement actions to further prevent or mitigate potential
negative impacts, and to manage potential positive impacts in a
structured approach. We have summarized our material topics
in figure 1. The assessment is based on the current situation,
and we acknowledge, that the material topics may change
as we grow in size and capacity, being able to influence our
surroundings at a larger scale.
During 2021 we engaged with our stakeholders and monitored
our potential impacts on economic, environment and social
topics, leading us to implement a high-quality management
system, achieve ISO 45001 and 9001 certifications and
initiating employee- and supplier development programmes.

Impact on stakeholder interests and decisions

linked to the climate change, and we are highly motivated
to mature the hydrogen market to accelerate the energy
transition, and thus protect the planet.

•
•
•
•
•

Zero carbon solutions
Climate risk
GHG emissions
Customer compliance
Human rights

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•

Technology development and efficiency
Production facilities / scale-up possibilities
Financial performance
Value chain
Project execution, performance, reference
Energy management
Management of hazardous material
Corporate governance, ethical business
conduct and compliance
Change in regulatory framework for hydrogen
production / usage
Occupational health and safety
Knowledge and expertise

•
•
•
•
•
•

Market maturity
Waste management
Water management
Anti-corruption and bribery
Responsible supply chain
Talent attraction and retention

•

• Diversity and equal opportunity

Impact on economic, environmental or social issues
Figure 1: Materiality assessment
HydrogenPro AS
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Local stakeholders
Our local stakeholder engagement creates value for both
company, employees, and communities. All operations in 2021
engaged with local communities in appropriate manners. Local
executive management evaluates and initiates local stakeholder
engagement and report back to the Board of Directors.
Our local stakeholder engagement creates value for both
company, employees, and communities. All operations in 2021
engaged with local communities in appropriate manners. Local
executive management evaluates and initiates local stakeholder
engagement and report back to the Board of Directors.
In Denmark, our connection and engagement with Aarhus
University Department of Biological & Chemical Engineering
is a two-way positive impact collaboration. Students work at
HydrogenPro for training, education and at the same time
contribute to our research, development (R&D) and operation.
Here we engage with the university to provide insights into the
kind of knowledge and expertise we require for our operation,
and how we can contribute to the development of local talent.
In relation to our project at Herøya, we build an experienced
and talented engineering environment which has the potential
to spur local employment. Our policy is to collaborate as
much as possible with local vendors and suppliers, but certain
materials cannot be sourced locally, for example chemicals
needed for R&D and electrode production.
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At Herøya, we engaged with local communities and
stakeholders conducting assessments before we established
a hydrogen production and hydrogen filling station outside of
the industry park. We consulted with the property owner and
affected stakeholders as well as a third-party classification
services agency to identify any concerns. We made certain
to mitigate potential negative impacts on the environment
and made initiatives to remedy the potential risks. The station
received the necessary approvals and is now in operation. We
engage with the local university, University of South-Eastern
Norway, Faculty of Technology, Natural Sciences and Maritime
Sciences, regarding research and development projects.
Our commitment and engagement with local communities
build on our culture of caring for health, safety and quality
operations. This will be of outmost importance for us as we
continue to in 2022. We will continue to engage with local
communities, stakeholders, universities, and vocational schools
to collaborate with our surroundings and to build competitive
business operations.

29

ESG REPORT

People / Social
People

HydrogenPro aims to become a world-leading provider of
alkaline high-pressure electrolyser technology plants and
solutions to meet the highest standard for safety, reliability and
long lifetime. We value diversity in our team at HydrogenPro
and believe this is key factor to reaching our strategic
ambitions and creating shareholder value. Our recruitment
policies are inclusive irrespective of gender, sex, ethnicity or
anything else. It is designed to guide our recruitment towards
reaching our strategic goals and ambitions for the Company.
However, we acknowledge that our rate of females is below
our long term-objective, coming in at 15% for 2021. Looking
back at the scale up of the Company and despite our strong
focus on diversity, the availability of potential candidates with
in-depth hydrogen technology and industry experience and
knowledge is limited within our industry and that has affected
our statistics. As we ramp up our recruitment initiatives to
build the Company for the future our ambition is to aim for 25%
females by 2025. We will engage with local universities and
educational organizations to encourage females to pursue a
career within the hydrogen industry, to increase the diversity in
the hydrogen industry.

by 2025

25%

After our listing on the stock exchange and acquisition of
Advanced Surface Plating in Denmark, we have intensified
recruitment in Norway and Denmark. Eleven new employees
started their roles at HydrogenPro in 2021, most in senior
positions including executive management. In Denmark,
we added six employees to our operations. Through our
collaboration with Aarhus University, three Master students
from the Department of Mechanical & Production Engineering
and the Department of Biological & Chemical Engineering
studied with us on HydrogenPro R&D projects in 2021,
contributing excellently to our working environment and our
operation. We experienced no turnover among our permanent
employees in 2021 whilst parting ways with two part-time
employees in total.
We follow our governance and compensation routines for
all employees with equal pay for equal work and with zero
tolerance for discrimination. Our compensation average is
well above the minimum wage rules, and we are competitive
in attracting talent and experienced resources to the
Company. For 2021 our annual total compensation ratio
for the highest paid individual to the median annual
total compensation for all employees was 1,99. The
percentage increase in compensation for the median
was 2,9% and 0% for the highest paid for the
reporting period. To calculate these numbers, we
used salary per 31.12.2021 per employee and kept
the highest paid individual outside of the median
calculation. For percentage increase, we used
the employees within the organization as per
30.04.2021 and compared the same employees
per 31.12.2021. The remuneration ratio of men to
women is 1,37 in total.

of our workforce shall be female

HydrogenPro AS
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People governance

People and people capabilities are at the centre of value
creation, culture, and performance at HydrogenPro. To ensure
a coherent business and social conduct there are two main
structures that will empower employees to behave and perform
their work appropriately, the Management system, TQM, and
the personnel handbook. All employees are given information
and training in how to locate the systems, find information
and to be compliant. The procedures established, along with
the ISO certification, guides employees to implement the
organization’s policies and practices for responsible business
conduct including how to potentially raise concerns through an
established whistleblowing process.
These guiding mechanisms and procedures are informed
about and demonstrated at the very start of every employment,
throughout routine team-meetings, one-to-one dialogue
between the employee and their closest manager and on the
Company’s intranet. Through the same fora, and information
channels, the employees can seek advice and discuss the
topics as desired and required. The personnel handbook
provides a clear instruction on how to address and report
critical concerns to the executive level and Board level
through an established whistleblowing policy at HydrogenPro.
Through onboarding process and information provided
annually, all employees are encouraged to report incidents
of concern as an important tool to develop the Company
structures, performance, and culture. Issues can be reported
anonymously, and the matter will be handled at Board level.
For the reporting period, there were no reported incidents of
concern.
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At HydrogenPro there are no employees covered by collective
bargaining agreements. We value and inform our employees
about the possibilities to participate in unions and collective
bargaining agreements and believe it can be of high value to
the relevant employee and to the company as a whole. Due
to this, we do not determine employees working conditions
and terms of employment based on collective bargaining
agreements that cover our other employees or based on
collective bargaining agreements from other organizations.
When operating in countries where the right to freedom of
association and collective bargaining is limited through local
legislation, we will inform our employees about their rights
and engage with employers to spur support and motivation.
Neither HydrogenPro nor any of our employees are members
of collective bargaining agreements or interest organizations
for companies; therefore, we ensure that we are compliant with
local legislatives regarding potential operational changes. We
are compliant with The Working Environment Act in Norway
and local legislatives in the other countries where we have
operations.

Training and development

People are our core resource at HydrogenPro, and we
will always have the health and safety of our employees
as a strategic priority. During the first half of 2022, we will
conclude our competency and development mapping of
all employees which will be structured in our management
system. This mapping will be the foundation to ensure a
structured approach to training and development as team and
as individuals and will be included in the annual employee
review. As an example, all employees will go through firstaid training in 2022 to enable early response to health and
safety issues. Along with our growth in employees, we will
seek to develop our occupational health services and evaluate
potential offerings for implementation in 2022. Our ambition
is to have one culture, one set of attitudes, be compliant with
local legislations and ensure a holistic governance across all
facilities including occupational health services functions.
The development of our personnel is important to ensure
a sustainable and increasingly educated work force. We
conducted management systems training for all our employees
during 2021 at approximately two hours pr. person. Personnel
related to electrical, hazardous and chemical processes
conducted training over up to 36 hours pr. person, and our
safety delegate trained specifically for the role in a 10-hour
course. For 2022 we will conduct first aid training for all our
personnel, adding to our focus on health and safety in our
organisation. Furthermore, as we scale up, employees are
trained both in Company general topics and in specific topics
according to their role. A Companywide target is to implement
our knowledge development and competency-mapping
programme effectively monitor our development and better
train personnel.
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Planet / Environment
Organizations

As an important member of the global green energy industry,
HydrogenPro values the commitment from its industry
peers and the importance of collaboration to mature the
hydrogen market and to develop the industry. Through
collaboration, exchange of ideas, finding solutions and
sustainable developments, we believe joined forces will
achieve industry goals. HydrogenPro is member of several
strategic membership associations in the hydrogen industry,
and participates locally as well as globally through the
European Clean Hydrogen Alliance, Green Hydrogen Coalition,
and Norwegian Hydrogen Forum and Hydrogen network for
Telemark and Vestfold (regional counties where HydrogenPro
HQ is located). The hydrogen network for Telemark and
Vestfold is a member of Industrial Green Tech and Green
Industry Cluster Norway. By participating in meetings and
network arrangements, company presentations and industry
events, HydrogenPro manages to build strategic relationships,
promote its business and technology and provide relevant
industry information to the networks, and to the executive
members of HydrogenPro.
As we are developing our Company and are formalizing
systems and procedures, we will implement and adapt our
ERP system to structure purchasing, supplier- and material
management in Q2 2022. By adapting the system to consider
sustainability matters, we will achieve better data insight and
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management opportunities to achieve economies of scale and
take actions towards greater sustainability in our value chain.

Recycling

Our technology can contribute significantly to the green
energy paradigm and the transition towards a more sustainable
energy future. Several components of our products can be
recycled or taken into circularity, and we intend to make
these measures available for our customers through training
and documentation. This is a part of our strategy for carbon
neutrality in our supply chain, by re-using steel elements in
the electrolyser during overhaul. By implementing initiatives to
use reclaimed and recycled materials in our products, at our
offices, in our operation and at the end of our products’ life
cycle we make sustainability a part of our value chain and our
culture.
Our containers that house our hydrogen projects at Herøya are
100% re-used, approximately 40% of all interior and furniture
at our office in Porsgrunn is re-used and certain materials
from our operations as water, lye, and steel components
are recycled and re-used. Our production line in
Denmark can recycle approximately 90% of all water,
reducing our footprint on water consumption locally
and minimizing the risk of any potential wastewater
spill.
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Waste management

The project at Herøya made further developments in energy
reduction initiatives in 2021 by installing the ability to re-use
cooling from a collaborative party at Herøya Industry Park.
Instead of purchasing and consuming new cooling, thereby
increasing the energy consumption, we work towards higher
utilization of existing resources of local business relations, as
well as re-use and increased circularity in our value chain.

we recycled

40%

We moved into a more suitable office space in Porsgrunn,
Norway during 2021, making the most of what we already had
of equipment and inventory, thereby re-using approximately
40% of all furniture and equipment from our previous office.
100% of our non-hazardous waste except residual waste was
sorted for recycling in 2021. Our intentions for 2022 is to
implement a structured approach to monitoring waste as well
as an updated waste management policy to address impacts
and circularity measures from our operations.

of all furniture and equipment from
our previous office
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We ensure compliancy with local regulations and legislatives
including permissions to operate our facilities and manage
the materials for operation at all locations. This includes
governmental environmental approval where we and a third
party evaluate all plans for production, all substances, hazards,
materials, chemicals and waste management systems to
prevent spills and being able to manage the waste according
to local regulations. Our strategy is to optimize our waste
management for us and our supply chain, making the most of
the resources we source and readying the waste for recycling
and safe handling.
Where we are not the sole tenant, we align our waste
management according to property owner procedures, sorting
our waste accordingly. The waste we create from our offices
is mainly paper, cardboard, plastic, and residual waste. From
our operations, we can add glass, steel, nickel, lye, gas and
chemicals. In our production process with example from our
Herøya project, our electrolysers uses lye (30% KOH) as an
electrolyte in the hydrogen production process. In the case
of a leakage in the electrolyser, a volume of lye may leak out
of the unit having a negative impact on the local vegetation
and soil. However, the container is designed to contain a full
volume of the leaked lye within the facility itself to mitigate
such a scenario, thereby minimizing such an incident at the
project and optimizing safe waste management. Used lye
(30% KOH) after a lifetime of operation may be considered
hazardous waste, and is captured, contained, and sent to a
recycling facility for safe disposal.
All hazardous, explosive and special waste are sorted and
managed according to local and special handling regulations.
Non-hazardous and recyclable waste are manually sorted and
recycled by local waste management companies.

Figure 2: Input, production and output
HydrogenPro AS
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Energy and emissions

Energy management is crucial for our operation, as a company in the green energy industry
delivering efficient hydrogen technology and having energy management as a strategic
parameter of value creating. Our supply chain strategy states that we aim for utilization of
renewable energy and we engage strategically with our relations to execute the strategy for the
Company. As an example, we have installed photocells at our offices, which turns off lighting
when we are not present, we monitor our energy consumption closely, and limit usage when
possible. We will continue to implement energy management initiatives at our locations and
projects throughout 2022. The majority of energy consumption within the organization including
Norway and Denmark comes from renewable energy sources. Our electricity in Norway is
100% renewable and in Denmark the grid mix is approximately 66% renewable. In 2021 we had
approximately 350 m2 office space and 900m2 project area in Norway, and a combined office,
manufacturing and assembly facility of 1500m2 in Denmark. Our total energy intensity ratio of
kwh per m2 was 122 and 80 for Norway and Denmark, respectively. These factors combined
summarizes our scope 2 emissions to a total of 7,2 tons CO2 equivalents. Looking at our
greenhouse gas (GHG) emission intensity rate, we use our employees as denominator.
For 2021 our GHG intensity rate was 716,5 kg per employee.
We expect increased activity and energy consumption for 2022, but we will work towards a
greener grid mix, reducing our CO2 emissions. The data for the reporting period of 2021 is
our first monitoring and calculations. We will monitor the intensity ratios for Q1 2022 and set
initiatives to reduce the energy and GHG intensity ratio and implement initiatives to increase our
green energy ratio in total. For the next reporting period, we seek to identify scope 3 elements
that will be viable to report on.
For the reporting period of 2021 it is not identified any consumption of energy outside of our
organization that is measurable and material for disclosure in this report. For the reporting
period of 2022, we will be able to identify at a greater range the potential energy consumption
outside of the organization, as we will deliver hydrogen production technology to customers
and project partners. We will implement measures to monitor consumption through stakeholder
dialogue and reports.
We will use the sustainability report for 2021 as baseline for HydrogenPro. Entering 2022, we
will set targets for energy intensity ratio and green energy ratio, as well as developing initiatives
to improve our metrics. We have one of the most energy efficient hydrogen technologies on
the market, reducing the energy consumption to produce hydrogen to an industry low. This is
achievable due to our plating technology developed at our facility in Denmark. The increased
efficiency will spur reductions in energy consumption, greenhouse gas emissions and make
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the transition from grey to green large-scale energy production more affordable, and potentially
lower the end-user price for hydrogen.
Our ambition is to have installed a minimum of 1 gigawatt of green hydrogen production facilities
by 2023, contributing to a reduction of over 1,5 million tons CO2, or approximately 350 000
automobiles on fossil fuels.

Water management

Water is one of few critical elements required to produce green hydrogen, and also to produce
the technology needed for hydrogen production. Hydrogen generation from electrolysis requires
water for electrolysis and for cooling of the process itself. Our production facilities engage with
local water suppliers and connect to the existing supply if possible, to reduce unnecessary
water transportation or groundworks. By having only one operation in 2021, in Denmark, our
water source is mainly ground water, using 125m3 in the reporting period. Our offices in Norway
consumed 23 m3 in total.
Our water usage is connected to the scale of production. While we expect our water usage to
increase, we implement initiatives to re-use and recycle water. Our location in Denmark installed
a water recycling facility in late 2021 which is able to recycle more than 90% of the water from
our production, including a separation of waste managed according to our procedures and
environmental regulations. The water at the Herøya project is provided by the Industry Park
(HIP). There are two cooling water (CW) lines (one for CW supply and one for CW return)
between the HIP and our hydrogen installations. The project receives cold CW and returns
hot CW. Demineralized water is produced within the facility using the Reverse Osmosis system
and Mixed bed. Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) directly related to water has not been
assessed as the water used by the Hydrogen generation process is in a close loop connected
to the HIP cooling water network.
We have rigid routines for water management and handling and specific wastewater routines
which enable us to control our water usage and potential discharge in a minimal risk
environment. A similar water recycling installation is planned for our location in China. To prevent
any leakages into the environment our floors is designed without connection to the sewage
system, preventing discharge. We have not registered any discharge in 2021.
Our environment certificate and approval for production require regular risk management
assessments regarding potential negative environmental impacts. These assessments will be
conducted according to local regulations and requirements for operation.
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Biodiversity

HydrogenPro does not have any offices, manufacturing or production facilities in operation
close- or adjacent to, protected areas or areas of high biodiversity value in 2021. All existing
locations are in existing office buildings and/or established industry parks. There is no red list
species and national conservation list species with habitats in areas affected by operations.
In April 2021 we announced our partnership with Kvina Energy Park as co-owner of Kvina
Energy. The location of the land in Kvinesdal, Norway, has the potential to provide access to
green energy sources and easy connection to transportation by road, sea and train, making the
strategic position available for sustainable transportation choices. We are currently working on
regulation of the land and pre-planning of the project.

Climate risks and opportunities

We are a part of the climate change and the global pursuit to stagger rising temperatures, ocean
levels and the fight to reduce GHG emissions into the atmosphere. Our objective is to have
the most cost-efficient green hydrogen production technology to make it available to industry
participants, lower the barriers for the green shift in energy production and to contribute to
the global CO2 reduction. By reaching our goal of minimum 1GW installed green hydrogen
production capacity, we can reduce minimum 1,5 million. tons of CO2 by replacing brown/grey
energy sources. Our contribution matters to the environment and the environment matters to us.
By assessing the potential climate risks and opportunities from the Task force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (TCFD) framework, we have identified the following material topics with the
potential largest impact on short to long-term perspective on a scale from 1-10 where 1 is not
relevant and 10 is very relevant for the Company:
Climate risks
Climate risk (1-10 where 1
is not relevant and 10 very
relevant)

Impact (selfperceived
potential impact)

Relevance
(applicability)

Knowledge
(self-perceived
knowledge level)

Substitution of existing
products and services with
lower emissions

6

5

4

Increased costs of raw
materials

8

7

4

1.

The industry we operate in has exposure to climate risks as for any industry, and these two are
the most material risks identified through the TCFD assessment.
According to the reporting framework, the potential substitution of existing products and
services with lower emissions options can have financial impacts on our operation including for
instance reduced demand for our services, higher costs to deploy new processes and potential
retirement of existing assets. However, the demand for green hydrogen is on the rise, expecting
a global demand of 850GW by 2030, rising to 3600GW by 20501, escalating the potential growth
of the industry and of HydrogenPro.
A more recent scenario, in light of the developments in Eastern Europe in Q1 2022, is the
increased costs of raw materials. There are relatively few components in our operation, but
some of them are exposed to fluctuations in the commodity prices. To address this situation,
we will engage deeply with our suppliers to build a resilient supply chain with predictability and
longevity.
Climate opportunity

Climate risk (1-10 where 1 is not relevant
and 10 very relevant)

Impact (selfperceived
potential
impact)

Relevance
(applicability)

Knowledge
(selfperceived
knowledge
level)

Increasing prices of GHG emissions

6

6

4

Development and/or expansion of low emission
goods and services

6

6

4

Development of new products or services
through R&D and innovation

7

7

5

Access to new markets

7

7

6

Use of public-sector incentives

7

7

4

Participation in renewable energy programs
and adoption of energy-efficiency measures

7

7

4

Global Hydrogen Review 2021 - Analysis - IEA
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Hydrogen is maturing and the market developments, inspiring
industry shifts from fossil energy to green energy, paves the
way for HydrogenPro. As customer demand is on the rise,
we scale our business, develop market opportunities whilst
building a strong pipeline and we execute production projects.
From our TCFD assessment, we have several opportunities in
the short- to long-term perspective. If prices of GHG emissions
continue rising, with the EUA (EU ETS) rising 85% from 1st
March 2021 to 1st March 2022 with a high on 96,93 on 8th
February 20221 is a market-based mechanism, which means
that the carbon price is determined by supply and demand of
allowances) it can be a motivational factor for customers to
shift from brown/grey energy to green energy.
Furthermore, the development and/or expansion of low
emission goods and services, development of new products or
services through R&D and innovation, access to new markets,
use of public-sector initiatives, and participation in renewable
energy programs and adoption of energy-efficiency measures,
are all positive opportunities for the Company. We believe the
markets and opportunities will evolve and we intend to be a
major part of the industry with a strong strategic position.

1.

https://ember-climate.org/data/carbon-price-viewer/ - The EU ETS
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Prosperity / Profit
Investments and projects

The scale up process of the manufacturing and assembly line
in China is progressing according to plan, and we engage
heavily with local communities and governments as well as
strategic partners to ensure that we fulfil our commitments
and are compliant with local legislations. We are engaging
with local stakeholders to mitigate potential environmental
and social impacts. The positive effects pertaining to local
employment, local suppliers and local educational services are
of strategic importance to us.

Our project at Herøya continues to make progress in 2021
and further project investments were done. To further develop,
test and commercialise our technology and products, we set
up a hydrogen production- and supply installation in relation
to a local fuelling station outside of Herøya Industry Park. This
set up consists of two containers with hydrogen production
facility, totalling 1MW, dedicated to provide hydrogen to the
local fuelling station. In 2021, we conducted a third party risk
and environmental analysis before normal ground works. The
installation is fully compliant with environmental and production
legislations, including preventive- and safety systems to reduce
the risks of any spills, leakages, and other consequences
should the production fail.

Products

The infrastructure investments made in 2021 is limited to
minor upgrades to the electrical cable for the facility in
Denmark, initial investments in China, moving to larger offices
and development of the project at Herøya, both in Norway.
In Denmark, we built and finalized our plating line, upgraded
the electrical cables and installed at the same time a future
upgrade possibility by adding a cable gate in the same trench.
All work that required excavating was repaired, grass and trees
were replanted.

In April 2021 we announced our investment for a 50% stake
in Kvina Energy. This is a long-term development project with
the plan to set up and operate a new green hydrogen plant. As
of early 2022, we are in the pre-preparation phase where we
are in the process of applying to the Norwegian government
to regulate the required land for the operation and licenses
to operate. This is a long-term project where our expectation
is an annual production of around 100,000 tons of green
hydrogen, with potential CO2 reductions estimated at 190,000
tons per year provided that such hydrogen volume is used to
replace hydrogen derived from fossil sources.
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All HydrogenPro products are assessed regarding health
and, safety both in production and for our customers. We
follow local product and marketing legislations, and our
products, procedures and documentation are CE marked.
Our assessments have identified potential risks and hazards
which we have documented, improved and mitigated, making
our products certified and approved for commercialization.
We provide thorough documentation on how to operate and
conduct service on our products. Parts and components
that need changing are evaluated for recycling and
circularity.
Our ambition is to include detailed sourcing and
quality documentation for all raw materials and
components of our products to be included as part
of our customer documentation. Our customers
own all equipment and products delivered by
HydrogenPro, and it is our ambition to provide our
customers with sufficient information on how to
conduct sustainable service, product treatment
and criteria for recycling and circularity. During
2022 we will evaluate how this can be achieved
in a customer-oriented process with sustainability
and longevity as value adding initiatives.
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Suppliers

In 2021, we made significant investments into our partnership
in China, increasing our global presence and strategic
position for value creation from 2022 and onwards. For all our
locations, we seek to engage and conduct business with local
suppliers and local communities according to our strategy
towards carbon neutrality in our supply chain. By analysing
80% of transaction volumes for HydrogenPro in 2021, we
discovered that approximately 56% was sourced local to our
locations, or within one hour drive from our locations. For our
entity in Denmark approximately 84% of our spending has been
through Danish suppliers. This is very positive and in line with
our strategic focus on local suppliers and short transportation
distances, lowering the potential GHG emissions significantly
in contrary to if we sourced from remote suppliers.
We deem this to be positive contributions to our local
communities, and compliant with our business conduct and
strategy. We will continue our local focus on engaging with
local suppliers and vendors to develop our positive impact
further. Our planned upgrades to ERP and purchasing system
in 2022 will provide further information about materials and
sub-suppliers for the next reporting period.
In 2021, we intensified the supplier management initiatives,
including development and qualification of new suppliers to
respond to supply chain challenges, ensuring a more costefficient and flexible sourcing, in response to current supply
challenges worldwide. Also, long-term strategic partnerships
have been and will continue to be strengthened, through
agreements and continuous evaluation of supplier’s base.
These initiatives will be continued in 2022 and be incorporated
as a quintessential strategic part of the value chain
development and sustainability.
We have a strict supplier screening procedure and
commitment to evaluate our suppliers to be compliant with ISO
9001 and our management system. In parallel to assessing
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and upgrading our systems, we categorize our purchasing for
our Norwegian entity into two categories for 2021, “project”
and “indirect”. Material to us, to the potential impacts on
environment, social and economical is the category “project”.
In the reporting period, we had 47 suppliers whereas 13%
were screened and documented according to our supplier
screening containing social and environmental considerations.
All suppliers provided project related products and services
for our Herøya project. Our ambition for 2023 is to have 100%
of all new suppliers in this category, across Norway, Denmark
and China, screened. We will operationalize our ambitions
starting early 2022, and we will conduct a materiality- and
impact assessment, considering the strategic potential in
each existing supplier. The most material existing suppliers
will be screened to increase our potential to mitigate potential
negative impacts and engage with the suppliers to optimize the
impact of our value chain.
Assessing our supply chain and vendors, we acknowledge
that there is a particular segment in which negative social and
environmental issues can arise, chemicals. We do not have
sufficient insight into our sub-suppliers of chemicals, engaging
mainly with our suppliers. The chemicals purchased is used
mainly in our production process, where we have implemented
procedures and waste management routines. The origin of the
chemicals, how and where they are sourced is not familiar to
us to date. To remedy this situation and to mitigate and reduce
the risks of negative impacts, we will seek in-depth knowledge
about and engage with our suppliers to understand the original
source of the chemicals as we scale up our operations.
Through our supplier screening criteria, supplier engagement,
and supplier code of conduct, we ensure more knowledge
to be evaluated and used in our continuous development
of our supply chain focusing on sustainability. We will not
conduct business with suppliers who cannot document their
environmental certificate, and being compliant with local laws
and legislations.
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Customers

During 2021 we have seen a substantial change of
stakeholder mix on the customer side. A great portion of
the approaches has been from typical project developers
and smaller companies trying to monetise on availability on
electrical power or a business case for providing hydrogen
to a potential. Very often these has companies that are in a
prospect/idea stage, and hence far from any FID, financing or
project realisation. In addition, there has been several US and
EU funding schemes under planning that has attracted larger
players from the utilities and energy market, however funding
and materialisation has been with long and unpredictable
horizon and projects has tended to slide and be halted.
During second half of 2021 the market totally changed
direction. The project tenders within the green hydrogen
market became dominated by the majority of the energy
mayors (previously referred to as global Oil &Gas companies)
that have engaged in a vast number of projects on the
hydrogen arena. The purpose of their engagement is a
very clear determination to start a de-carbonation of their
own industries based on new announced governmental
decarbonisation regimes together with their own ambitions,
in addition they all are poised to take a position in the energy
transition from fossil to green energy as part of their future
product portfolio.

HydrogenPro AS

Integrated report 2021

We also see that the political environment is ramping up their
incentives to speed up the energy transition, also being more
directly in enforcing more tangible and predictable funding
schemes. The continued rise in gas prices has reduced the
big difference between the green and the grey hydrogen, and
hence changed the business case of stepping into the energy
transition sooner than first expected. The latest development
on the global gas market has also shown the volatility in the
demand and availability and pushed the development even
further, especially in countries without own natural carbon
resources. India is an example in such respect and has
launched a national plan for stepping into the green hydrogen
energy environment immediately. HydrogenPro was during
2021 approached by one of the leading companies in India for
initial analysis of establishing manufacturing and assembly of
large-scale green hydrogen production facilities for the Indian
marked.
We experience market developments where large energy
mayors that have fixed plans for their refineries were hydrogen
is an important product into their production makes enquiries
about potential collaboration projects. The trend is to plan for
green hydrogen plants that can be set up in connection with
these refineries for blending a certain percentage of green
hydrogen into the massive volume of grey hydrogen used
today. First step in such decarbonisation process will typically
reduce the carbon emissions with 10-20 percent with an

ambition to increase this part gradually over time. Even these
volumes at start are equivalent to green hydrogen productions
by 100+ MW and upwards, -meaning large-scale production
from the start and very suitable for the HydrogenPro concept
of electrolysers.
Lately we are also experiencing a huge growth in projects
utilising green hydrogen for producing ammonia, steel and
synthetic fuels substituting carbon-based hydrogen and coal,
and by this reducing or potentially removing all emissions. We
have great expectations to the use of green hydrogen as fuel
for future powerplants and for blend-in in the natural gas being
piped to both consumers and industry where it will directly
reduce the carbon footprint. With above mentioned customers
and market segments we are in dialog and sales processes
for production equipment from 100+ megawatt size and up to
gigawatt size systems during the implementation of the growth
plans for their own operations.
We strongly believe that HydrogenPro is positioned
strategically to be a supplier for many of these large plants
within these various industries, and they will all provide
enormous volumes of saved emissions since they based on
being fuelled by renewable electricity.
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Governance
Corporate sustainability governance

The sustainability report for 2021 is HydrogenPro’s first
sustainability report. The purpose with the reporting structure
is to provide both financial and non-financial information to
HydrogenPro’s stakeholders.
For the reporting period of 2021, the Board of Directors
encourages the importance of being transparent on the
development and strategic progress of HydrogenPro in 2021,
keeping momentum and connecting sustainability and financial
performance into the next reporting period. The Board of
Directors and the executive management has been involved in
the process leading up to, and throughout the development of,
its first sustainability report.
Sustainability is a strategic priority, embedded in both the
core purpose of HydrogenPro and the strategy of how the
Company will reach its goals. To ensure alignment, strategic
focus and the development of a sustainable business culture
in the Company, the Board of Directors are involved in the
stakeholder and materiality assessment determining prioritized
topics and identifying potential negative and positive impacts
its business may have on the environment, its people,
prosperity and social matters. Material topics and information
relating to sustainability matters including the sustainability
report, are verified and approved by the highest governance
body at HydrogenPro throughout the reporting period, and
before the Annual Report is published.

Compliance

We value our people, our business relations and our
stakeholders, and we are compliant with local laws and
legislations wherever we operate. It is an important value for
us that our people have a safe and healthy work environment
and that all our employees have the freedom to be part of
organizations, associations and collective bargaining. In 2021,
our employees selected a chief safety representative and we
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will institute a “Working Environment Committee” when we
surpass 50 employees which is according to local legislation.
Our Code of Conduct reflects the freedom of association and
collective bargaining by individuals: Quote “HydrogenPro
shall respect the right of workers to organize in any labour
union and to negotiate collectively”. Our General Terms and
Conditions of Contract reflects the expectation of freedom of
association as a requirement. When our daughter company in
China is fully established, we will ensure that we follow local
legislation regarding the right to freedom of association.
We will practise the same values and principles across all
HydrogenPro facilities and operations, and we aim to inspire
our business relations to share our views on human rights
topics, child- and forced labour and freedom of association
and collective bargaining organizations. We demonstrate this
importance in Board and management meetings, as well as in
operational meetings and business relation procedures.
We have a zero-tolerance policy for child- and forced labour
and this is of outmost importance to us when we are building
our presence in Tianjin, China. To address the situation, we
will follow local laws and legislation, implement strict routines
for employment with control routines before- and after
employment to verify each individual and being compliant. We
will mitigate our exposure by having thorough customer and
supplier screening criteria, unannounced visits, and close
follow-up of indications of violations of these issues. We will
work closely with internal and external resources to monitor,
track and execute controlled governance. Our monitoring and
reporting will happen with monthly frequency to our executive
management and according to local legislatives and local
Governmental routines as required to operate a manufacturingand assembly facility in Tianjin.
OECDs Guidelines for Responsible Business Conduct (RBC) is
our anchor when evaluating and monitoring potential impacts

that we, or our value chain, might encounter. Through a new
Norwegian law entering into force on 1st July 2022, Norway
implements OECDs RBC. The Transparency Act requires
companies to conduct due diligence according to the RBC
and OECDs Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and
furthermore, make the due diligence report public available.
Based on the financial statement and number of employees
for 2021, HydrogenPro will not be directly affected by the
Transparency Act for 2022. When the Company surpasses
MNOK 70 in revenue and/or 50 employees, we are obliged to
report according to the new law. To be fully compliant as we
grow, we will conduct a compliancy assessment during 2022
to build routines and incorporate reporting according to the
Transparency Act.

Board and Management

The Board of Directors has the ultimate responsibility for
setting sustainability targets and strategies as well as the
management of sustainability matters and stakeholder
engagement. Whereas the Board sets the direction, the
executive management develops initiatives, ensures execution
and reports to the Board on established KPI’s. The executive
management consist of CEO, CFO, CCO and CBDO. The Chair
of the Board is not a senior executive in the organization. The
HydrogenPro Board of Directors consists of five members,
including the Chair. 20% of the board is female and 80% are
Norway citizens.
The highest governance body and the committees of
HydrogenPro are recruited and developed according to
the nature, growth, and strategic focus of the Company.
Relevant experience and knowledge are one of the most
important elements as a growing company. The selection
and recruitment of participants for the highest governance
body and committees is conducted through evaluation of
needed competences for the strategic period ahead and the
required experience to reach Company development targets.
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When evaluating candidates for the relevant positions certain
stakeholder views are considered, along with the natural
diversity criteria, impartiality, and independence. The Company
follows the guidelines from the Oslo Stock Exchange and the
Euronext Growth Exchange for the reporting period of 2021,
with clear intentions of developing diversity and recruitment
policies company-wide for 2022.
Sustainability matters regarding potential impacts on the
economy, environment and people, including OECD’s
Guideline for Multinational Enterprises regarding Responsible
Business Conduct (RBC), is ultimately the Board of Director’s
responsibility with delegated area responsibility to the
executive management at HydrogenPro. Furthermore, the
executive management is obliged to implement business area
procedures and routines, including training and competency
development. Certain areas of our operation, like sales, supply
chain and operation, can be exposed to potential policy issues.
To ensure compliance in conducting internal and external
activities, responsible persons are required to embed the
commitments across the value chain and business relations.
Identified issues, in either team or executive meetings, are
frequently reported to the Board of Directors.

HSEQ
Health and safety management system
Along with our growth and development as a Company and
employer, we continue to build our strong culture of health
and safety, always compliant with local laws and regulations.
In 2021 we implemented our health and safety system, TQM
and HydrogenPro AS became ISO 9001, ISO 45001 and ISO
14001 certified. Through the quality management system
(TQM) we manage all procedures and routines that are
implemented to ensure governance, code of conduct, safety,
social and environmental standards and quality in all our
operations. Our safety delegate is included in issues that might
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arise and is routinely involved with the executive management
to ensure transparency and involvement regarding
occupational health and safety and the management systems
at HydrogenPro.
All employees, including consultants, receives training in health
and safety and have access to TQM, our HR system and our
personnel handbook. Employees with roles that require certain
qualifications, certifications and knowledge is developed
accordingly before the job takes place. This is especially
relevant for our personnel working with electricity, chemicals,
hazardous and operational activities related to production
of hydrogen. In 2021, personnel involved in operations and
commissioning work have performed training in technical
subjects related to ATEX, FSE (Electrical safety) for safe work
and production.
Before activities that might include risks of injuries, spills,
or other health related issues, we conduct and document a
safety- and risk assessment with all relevant personnel. We
monitor and follow up the activities and evaluate potential
situations to build experience and knowledge in potential
revisions procedures and management system. This includes
“safety learning” in all operation meetings and that HSEQ is
on the agenda at every executive management- and Board
meetings. As an example, we experienced three minor injuries
in our manufacturing in 2021. We used our management
system to assess the incidents, evaluate and make
improvements to our routines, to reduce the potential risk
of new similar incidents. HydrogenPro did not have a health
service agreement for our employees for 2021, but we supply
additional benefit to employees through our insurance, an
offer for private health service for diagnostics and treatments.
Services are specified in the insurance information given in our
electronic personnel handbook.
Identification of hazards/risks are done at different stages
in a project/design. In the design phase, typically a new

design/plant will go through a third-party risk/hazard
analysis, covering SIL (Safety integrity level), LOPA (Layers
of Protection Analysis) and Risk assessment with scenarios
relevant for specific design/project. Any type of incident and
non-conformity shall be reported trough the electronic quality
management system (QMS). Based on severity different
actions and mitigations will take effect. Serious incidents and/
or incidents with high potential will be investigated based on
MTO standards/guidelines. All workers have the right and
obligation to remove themselves and others from situations
believed to cause injuria or ill health. This is stated in the
Company policy and governed trough law. When working
at operational sites, or evaluating new sites for potential
operation, we engage with risk- and safety parties for thirdparty assessments.
Our dedication to health and safety is a strategic priority
and we work continuously to achieve operational excellence.
This has been at the core since the early beginning of the
Company, going from strength to strength, as we evolve and
increase our operation. As mentioned, we have a zero-accident
target, which is a company-wide ambition. For 2021 there
has been tree minor incidents or near incident related to work
injuries, all with low severity. A minor cut from a knife (first aid
case), resulted in changing procedures and changing of type
of knife to be used for the operation. Substituting products
to avoid cutting has been implemented as a part of hierarchy
of control. We aim for zero incidents, and we will focus on
monitoring and implementing initiatives to prevent accidents to
occur in the future.
During 2021 we conducted a risk assessment for occupational
health and safety based on the operation mainly being office
and project work. This was conducted together with the safety
delegate, representing the employees. During 2021 there was
no reported cases or absence related to work related ill health.
As our business is engineering, manufacturing and assembling,
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thus handling hazardous material, we are aware of potential
risks. Our management system and HSEQ procedures and
training will be important as we scale the Company and build
presence in other countries.

International Corruption Perceptions Index (CPI) for 2021, the
majority of our activities are in countries ranked at 1, 4 and 22
place respectively, with China at number 66 of 180 countries
evaluated1. The CPI ranks 180 countries and territories around
the world by their perceived levels of public sector corruption.
The results are given on a scale of 0 (highly corrupt) to 100
(very clean)). Figure 3 include markings in green where we
have projects or are located.

For 2022, the Company will take advantage of the existing
governance and management systems when building our
presence in China. All employees will be evaluated and
mapped according to job role, competency, and training. This
mapping will govern how different job roles and activities is
to be performed, including the requirements regarding health
and safety. Our health and safety structure in China will be
the responsibility of the Board of Directors and executive
management including a dedicated health and safety officer.

Our operations are not shielded from corruption and we are
building a strong corporate governance, code of conduct,
business relation screening criteria and training of all our key
personnel. Our existing presence in Norway and, Denmark
and France are in countries with low risk for corruption, a
well-established legislative system as well as private and
public companies respecting and honouring the competitive
landscape in an ethical fashion. In 2021, we have not identified

CORRUPTION
PERCEPTIONS
INDEX 2021

Risk management
Internal control

Competency, experience, and formalized procedures
create transparency, efficiency, and trust. Our financial and
economic business area is responsible for implementation
and evaluation of our financial internal control. We have wellestablished procedures for our processes including companywide decision- and proxy matrix, clear division of tasks and
responsibilities, a defined process ownership and a thorough
risk management systems. To extend our control routines we
have engaged professional service companies to support our
accounting- and payroll processes, along with audit, tax- and
The perceived levels of public sector
other financial consulting services. This holistic ecosystem
corruption
180mitigated.
countries/territories
ensures timely quality reporting,
withinrisks

Corruption

around the world.

Over time, HydrogenPro will increase its international
presence. Today, we are located with facilities in Norway and
Denmark, a project in France and will establish a presence
SCORE to the Transparency
in China during 2022. According
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1.

Figure 3:Clean
Transparency International Corruption Perceptions Index 2021

https://www.transparency.org/en/cpi/2021
0-9
10-19

HydrogenPro AS

20-29

30-39

40-49

50-59

Integrated report 2021

60-69

70-79

80-89

90-100

No data

#cpi202
www.transparency.org/cp
This work from Transparency International (2021) is licensed under CC BY-ND 4.0

42

ESG REPORT

or registered any incidents of corruption.
As we scale up the Company and our international presence,
we build routines and procedures that all employees will be
educated in. For 2021, our operations were assessed for risks
related to corruption with emphasis on our supply chain where
suppliers and potential customers are located in countries
with a higher probability of corruption according to the CPI. To
mitigate potential risks for corruption we conduct a thorough
supplier evaluation before engaging a business relation, and
we are compliant with local laws and regulations regarding
strategic relations.
In 2021 we engaged in a strategic business relation with
Tianjin HQY Hydrogen Machinery Co., Ltd.(THM) in Tianjin,
China, with intentions to establish an entity of HydrogenPro in
early 2022. We work to build a strong regulatory framework
and governance protocol for our operation in China to mitigate
and reduce the risks for corruption, forced- and child labour
and issues that is not compliant with OECD guidelines for
multinational enterprises regarding human rights. We have
already established procedures for transactions and signatory
rights for the Company, to mitigate any initial issues that might
arise and to be compliant with local laws and regulations when
establishing a company in China.
Procedures will be established, and employees will be trained
concurrent with the formalizing of our daughter company
in China. We will collaborate with established companies in
Tianjin to train on anti-corruption, HESQ and human rights
issues to ensure that all employees and executive personnel
are equipped with tools to identify, alert, and mitigate the
issues that can occur. All employees will have to sign a
specific anti-corruption and compliance agreement when
starting at HydrogenPro. Experience is key for building a
presence and getting our facilities to produce high quality
products according to our prognosis. We have experienced
key personnel employed in China having knowledge and
HydrogenPro AS
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experience with Chinese legislations, procedures, and a
proven business ethics, responsible for establishing regulatory
routines, and procedure management systems that ensures
a strong governance of all our activities. One example is our
supplier process, which contains supplier screening including
economical, corruption, environmental and social/human rights
criteria, as well as benchmarking of suppliers, having backup
suppliers and a formalized contract system with signatory
rights. We will also engage with strategic vendors to increase
knowledge about critical topics and to reduce the risk of
corruption, child- and forced labour and human rights issues.
Our initial assessment of the growing international presence
of HydrogenPro is that we are not contributing to social and
economic issues including corruption.

Security
As for 2021 we do not have any security personnel at any
of HydrogenPro´s locations but we have alarm and security
agreements with local security providers. However, once
our daughter company in China is fully established and our
manufacturing- and assembly facility in Tianjin is completed
we will employ security personnel from a security provider.
By using a security provider to supplement the security at
the industry park in Tianjin we aim to secure all HydrogenPro
property. We will engage a security provider with a proven
record, knowledge and competency within security measures
and human right issues, and they will be fully responsible
for any training and development as part of the engagement
contract.

environmental objectives. Our activities aims to provide
new technology and products with better performance and
efficiency. By doing this, we contribute to, and enable our
customers to participate in the green energy transition,
potentially enhance reductions of GHG emissions at large
scale. To read more about how we manage our water
resources, contributes to the circular economy transition,
control, prevention- and protection of emissions, pollution,
biodiversity and ecosystems, and how we work with human
relation topics, please read our dedicated sections in the
sustainability report.
The delegated acts on climate change mitigation and climate
change adaptation apply from January 1, 2022, with the
remaining objectives applicable from January 1, 2023.
We will use second half of 2022 to evaluate the Taxonomy
requirements preparing for our next reporting period.

EU taxonomy

HydrogenPro’s business is covered by the EU Taxonomy
under the activity “Engineering activities and related technical
consultancy”. Our operation as engineering, manufacturing
and assembly of large-scale green hydrogen production plants
contributes to climate change mitigation, while respecting
the relevant criteria for doing no significant harm to other
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Framework
Report scope and framework

The sustainability report for 2021 includes HydrogenPro
entities in Norway and Denmark. We include preliminary
information regarding our developing presence in China. As
there was no operation in France for 2021 we only mention
this entity as a part of HydrogenPro governance.

GRI
The GRI Standard enable an organization to publicly disclose
its most significant impacts on the economy,
environment, and people, including impacts on their human
rights and how the organization manages these impacts. This
enhances transparency on the organization’s impacts and
increases organizational accountability.
The Standards contain disclosures that allow an organization
to report information about its impacts consistently and
credibly. This enhances the global comparability and quality
of reported information on these impacts, which supports
information users in making informed assessments and
decisions about the organization’s impacts and contribution to
sustainable development. We follow the framework of the GRI
Core option and are in reference to the GRI Standards for the
2021 sustainability report.

HydrogenPro AS
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Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD)
TCFD was established by the Financial Stability Board in
2015 to develop climate-related disclosures that “could
promote more informed investment…decisions.”, and the
recommendations were made public in June 2017. The Task
Force believes climate-related risks and opportunities are or
could be material for many organizations. HydrogenPro has
conducted its first TCFD assessment for the sustainability
report period of 2021. We will continue to develop the
assessments, recommendations, and initiatives to mitigate
potential risk impact on the business and seize opportunities.

UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDG)
The SDGs build on decades of work by member countries
and the UN, and in 2015, all United Nations Member States
adopted “The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development”,
consisting of 17 SDGs. These 17 SDGs are frequently adopted
as a guideline and common sustainability-reporting framework
for companies worldwide. We have chosen four SDGs and
made them “our” strategic SDG’s for the coming period.

EU Taxonomy
The EU taxonomy sets out three main targets on how to define
sustainable activities and classifies what kind of activities and
industries are sustainable. Its intention is to aid the financial
system, investors and policymakers to scale up sustainable
investments and to prevent greenwashing. The taxonomy
entered into force 12. July 2020. To be deemed sustainable,
and activity has to contribute significantly to at least one of six
environmental objectives:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Climate change mitigation
Climate change adaptation
The sustainable use and protection of water and marine
resources
The transition to a circular economy
Pollution prevention and control
The protection and restoration of biodiversity and
ecosystems

The other two criteria to be defined as sustainable is to
not cause any harm to any of the other five objectives, and
meet minimum conditions for social rights. For the latter
requirement, the Transparency act in Norway will cover the
foundation of the criteria.
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Consolidated statement of profit and loss
NOK ’000

Note

2021

2020

3

20 036
20 036

26 694
26 694

4
5,6
10,11,12
7

11 632
32 878
5 215
30 772
-60 461

6 323
10 988
357
14 987
-5 961

8
8

4 374
1 321
3 053

1 905
4 185
-2 280

-57 407
-975
-56 432

-8 241
7 727
-15 967

Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations
Net Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the year

337
337
-56 096

0
0
-15 967

Total comprehensive profit (loss) for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent company

-56 096

-15 967

-0,98

-0,36

Operating income and operating expenses
Revenue from contracts with customers
Total revenue
Cost of goods sold
Personnel expenses
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Other operating expenses
Operating profit/(loss)
Financial income
Financial expenses
Net financial income and expenses
Profit/(loss) before income tax
Income tax expense
Profit/(loss) for the year

9

Earnings per share (in NOK):
Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share

HydrogenPro AS
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Consolidated statement of financial position
NOK ’000
Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right of use assets
Non-current tax asset
Investments in associated companies
Loan to associated companies
Other receivables
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Cash and bank deposits
Total current assets

2021

2020

2019

2, 10
11
2, 12
9
13
13
15

48 970
22 637
2 975
975
101
634
48 597
124 890

45 001
2 756
334

13 620
66

50

50

7
48 148

7
13 743

14
15
16

Total assets

HydrogenPro AS
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308
13 042
7 594
382 255
403 199

3 183
2 541
506 111
511 835

1
2
9
13

528 089

559 983

27 067

146
186
992
324
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Consolidated statement of financial position
NOK ’000
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Share premium account
Other equity contributed
Other equity
Translation reserves
Total equity

Note

2021

2020

2019

17
17
17, 18
17

58
576 141
26 800
-92 081
337
511 256

57
542 170
9 098
-35 648

31
9 843
1 460
-19 681

515 677

-8 346

1 365

180

1 365

180

353
23 264

1610
3 290
5 071
5 497
15 468

154
7 184
1 102
35 686
44 126

3 193
796
8 160
12 149

16 833

44 306

35 413

528 089

559 983

27 067

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing debt
Non-current lease liabilities
Other long term liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

12

Current liabilities
Current lease liabilities
Trade creditors
Public duties payable
Other short term liabilities
Total current liabilities

12
19
19
19

22 912

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

Porsgrunn/Oslo, 7 April 2022

(Electronically signed)

(Electronically signed)

(Electronically signed)

(Electronically signed)

(Electronically signed)

(Electronically signed)

Ellen Merethe Hanetho
Chair of the Board

Richard Espeseth
Board member

Jarle Tautra
Board member

Kermit J. Nash
Board member

Jarle Dragvik
Board member

Elling Nygaard
CEO
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Note

NOK ’000

Attributable to equity holders of the parent company
Other equity
Share premium
Other paid-in
Translation
Uncovered
reserve
capital
reserves
loss

Share
capital

2

18
17

Equity as at 01.01 2020:
Effect of implementing
Equity adjusted as at 01.01.2020
Cost of share-based payment
Issue of share capital
Profit for the period
Equity as at 31.12 2020
Adjusted equity as at 01.01 2021

17
18

Profit for the period
Other comprehensive
Issue of share capital
Cost of share-based payment
Total comprehensive income
Equity as at 31.12 2021
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31

9 843

1 460

-26 871
7 190
-19 681

31

9 843

1 460

26

532 327

57

542 170

9 098

-15 967
-35 648

57

542 170

9 098

-35 648

7 638

Total other
equity
-26 871
7 190
-19 681
0
0

-15 537
7 190
-8 347

-15 967
515 677
0
515 677
0
-56 432
337
33 972
17 702
-4 421
511 256

1

33 971

1

33 971

17 702
17 702

337

-56 432

-15 967
-35 648
0
-35 648
0
-56 432
337
0
0
-56 095

58

576 141

26 800

337

-92 080

-91 743

-56 432
337

Total
equity

7 638
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Consolidated statement of cash flow
NOK ’000

Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Net Income / (Loss) before tax
Depreciation, amortisation & impairment
Option cost no cash effect
Change in accounts receivable
Change in accounts payable
Write-down shares
Effect of foreign currency translation
Change in other accruals
Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Change in tangible assets
Change in intangible assets
Change in other investing activities
Net cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of loan
Proceeds from Equity Issue
Net cash flows from financing activities
Cash balance start of period
Net change in cash
Cash balance end of period
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10,11
14
19

15,19

11
10
13,15

2021

2020

-57 407
5 215
18 533
-9 859
-3 894
7
337
-548
-47 617

-8 241
357
7 638
-2 037
3 990
0
0
-5 398
-3 689

-20 793
-8 079
-49 178
-78 050

-2 333
-6 947
0
-9 280

0
1 812
1 812

-23 264
532 353
509 088

506 111
-123 855
382 256

9 992
496 119
506 111
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Notes
Note - 1.1 Corporate information

Hydrogenpro AS (“the Company”) is a public limited company, incorporated in Norway,
headquartered in Porsgrunn and listed on Euronext Growth, Address headquarters: Hydrovegen
6, 3933 Porsgrunn, Norway.
The Company was established in 2013 by individuals with background from the electrolysis
industry which was established in Telemark, Norway by Norsk Hydro in 1927. HydrogenPro
comprises an experienced engineering team of leading industry experts, drawing upon
unparalleled experience and expertise within the hydrogen and renewable sectors. By
combining in-depth knowledge with innovative design, the company continuously aspire to
pioneer game-changing ideas and solutions to realise and maximise new opportunities in a
smarter, sustainable, hydrogen powered future. HydrogenPro designs and supplies customized
hydrogen plants in cooperation with global partners and suppliers, all ISO 9001, ISO 45001
and ISO 14001 certified. The core product is the alkaline high-pressure electrolyser. Recently
the company acquired a new plating technology through the acquisition of Advanced Surface
Plating ApS in Denmark.
HydrogenPro is listed on Euronext Growth at Oslo Stock Exchange under the ticker “HYPRO“.
The consolidated financial statements of Hydrogenpro AS for the fiscal year 2021 were
approved in the board meeting at 07.04.2022.

Note 1.2 - Basis for preparation

The Group has so far seen limited business impact related to the Covid-19 pandemic. The Board
continues to monitor the situation carefully to ensure appropriate measures are taken as the
situation continues to unfold during 2022.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Norwegian kroner (“NOK”). For each
entity, the Group determines the functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. HydrogenPro has
Norwegian krone (“NOK”) as its functional currency and its subsidiary have DKK as their
functional currency.
For presentation purposes, balance sheet items are translated from functional currency
to presentation currency by using exchange rates at the reporting date. Items within total
comprehensive income are translated from functional currency to presentation currency by
applying yearly average exchange rates. The resulting translation differences are recognized in
other comprehensive income.

Note 1.3 - Significant accounting judgements, estimates and
assumptions
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS and applying
the chosen accounting policies requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

The consolidated financial statements of HydrogenPro AS and its subsidiaries (collectively
“the Group”, or “HydrogenPro”) comprise consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated statement of cash flows, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and related notes.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may
differ from these estimates. The estimates and the underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis.

The group’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU).
IFRS have been implemented for the first time in 2020, and the transition is described in note 2.

The accounting policies applied by management which includes a significant degree of
estimates and assumptions or judgments that may have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognized in the financial statements, are summarized below:

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except
when otherwise stated.

•
•

Further, the consolidated financial statements are prepared based on the going concern
assumption.

A detailed description of the significant estimates and assumptions are included in the individual
note referenced above.

HydrogenPro AS
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Revenue recognition from contracts with customers (note 3)
Estimating fair value for share-based payments transactions (note 18)
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Notes
1.4 General accounting policies

HydrogenPro has selected a presentation in which the description of accounting policies as well
as estimates, assumptions and judgmental considerations are disclosed in the accounting policy
note. If not, it is disclosed in the specific notes to which the policies relate. A thorough summary
of the Group’s general accounting policies not disclosed in the notes, are presented below:

Consolidation
Subsidiaries are all entities which the Group has control. Control of an entity occurs when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the day on which control is transferred to the Group. They are also eventual
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary, amounts
reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting principles.

Current versus non-current classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/
non-current classification.
An asset is current when it is:
•
•
•
•

Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle,
Held primarily for the purpose of trading,
Expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period, or
Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability
for at least twelve months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as noncurrent.

It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle,
It is held primarily for the purpose of trading,
It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or
There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting period. The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.
HydrogenPro AS

The consolidated statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method.

Transactions and balances in foreign currency
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at year-end exchange rates are recognised in profit or loss.

Revenue recognition
The revenue in HydrogenPro is from sale of both hydrogen electrolyser systems and engineering
services, including installation, commissioning, and long-term service agreements. Project
execution is key in HydrogenPro’s construction projects.
The group’s revenues result from the sale of goods or services and reflect the consideration
to which the group is and expect to be entitled. IFRS 15 requires the group to assess revenue
recognition based on a five-step model. For its customer contracts, the group identifies the
performance obligations (goods or services), determines the transaction price, allocates the
contract transaction price to the performance obligations, and recognises the revenue when (or
as) the performance obligations are satisfied.
Revenue recognition is determined on a contract-by-contract basis by determining the terms
and performance obligations given in a specific contract. Based on the specific contract and its
obligations, revenue under IFRS 15 is either recognised at a point in time or over time. Revenue
is recognised over-time using the method that best depicts the pattern of the transfer of control
over time. The method applied is the cost-to-cost input method to determine the percentage
of completion. This method includes adjustments of time and goods that are delivered to the
customer. Contract costs are expensed as incurred.
The Group applied the following judgements that significantly affect the determination of the
timing of revenue recognition and amounts of revenue contracts with customers:

A liability is current when:
•
•
•
•

Statement of cash flows
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Performance obligations
In determining whether revenue from specific contract can be classified as customised and
in turn recognised using a progress-based measurement, several criteria must be evaluated.
The first criterion is related to alternative use. Manufacturing a customised product or piece of
equipment for a specific customer that would require significant cost to modify to be able to
transfer it to another a customer, then the contract would likely meet the criteria of alternate
use. The other important criterion is that an enforceable right to payment exists in the contract
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Notes
between the group and the customer. Right to payment entails that the group has a right to
receive payment from the customer if the contract would be terminated. Upon termination at a
certain time, the group should be able to recover costs incurred and a reasonable margin.
Total contract costs
In a customised customer project, HydrogenPro uses cost-to-cost input method when measuring
progress; thus, the total cost estimates can significantly impact measured progress and
revenue recognition. The total project cost comprises estimates on the ability to execute the
planned engineering and design phase, the availability of skilled resources, performance of
subcontractors, foreign currency and HydrogenPro’s manufacturing capacity, productivity and
quality.
Amount – Liquidated damages (LDs)
LDs are penalties for not achieving defined milestones on time. LDs are common in construction
contracts. As the payment to the customer is not in exchange for a distinct good or service that
transfers to HydrogenPro, LD’s must be accounted for as a reduction revenue. If a project does
not meet the defined milestone in a contract, a provision reducing the transaction price is made
unless it is highly probable that LD will not be imposed. The estimated LD provision is highly
judgmental. HydrogenPro estimates variable consideration using the most likely amount.

Type of goods or services
The group generates revenue from customer contracts from two principal sources: i) Equipment
and projects and ii) R&D, FEED-studies, service and aftermarket. The equipment and projects
sales are generated from both standard and customised electrolysers and gass seperators.
In the event, the company deliver on standard equipment, the group recognises revenue at the
point in time at which it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring the control of a good
or service to the customer. Generally, this upon agreed incoterms, which is mainly at shipment.
The customer has control of a good or service when it has the ability to direct the use of and
obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from the good or service.
Most of HydrogenPro’s revenue until now stems from sale of customisation of the equipment.
Such sale of customised equipment is recognised as revenue over-time if the equipment cannot
be sold to other customers without significant re-work and HydrogenPro has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.
Electrolyser systems
Revenue from sale of customised equipment and projects is determined to be a bundle of goods
HydrogenPro AS
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where all of the components constitute the combined output, i.e. one performance obligation.
The performance obligation is satisfied over time and HydrogenPro recognise revenue over
the period the performance obligation is satisfied, using a cost-to-cost input method that best
depicts the pattern of the transfer of control over time. The progress-based measurement of
revenue has been the main method of recognising revenue from electrolyser projects of largescale electrolyser systems.
Engineering services
Revenue from engineering services such as design, documentation, drawings for customers can
either be recognised over-time measuring progress using input method cost-to-cost, or at pointin time, where the performance obligation is put to an hour-by-hour basis.
For both revenue streams, if there are circumstance that the unavoidable costs directly related
to project is expected to exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under the
contract, the estimated loss on the contract will be recognised in its entirety in the period when
such loss is identified.

Contract balances
Equipment contracts with a customer will usually have milestone payments with variable
structures. The contract price will be invoiced when certain criteria are met. A typical milestone
structure could be contract acceptance, placement of major supplier purchases, delivery/
shipment and complete installation and commissioning. The payment structure of the contracts
typically results in advance payments and progress billings exceed the satisfaction of
performance obligations in progress. Consequently, creating a net contract liability. Or, in the
opposite event, if the group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the
customer pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the
earned consideration that is conditional.
A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred
to the customer. As of the balance sheet date, the cumulative costs incurred plus recognised
profit (less recognised loss) on each contract is compared against the advances and progress
billings. Where the cumulative costs incurred plus the recognised profits (less recognised
losses) exceed advances and progress billings, the balance is presented as due from customers
on construction contracts within “contract assets”. When the contract assets become an
unconditional right to consideration they are reclassified and presented separately as trade
receivables, usually when invoices are issued to the customers.
A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
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group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If
a customer pays consideration before the group transfers goods or services to the customer,
a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made, or the payment is due (whichever
is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the group performs under the
contract. Where advances and progress billings exceed the cumulative costs incurred plus
recognised profits (less recognised losses), the balance is presented as due to customers on
construction contracts within “contract liabilities”.
Please find illustrative tables from the nature of revenues for HydrogenPro in Note 3.

Leases
The group recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all lease contracts, except
leases that are considered short-term (lease term of 12 months or less), or for which underlying
assets are of a low value when new.
Right-of-use assets
The group recognises right-of-use asset at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use
assets are initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liabilities
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, adjusted for
initial direct costs and lease incentives received. The right-of-use assets are subsequently
depreciated using the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or the useful life of
the underlying asset. In addition, the right-of-use assets are reduced by any impairment charges
and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liabilities.
Lease liabilities
The group recognises a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The lease liabilities are
measured at the present value of future lease payments at the commencement date, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the
group’s incremental borrowing rate. HydrogenPro utilises the incremental borrowing rate as the
discount rate for virtually all lease agreements. Lease payments included in the measurement of
the lease liabilities comprise the following:
•
•

Fixed lease payments, less any lease incentives received
Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability, reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made and
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remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect
adjustments in lease payments due to an adjustment in and index or rate.
The Group presents its lease liabilities as separate line items in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
The Group does not act as a lessor.
See note 12 for more information.

Share-based payments
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the share option plan.
Information relating to the options scheme is set out in note 18.
The employee option plan is regarded as equity settled share-based payments. The fair value
of options granted under the share option plan is recognised as an employee benefits expense
or other operating cost (if it is given to external consultants) with a corresponding increase
in equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted.
The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting
and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in
profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
For further information refer note 5 (salary and benefit) and 18 (share option plan).

Income tax
The tax expense consists of the tax payable and changes to deferred tax. Deferred tax/tax
assets are calculated on all differences between the book value and tax value of assets and
liabilities, with the exception of:
•
•

temporary differences linked to goodwill that are not tax deductible
temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures
when the Group controls when the temporary differences are to be reversed and this is not
expected to take place in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised when it is probable that the company will have a sufficient
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profit for tax purposes in subsequent periods to utilise the tax asset. The companies recognise
previously unrecognised deferred tax assets to the extent it has become probable that the
company can utilise the deferred tax asset. Similarly, the company will reduce a deferred tax
asset to the extent that the company no longer regards it as probable that it can utilise the
deferred tax asset.

Intangible assets

Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are measured on the basis of the expected future tax rates
applicable to the companies in the Group where temporary differences have arisen.

Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not
capitalised but are expensed as occurred.

Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are recognised at their nominal value and classified as
non-current asset investments (long-term liabilities) in the balance sheet.

The economic life is either definite or indefinite. Intangible assets with a definite economic life
are amortised over their economic life and tested for impairment if there are any indications. The
amortisation method and period are assessed at least once a year. Changes to the amortisation
method and/or period are accounted for as a change in estimate.

Taxes payable and deferred taxes are recognised directly in equity to the extent that they relate
to equity transactions.

Intangible assets that have been acquired separately are carried at cost. The costs of intangible
assets acquired through an acquisition are recognised at their fair value in the Group’s opening
balance sheet. Capitalised intangible assets are recognised at cost less any amortisation and
impairment losses.

Intangible assets with an indefinite economic life are tested for impairment at least once a year,
either individually or as a part of a cash-generating unit.

See note 9 for tax.

Research and development
Expenses relating to research activities are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income as they incur. Expenses relating to development activities are capitalised to the extent
that the product or process is technically and commercially viable and the Group has sufficient
resources to complete the development work. Expenses that are capitalised include the costs
of materials, direct wage costs and a share of the directly attributable common expenses.
Capitalised development costs are recognised at their cost minus accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses.
Capitalised development costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
life of the asset.

Tangible assets

Intangible assets with an indefinite economic life are not amortised. The economic life is
assessed annually with regard to whether the assumption of an indefinite economic life can be
justified. If it cannot, the change to a definite economic life is made prospectively.

Patents, licenses and technology
Amounts paid for patents, licenses and technology are capitalised and amortised in a straight
line over the expected useful life. The expected useful life of patents and licenses varies from 5
til 10 years.

Government grants
Government grants related to construction of an asset. The company have not received any
grants recognised over profit and loss.

Tangible assets are valued at their cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
When assets are sold or disposed of, the carrying amount is derecognised and any gain or loss
is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Financial instruments

The depreciation period and method are assessed each year.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the Group’s statement of financial
position when The Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.

Assets under construction are classified as non-current assets and recognised at cost until
the production or development process is completed. Assets under construction are not
depreciated until the asset is taken into use.
HydrogenPro AS
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The Group’s financial instruments are grouped as:
•
•

Financial assets: Other non-current receivables, Trade receivables and Cash and cash
equivalents.
Financial liabilities: Non-current interest bearing debt, Non-current lease liabilities, Trade
payables, Current lease liabilities.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at amortized cost with the
exception of the convertible loan measured at fair value against profit and loss.
The carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are presented in note
20 (Financial instruments), along with descriptions of the key risk areas and exposure for
HydrogenPro.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash includes cash in hand and at bank. Cash equivalents are short-term liquid investments
that can be immediately converted into a known amount of cash and have a maximum term to
maturity of three months.

Cost of equity transactions
Transaction costs directly related to an equity transaction are recognised directly in equity after
deducting tax expenses.
Translation differences
Translation differences arise in connection with exchange-rate differences of consolidated
foreign entities.
Exchange-rate differences in monetary amounts (liabilities or receivables) which are in reality
a part of a company’s net investment in a foreign entity are also included as translation
differences.

Inventories
The subsidiary Advanced Surface Plating ApS have recognised inventory in 2021. These are
measured and valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Net realisable value is the
estimated future sales price of the product the group expects to realise when the product is
processed and sold, less estimated costs to complete production and bring the product to sale.

Contingent liabilities and assets

In the statement of cash flows, the overdraft facility is stated minus the balance of cash and
cash equivalents.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the annual accounts. Significant contingent liabilities
are disclosed, with the exception of contingent liabilities that are unlikely to be incurred.

Equity

Contingent assets are not recognised in the annual accounts but are disclosed if there is a
certain probability that a benefit will be added to the Group.

Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the underlying
economic realities.
Interest, dividend, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument classified as a liability will
be presented as an expense or income. Amounts distributed to holders of financial instruments
that are classified as equity will be recorded directly in equity.
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Provisions
The group makes provisions when a legal or constructive obligation exists as a result of past
events, it is more likely than not that a transfer of financial resources will be required to settle
the obligation, and the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. When the group
expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract,
the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain. When the effect is significant, provisions are calculated by discounting expected
cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects the time value of money and if appropriate the risks
specific to the liability. Increase in provisions as a result of time passing, is presented as interest
expense.
Onerous contracts
An onerous contract is a contract in which the unavoidable costs (i.e. the lower of the cost
of fulfilling the contract and any compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it)
exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under the contract. For all contracts
that are onerous, the present obligation under the contract is recognised and measured as a
provision.
Social security share options		
Social security stock options are the provision for social security payable in Norway, calculated
at the intrinsic value at year end. The provision fluctuates with the number of active options,
timing of exercise and the share price. See note 18 for further information on share option
program.

Earnings per share
Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit/loss for the year by the corresponding
weighted average of the number of outstanding shares during the reporting period. ‘Diluted
earnings per share’ is based on the same calculation as for earnings per share, but it also
considers all potential shares with dilutive effect that have been outstanding during the period.
Potential shares relate to agreements that confer the right to issue shares in future. Options are
excluded if their effect would have been anti-dilutive.

Note 2 - First-time adoption of IFRS
These financial statements, for the period ended 31 December 2021 are the first the Group has
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by
the European Union (EU).
Accordingly, the Group has prepared financial statements that comply with IFRS applicable as at
31 December 2021 together with the comparative period ended 31 December 2020.
This note explains the principal adjustments made by the Group when transitioning to IFRS
from its previous reporting framework; Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in Norway
(“NGAAP”) as of 1 January 2020, as well as for the period ended 31 December 2020. Because
the quarterly report for the fourth quarter 2021 was published earlier, the period ended 31
December 2021 is also included in this note.
As illustrated in the reconciliation below, the transition of financial figures for the year end
2020, did not implement any adjustments resulting in changes in profit and loss. The only IFRS
adjustment made for 1. January 2020 was due to principal differences. The adjustments for 31
December 2020 did only influence the balance sheet items. The adjustments are explained more
in detail in the section in the end of this note.
31.12.2020
NOK ’000
Profil/(loss) for the year

Note

NGAAP

Effect of
transition
to IFRS

IFRS

-15 967

-

-15 967

Earnings per share is calculated as profit/(loss) attributable to the equity holders of the parent
company divided by the average number of shares outstanding.
See note 17 for more details about earnings per share.
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Reconciliation of the group’s equity reported in accordance with previous GAAP to its Equity in accordance with IFRS, at the date of transition to IFRS (1 January 2020)
01.01.2020
NOK ’000

Note

01.01.2020
NGAAP

Effect of
transition
to IFRS

IFRS

Assets

NOK ’000

Share capital

Property, plant and equipment

66

-

66

Share premium account

13 620

-

13 620

Other equity contributed

Right-of-use assets

-

-

-

Other equity

Financial investments

7

-

7

Non-controlling interests

50

-

50

-

-

-

-

-

-

Non current liabilities

13 743

-

13 743

Interest-bearing debt

Intangible assets

Investments in associated companies
Loans to associated companies
Non - current tax asset

F

Total equity

Lease liabilities
Inventories

-

-

-

Trade receivables

1 146

-

1 146

Other long term liabilities

Other current receivables

2 185

-

2 185

Deferred tax liability

Cash

9 992

-

9 992

Total non current liabilities

Total current assets

13 324

-

13 324

Total assets

27 067

-

27 067

Pension liabilities

Effect of
transition
to IFRS

31

-

31

9 843

-

9 843

IFRS

-

1 460

7 190

-19 681

-

-

-

-15 536

7 190

-8 346

22 912

-

22 912

-

-

-

-

-

-

353

-

353

-

-

-

-

23 264

Interest-bearing loans

-

-

-

Current lease liabilities

-

-

-

3 193

-

3 193

796

-

796

15 350

-7 190

8 160

-

-

-

Total liabilities

19 339

-7 190

12 149

Total equity and liabilities

27 067

-

27 067

Current Liabilities

Public duties payable
Other short term liabilities
Current tax
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1 460
-26 871

23 264

Trade creditors
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Equity and liabilities

Non - current assets

Total non - current assets

Note

F
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Reconciliation of the group’s equity reported in accordance with previous GAAP to its Equity in accordance with IFRS, at the date of transition to IFRS (31 January 2020)
31.12.2020

31.12.2020
NOK ’000

Note

NGAAP

Effect of
transition
to IFRS

IFRS

NOK ’000

Assets

Equity and liabilities

Non - current assets

Share capital
B

Right-of-use assets

A

NGAAP

Effect of
transition
to IFRS

IFRS

57

-

57

2 756

-

2 756

Share premium account

542 170

-

542 170

55 308

-10 307

45 001

Other equity contributed

9 098

-

9 098

-35 648

-

-35 648

-

-

-

515 677

-

515 677

-

-

-

-

180

180

-

-

-

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Note

Other equity

-

334

334

7

-

7

50

-

50

-

-

-

58 122

-9 973

48 148

-

-

-

Trade receivables

3 183

-

3 183

Other long term liabilities

-

-

-

Other current receivables

2 541

-

2 541

Deferred tax liability

10 307

-10 307

-

Cash

506 111

-

506 111

Total non current liabilities

10 307

-10 127

180

Total current assets

511 835

-

511 835

Total assets

569 956

-9 973

559 983

-

-

-

Financial investments
Investments in associated companies
Loans to associated companies

Total equity
Non current liabilities

Non - current tax asset
Total non - current assets

Non-controlling interests

Interest-bearing debt
Lease liabilities

Inventories

A

Pension liabilities

Current Liabilities
Interest-bearing loans
Current lease liabilities
Trade creditors
Public duties payable
Other short term liabilities
Current tax
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
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A

154

154

7 184

-

7 184

1 102

-

1 102

35 686

-

35 686

-

-

-

43 972

154

44 126

569 956

-9 973

559 983
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Reconciliation of the group’s equity reported in accordance with previous GAAP to its Equity in accordance with IFRS, at the date of transition to IFRS (31 January 2021)
31.12.2021

31.12.2021
NOK ’000

Note

NGAAP
(unaudited)

Effect of
transition
to IFRS

IFRS

NOK ’000

Assets

Equity and liabilities

Non - current assets

Share capital

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Right-of-use assets

58

-

58

-176

22 637

Share premium account

576 141

-

576 141

65 815

-16 845

48 970

Other equity contributed

26 800

-

26 800

-86 133

-5 610

-91 744

-

-

-

516 866

-5 610

511 256

-

-

-

-

1 365

1 365

-

-

-

2 975

2 975

-

48 597

Investments in associated companies

101

-

101

Loans to associated companies

634

-

634

A

Other equity
Total equity

-

975

975

Non current liabilities

-13 071

124 890

Interest-bearing debt

308

-

308

13 042

-

13 042

7 594

-

7 594

Cash

382 255

-

382 255

Total current assets

403 199

-

403 199

Total assets

541 160

-13 071

528 089

D

Non current lease liabilities
Inventories
Other current receivables

E, F

Non-controlling interests

137 961

A

Pension liabilities
Other long term liabilities

-

-

-

Deferred tax liability

10 436

-10 436

-

Total non current liabilities

10 436

-9 071

1 365

-

-

-

Current Liabilities
Interest-bearing loans
Current lease liabilities

-

1 610

1 610

Trade creditors

3 290

-

3 290

Public duties payable

5 071

-

5 071

Other short term liabilities

5 497

-

5 497

Current tax
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
HydrogenPro AS
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22 814
-

Trade receivables

Effect of
transition
to IFRS

C

48 597

Total non - current assets

NGAAP
(unaudited)

B, E

Financial investments

Non - current tax asset

Note
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A

-

-

-

13 858

1 610

15 468

541 160

-13 071

528 089
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Reconciliation to the Group’s statement of comprehensive income in accordance with IFRS for the
latest period in the entitiy’s most recent annual financial statements (31 December 2021)

A - Leases
The group apply IFRS 16 to its lease contracts.

31.12.2021
NOK ’000

Note

NGAAP
(unaudited)

Effect of
transition
to IFRS

IFRS

Revenues

20 036

20 036

Cost of sale

11 632

11 632

Gross profit

8 404

-

8 404

E

30 941

1 387

32 328

Other operating expenses

A, E

26 519

4 803

31 322

Depreciation and amortization

A, B

6 227

-1 012

5 215

-55 283

-5 178

-60 461

Salary and personnel expenses

Operating profit (loss)
Financial income

4 374

4 374

Financial expenses

1 321

1 321

-

-

Income from associated companies
Profit (loss) before tax

Explanation of adjustments and reclassifications

At, 1 January 2020, the group did not recognise any “right-of-use assets” or “lease liability
“because no leases had a duration of 12 months or longer.
At, 31 December 2020, the IFRS financial statements recognised a lease contract from several
leasing agreements on vehicles, which resulted in some reclassifications. Right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities have been recognised for an amount of 334 TNOK. TNOK 180 corresponds
to the ‘non-current lease liabilities’ and TNOK 154 has been classified as “current lease
liabilities”. The recognition did not make any changes in the statement of profit & loss.
At, 31 December 2021, the company negotiated a new rental agreement at the headquarter
address, Hydrovegen 6, in Porsgrunn. The lease term had a duration of more than 12 months
and was therefore recognised as lease contract after IFRS 16. However, the initial lease term is
effective from 01.01.2022. Then the initial recognition date was 31.12.2021, where the Right-ofuse asset have been recognised for an amount of 2 795 TNOK, non-current lease liability for an
amount of 1 339 TNOK and 1 456 TNOK as current lease liability.

-52 230

-5 178

-57 407

-1 231

257

-975

-50 998

-5 434

-56 432

-50 998

-5 434

-56 432

337

337

-

337

337

Depreciation has been increased for an amount of TNOK 154. Other operating expenses has
been reversed for an amount of TNOK 154.

Of which:

-

337

337

Controlling interests

0

0

0

Non-controlling interests

0

0

0

Profit for the year

-

-

-

B - Business combination
Under NGAAP, consolidation of Advanced Surface Plating ApS led to a recognised intangible
asset and a deferred tax liability. Under IFRS this is considered to be acquisition of an asset,
and do not constitute a business combination.

Tax

D

Net profit (loss)
Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences gain

B

Net Other comprehensive income

Related to the leasing agreements on vehicles, the Right-of-use asset in 2021 is recognised
to be NOK 179 thousand. Non-current lease liabilities have been recognised for an amount
of 25 NOK thousand, and NOK 154 thousand corresponds to the “current lease liability”.
The application of IFRS 16 resulted in several effects in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

At, 1 January 2020, there were no business combinations.
The transition from NGAAP to IFRS has not led to significant changes to the cash flow
statement.
HydrogenPro AS

Integrated report 2021

At, 31 December 2020, the IFRS adjustments of 10,307 MNOK reflect the reversal of deferred
tax. The cost of the acquisition is therefore allocated to the individual identifiable assets and
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the liabilities on the basis of their fair values at the date of purchase. The acquisition was made
22 December 2020 thus there were no amortization subject for adjustments until the ending
balance sheet date.
At, 31 December 2021, an earn-out of 4,8 MNOK was added to the initial acquisition cost. The
IFRS adjustments of 10,501 represent a reversal of the deferred tax liability, a correction of the
amortization as a result of the adjustment in initial acquisition cost. Useful life is still considered
to be 10 years.
The IFRS adjustment of translation differences due to consolidation is recognised in the OCI
with 337 TNOK in 2021.
C - Property plant and equipment
The IFRS adjustment of NOK 176 thousand reflects a correction from 2020 that was made in the
NGAAP financial statements as a simplification rule for small businesses, directly towards other
equity. The amount was originally from Skattefunn as a result of 2020. However, it was received
after the annual report was published for the fiscal year of 2020. In line with IFRS this amount
needs to be recognised in either the income statement or balance sheet in 2021. As a result,
the amount was recognised as a reduction of added costs related to the R&D center at Herøya,
which is the project supported by Skattefunn.
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D - Taxes
The IFRS adjustment of NOK 975 thousand reflects the recognition of deferred tax asset related
to the adjustments described above. This adjustment, mainly stem from the reversal of NOK
10,501 (10,307 in 2020) thousand on deferred tax liability, and the adjustment on amortization
basis from intangible assets.
E - Intangible assets
At, 31 December 2021 the IFRS adjustment of NOK 6,3 million reflects a difference in
consideration of the recognition criteria under IAS 38 (intangible assets under IFRS), which
led to a reversal of previously capitalized costs linked to the corporations and establishment of
supply chain in China. As a result, this reversal led to increase in personnel and other operating
expenses in the income statement by NOK 1.3 million and NOK 5.0 million respectively.
F - Equity and Provision
At, 1 January 2020, the IFRS adjustment of NOK 7 190 thousand reflects a correction from
previous years, that was accounted under the simplification rule for small businesses under
NGAAP (directly against other equity). This error from the previous year was a result of absence
of adjustments made towards provisions for loss and prepayments on contracts in 2019.
At, 31 December 2021 the IFRS adjustment of NOK 5 610 thousand reflects the effect on other
equity related to the IFRS adjustment described above. The effect is mainly due to the reversal
of intangible assets described below.
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Note 3 - Revenue from contracts with customers

NOK ’000
Revenue recognised over time

Geographical region
NOK ’000

2021

2020

Norway

0

136

Europe

906

8 413

16 204

18 144

2 926

0

20 036

26 694

America
Asia Pacific
Total

2021

2020

456

0

1 348

787

Included in trade receivables
Contract assets (accrued revenue)

Total revenue

2020

20 019

26 694

17
20 036

26 694

2021

2020

11 344

6 093

193

229

Note 4 - Cost of goods sold
NOK ’000
Cost of goods sold
Cost of handling and freight

Group balance sheet value of project
NOK ’000

Revenue recognised at point in time

2021

Other cost of goods sold
Total cost of materials

95
11 632

6 323

Note 5 - Personnel expenses

Included in short term debt
Contract liabilities (incl. prepayment from customers)

NOK ’000
Salaries and holiday pay

The revenue in HydrogenPro is from sale of Hydrogen electrolyser systems and engineering
services. Long term fixes-price contracts are valued to the percentage of completion method.
The degree of completion is calculated as expenses incurred as a percentage of estimated total
expense. Total expenses are reviewed on a regular basis. If projects are expected to result in
losses, the total estimated loss is recognised immediately.
The revenue is distributed as follows:
NOK ’000
Revenue from engineering services

2021

2020

3 700

25 069

Revenue from sale of goods

16 337

1 625

Total revenue

20 036

26 694

Revenues from contracts with costumers have the following distribution as recognized over time
or at point in time:
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2021

2020

28 203

9 051

0

1 340

1 445

557

Severance payment
Pension costs defined contribution plans (Note 6)
Other personnel costs
Total salaries and personnel expense

3 230

40

32 878

10 988

In addition, some invoices have been received for fees and bonuses, and these are included in
other operating expenses. Fees and bonuses to management is listed below.
The number of man-years that has been employed during the financial year:
2021

2020

Norway

15

10

Europe

1

Total

16

10
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Note 5 - Personnel expenses, continued
Board
fees

NOK ’000

Salary and
invoiced fees

Bonus

2 479

800

Benefits
in kind

Pension
cost

3

25

Other 1

Total
remuneration
2021

Total
remuneration
2020

3 279

1 886

CEO
Mårten Lunde (former CEO), through Enern Invest AS
Elling Nygaard (CEO)

360

388

Board of Directors
Ellen Hanetho (Chair)

316

316

40

Richard Espeseth

1 200

Jarle Tautra
Kermit Nash

96

96

Jarle Dragvik
Walter H Quam (former member)

450

1 214

1 664

51

Terje Mikalsen (former member)

40

* 1) Other compensation includes exercised options during the period (excluding social security tax)
No loans/sureties have been granted to the CEO, Chair or other related parties.
Options to leading employees
During the period, CEO and member of the board have been granted 1.487.170 new stock options. Below is an overview over the CEO and Board Members’ share options.
Name

Options Holder

Position

Mårten Lunde

Enern Invest AS

Former CEO

Elling Nygaard

Granted options

Forfeited

1 150 000

350 000

178 755

CEO

Ellen Hanetho
Ellen Hanetho

Opening balance

Opulentia Invest AS

Ending balance
1 321 245

450 000

COB

216 000

COB

1 490 000

Walter Hafslo Qvam

Former COB

314 000

TM Holding AS2

DOB

163 005

Total

Exercised

3 333 005

450 000

437 170

653 170
1 490 000

250 000

337 170

170 713

56 117
163 005

1 487 170

515 925

170 713

4 133 537

* 2) Jarle Dragvik is CEO of TM Holding AS, but the options have been awarded to TM Holding AS which is 100% owned by Terje Mikalsen.
Granted options are generally vested or earned during a period of three years according to a predetermined schedule. Options vested or earned can be exercised at any time and must be
exercised latest four years after award. The vesting requires continued employment or association with the company. For more details regarding stock option plan - see note 18.
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Notes
Note 6 - Pensions

Specification auditor’s fee
NOK ’000

Defined contribution plan						

Statutory audit

The Group’s companies in Norway, have defined contribution plans in accordance with local
laws. The contribution plan covers employees who work more than 20% FTE and amounts
between 1 G and 12 G of the salary. The percent of the salary is 7 %.

Other assurance services

The employees may influence the investment management through an agreement with Gjensidige
AS. The contribution is expensed when it is accrued. As of 31.12.2021 there were 20 members
covered by the scheme.					

2021

2020

819

304

12

216

Other non-assurance services

146

Total

977

520

2021

2020

* Statutory audit includes technical assistance with financial reporting

Note 8 - Finance income and cost

The contributions recognised as expenses equalled TNOK 1 445 in 2021 and TNOK 557 in
2020. The contributions to CEO was TNOK 25 in 2021 and TNOK 70 in 2020.			
		

Financial income
NOK ’000

Note 7 - Other operating expenses

Other financial income
Interest income

2 056

449

Other operating expenses

Foreign exchange gains

2 319

1 456

Total financial income

4 374

1 905

2021

2020

NOK ’000

2021

2020

Freight costs

7

104

Energy costs

72

1

Advertising

290

633

Repair and maintenance costs

137

44

1 784

1 689

817

749

Foreign exchange losses

19 720

10 224

Other financial expenses

7 946

1 542

Total financial expenses

30 772

14 987

Rental and leasing costs
Travel costs
Consultancy fees and external personnel
Other operating costs
Total operating expenses
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Finance expenses
NOK ’000
Interest on debts and borrowings

49

492

584

3 451

715

243

1 348

4 185
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Note 9 - Income tax
Tax expense for the year consists of
NOK ’000

Overview of temporary differences
2021

Income tax payable

2020

NOK ’000

2021

2020

0

0

Property plant & Equipment

5 126

619

Change in deferred tax

-975

7 727

Intangible assets

-4 137

0

Tax expense

-975

7 727

Non current receivables or liabilities in other currencies

1 371

0

Production contracts

5 210

5 744

-200

- 262

-7

0

Tax losses carry forward

-134 620

- 75 157

Total

-127 257

-69 056

Nominal tax rates for next year 22%

27 997

15 192

Deferred tax asset

27 997

15 192

Deferred tax asset not recognised in Statement of
financial position

27 022

15 192

975

0

Calculation of taxable income for the year
NOK ’000

2021

2020

-57 407

-8 243

-986

-25 508

Change in temporary differences

-1 072

-11 346

Effect from IFRS implementation

0

0

Use of loss carry forward

0

0

-59 466

-45 098

Profit before tax
Permanent differences

Taxable income

Why tax expense for the year does not amount to 22 % of the profit before tax
NOK ’000

2021

2020

-57 407

- 8 243

-12 630

- 1 813

-217

- 5 612

Prior year adjustments

0

0

Tax effect IFRS implementation

0

0

Currency translation differences

42

0

11 830

7 425

-975

0

Profit before tax
22% of profit before tax
22% of permanent differences

Change in not recognised deferred tax asset
(tax liabilities)
Income tax expense

Provisions
Other accruals

Deferred tax asset in the Statement of financial position

The majority of the deferred tax asset is related to loss carry forward. As of 31 December
2021 it is considered not likely that the tax loss carry forward will be utilised in the near future,
therefore the deferred tax assets is not capitalised.
Tax losses carry forward by country
NOK ’000
Norway
Denmark
Balance as of 31.12
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2021

2020

125 139

74 964

9 481

193

134 620

75 157
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Note 10 - Intangible assets
Internally developed intangible assets
NOK ’000

Technology Patents and licenses

Total 2021

Technology Patents and licenses

Total 2020

Carrying amount, 1 January
Additions - internally developed

36 545

8 456

45 001

Amortisation

4 821

3 285

Exchange differences

-4 137

Carrying amount, 31 December

37 229

11 741

48 970

36 545

8 456

45 001

36 545

8 456

Cost

41 366

11 741

Accumulated amortisation and write downs

-4 137

8 106

36 545

8 456

45 001

36 545

8 456

45 001

45 001

0

0

0

53 107

36 545

8 456

45 001

36 545

8 456

45 001

-4 137

As at 1 January
Cost
Accumulated amortisation and write downs
Exchange differences
Carrying amount
As at 31 December
-4 137

Exchange differences
Carrying amount

37 229

11 741

48 970

The Technology cost corresponds to the acquisition of the subsidiary Advance Surface Plating ApS (ASP). The financial lifetime is expected to be 10 years.
The acquisition date was 22th of December 2020, and the amortisation is considered to be effective from Januray 2021.
The Group has assessed the carrying value of the development cost as of 31.12.2021 and concider it to be intact.
The conclusion is based on:
•
•

The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset. The production line was completed by the end of 2021.
Calculations for expected earnings in Advanced Surface Plating ApS.
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Note 11 - Property, plant and equipment
NOK ’000
Accumulated cost 1 January 2021
Additions

Plant and
machinery

Movables

Machinery and
plant in progress

Total 2021

2 716

41

0

2 756

14 162

2 627

5 207

21 996

-1 185

-1 185

Skattefunn (Tax compensations)
Depreciation
Exchange differences
Carrying value 31 January 2021

-865

-60

-925

-4

-1

-5

16 009

2 606

3 017

147

4 022

22 637

As at January 1 2021
Acquisition cost
Accumulated depreciation and write downs

3 164

-302

-106

2 716

41

0

2 756

Acquisition cost

17 179

2 774

4 022

23 975

Accumulated depreciation and write downs

-1 171

-167

Carrying value

16 009

2 608

Economic life

5 years

5-10 years

linear

linear

Carrying value

-408

As at December 31 2021

Depreciation method
Technology centre Herøya - Machinery and plant in progress:
The Technology centre at Herøya comprises two containers located close to HQ of HydrogenPro
in Porsgrunn. The additions in 2021 corresponds to 5,2 MNOK. The container that HP aquired
in 2020 have been subject for 5 years straight line depreciation during 2021. The additions
made according to the in progress project, will be subject for depreciation when the lab is up
running, estimated to 01.01.2022. The work to set up the technology center, have been subject
for support from Skattefunn during 2021. The purchase cost will hereby be reduced accordingly.
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-1 337
4 022

22 637

Advanced Surface Plating Line
Additions in 2021 are equivalent to 14,2 MNOK in plant and machinery and 2,4 MNOK in
movables. These are costs incurred to establish the production plant facility in Aarhus. The
depreciation corresponds to straight line and was effective from 01.10.2021.
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Note 12 - Leases

Lease liabilities

The Group as a lessee

Undiscounted lease liabilities and maturity of cash outflows

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease.
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group uses the definition of a
lease in IFRS 16.
As a result of these assessments the Group has considered leasing for vehicles and the rental
contract for office space as leasing according to IFRS 16.

NOK ’000

Total

Less than 1 year

1 456

154

1 610

1-2 years

1 339

26

1 365

Total undiscounted lease liabilities at
31 December 2021

2 795

180

2 975

Summary of the lease liabilities
NOK ’000

Right-of-use assets
NOK ’000

Buildings

Acquisition cost 1 January 2021
Addition of right-of-use assets

2 795

Acquisition cost 31 December 2021

2 795

Vehicles

Total

334

334
2 795

334

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
1 January 2021

0

Depreciation
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
31 December 2021
Carrying amount of right-of-use assets
31 December 2021

154

154

0

154

154

2 795

180

2 975

Lower of remaining lease term or economic life
Depreciation method

3 129

4 years
linear

linear

Total

At initial application 01.01.2021
New lease liabilities recognised in the year

334
2 795

Cash payments for the principal portion of the lease liability
Total lease liabilities at 31 December 2021

-154
2 975

The leases do not contain any restrictions on the Group’s dividend policy or financing. The
Group does not have significant residual value guarantees related to its leases to disclose.

Variable lease payments
In addition to the lease liabilities above, the Group is committed to pay variable lease payments
for some of their leases. The variable lease payments are expensed as incurred.

Extension options
The Group’s rental contract for office space expires November 2023, whit a right for the Group
to extend the agreement for further three periods of a year. The Group has assessed whether
it is reasonably certain to exercise the renewal right and have not included any potential future
lease payment in the lease liabilities.

Purchase options
None of the agreements contain purchase options at the end date.
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Note 13 - List of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
The following subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements:
Company

Country of
incorporation

Main operations

Ownership
interest 2021

Voting
power 2021

Ownership
interest 2020

Voting
power 2020

Advanced Surface Plating ApS

Denmark

Technology industries

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

Hydrogenpro France *
Kvina Energy AS *

France

Technology industries

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

Norway

Technology industries

50 %

50 %

Loans to group companies, not consolidated away
NOK ’000

2021

2020

Kvina Energy AS

500

0

Hydrogenpro France

133

0

Total

633

0

2021

2020

12 586

3 183

Note 14 - Accounts receivables
NOK ’000
Accounts receivables
Receivables related to revenue from contracts with customers - external
Receivables, accrued, not invoiced

456

Total accounts receivables (Gross)

13 042

3 183

13 042

3 183

Allowance for expected credit losses
Total accounts receivables (Net)
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Note 15 - Other non-current receivables

Note 16 - Cash and cash equivalents

NOK ’000

2021

2020

NOK ’000

Pre-paid costs

7 594

2 541

Cash

Total other current assets short term

7 594

2 541

Receivables from associated companies
Other receivables

2021

2020

Short-term bank deposits

382 255

506 111

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet

382 255

506 111

3 710
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the
following at 31 December:

495

Convertible receivables

26 458

Long term investment

17 934

Total other long term current assets

48 598

The Group has no credit facilities.
-

Additional information regarding Other long-term receivables:

NOK ’000

2021

2020

Restricted bank deposit

1 745

372

Long-term investment
17 November 2021 HydrogenPro reached an agreement with Tianjin HQY Hydrogen Machinery
Co., Ltd. (“THM”) to take control over the fabrication supply of electrolysers. HP have pre-paid
approximately NOK 18 million as part of the NOK 48 million capital injection as of 31.12.2021.
The pre-payments are classified as other long-term receivables.
Convertible loan DG Fuels
29 October 2021 HydrogenPro announced that it will join as a co-investor by financing DG
Fuels, LLC’s (“DG Fuels”) sustainable aviation fuel (SAF) project.
The convertible receivable note is measured at fair value with measurement effects on profit or
loss based on the level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. As the agreement and payment was made
late in 2021, the face value is considered also to represent the fair value at year end.
Thus, no measurement effects are recognised in the profit or loss.
See note 20 for reconciliation of the financial instruments.
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Note 17 - Share capital, shareholder information and dividend

2021
Ordinary shares

The 20 main shareholders at 31.12.21 are:

NOK 0,001 per share in 2021

Number of
shares

Ownership
interest

11 424 125

19.69 %

TM Holding AS

9 635 182

16.60 %

Clearstream Banking S.A.

6 280 423

10.82 %

Mitsubishi heavy Industries Ltd

5 381 165

9.27 %

Vivan Espeseth

3 173 571

5.47 %

Citibank Europe plc

1 600 000

2.76 %

Avanza Bank AB

1 523 731

2.63 %

Eneren Invest AS

1 506 966

2.60 %

Verdipapirfondet DNB SMB

1 174 894

2.02 %

Ellen Hanetho (Chair)

872 205

1.50 %

Richard Espeseth 1)

Richard Espeseth

Nordnet Bank AB

58 028 171

57 169 312

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
- for basic EPS:

57 598 536

44 287 500

-56 096

-15 967

Number of
shares

Ownership
interest

11 424 125

19.69 %

1 000

0.00 %

2 200

0.00 %

10 315

0.02 %

Profit/(Loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders
- for basic EPS:
Board of Directors and Management

1 373 571

2.37 %

Jan Fredrik Garvik

1 337 411

2.30 %

Kermit Nash

Goldman Sachs & CO LLC

415 629

0.72 %

Jarle Dragvik 3)

LJM AS

350 000

0.60 %

Elling Nygaard (CEO) 4)

335 335

0.58 %

1 322 981

2.28 %

Verdipapirfondet Pareto Investment

841 000

1.45 %

Barclays Capital SEC LTD FIRM

745 934

1.29 %

Nordea Bank Abp

727 783

1.25 %

VPG Norge Selektiv

604 914

1.04 %

Top 20 shareholders

50 626 820

87.25 %

Sum other shareholders

7 401 351

12.75 %

Total number of shares

58 028 171

100.00 %
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57 169 312

Total

Tor Danielsen

DZ Private Bank S.A

58 028 171

NOK 0,001 per share in 2020

Jarle Tautra 2)

The Bank og New York Mellon

2020

1. In addition 3.173.571 shares are held by Ricard Espeseth’s spouse. These are not included
in the total presented in the table above.
2. Held through the controlled company Jasmig AS.
3. 2.200 shares are held by the controlled company Jardis Invest AS. In addition, 9.635.182
shares are held by TM Holding As, where Jarle Dragvik is CEO, but does not own any shares.
4. In addition 5.890 shares are held by Elling Nygaard’s spouse. These are not included in the
total presented in the table above.

73

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes
Note 18 - Shareholder option plan

The outstanding options are subject to the following conditions:

Option programme		

Expiry date

The company has a share option programme covering certain employees in senior positions.
At 2019, employees, board members and guarantorer were included in the option programme.
Granted options are generally vested or earned during a period of three years according to a
predetermined schedule. Options vested and earned can be exercised and must be exercised at
latest four years after grant. The vesting requires continued employment or association with the
company. 		

Average strike price

Number of share options

2022

7,0

1 490 000

2023

7,0

1 454 005

2024

7,0

292 378

2025

24,8

2 053 419

Total

5 289 802

The purpose of the establishment of the options program is to attract and retain key personnel.
The fair value and annual expense/costs of the options are calculated based on the BlackScholes model, and expensed over the vesting period. The annual costs calculated for the
option program for 2021 are based on the Black & Scholes formula with input factors as a risk
free interest rate, volatility factor and share price at grant date. The fair value of the individual
options at grant date, are then distributed over the vesting schedule agreement.

The calculations are based on the following assumptions:

Social security tax provisions are accrued on a quarterly basis and becomes payable at
exercise of the options. The social security tax provisions are estimated based on the gain on
the share-based instruments multiplied with the relevant social security tax rate.

Volatility
It is assumed that historic volatility is an indication of future volatility. The expected volatility is
therefore stipulated to be the same as the historic volatility.

The total expense recognised for the share-based programs, excluding social security, during
2021 was NOK 18,1 (8,1) million. The total social security accruals at the end of the year are
NOK 0.4 million. The total accumulated cost expensed related to share-based payments are
NOK 26.8 (8) million as of 31 December 2021.

The term of the option
It is assumed that 90 % of the employees will exercise the options once they are exercisable.
The options are expected to have a term of 4 years.

Average weighted strike price (NOK)
Average option life
Weighted average risk-free interest rate
Weighted average volatility

4
1,04 %
63 %

Dividend
The estimated dividend per share is NOK 0 per annum.

Overview of outstanding options
NOK ’000

2021

2020

Outstanding options 1.1

3 740 000

1 591 000

Options granted

2 377 170

2 249 000

Options forfeited

(568 509)

(100 000)

Options exercised

(258 859)

-

Outstanding options 31.12

5 289 802

3 740 000

Of which exercisable

3 680 811

845 500

Options expired

HydrogenPro AS
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Risk-free interest rate
The risk-free interest rate is set equal to the interest rate on government bonds during the term
of the option, i.e. 1,04 % for 2021.
The fair value of options granted in 2021 was estimated to be NOK 31,2 million (NOK 6,4 million
in 2020). The value of the options are expensed through profit and loss, over an average vesting
period of 4 years.
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Note 19 - Account payable and other current liabilities
NOK ’000

2021

2020

Trade accounts payables

3 290

7 184

Debt to associates and joint ventures
Liabilities to associated companies

35 686

Government taxes, tax deductions etc.

5 071

1 102

Other liabilities

7 107

154

15 468

44 126

Total

Capital management				
The Group’s main goal is to maximize shareholder value while ensuring the Group’s ability to
continue operations. The Group has a target to maintain a capital structure that gives the Group
an optimal capital binding given the current market situation. The Group makes the necessary
changes to their capital structure based on an ongoing assessment of the business’ financial
situation and future prospects in the short and medium term.				
Financial risk instruments by category
Financial instruments as of 31.12.2021

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms. Interest
payable is normally settled quarterly.

NOK ’000

HydrogePro entered into a share purchase agreement with the initial shareholders of Advanced
Surface Plating ApS on 20th of December 2020. As the payment was first settled through a share
capital increase approved by the extraordinary general meeting on January 8th 2021, the claims
at year end 2020, TNOK 36 483 was classified as other short liabilities.

Other non current
receivables
Converible receivables
Accounts receivables

Financial
assets
measured at
amortized
cost

Financial
liabilities
measured at
amortized
cost

Financial
assets
measured
at fair value
(level 3)

Total

22 139

-

-

48 597

26 458

26 458

13 042

-

-

13 042

Note 20 - Financial instruments and risk management

Cash and cash
equivalents

382 255

-

-

382 255

Overview
Through its activities, the Group will be exposed to different types of financial risks: market risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. This note presents information related to the Group’s exposure to
such risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and procedures for risk management and handling,
as well as the Group’s management of capital. Additional quantitative information is included in
these consolidated financial statements.

Total financial assets

417 437

-

26 458

443 895

Net interest-bearing
debt

-

-

-

-

Non-current lease
liabilities

-

1 365

-

1 365

Trade and other
payables

-

3 290

-

3 290

Current lease liabilities

-

1 610

-

1 610

Total financial liabilities

-

6 265

-

6 265

The Group’s overall risk management plan is to ensure the ongoing liquidity in the group,
defined as to being able to meet its obligations at any time. The Group do not have any external
bank borrowings, and therefore no covenants related to borrowings.
Risk management of the group is maintained by the operational executives as CEO and CFO
along with the Board. This includes tasks to identify, measure, mitigate and report on financial
risks in close cooperation with the various operating units. Risk management policies and
procedures are reviewed regularly to take into account changes in the market and the Group’s
activities.			
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Note 20 - Financial instruments and risk management, continued
Financial instruments as of 31.12.2020
NOK ’000

Financial instruments as of 01.01.2020
Financial
assets
measured at
amortized cost

Financial
liabilities
measured at
amortized cost

Other non current receivables

Total

NOK ’000

7

-

7

3 183

-

3 183

Cash and cash equivalents

506 111

-

506 111

Cash and cash equivalents

Total financial assets

509 300

-

509 300

Total financial assets

-

-

-

180

180

-

7 184

7 184

-

7 517

Accounts receivables

Net interest-bearing debt
Non-current lease liabilities
Trade and other payables
Current lease liabilities

154

Total financial liabilities
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7 517

Other non current receivables
Accounts receivables

Financial
assets
measured at
amortized cost

Financial
liabilities
measured at
amortized cost

Total

7

-

7

1 146

-

1 146

9 992

-

9 992

11 145

-

11 145

Net interest-bearing debt

-

22 912

22 912

Non-current lease liabilities

-

-

Trade and other payables

-

3 193

Current lease liabilities

-

-

Total financial liabilities

-

26 105

3 193
26 105
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Note 20 - Financial instruments and risk management,
continued
Financial risk management				

Market risk				
Marked risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flow of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks for the Group comprise of the
following three types of risk: foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and raw materials risk.

Through its ordinary operating activities, the Group is exposed to various types of risk and this
exposure to risk is expected to increase as HydrogenPro gradually becomes more involved
in the actual delivery and system integration of large-scale electrolyser plants. The Group is
proactively working to identify risks and taking risk mitigating initiatives to the extent this is
practicable and appropriate.				

Foreign exchange risk				
The Group’s functional currency is NOK. The Group operates globally and is therefore exposed
to currency fluctuations, mainly related to USD, EUR and CNY. As of today, the Group does not
hedge currency, but this is an issue that is being considered.

Below follows a description of the Group’s main types of risks;				
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the
group by failing to settle its obligations. 				
The group is exposed to credit risks in conducting its ordinary activities. The credit risk primarily
relates to its trade receivables and its cash and cash equivalents.

Interest rate risk				
The Groups exposure to interest rates was mainly related to interest earned on the Group’s cash
position with banks and to interest on intra-group loans.
Power is one the most important input factors in the production of Hydrogen and, depending on
the marked prices, amounts to 70-90% of the Hydrogen production cost. Variation in the cost
of electric power can therefore affect the demand for the Group product. 			

As our customer base mainly consist of large industrial Groups, the credit risk related to trade
receivables are considered limited. The receivable is assessed for losses on a regular basis.
As of 31 December 2021 approximately, our main customer held 77% of the Group trade
receivables. 			
Liquidity risk				
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated
with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group
manages its liquidity with a high level of prudency, with rules and policies that ensure an
adequate amount of cash and cash equivalents to meet the immediate needs of resources both
in the short and long term. Liquidity forecasts are regularly monitored against the contractual
maturities or lease liabilities. Financial liabilities are specified in note 19. All financial liabilities
are due within one year.
Maturity analysis for lease liability are included in note 12.
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Note 21 - Key events after the balance sheet date

Note 22 - Alternative Performance Measures

Awarded large-scale contract for an initial delivery of 40 electrolysers to
Mitsubishi Power Americas, Inc.

This is based on the group’s experience that APMs are frequently used by analysts, investors
and other parties as supplemental information.

On 3rd of February 2022 HydrogenPro announced that the Company has signed a contract
for an initial delivery of 40 electrolysers to Mitsubishi Power Americas, Inc. making it one of
the largest electrolyser system contracts ever placed. The initial value of the contract exceeds
USD 50 million for HydrogenPro’s scope of delivery. The EPC and other system deliverables for
a turn-key electrolyser green hydrogen production plant will be supplied by other companies.
The green hydrogen will be consumed for power generation in the U.S. The purchase order is
dependent on a final investment decision, which is expected in the first half of 2022. However,
a non-refundable commitment has been made by Mitsubishi Power, enabling HydrogenPro to
prepare for production.

MoU with L&T for delivery of Hydrogen Electrolysers in India
for Gigawatt-scale manufacturing of Alkaline Water Electrolysers based on HydrogenPro
technology for Indian market and other select geographies. The proposed joint venture in
India is in line with L&T’s strategic vision to be present across the green energy value chain
and HydrogenPro’s strategy of establishing a global manufacturing footprint to maintain cost
leadership and ensure local presence.

Status of purchase order with Mitsubishi announced 24th of August 2021
The world’s largest single stack high-pressure alkaline electrolyser system is currently being
fabricated in China. Covid-19 infection control measures in China in early 2022 has led to a lock
down of the fabrication facility which has caused a certain delay in the delivery. After the system
is completed at the fabrication facility in China it will be transported to Norway for installation
and commissioning.

HydrogenPro discloses alternative performance measures.

The purpose of APMs is to provide an enhanced insight into the operations, financing and future
prospect of the group. Management also uses these measures internally to drive performance
in terms of monitoring operating performance and long-term target setting. APMs are adjusted
IFRS measures that are defined, calculated and used in a consistent and transparent manner
over the years and across the group where relevant.
Financial APMs should not be considered as a substitute for measures of performance in
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Standards.
HydrogenPro’s financial APMs:
•

•
•

EBITDA: is defined as earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and
impairment, corresponding to operating profit/(loss) plus depreciation, amortisation and
impairment.
Adjusted EBITDA excludes special items, e.g. non-cash impact of incentive program, to
better present the underlying performance in the reported period.
Investments: Additions to property, plant and equipment (capital expenditures), plus longterm securities, intangible assets, long-term advances and investments in equity accounted
investments, including amounts recognised in business combinations for continuing
operations.

War in Ukraine
The escalation of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine which led to armed conflicts in
Ukraine on 24 February 2022 has created uncertainty regarding the development of the
global economy. The evolving conflict does currently not impact the Group directly, as it has
no operating presence in either Russia, Belarus, or Ukraine. Indirect effects however, such
as financial market volatility, sanctions-related knock-on effect, general economic marked
conditions, and other future responses of international governments, might have an impact on
the Group’s financial results and financial position. The Group’s management and Board of
Directors continues to monitor the situation and has an ongoing assessment of potential impact
on the Group’s financial result and financial position.
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Statement of profit and loss
NOK ’000
Revenue
Total revenue
Cost of sales
Personnel expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Other operating expenses
Operating profit/(loss)
Financial income
Financial costs
Net financial items
Profit/(loss) before tax
Income tax expense
Profit/(loss) for the year

2021

2020

2

19 936
19 936

26 694
26 694

3
4,5
9
6

11 179
29 520
604
29 736
-51 104

6 323
10 988
357
14 981
-5 954

7
7

4 790
1 274
3 516

1 905
4 185
-2 280

-47 588
0
-47 588

-8 234
7 727
-15 961

-47 588
-47 588

-15 961
-15 961

8

To/(from) other equity
Total allocated and equity transfers

HydrogenPro AS

Note
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Statement of financial position
NOK ’000
Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries
Loans to group companies
Investments in shares
Other receivables
Total non-current assets

2021

2020

9
9
10

11 742
6 401
66 020
1 056
1
48 102
133 322

8 456
2 756
36 534
0
7
0
47 753

13 042
6 168
380 692
399 902

3 183
2 541
506 111
511 835

533 224

559 588

12

Current assets
Accounts receivables
Other receivables
Cash and bank deposits
Total current assets

11
12
13

Total assets

HydrogenPro AS

Note
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Statement of financial position
NOK ’000
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Share premium reserve
Other paid-in equity
Other equity
Total equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Public duties payable
Other short term liabilities
Total current liabilities

Note

2021

2020

14,15
15
15
15

58
576 141
26 800
-83 236
519 763

57
542 170
9 098
-35 648
515 677

16

3 140
5 071
5 248
13 460

7
1
35
43

13 460

43 911

533 224

559 588

16

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

177
102
632
911

Porsgrunn/Oslo, 7 April 2022

(Electronically signed)

(Electronically signed)

(Electronically signed)

(Electronically signed)

(Electronically signed)

(Electronically signed)

Ellen Merethe Hanetho
Chair of the Board

Richard Espeseth
Board member

Jarle Tautra
Board member

Kermit J. Nash
Board member

Jarle Dragvik
Board member

Elling Nygaard
CEO

HydrogenPro AS

Integrated report 2021

83

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF PARENT COMPANY

Statement of changes in equity
NOK ’000

Attributable to equity holders of the parent company
Share
capital

Equity as at 01.01 2020:
Effect of implementing
Equity adjusted as at 01.01.2020
Cost of share-based payment
Issue of share capital
Profit for the period
Equity as at 31.12 2020

Other paid-in
capital

Other
Uncovered
loss

31

9 843

1 460

-26 871
7 190
-19 681

31

9 843

1 460

26

532 327

57

542 170

9 098

-15 967
-35 648

57

542 170

9 098

-35 648

Profit for the period
Issue of share capital
Cost of share-based payment
Total comprehensive income

1

33 971

1

33 971

17 702
17 702

-15 537
7 190
-8 347

0

7 638

-15 967
-35 648
0
-35 648

-15 967
515 677
0
515 677

-47 588

-47 588
0
0
-47 588

-47 588
33 972
17 702
4 086

58

576 141

26 800

-83 236

-83 236

519 763

-47 588

Equity as at 31.12 2021

Integrated report 2021

Total
equity

Total other
equity
-26 871
7 190
-19 681

7 638

Adjusted equity as at 01.01 2021

HydrogenPro AS

Share premium
reserve
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Statement of cash flow
NOK ’000

Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Net Income / (Loss) before tax
Depreciation, amortisation & impairment
Option cost no cash effect
Change in inventory
Change in accounts receivable
Change in accounts payable
Write-down shares
Effect of foreign currency translation
Change in other accruals
Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Change in tangible assets
Change in intangible assets
Change in other investing activities
Net cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of loan
Transaction not recognized over P&L
Proceeds from Equity Issue
Net cash flows from financing activities
Cash balance start of period
Net change in cash
Cash balance end of period

HydrogenPro AS
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9

11
16

12

9
9

2021

2020

-47 588
604
16 291
0
-9 404
-4 036
7
0
1 922
-42 204

-8 234
357
7 219
0
-2 037
3 983
0
0
-4 324
-3 036

-5 752
-3 285
-76 165
-85 203

-3
-2
-4
-9

047
563
324
934

0
176
1 812
1 988

-23 264
0
532 353
509 088

506 111
-125 419
380 692

9 992
496 119
506 111
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Notes
Note 1 - General accounting principles

Hydrogenpro AS is a public limited company, incorporated in Norway, headquartered in
Porsgrunn and listed on Euronext Growth, Address headquarter: Hydrovegen 6, 3933
Porsgrunn, Norway.
The company was established in 2013 by individuals with background from the electrolysis
industry which was established in Telemark, Norway by Norsk Hydro in 1927. Our organisation
comprises an experienced engineering team of leading industry experts, drawing upon
unparalleled experience and expertise within the hydrogen and renewable sectors. By
combining our in-depth knowledge with innovative design, we continuously aspire to pioneer
game-changing ideas and solutions to realise and maximise new opportunities in a smarter,
sustainable, hydrogen powered future.
HydrogenPro is listed on Euronext Growth at Oslo Stock Exchange under the ticker “HYPRO“.
The financial statements of Hydrogenpro AS for the fiscal year 2021 were approved in the board
meeting at 07.04.2022.

Basis for preparation of the annual accounts
The Hydrogenpro AS’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
Norwegian Accounting Act of 1998 and Norwegian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(NGAAP).
The financial statements are based on historical cost.

The use of estimates and assessment of accounting policies when
preparing the annual accounts
Estimates and assumptions
The management has used estimates and assumptions that have affected assets, liabilities,
incomes, expenses and information on potential liabilities. This particularly applies to the
depreciation of tangible fixed assets, intangible assets, share-based payments and evaluations
related to acquisitions. Future events may lead to these estimates being changed. Estimates and
their underlying assumptions are reviewed on a regular basis and are based on best estimates
and historical experience. Changes in accounting estimates are recognised during the period
when the changes take place. If the changes also apply to future periods, the effect is divided
among the present and future periods.
Judgments
The management has, when preparing the financial statements; made certain significant
assessments based on critical judgment when it comes to application of the accounting
principles. The following notes include the Company’s assessments regarding:
•
•
•
•

Revenue recognition, note 2
Taxes, note 8
Assets cost and depreciation – note 9
Share-based payment, note 15

Current versus non-current classification

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of uniform accounting principles for
similar transactions and events under otherwise similar circumstances.

The presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position as either current
or non-current.

Functional currency and presentation currency

The Company classifies an asset as current when it:

The Company’s presentation and functional currency is NOK.
Transactions in foreign currency are translated to functional currency using the exchange rate
at the date of the transaction. At the end of each reporting period foreign currency monetary
items are translated using the closing rate, non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction and nonmonetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. Changes in the exchange rate are
recognised continuously in the accounting period.
HydrogenPro AS
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•
•
•

Expects to realise the asset, or intends to sell or consume it, in its normal operating cycle
Holds the asset primarily for the purpose of trading
Expects to realise the asset within twelve months after the reporting period

Or
•

The asset is cash or a cash equivalent, unless the asset is restricted from being exchanged
or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.
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Notes
All other assets are classified as non-current, including deferred tax assets.

Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are measured on the basis of the expected future tax rates
applicable to the companies in the Company where temporary differences have arisen.

The Company classifies a liability as current when it:
•
•
•

Expects to settle the liability in its normal operating cycle
Holds the liability primarily for the purpose of trading
Is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period

Or
•

Taxes payable and deferred taxes are recognised directly in equity to the extent that they relate
to equity transactions.

Research and development
It does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting period.

All other liabilities are classified as non-current, including deferred tax liabilities.

Revenue from contracts with customers
The revenue in HydrogenPro is from sale of Hydrogen electrolyser systems and engineering
services. Long term fixes-price contracts are valued to the percentage of completion method.
The degree of completion is calculated as expenses incurred as a percentage of estimated total
expense. Total expenses are reviewed on a regular basis. If projects are expected to result in
losses, the total estimated loss is recognised immediately.

Income tax
The tax expense consists of the tax payable and changes to deferred tax. Deferred tax/tax
assets are calculated on all differences between the book value and tax value of assets and
liabilities, with the exception of:
•
•

Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are recognised at their nominal value and classified as
non-current asset investments (long-term liabilities) in the balance sheet.

temporary differences linked to goodwill that are not tax deductible
temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures
when the Company controls when the temporary differences are to be reversed and this is
not expected to take place in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised when it is probable that the company will have a sufficient
profit for tax purposes in subsequent periods to utilise the tax asset. The companies recognise
previously unrecognised deferred tax assets to the extent it has become probable that the
company can utilise the deferred tax asset. Similarly, the company will reduce a deferred tax
asset to the extent that the company no longer regards it as probable that it can utilise the
deferred tax asset.
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Expenses relating to research activities are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income as they incur. Expenses relating to development activities are capitalised to the extent
that the product or process is technically and commercially viable and the Company has
sufficient resources to complete the development work. Expenses that are capitalised include
the costs of materials, direct wage costs and a share of the directly attributable common
expenses. Capitalised development costs are recognised at their cost minus accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses.

Tangible assets
Tangible assets are valued at their cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
When assets are sold or disposed of, the carrying amount is derecognised and any gain or loss
is recognised in the statement of profit and loss.
The depreciation period and method are assessed each year.
Assets under construction are classified as non-current assets and recognised at cost until
the production or development process is completed. Assets under construction are not
depreciated until the asset is taken into use.

Patents and licenses
Amounts paid for patents and licenses are capitalised and amortised in a straight line over the
expected useful life. The expected useful life of patents and licenses varies from 5 til 10 years.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised when it is reasonably certain that the company will meet the
conditions stipulated for the grants and that the grants will be received. Operating grants are
recognised systematically during the grant period. Grants are deducted from the cost which the
grant is meant to cover. Investment grants are capitalised and recognised systematically over the
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Notes
asset’s useful life. Investment grants are recognised either as deferred income or as a deduction
of the asset’s carrying amount.

Financial instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.
Financial assets
The Company´s financial assets are: non-listed equity instruments, trade receivables and cash
and cash equivalents.
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Company’s business model for managing them.
With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component,
the Company initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and borrowings, or payables,
as appropriate. Loans, borrowings and payables are recognised at fair value net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

Interest, dividend, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument classified as a liability will
be presented as an expense or income. Amounts distributed to holders of financial instruments
that are classified as equity will be recorded directly in equity.
Costs of equity transactions
Transaction costs directly related to an equity transaction are recognised directly in equity after
deducting tax expenses.
Other equity
Reserve
This reserve contains the total net increase in the fair value of non-current assets that have been
revalued at an amount which exceeds their cost. The reserve also contains total net changes
in the fair value of financial instruments classified as available for sale until the investment has
been sold or it has been determined that the investment is of no value.
Translation differences
Translation differences arise in connection with exchange-rate differences of consolidated
foreign entities.

Payables are measured at their nominal amount when the effect of discounting is not material.

Exchange-rate differences in monetary amounts (liabilities or receivables) which are in reality
a part of a company’s net investment in a foreign entity are also included as translation
differences.

Cash and cash equivalents

Employee benefits

Cash includes cash in hand and at bank. Cash equivalents are short-term liquid investments
that can be immediately converted into a known amount of cash and have a maximum term to
maturity of three months.

Wages, salaries, bonuses, pension and social security contributions, paid annual leave and sick
leave are accrued in the period in which the associated services are rendered by employees
of the Company. The Company has pension plans for employees that are classified as defined
contribution plans. Contributions to defined contribution schemes are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which the contribution amounts are earned by the
employees.

In the statement of cash flows, the overdraft facility is stated minus the balance of cash and
cash equivalents.

Equity
Equity and liabilities
Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the underlying
economic realities.

HydrogenPro AS
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Share based payments
The Company has an option-program, including employees, board members and Guarantorer.
The programs are measured at fair value at the date of the grant, using an appropriate valuation
model.
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Notes
That cost is recognised in personnel expenses, together with a corresponding increase in equity
over the vesting period. Granted options are generally vested or earned during a period of three
years according to a predetermined schedule. Options vested or earned can be exercised at
any time and must be exercised latest four years after award. The vesting requires continued
employment or association with the company
Social security tax on options is recorded as a liability and is recognised over the estimated
vesting period.
For further information refer note 4 (salary and benefit) and 15 (share option plan).

Contingent liabilities and assets
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the annual accounts. Significant contingent liabilities
are disclosed, with the exception of contingent liabilities that are unlikely to be incurred.
Contingent assets are not recognised in the annual accounts but are disclosed if there is a
certain probability that a benefit will be added to the Company.

Events after the reporting period
New information on the company’s financial position on the end of the reporting period which
becomes known after the reporting period is recorded in the annual accounts. Events after the
reporting period that do not affect the company’s financial position on the end of the reporting
period, but which will affect the company’s financial position in the future are disclosed if
significant. For further information refer to the Board of Directors report regarding:
•
•
•

Status of purchase order with Mitsubishi announced 24ht of August 2021
MOU with L&T for manufacturing Hydrogen Electrolysers in India
Large-scale contract for an initial delivery of 40 electrolysers to Mitsubishi Power Americas,
Inc.

HydrogenPro AS
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Notes
Note 2 - Revenue from contracts with customers

Note 4 - Personnel expenses

The Group’s revenue from contracts with customers has been disaggregated and presented in
the tables below:

NOK ’000

Geographical region

2021

2020

28 734

9 051

Severance payment

0

1 340

Pension costs defined contribution plans (Note X)

0

557

Salaries and holiday pay

NOK ’000
Norway
Europe
America
Asia Pacific
Total

2021

2020

0

136

805

8 413

16 204

18 144

2 926

0

19 936

26 693

The revenue in HydrogenPro is from sale of Hydrogen electrolyser systems and engineering
services. Long term fixes-price contracts are valued to the percentage of completion method.
The degree of completion is calculated as expenses incurred as a percentage of estimated total
expense. Total expenses are reviewed on a regular basis. If projects are expected to result in
losses, the total estimated loss is recognised immediately.

Other personnel costs
Total salaries and personnel expense

785

40

29 519

10 988

In addition, some invoices have been received for fees and bonuses, and these are included in
other operating expenses. Fees and bonuses to management is listed below.
The number of man-years that has been employed during the financial year:

Norway
Europe
Total

2021

2020

15

10

1
16

10

Note 3 - Cost of materials
NOK ’000
Cost of goods sold
Cost of handling and freight
Other cost of goods sold

2020
6 093

136

229

0

Total cost of materials

HydrogenPro AS

2021
11 043

11 179
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Notes
Note 4 - Personnel expenses, continued
Management remuneration
NOK ’000

Board fees

Salary and
invoiced fees

Bonus

2 479

800

Benefits in kind

Pension cost

3

25

Total
remuneration

CEO
Mårten Lunde (former CEO), through Enern Invest AS
Elling Nygaard (CEO)

360

3 279 (until 31.10.21)
388 (from 01.11.21)

Board of Directors
Ellen Hanetho (Chair)

316

316

96

96

Richard Espeseth
Jarle Tautra
Kermit Nash
Jarle Dragvik
Walter H Quam (former member)

450

450

Terje Mikalsen (former member)
No loans/sureties have been granted to the CEO, Chair or other related parties.
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Notes
Note 4 - Personnel expenses, continued
Options to leading employees
During the period, CEO and member of the board have been granted 1.487.170 new stock options. Below is an overview over the CEO and Board Members’ share options.
Name

Options Holder

Position

Mårten Lunde

Enern Invest AS

Former CEO

Elling Nygaard

Walter Hafslo Qvam

Granted options

Forfeited

1 150 000

350 000

178 755

CEO

Ellen Hanetho
Ellen Hanetho

Opening balance

Opulentia Invest AS

216 000

COB

1 490 000

Former COB

314 000
DOB

Total

Ending balance
1 321 245

450 000

COB

TM Holding AS1

Exercised

450 000

437 170

653 170
1 490 000

250 000

337 170

170 713

56 117

163 005
3 333 005

163 005
1 487 170

515 925

170 713

4 133 537

* 1) Jarle Dragvik is CEO of TM Holding AS, but the options have been awarded to TM Holding AS which is 100% owned by Terje Mikalsen.
Granted options are generally vested or earned during a period of three years according to a predetermined schedule. Options vested or earned can be exercised at any time and must be
exercised latest four years after award. The vesting requires continued employment or association with the company.
For more details regarding stock option plan - see note 15.
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Notes
Note 5 - Pensions

Specification auditor’s fee
NOK ’000

Defined contribution plan						

Statutory audit

The Group’s companies in Norway, have defined contribution plans in accordance with local
laws. The contribution plan covers employees who work more than 20% FTE and amounts
between 1 G and 12 G of the salary. The percent of the salary is 7 %.

Other assurance services

The employees may influence the investment management through an agreement with Gjensidige
AS. The contribution is expensed when it is accrued. As of 31.12.2021 there were 20 members
covered by the scheme.						

2021

2020

769

304

12

216

Other non-assurance services

138

Total

919

520

2021

2020

* Statutory audit includes technical assistance with financial reporting

Note 7 - Finance income and cost

The contributions recognised as expenses equalled TNOK 1 445 in 2021 and TNOK 557 in
2020. The contributions to CEO was TNOK 25 in 2021 and TNOK 70 in 2020.		

Financial income

Note 6 - Other operating expenses

NOK ’000

Other operating expenses

Interest income

2 278

449

Foreign exchange gains

2 511

1 450

Total financial income

4 790

1 905

2021

2020

NOK ’000
Freight costs
Energy costs

Other financial income
2021

2020

7

104

9

1

Advertising

229

633

Repair and maintenance costs

135

44

1 263

1 689

813

749

19 470

10 218

7 811

1 542

29 736

14 981

Rental and leasing costs
Travel costs
Consultancy fees and external personnel
Other operating costs
Total operating expenses

HydrogenPro AS
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Finance expenses
NOK ’000
Interest on debts and borrowings
Foreign exchange losses
Other financial expenses
Total financial expenses

49

492

539

3 451

685

243

1 274

4 185
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Notes
Note 8 - Income tax
Tax expense for the year consists of
NOK ’000

Overview of temporary differences
2021

2020

NOK ’000

2021

2020

Income tax payable

0

0

Property plant & Equipment

1 310

619

Change in deferred tax

0

7 727

Non current receivables or liabilities in other currencies

1 371

0

Tax expense

0

7 727

Production contracts

5 210

5 744

-200

-262

Tax losses carry forward

-125 139

-74 964

Total

-117 447

-68 864

Nominal tax rates for next year 22%

25 838

15 150

Deferred tax asset

25 838

15 150

Deferred tax asset not recognised in Statement of
financial position

25 838

15 150

0

0

Provisions
Calculation of taxable income for the year
NOK ’000
Profit before tax
Permanent differences
Change in temporary differences

2021

2020

-47 588

-8 234

-996

-25 508

-1 591

-11 346

0

0

-50 174

-45 089

Use of loss carry forward
Taxable income for the year

Deferred tax asset in the Statement of financial position
Why tax expense for the year does not amount to 22 % of the profit before tax
NOK ’000
Profit before tax
22% of profit before tax
22% of permanent differences
Prior year adjustments
Change in not recognised deferred tax asset
(tax liabilities)
Income tax expense

HydrogenPro AS
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2021

2020

-47 588

-8 234

-10 469

-1 812

-219

-5 612

0

0

10 688

7 423

0

0

The majority of the deferred tax asset is related to loss carry forward. As of 31 December
2021 it is considered not likely that the tax loss carry forward will be utilised in the near future,
therefore the deferred tax assets is not capitalised.
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Notes
Note 9 - Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets Patents and licenses

Plant and
machinery

Movables

Machinery and
plant in progress

Total
2021

Carrying value 01 January 2021

8 456

2 716

41

0

11 213

Additions

3 285

NOK ’000

227

3 512

Disposals, and assets classified as held for sale

0

Additions

5 206

5 206

Skattefunn (Tax compensations)

-1 185

-1 185

4 021

18 142

Depreciation

-604

0

11 741

2 112

268

8 456

3 017

147

11 620

-302

-106

-408

8 456

2 716

41

0

11 212

11 741

3 017

374

4 021

19 154

-905

-107

Carrying value

11 741

2 112

268

4 021

18 142

Economic life

5 years

5-10 years

5 years

linear

linear

linear

Carrying value 31 December 2021

-604

As at January 1 2021
Acquisition cost
Accumulated depreciation and write downs
Carrying value
As at December 31 2021
Acquisition cost
Accumulated depreciation and write downs

Depreciation method
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Notes
Note 9 - Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment,
continued
Technology centre Herøya
The Technology centre at Herøya comprises two containers located close to HQ of HydrogenPro
in Porsgrunn. The additions in 2021 corresponds to 5,2 MNOK. The container that HP acquired
in 2020 have been subject for 5 years straight line depreciation during 2021. The additions
made according to the in progress project, will be subject for depreciation when the lab is up
running, estimated to 01.01.2022. The work to set up the technology centre, have been subject
for support from Skattefunn during 2021. The purchase cost will hereby be reduced accordingly.
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Notes
Note 10 - List of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

The table below shows ownership in subsidiaries. Ownership interest corresponds to voting interest if not otherwise stated.
Company

Ownership

Registered
office

Carrying value
NOK 2021

Carrying value
NOK 2020

65 919

36 484
50

Advanced Surface Plating ApS

100 %

Denmark

Hydrogenpro France

100 %

France

50

50 %

Norway

51

Kvina Energy AS
Total

66 020

36 534

Note 11 - Accounts receivables
NOK ’000

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

12 586

3 183

Accounts receivables
Receivables related to revenue from contracts with customers - external
Receivables, accrued, not invoiced

456

Total accounts receivables (Gross)

13 042

3 183

13 042

3 183

Allowance for expected credit losses
Total accounts receivables (Net)
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Notes
Note 12 - Other current assets

Note 13 - Cash and cash equivalents

NOK ’000

2021

2020

NOK ’000

Pre-paid costs

6 168

2 541

Cash

Total other current assets short term

6 168

2 541

Receivables from associated companies

2021

2020

Short-term bank deposits

380 692

506 111

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet

380 692

506 111

3 710
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the
following at 31 December:

Other receivables
Convertible receivables

26 458

Long term investment

17 934

Total other long term current assets

48 102

The Group has no credit facilities.
-

Additional information regarding Other long-term receivables:

NOK ’000

2021

2020

Restricted bank deposit

1 540

352

Long-term investment
17 November 2021 HydrogenPro reached an agreement with Tianjin HQY Hydrogen Machinery
Co., Ltd. (“THM”) to take control over the fabrication supply of electrolysers. HP have pre-paid
approximately NOK 18 million as part of the NOK 48 million capital injection as of 31.12.2021.
The pre-payments are classified as other long-term receivables.
Convertible loan DG Fuels
29 October 2021 HydrogenPro announced that it will join as a co-investor by financing DG
Fuels, LLC’s (“DG Fuels”) sustainable aviation fuel (SAF) project.
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Notes
Note 14 - Share capital, shareholder information and dividend
Number of
shares

Ownership
interest

11 424 125

19.69 %

TM Holding AS

9 635 182

16.60 %

Clearstream Banking S.A.

6 280 423

10.82 %

Mitsubishi heavy Industries Ltd

5 381 165

9.27 %

Vivan Espeseth

3 173 571

5.47 %

Citibank Europe plc

1 600 000

2.76 %

Avanza Bank AB

1 523 731

2.63 %

Eneren Invest AS

1 506 966

2.60 %

Verdipapirfondet DNB SMB

1 174 894

2.02 %

872 205

1.50 %

Tor Danielsen

1 373 571

2.37 %

Jan Fredrik Garvik

1 337 411

2.30 %

Goldman Sachs & CO LLC

415 629

0.72 %

LJM AS

350 000

0.60 %

Nordnet Bank AB

The Bank og New York Mellon

335 335

0.58 %

1 322 981

2.28 %

Verdipapirfondet Pareto Investment

841 000

1.45 %

Barclays Capital SEC LTD FIRM

745 934

1.29 %

Nordea Bank Abp

727 783

1.25 %

VPG Norge Selektiv

604 914

1.04 %

DZ Private Bank S.A

Top 20 shareholders

50 626 820

87.25 %

Sum other shareholders

7 401 351

12.75 %

Total number of shares

58 028 171

100.00 %

HydrogenPro AS
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2020

Ordinary shares

The 20 main shareholders at 31.12.21 are:

Richard Espeseth

2021
NOK 0,001 per share in 2021

58 028 171

NOK 0,001 per share in 2020
Total

57 169 312
58 028 171

57 169 312

Number of
shares

Ownership
interest

11 424 125

19.69 %

1 000

0.00 %

2 200

0.00 %

10 315

0.02 %

Board of Directors and Management

Ellen Hanetho (Chair)
Richard Espeseth 1)
Jarle Tautra 2)
Kermit Nash
Jarle Dragvik 3)
Elling Nygaard (CEO) 4)

1. In addition 3.173.571 shares are held by Ricard Espeseth’s spouse. These are not included
in the total presented in the table above.
2. Held through the controlled company Jasmig AS.
3. 2.200 shares are held by the controlled company Jardis Invest AS. In addition, 9.635.182
shares are held by TM Holding As, where Jarle Dragvik is CEO, but does not own any shares.
4. In addition 5.890 shares are held by Elling Nygaard’s spouse. These are not included in the
total presented in the table above.
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Notes
Note 15 - Shareholder option plan

The outstanding options are subject to the following conditions:

Option programme		

Expiry date

The company has a share option programme covering certain employees in senior positions.
At 2019, employees, board members and guarantorer were included in the option programme.
Granted options are generally vested or earned during a period of three years according to
a predetermined schedule. Options vested or earned can be exercised at usually one year
after it is granted and must be exercised latest four years after. The vesting requires continued
employment or association with the company. 		

Average strike price

Number of share options

2022

7,0

1 490 000

2023

7,0

1 454 005

2024

7,0

292 378

2025

24,8

2 053 419

Total

5 289 802

The purpose of the establishment of the options program is to attract and retain key personnel.
The fair value and annual expense/costs of the options are calculated based on the BlackScholes model, and expensed over the vesting period. The annual costs calculated for the
option program for 2021 are based on the Black & Scholes formula with input factors as a risk
free interest rate, volatility factor and share price at grant date. The fair value of the individual
options at grant date, are then distributed over the vesting schedule agreement.

The calculations are based on the following assumptions:

Social security tax provisions are accrued on a quarterly basis and becomes payable at
exercise of the options. The social security tax provisions are estimated based on the gain on
the share-based instruments multiplied with the relevant social security tax rate.

Volatility
It is assumed that historic volatility is an indication of future volatility. The expected volatility is
therefore stipulated to be the same as the historic volatility.

The total expense recognised for the share-based programs, excluding social security, during
2021 was NOK 18,1 (8,1) million. The total social security accruals at the end of the year are
NOK 0.4 million. The total accumulated cost expensed related to share-based payments are
NOK 26.8 (8) million as of 31 December 2021.

The term of the option
It is assumed that 90 % of the employees will exercise the options once they are exercisable.
The options are expected to have a term of 4 years.

Avrage weighted strike price (NOK)

13,91

Average option life
Weighted average risk-free interest rate
Weighted average volatility

4
1,04 %
63 %

Dividend
The estimated dividend per share is NOK 0 per annum.

Overview of outstanding options
NOK ’000

2021

2020

Outstanding options 1.1

3 740 000

1 591 000

Options granted

2 377 170

2 249 000

Options forfeited

(568 509)

(100 000)

Options exercised

(258 859)

-

Outstanding options 31.12

5 289 802

3 740 000

Of which exercisable

3 680 811

845 500

Risk-free interest rate
The risk-free interest rate is set equal to the interest rate on government bonds during the term
of the option, i.e. 1,04 % for 2021.

Options expired
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Notes
Note 16 - Trade payables and other current liabilities
NOK ’000

2021

2020

Trade accounts payables

3 140

7 177

Debt to associates and joint ventures

0

0

Liabilities to associated companies

0

35 632

Government taxes, tax deductions etc.

5 071

1 102

Other liabilities

5 248

0

13 460

43 911

Total

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms. Interest
payable is normally settled quarterly.
HydrogePro entered into a share purchase agreement with the initial shareholders of Advanced
Surface Plating ApS on 20th of December 2020. As the payment was first settled through a share
capital increase approved by the extraordinary general meeting on January 8th 2021, the claims
at year end 2020, TNOK 36 483 was classified as other short liabilities.
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302 - Energy, water and emissions
Norway
KwH

Energy consumption

Denmark (half year)
KwH

Renewable energy
Heating

23 686

Electricity

18 517

29 144,33 Water and grid mix of 66% renewables
122 12 Water and wind

Non-renewable energy
Heating

0

14354,67 Grid mix of 33% non-renewable

Electricity

0

4 100 Grid mix of 33% non-renewable

Energy intensity ratio (kwh/m2)
m2 facility space

122,0

79,7

346

1 500

Total kg GHG

221,1

5 020,1

Total kg CO2

221,1

6 964,5

Total kg CO2 emission 2021

7 185,6

GHG intensity rate per employee

716,5

Water

23m3

125m3

304-1 - Operational sites
Facility

Type of operation

Ownership type

Size (m2)

Protected area

Hydrovegen 6, Porsgrunn, Norway

Office

Leased

350

No

Herøya industry park

Production

Leased

898

No

Kvina Energy Park, Norway (prepreparation phase)

Production

50% ownership of Kvina Energy AS,
jointly with Kvina Energy Park

NA – under planning and regulation

No

Højbjerg, Denmark

Office, Manufacturing, Production

Leased

1500

No

Tianjin industry park, China

Office, Manufacturing, Production

Leased

6800

No
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2-7 - Employees
Norway
Gender/Age

Denmark

<30

30-50

50<

Total (hc)

<30

30-50

50<

Total (hc)

0

10

9

19

1

3

2

6

Female

2

1

3

1

Male

8

8

16

3

2

5

0

2

2

0

0

0

Female

1

1

0

Male

1

1

0

10

9

20

Permanent employees

Temporary employees

Full-time employees

0

1

Female

0

0

2

1

3

Male

1

8

8

17

Part-time employees

1

0

0

1

1

0

1

Female
Male

HydrogenPro AS
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0

2

2
0

3

2

2

0

4
1

3

3
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401-1 - Employment
Norway
Gender/Age
New employees

Denmark

<30

30-50

50<

Total

<30

30-50

50<

Total

0

5

7

12

1

3

2

6

1
3

2

5

0

0

1

Female
Male
Turnover

0

1

1

5

6

11

0

1

1

1

0

1

Female
Male

1

New employees in total

1

1

1

0

18

New employees in percentage vs. Last period

78 %

401-3 - Employment
Gender

Entitled to

Parental leave

Returned to work

Returned to work +12m

Total

Parental leave

0

0

0

0

0

Female

0

0

0

0

0

Male

0

0

0

0

0
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405-1 - Diversity of highest governing body and employees
Gender

Parental leave

Returned to work

Returned to work +12m

Total

0

1

4

5

1

1

Board of directors
Female
Male

1

3

4

Percentage females in Board of Directors total

20 %

Employees in total

2

12

13

27

Female

1

2

1

4

Male

1

10

12

23

Percentage females in total

15 %

Incident matrix
Incident type

Reported incidents

Non-compliance

Review

Actions taken

Remediation plan

Status

2-27 Compliance with laws and regulations

0

NA

0

0

0

NA

205-3 Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken

0

NA

0

0

0

NA

206-1 Legal actions for anti-competitive behaviour, anti-trust, and monopoly
practices

0

NA

0

0

0

NA

406 - Non-discrimination

0

NA

0

0

0

NA

411- Rights of Indigenous Peoples

0

NA

0

0

0

NA

416-2 Incidents of non-compliance concerning the health and safety impacts of
products and services

0

NA

0

0

0

NA

417-2 Incidents of non-compliance concerning product and service information
and labelling

0

NA

0

0

0

NA

417-3 Incidents of non-compliance concerning marketing communications

0

NA

0

0

0

NA

418-1 Substantiated complaints concerning breaches of customer privacy and
losses of customer data

0

NA

0

0

0

NA
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GRI content index
Statement of use

Hydrogenpro AS has reported the information cited in this GRI content index for the period 01.01.2021 - 31.12.2021 with reference to the GRI Standards.

GRI 1 used

GRI 1: Foundation 2021 Core option.		

GRI STANDARD

DISCLOSURE

LOCATION

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021

2-1 Organizational details

IR: 4, 5, 16-19

2-2 Entities included in the organization’s sustainability
reporting

IR: 16-19

2-3 Reporting period, frequency and contact point

The reporting period for both the financial- and sustainability report is
01.01.2021-31.12.2021. The frequency of the sustainability reporting is annual
and it is integrated with the financial statement in a combined Annual Report.
The integrated Annual- and Sustainability Report is publicized on 8th April 2022
according to the financial calendar of the Company. For questions to the Annual
Report, please contact the CFO of HydrogenPro.

2-4 Restatements of information

The sustainability report for 2021 is the first of its kind for HydrogenPro.

2-5 External assurance

The sustainability report for 2021 is not externally assured. The Board will
consider external assurance for the 2022 report. IR: 19

2-6 Activities, value chain and other business relationships

IR: 5, 24

2-7 Employees

IR: 23-45, 107

2-8 Workers who are not employees

IR: 107

2-9 Governance structure and composition

IR: 16-19, 40

2-10 Nomination and selection of the highest governance
body

IR: 16-19

2-11 Chair of the highest governance body

IR: 20

2-12 Role of the highest governance body in overseeing
the management of impacts

IR: 16-19, 26

2-13 Delegation of responsibility for managing impacts

IR: 16-19, 40

2-14 Role of the highest governance body in sustainability
reporting

IR: 16-19, 40-41

2-15 Conflicts of interest

IR: 16-19

2-16 Communication of critical concerns

IR: 16-19, 31

2-17 Collective knowledge of the highest governance body

IR: 17-21
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GRI STANDARD

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI 201: Economic Performance 2016

GRI 202: Market Presence 2016

HydrogenPro AS

DISCLOSURE

LOCATION

2-18 Evaluation of the performance of the highest
governance body

IR: 16-19

2-19 Remuneration policies

IR: 16-19

2-20 Process to determine remuneration

IR: 16-19

2-21 Annual total compensation ratio

IR: 30,

2-22 Statement on sustainable development strategy

IR: 5, 16-19, 23-45

2-23 Policy commitments

IR: 16-19, 40-41

2-24 Embedding policy commitments

IR: 16-19, 40-41

2-25 Processes to remediate negative impacts

IR: 16-19, 35-36

2-26 Mechanisms for seeking advice and raising concerns

IR: 16-19, 31

2-27 Compliance with laws and regulations

IR: 16-19, 40-41, 109

2-28 Membership associations

IR: 32

2-29 Approach to stakeholder engagement

IR: 26-45

2-30 Collective bargaining agreements

IR: 31

3-1 Process to determine material topics

IR: 26

3-2 List of material topics

IR: 27-28

3-3 Management of material topics

IR: 16-19

201-1 Direct economic value generated and distributed

IR: 13, 45-101

201-2 Financial implications and other risks and
opportunities due to climate change

IR: 16-19, 35

201-3 Defined benefit plan obligations and other retirement
plans

IR: 66

201-4 Financial assistance received from government

IR. 63, 69, 95-96

202-1 Ratios of standard entry level wage by gender
compared to local minimum wage

IR: 30

202-2 Proportion of senior management hired from the
local community

HydrogenPro AS’ board of directors consists of five members, including the
chairperson. 20% of the board is female and 80% is from Norway.
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GRI STANDARD

GRI 203: Indirect Economic Impacts 2016

DISCLOSURE

LOCATION

203-1 Infrastructure investments and services supported

Kvina Energy: The land is not yet developed, meaning if approval and go-ahead,
the site must be developed and can potentially have a negative effect on the
local environment. To minimize the potential impact, we will conduct extensive
environmental assessment and implement necessary actions to remedy material
consequences. This project will develop over time and can potentially be a
great contribution to the local government, employ local personnel and develop
the local supplier base.

203-2 Significant indirect economic impacts

IR: 12

GRI 204: Procurement Practices 2016

204-1 Proportion of spending on local suppliers

IR: 38-39

GRI 205: Anti-corruption 2016

205-1 Operations assessed for risks related to corruption

IR: 16-19, 42-43

205-2 Communication and training about anti-corruption
policies and procedures

IR: 16-19, 42-43

205-3 Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken

IR: 109

GRI 206: Anti-competitive Behavior 2016

206-1 Legal actions for anti-competitive behavior, anti-trust,
and monopoly practices

IR: 109

GRI 207: Tax 2019

207-1 Approach to tax

IR: 56, 87

207-2 Tax governance, control, and risk management

IR: 16-19, 56, 87

207-3 Stakeholder engagement and management of
concerns related to tax

IR: 26, 56, 87

207-4 Country-by-country reporting

IR: 16-19

301-1 Materials used by weight or volume

NA. Data for 2021 not available, will be calculated for the 2022 report.

301-2 Recycled input materials used

IR: 32-33

301-3 Reclaimed products and their packaging materials

IR: 32-33

302-1 Energy consumption within the organization

IR: 34, 106

302-2 Energy consumption outside of the organization

NA. Data for 2021 not available, will be calculated for the 2022 report.

302-3 Energy intensity

IR: 34, 106

302-4 Reduction of energy consumption

NA. Data for 2020 not available. 2021 will be used as benchmark.

302-5 Reductions in energy requirements of products and
services

IR: 24

303-1 Interactions with water as a shared resource

IR: 34

303-2 Management of water discharge-related impacts

IR: 34

GRI 301: Materials 2016

GRI 302: Energy 2016

GRI 303: Water and Effluents 2018
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GRI STANDARD

GRI 304: Biodiversity 2016

GRI 305: Emissions 2016

GRI 306: Waste 2020

GRI 308: Supplier Environmental Assessment 2016

HydrogenPro AS

DISCLOSURE

LOCATION

303-3 Water withdrawal

IR: 34, 106

303-4 Water discharge

IR: 34

303-5 Water consumption

IR: 106

304-1 Operational sites owned, leased, managed in, or
adjacent to, protected areas and areas of high biodiversity
value outside protected areas

IR: 106

304-2 Significant impacts of activities, products and
services on biodiversity

IR: 35

304-3 Habitats protected or restored

IR: 35

304-4 IUCN Red List species and national conservation list
species with habitats in areas affected by operations

IR: 35, 106

305-1 Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions

No scope 1 emissions in 2021

305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions

IR: 34

305-3 Other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions

NA. Data for 2021 not available, will be calculated for the 2022 report.

305-4 GHG emissions intensity

IR: 34, 106

305-5 Reduction of GHG emissions

NA. Data for 2020 not available. 2021 will be used as benchmark.

305-6 Emissions of ozone-depleting substances (ODS)

NA. Data for 2021 not available, will be calculated for the 2022 report.

305-7 Nitrogen oxides (NOx), sulfur oxides (SOx), and
other significant air emissions

NA. Data for 2021 not available, will be calculated for the 2022 report.

306-1 Waste generation and significant waste-related
impacts

IR: 32-33

306-2 Management of significant waste-related impacts

IR: 32-33

306-3 Waste generated

IR: 32-33

306-4 Waste diverted from disposal

IR: 32-33

306-5 Waste directed to disposal

IR: 32-33

308-1 New suppliers that were screened using
environmental criteria

IR: 38-39

308-2 Negative environmental impacts in the supply chain
and actions taken

IR: 38-39
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GRI STANDARD

DISCLOSURE

LOCATION

GRI 401: Employment 2016

401-1 New employee hires and employee turnover

IR: 30, 108

401-2 Benefits provided to full-time employees that are not
provided to temporary or part-time employees

All employees are treated equally and have the same benefits.

401-3 Parental leave

No employees entitled to, took, or returned from parental leave in 2021. IR: 108

GRI 402: Labor/Management Relations 2016

402-1 Minimum notice periods regarding operational
changes

IR: 31

GRI 403: Occupational Health and Safety 2018

403-1 Occupational health and safety management system

IR: 12, 16-19, 31, 41-43

403-2 Hazard identification, risk assessment, and incident
investigation

IR: 13-14, 16-19, 40-43

403-3 Occupational health services

IR: 31, 40-43

403-4 Worker participation, consultation, and
communication on occupational health and safety

IR: 31, 40-43

403-5 Worker training on occupational health and safety

IR: 31, 40-43

403-6 Promotion of worker health

IR: 31, 40

403-7 Prevention and mitigation of occupational health and
safety impacts directly linked by business relationships

IR: 16-19, 40-43

403-8 Workers covered by an occupational health and
safety management system

IR: 31, 40

403-9 Work-related injuries

Data for calculation not available in 2021. Will be monitored and calculated for
the 2022 report.

403-10 Work-related ill health

No incidents in 2021.

404-1 Average hours of training per year per employee

IR: 31

404-2 Programs for upgrading employee skills and
transition assistance programs

IR: 31, 40-43

404-3 Percentage of employees receiving regular
performance and career development reviews

No exisiting routine for regular performance and career development routine for
2021. Will be implemented in 2022.

405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and employees

IR: 30, 109

405-2 Ratio of basic salary and remuneration of women to
men

IR: 30

406-1 Incidents of discrimination and corrective actions
taken

IR: 109

GRI 404: Training and Education 2016

GRI 405: Diversity and Equal Opportunity 2016

GRI 406: Non-discrimination 2016
HydrogenPro AS
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GRI STANDARD

DISCLOSURE

LOCATION

GRI 407: Freedom of Association and Collective
Bargaining 2016

407-1 Operations and suppliers in which the right to
freedom of association and collective bargaining may be at
risk

IR: 16-19, 38

GRI 408: Child Labor 2016

408-1 Operations and suppliers at significant risk for
incidents of child labor

IR: 16-19, 38

GRI 409: Forced or Compulsory Labor 2016

409-1 Operations and suppliers at significant risk for
incidents of forced or compulsory labor

IR: 16-19, 38

GRI 410: Security Practices 2016

410-1 Security personnel trained in human rights policies
or procedures

IR: 43

GRI 411: Rights of Indigenous Peoples 2016

411-1 Incidents of violations involving rights of indigenous
peoples

IR: 109

GRI 413: Local Communities 2016

413-1 Operations with local community engagement,
impact assessments, and development programs

IR: 26-29

413-2 Operations with significant actual and potential
negative impacts on local communities

IR: 29, 37

414-1 New suppliers that were screened using social
criteria

IR: 38-39

414-2 Negative social impacts in the supply chain and
actions taken

IR: 38-39

GRI 415: Public Policy 2016

415-1 Political contributions

No political contributions made in 2021.

GRI 416: Customer Health and Safety 2016

416-1 Assessment of the health and safety impacts of
product and service categories

IR: 37

416-2 Incidents of non-compliance concerning the health
and safety impacts of products and services

IR: 109

417-1 Requirements for product and service information
and labeling

IR: 37

GRI 414: Supplier Social Assessment 2016

GRI 417: Marketing and Labeling 2016

417-2 Incidents of non-compliance concerning product and
IR: 109
service information and labeling

GRI 418: Customer Privacy 2016
HydrogenPro AS

417-3 Incidents of non-compliance concerning marketing
communications

IR: 109

418-1 Substantiated complaints concerning breaches of
customer privacy and losses of customer data

IR: 109

Integrated report 2021
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APPENDIX D:
The Group's audited consolidated financial statements for 2020 (NGAAP)
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Letter from the CEO
Dear shareholders,
What a difference a year can make! We entered the year with hopes of using
2020 to raise capital in order to build on the position the company had been
able to take during the last 2-3 years in the electrolyser industry. As the
Covid 19 virus travelled fast to all parts of the world and countries in Europe
literally went into a lock down situation, we felt fairly pessimistic about the
prospects for a capital raise. However, the equity markets soon turned
positive and in combination with a strong interest for ESG related
companies, we initiated preparations for a public offering and stock listing
during the summer. Through an equity issue in October, which was several
times oversubscribed, we raised NOK 550 million to support our future
development. This capital was intended to grow the organisation, invest
selectively in supply chain and R&D and to provide general working capital.
With the funding in place, we embarked on a program to strengthen our
human resources, both technical and administrative, we have filled the
positions as COO and CFO and we have hired competent and experienced
electrolyser talent as new colleagues.
Soon after the capital raise, we initiated negotiations with the owners of the
electrode technology in Advanced Surface Plating ApS (“ASP”) in Denmark
who had been our project partners in a EU funded research project. In our
view the ASP technology is critical in our efforts to increase operating
efficiency of our electrolyser to approximately 93% of the theoretical
maximum and thus enabling a production cost of about USD 1,2 kg per kilo
by 2022. In a deal which was closed before Christmas, we became the 100%
owners of this technology and through a share-based compensation, the
previous owners of ASP are fully aligned with the interests of HydrogenPro.
During the year we continued to work with our contract pipeline and with
new opportunities and in January 2021, we were chosen as a partner to
Repsol for a possible 100MW green hydrogen project at its’ Petronor refinery
in Bilbao. The project is i.e dependent on Green Deal funding. We continued
to work closely with both H2V in France and Mitsubishi Power and DG in the
US to support and assist in maturing their green hydrogen projects. We have
reported on the status of these projects on a regular basis and latest in an
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update to be provided on 30th April in connection with the announcement of
this annual report.
Since the IPO in October we have intensified our work with reshaping our
supply chain model from relying on fabrication of the electrolyser bodies in
China to developing fully independent supply chains including electrolyser
fabrication in both Europe and the US – while China will remain as a
production hub for Asia and Australia/New Zealand. We have announced that
we are seeking industrial partners in order to accelerate these plans whilst
maintaining quality.
Finally, a word on the market. The number of prospects continue to increase
and ambitions within green – or emission free- hydrogen grow higher by the
month as stated by both nations and large corporates. We believe that
allocations from some of the larger funding programs as “Green Deal” and
“IPCEI” will turn out to become a catalyst for large scale investments
decisions to be made late this year and next year.
We are pleased and proud to have you as a shareholder as we play our part
in reshaping the energy future!

Mårten Lunde
CEO
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HydrogenPro in brief
HydrogenPro aims to become a world leading designer, supplier and system integrator
of alkaline electrolyser technology plants and solutions to meet the highest standard for safety,
reliability and long lifetime.
Our main target is to produce green hydrogen at a cost which is competitive with fossil hydrogen.
We deliver customized turn-key plants for large scale production of green hydrogen to large
industrial clients. Modular and compact in design, our advanced hydrogen production plants offer
efficient, renewable green hydrogen tailored to your needs.
The company was established in 2013 by individuals with background from the electrolysis
industry which was established in Telemark, Norway by Norsk Hydro in 1927. Our organisation
comprises an experienced engineering team of leading industry experts, drawing upon
unparalleled experience and expertise within the hydrogen and renewable sectors. By combining
our in-depth knowledge with innovative design, we continuously aspire to pioneer game-changing
ideas and solutions to realise and maximise new opportunities in a smarter, sustainable, hydrogen
powered future.

Hydrogen and main end-user segments
THE COLORS OF HYDROGEN
Hydrogen (H2) is a colorless gas, but the market typically distinguishes between the source of the
H2, in particular to distinguish non-renewable fossil-based H2 from renewably-sourced H2.
“Grey” hydrogen
Grey H2 is produced by methane steam reforming (CH4 + 2H2O –> 4H2 + CO2) in a high
temperature and pressure nickel heterogeneously catalyzed process, without collection of the
associated carbon dioxide.
“Blue” hydrogen
Blue H2 is produced in the same way but the carbon dioxide is separated from the H2 stream and
stored for example, geologically in depleted gas fields or buried under the sea.
“Green” hydrogen
By contrast, green H2 is produced by a fossil-free water electrolysis process (2H2O –> 2H2 + O2),
where the electricity comes from renewable sources, such as solar and wind. Currently, the main
uses for H2 around the world are ammonia synthesis (55%), chemical and petrochemical refineries
(25%), and methanol production (10%).
“Turquoise” hydrogen
Turquoise hydrogen is a by-product of methane pyrolysis, which splits methane into hydrogen
gas and solid carbon. Some consider that this makes turquoise hydrogen a low-emission hydrogen
choice — but this depends on the energy-hungry thermal process being powered with renewable
energy and the carbon being permanently stored.
Other colors of hydrogen
“Pink” hydrogen is hydrogen generated through electrolysis powered by nuclear energy.
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“Yellow” hydrogen is used by some to refer to hydrogen made through electrolysis with solar
power, alternatively referred to as electrolysed hydrogen made using power of mixed origin —
i.e. the mix of renewable and fossil power actually flowing through the grid.
“White hydrogen” is naturally-occurring geological hydrogen found in underground deposits and
created through fracking.
THE GLOBAL GREEN HYDROGEN MARKET IS SURGING
In our view green hydrogen is a key to a climate-friendly future. For industry, green hydrogen can
be a real opportunity to achieve climate neutrality. To make use of this potential, it is important
to take active steps to develop hydrogen technology and commercially develop sustainable
business models across the entire value chain for hydrogen gas and gas-to-liquid.
The majority of costs stem from the cost of renewable power. The last few years we have seen a
rapid growth in renewable capacity and this strong trend is forecasted to continue. Hydrogen will
be needed to utilize the growth in renewables and the forecasted drop in renewable power prices
will make green hydrogen competitive with fossil alternatives.
Awards by the several public financing programs, incl. IPCEI and EU Green Deal, are likely to be a
catalyst to realize industrial scale projects going forward.
SELECTED INDUSTRIAL END-USERS
Refineries
Refineries use large amounts of hydrogen in the refinery
operations which is typically generated from fossil sources
(natural gas).
Europe's hydrogen production is currently around 9 million
tonnes per year (Mt/y), according to the International Energy Agency (IEA), around half of this
hydrogen is consumed by refineries.
The refinery companies are increasing their focus on green hydrogen projects, helping to reduce
their carbon footprint. The introduction of hydrogen removes sulphur from raw materials for
gasoline production, diesel oil and gasoil. Raw oil contains a number of natural sulphur
compounds. Hydrogen is used for this, and the process produces hydrogen sulphide (H2S) which
ends up in the refinery's fuel gas. Direct combustion of fuel gas that contains H2S, also known as
“sour gas”, results in major emissions of SO2 (Sulphur dioxide) from refineries. The fuel gas is
therefore purified before being combusted in the refinery’s combustion plant. The carbon
emissions come later, when engines are used.
Ammonia for fertiliser production
Ammonia—one nitrogen atom bonded to three hydrogen
atoms—may not seem like an ideal fuel. Its energy density by
volume is nearly double that of liquid hydrogen—its primary
competitor as a green alternative fuel—and it is easier to ship
and distribute. You can store it, ship it, burn it, and convert it back into hydrogen and nitrogen.
Around 40% of Europe's hydrogen production is consumed for ammonia production. Companies
around the world already produce $60 billion worth of ammonia from natural gas every year,
primarily as fertilizer. Hydrogen from electrolysis could in the long term take large parts of this
market, which today is covered by hydrogen from natural gas.
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Steel production
Steel is one of the largest industrial sources of greenhouse
gases and responsible for roughly 7 to 9 per cent of all direct
emissions from fossil fuels, according to the World Steel
Association.
More green steel production is expected in the future due to, among other things, help from
hydrogen from electrolysis. The potential use of hydrogen as a reducing agent is many times
larger than the amount of H2 used in the ammonia industry.
Power to gas
Gas grid is more cost-effective than an electricity grid; for the
same investment a gas pipe can transport 10-20 times more
energy than an electricity cable. Europe has a well-developed
gas grid that can be converted to accommodate hydrogen at
minimal cost.
Several European studies have concluded that up to 10 percent hydrogen by volume can be
mixed into natural gas, but that concentrations above 2 % by volume will/may (recommendations
differ) entail further necessary changes to components in the natural gas network (subsurface
storage, analysis equipment) and equipment that utilises natural gas and gas turbines. The
capacity for mixing hydrogen in gas pipelines for export of natural gas to Europe may also be an
option from Norway, Russia and North Africa. The hydrogen/natural gas mix may either be used
directly like conventional natural gas, or the hydrogen may be separated from the natural gas and
used as hydrogen. To combust these mixes, the challenges will be even more pronounced the
higher percentage of hydrogen by volume is fed into the network regionally and between
countries.
Synthetic (hydrogen-based) jet fuel (PtX)
Electrofuels (drop-in fuels) could supply a large amount of
aviation's growing e nergy needs. To meet half of Europe’s
2050 aviation’s energy needs would require 24 % of the
current European electricity generation. Combining CO₂ and
H₂ then results in the synthetic fuel, which can be gasoline,
diesel, gas, or even kerosene. Drop-in jet fuels have aggregate properties that are essentially
equivalent to those of conventional (petroleum-based) jet fuels. As such, drop-in fuels are fully
miscible with conventional jet fuels, and they are fully compatible with existing aircraft engines
and the existing fuel infrastructure (tanks, pipelines, equipment, etc.). Present studies suggest that
the fuel itself (excluding any excise duties) could cost between 1.00 and 1.40 euros a litre in the
long run.
In 2019, the International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA) predicted that the need for liquid
fuel for all transport needs will be quadrupled from 2015 to 2030, when this will about 500
billion litres, to then rise all the way to 1120 billion litres in 2050. In IDA’s Energy Vision 2050,
it is also noted that electrofuels will be a key fuel everywhere electricity and batteries cannot do
the job. This means that the majority of private automobiles will likely be pure electric cars, while
a smaller number will run on electrofuel. With regards to ships, trains and aeroplanes, electrofuel
will comprise a much larger proportion of fuel in tanks in the future. Upscaling the power fuels
opportunity to meet 20% of global aviation fuel demand, would require 250 GW of electrolyser
capacity, supported by a renewables fleet of 600 GW.
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HydrogenPro’s offerings
 Largest hydrogen system in the world
•

Ideal for large-scale industrial applications – 100 MW facilities is expected to become the
new standard

•

In most industry applications no need for compressors

 New exclusive electrode coating technology
•

14% efficiency increase

•

Reaching 93% of maximum theoretical efficiency – Limited potential for marginal
improvements beyond such levels

 Suitable for renewable energy input
•

Dynamic operation and possibility to turn on and off hydrogen production instantly

•

Pressurised oxygen available as a “free” by-product

 Attractive total cost of operation
•

Significantly lower CAPEX and OPEX – 20% overall cost reduction per unit hydrogen
produced

•

Low degradation results in long overhaul interval (10+ years)

•

Large potential to continue to reduce cost as there is no need for noble metals

HydrogenPro has developed a unique 100 MW system.
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HydrogenPro has designed and engineered the first 100 MW hydrogen system globally. This
100MW plant will set a new industry standard for production of green hydrogen



HydrogenPro started engineering of the system in 2018



HydrogenPro’s key competencies are engineering, developing and integrating large-scale
hydrogen systems

Board of Directors report
2020 HIGHLIGHTS
HydrogenPro had revenues of NOK 26.7 million and an operating profit of – NOK6.0 million. The
cash balance at year-end was NOK 506.1 million.
HydrogenPro was listed on Euronext Growth on 14 October 2020 raising gross proceeds of
approx. NOK 550 million (the “Primary Offering") and a secondary offering through a sale of
shares totalling NOK 50 million.
On 20 December 2020 HydrogenPro announced an acquisition of 100% of the shares in
Advanced Surface Plating (“ASP”). The acquisition was completed on 22 December 2020. ASP is
the owner of a proprietary next generation advanced electrode technology which has the potential
to improve the operating efficiency of HydrogenPro’s high pressure alkaline electrolysers with up
to 14%, translating into a projected cost of USD 1.2/kg by 2022. HydrogenPro acquired the
shares in ASP for a consideration consisting of 600,000 shares in the Company, as well as a
potential additional cash consideration of up to NOK 6 million if certain targets are met.
In line with the growing market HydrogenPro continues to scale up the organization through
hiring new management resources and personnel with extensive electrolyser and project
experience.

FINANCIALS
Income statement
HydrogenPro had revenues of NOK 26.7 million in 2020 which mainly consisted of engineering
work related to Mitsubishi’s project in the US and the H2V projects in France.
Operating expenses amounted to NOK 32.6 million, whereof NOK 6.3 million in raw materials and
consumables used, NOK 11.0 million in payroll expenses, NOK 15.0 million in other operating
expenses and depreciation & amortization expenses of NOK 0.4 million.
Operating profit was NOK - 6.0 million.
Net financial income and expenses amounted to NOK - 2.3 million, which consisted of NOK 1.9
million as financial income and NOK 4.2 million as financial expenses (incl. a disagio effect of NOK
3.5 million)
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Tax on ordinary result was NOK 7.7 million which included a tax effect of the Company’s accrued
deferred losses of NOK 7.7 million which was reversed in Q2 2020.
Annual net profit for the year ended at NOK - 16.0 million.

Balance sheet
Total assets as of 31st of December 2020 were NOK 570.0 million, whereof NOK 511.8 million
in current assets (NOK 506.1million in cash and deposits and NOK 5.7 million in total debtors)
and NOK 58.1 million in non-current assets, whereof NOK 55.3 million in intangible assets, NOK
2.8 million in tangible fixed assets and NOK 0.1 million in financial fixed assets.
Total equity amounted to NOK 515.7 million and total liabilities of NOK 54.3 million, whereof
NOK 44.0 million in short-term liabilities and NOK 10.7 million in long-term liabilities/provisions.
The equity ratio was 90%.

Cash flow statement
Net increase in cash during the financial year was NOK 496.1 million. Net cash flow from operating
activities was NOK 28.5 million. Note that a positive impact of NOK26.7 million relates to that
HydrogenPro entered into a share purchase agreement with the initial shareholders of Advanced
Surface Plating ApS on 20th of December 2020. As the payment was first settled through a share
capital increase approved by the extraordinary general meeting on January 8th 2021, the claims
at year end, was treated as part of other short term liabilities.)
Net cash flow from investing activities of NOK – 51.7 million (incl. R&D of NOK 46.9 million which
relates to the acquisition of Advanced Surface Plating ApS).
Net cash flows from financing activities of NOK 519.4 million, mainly due to the gross proceeds
of NOK 550 million raised in connection with the IPO.

UPDATE ON MAJOR PROJECTS
H2V Dunkirk and H2V Normandy (100MW each)
The Front End Engineering Contracts (FEED) were completed during 2020 and based on this
work, H2V submitted, relevant applications to French authorities. From our client we understand
that these applications are still pending. We also understand that the client continues to work
with various funding schemes for renewable energy projects, both EU and France based. In
February 2021 H2V and Air Liquide announced a transaction which implies that Air Liquide
acquires a 40% ownership in the Normandy project. HydrogenPro is currently working on a
comprehensive invitation to bid (“ITB”) process for sub-suppliers to these projects.
DG Fuels – (120 MW for phase 1)
This project is developing, and the Company is in a close dialogue with the project initiators.
Activity has stepped up recently partly due to a «green» re-focus in the US following the
inauguration of the Biden administration in January 2021. The initiators have entered into longterm offtake agreements for parts of the planned production. Also, long-term pricing of
environmental credits related to synthetic fuel is progressing. A leading US investment bank has
been engaged to arrange the financing of the project. Company understands that a contract for
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detailed engineering work with a large engineering company is expected to be finalized within
shortly.
Mitsubishi Power USA (33 MW)
The Company completed the design work related to developing a large 11MW electrolyser for
the US market in January 2021. Discussions are ongoing regarding a possible pilot plant to be
built and delivered to Mitsubishi Power in the US.

SHARES AND DIVIDEND
HydrogenPro is listed on Euronext Growth at Oslo Stock Exchange under the ticker “HYPRO“.
As of 31st of December 2020 the number of shares outstanding was 57,169,312 with a par value
of NOK 0,001/share, and the number of shareholders was 1993, compared to 225 at the date
of listing on 14th of October 2020.
The market capitalization as of year-end 2020 was NOK 3.48bn.
Given the Company’s early stage of development and strategic ambitions, the Board of Directors
does not recommend a dividend for the year 2020.

RISKS
Through its’ ordinary operating activities, the Company is exposed to various types of risk and
this exposure to risk is expected to increase as the Company gradually becomes more involved
in the actual delivery and system integration of large-scale electrolyser plants. The Company is
proactively working to identify risks and taking risk mitigating initiatives to the extent this is
practicable and appropriate. The ongoing work with an ISO certification of the Company is an
important part of the Company’s efforts to manage and control risk.
Below follows a discussion of the Company’s main risks and uncertainties. Additional risks and
uncertainties that the Company currently believes are of less importance or that are currently not
known to the Company, may also have a material adverse effect on the Company's business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flow.
Demand for hydrogen and thus the interest in acquiring the Company's services, may be volatile
and are affected by numerous factors beyond the Company's control. Some of these relate to the
cost of producing and delivering hydrogen, expectations regarding future energy prices,
governmental laws, regulations and permissions, local and international energy and climate
policies and economic conditions, technological changes etc.
Furthermore, the Company depends on its’ ability to ensure sufficient product quality and
performance of the electrolyser systems to meet the customer's expectations and to remain
competitive.
Violations of and/or changes in laws and regulations, including environmental laws could increase
costs or change the way the Company does business. Similarly, changes in laws could make
operating the Company's business more expensive or require the Company to change the way in
which it conducts its business. The hydrogen industry is in its development phase and is not
currently subject to industry specific government regulations in all regions.
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Disruptions of deliveries by the Company's suppliers could increase operating costs, decrease
revenues and adversely impact the Company's operations. The Company has still not entered into
final written agreements with material subcontractors.
The Company may be subject to litigation that could have an adverse effect on the Company's
business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition and/or prospects. There are
inherent risks related to the Company's business which may expose the Company to litigation,
including personal injury litigation, environmental litigation, contractual litigation with clients or
other contract counterparties, intellectual property litigation and tax or securities litigation. The
Company is not involved in any litigation.
A further spread of the corona virus (COVID-19) or a similar pandemic could potentially have a
material adverse effect on the Company.
The Company uses information technology systems to conduct its business, and disruption, failure
or security breaches of these systems could materially and adversely affect its business and results
of operations.
The Company’s functional currency is NOK. The Company operates globally and is therefore
exposed to currency fluctuations, mainly related to USD, Euro and CNY. The Company’s exposure
to interest rates was mainly related to interest earned on the Company’s cash position with banks.
The Company’s exposure to currencies and interest rates is managed on a continuous basis.
The Company is exposed to credit risk. Any failure in the ability or willingness of a counterparty
to fulfil its contractual obligations may have a significant adverse effect on the Company’s
business, prospects, financial results and/or results of operations.
The Company may require additional capital in the future to execute its strategy or for other
purposes, which may not be available on favorable terms, or at all.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
With our ambition to become a leading supplier of water electrolyser systems for industrial
applications, the Company has a responsibility to commit to high standards relating to working
environment and personnel welfare, environmental impact and business practices.
Our ambition is to be an honest, ethical and reliable corporation and build a global reputation as
a trusted supplier and partner. We will achieve this by adopting and complying with principles of
corporate responsibility and in our daily operations, demonstrate integrity and transparency.
Following the IPO the Company has implemented guidelines, policies and procedures relating to
human rights, employee rights and social matters including prevention of corruption, harassment
and discrimination.
HydrogenPro’s reports on the company’s corporate governance in accordance with the Norwegian
Accounting Act § 3-3b. Please see Corporate Governance Report in next section.

EMPLOYEES
The company had 10 direct employees at the end of the financial year, whereof three women and
seven men. The company had no accidents or injuries of staff during 2020 and sick leave was
0.0%.
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DIRECTOR’S AND OFFICER’S INSURANCE
During 2020 a Director’s and Officer’s (“D&O”) insurance agreement was not in place. As the
Company is growing its business a D&O insurance was entered into effective from 19th of April
2021.

ENVIRONMENT
The core of Hydrogen Pro’s business model is to provide green hydrogen solutions for industrial
purposes, i.e. sustainability is the core of our offering through combating climate change. The
company’s hydrogen solutions have zero emissions when connected to renewable power sources
as solar, wind or hydro power.

AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE
On 8th of January 2021: In connection with the acquisition of Advanced Surface Plating ApS in
Denmark (ASP), the Extraordinary General Meeting resolved to carry out a share capital increase
of 600,000 shares bringing the total number of outstanding shares to 57,769,312.
On 8th of January 2021: A Memorandum of Agreement was entered into between Repsol S.A.
Ariema S.A and HydrogenPro with a plan to develop joint hydrogen projects. Within the framework
of a Memorandum of Understanding, HydrogenPro will assist the Spanish multi-energy provider
Repsol to mature and accelerate projects which will help Repsol achieve its’ target of becoming a
zero emissions company by 2050. HydrogenPro will contribute technology and know how to
build and deliver efficient high pressure alkaline electrolysers to produce green hydrogen which
will contribute to the decarbonization of Repsol and to reaching its’ zero-emission target.
In late January, an application was submitted for European Green Deal funding. A key component
of the project is to implement the latest electrolyser technology with improved efficiency to design
an optimized 100MW plan. Any future project depends on allocation of Green Deal funding, and
at present, there are no assurances that such funding will be granted nor that Repsol will make a
final decision to invest in an electrolyser plant in the future.
Ariema will act as facilitator and assist and support HydrogenPro during the project phase and
assuming the project is approved, will support and assist HydrogenPro in establishing a supply
chain for electrolyser projects in Spain.
On 8th of February 2021: Air Liquide (as 40% owner of Normandy project) announced a
Memorandum of Understanding (“MoU”) with Siemens for PEM electrolyser co-operation.
Normandy project mentioned as opportunity for Siemens PEM electrolyser. Dunkirk-project not
impacted by this MoU. The submitted application to French authorities is based on HydrogenPro’s
engineering studies and technology for both projects.
On 22nd of February 2021: HydrogenPro held its first quarterly presentation (Q4 2020) with a
target to produce green hydrogen at USD 1.2/kg through its world-leading electrode technology.
On 23rd of April 2021: HydrogenPro and Hynion entered into two collaboration agreements on
green hydrogen supply to fueling stations:
1. HydrogenPro will supply green hydrogen to Hynion´s fueling station from two of its test and
demo electrolyser containers and further testing of full-scale electrodes with the novel surface
treatment technology, as part of a larger program to verify its technologies. Hynion will be
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the offtaker of hydrogen at commercial terms. The parties will, together with Industrial Green
Tech, apply for Enova grants as part of a larger project in the Grenland area.
2. A general collaboration with Hynion. The parties will collaborate on defined projects that are
suitable for cooperation where HydrogenPro will deliver large-scale hydrogen production
plants that will serve as production hubs to Hynion’s further distribution to its hydrogen
stations across different geographies. Further potential to build a centralized system of
hydrogen production for further distribution to its network of fueling stations. There is a clear
mutual win situation to co-operate at Herøya and within the Industrial Green Tech cluster at
Herøya Industripark and HydrogenPro’s focus on large scale industrial applications remain
unchanged.

On 28th of April 2021: HydrogenPro and Kvina Energy Park (KEP) entered into a co-operation
agreement on the development of a significant hydrogen hub in the Kvinesdal municipality in
Norway. The plot is close to the main grid for electricity, which is expected to provide ample
access to electric power of 500-800 MW of annual hydrogen gas production in the order of
100,000 tons per year, equaling an estimated 190,000 tons of CO2 per year to replace gray
hydrogen.
The plot is conveniently located in relation to transport by rail, road and over sea. Plot regulation
for industrial purposes that opens up for hydrogen production and works in parallel with the
license application for electricity. At the same time, the company will intensify its efforts to develop
demand and new value chains for green hydrogen.
The parties will establish a jointly owned company, Kvina Hydrogen AS, which will be responsible
for the industrial and commercial development of the project. The initiators behind KEP will take
daily responsibility for this development, while HydrogenPro will assist with support and
assistance in the design and optimization of production facilities for electrolysis as well as
assistance and support in dialogues with industrial users and in the development of new value
chains.

OUTLOOK
The Board of Directors sees significant opportunities for HydrogenPro in the green hydrogen
industry. The Company is strategically positioned in a fast-growing market, has a unique
technology position and has been chosen as the supplier on four large projects. The company has
a large and growing pipeline of potential future projects and is developing a possible partnership
position with several companies. The Company has a well-capitalized balance sheet.
The Board believes that with expected awards of subsidized EU funding late this year and next
year, Europe will start seeing some of the larger projects move into the stage of actually ordering
the electrolyser equipment.
Please note that the outlook is subject to the risks outlined in the non-exhaustive description of
risk factors described above.
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GOING CONCERN AND STATEMENT FORM THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
In accordance with section 3(3a) of the Norwegian Accounting Act, the Board of Directors,
confirms that the going-concern assumption is met and that the annual accounts for the Company
for 2020, to the best of our knowledge, have been prepared in accordance with applicable
accounting standards, and that the information provided in the financial statements gives a true
and fair view of the Company’s assets and liabilities.

PORSGRUNN/OSLO, 29 APRIL 2021
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Walter Quam

Ellen Merethe Hanetho

Chairman of the Board

Board member

(Electronically signed)

(Electronically signed)

Terje Mikalsen

Richard Espeseth

Board member

Board member

(Electronically signed)

(Electronically signed)

Mårten Lunde
CEO
(Electronically signed)
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Corporate governance report
INTRODUCTION
Good corporate governance is important when building a larger and robust organization to create
shareholder valuecredibility and access to capital in the financial markets and also build a
reputation as a trusted and reliable supplier and partner to large international corporates. While
HydrogenPro is not subject to the Norwegian recommendations in NUES (Norwegian Code of
Practice for Corporate Governance) updated as of 17 October 2018, the Company aims to comply
with and seek direction from the guidelines and procedures in NUES.
HydrogenPro was listed on 14th of October 2020 on Euronext Growth Oslo, under the ticker
“HYPRO”. As a listed company, HydrogenPro will comply with applicable provisions of the
Norwegian Securities Trading Act, and Market Abuse Regulation (MAR), the Continuing obligations
for companies listed on Euronext Growth, the Norwegian Private Limited Liability Companies Act
and all other applicable laws and regulations.
During 2020, the Board of Directors conducted 18 board meetings, the meetings were conducted
as physical meetings, online meetings and electronic circulation of documents.

GENERAL MEETING
The General Meeting is the highest decision-making authority of the Company. All shareholders
of the Company are entitled to attend and vote at General Meetings and to table draft resolutions
for items to be included on the agenda for a General Meeting. The General Meeting will normally
be held each year by the end of June, with notice of the event and documents available on the
Company website no later than seven days before the annual general meeting. Shareholders may
participate and vote, in person or by proxy, as long as they are registered with the Norwegian
Registry of Securities (VPS).

THE WORK OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Pursuant to Article 5 of the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors shall consist of 2-6
members elected by the general meeting. The current Board of Directors consists of four members,
one woman and three men. All members are elected for a term of two years and may be reelected. In accordance with Norwegian law, the Board of Directors is responsible for, among other
things, supervising the general and day-to-day management of the Company’s business. This
includes ensuring proper organization, preparing plans and budgets for its activities ensuring that
the Company’s activities, accounts, and assets management are subject to adequate controls and
undertaking investigations necessary to perform its duties.

MANAGEMENT
In accordance with Norwegian law and instructions set out by the Board of Directors, Management
is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Company’s operations. Among other
responsibilities, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”), is responsible for keeping the
Company’s accounts in accordance with existing Norwegian legislation and regulations and for
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managing the Company’s assets in a responsible manner. In addition, the CEO must, according to
Norwegian law, brief the Board of Directors about the Company’s activities, financial position and
operating results as a minimum once a month.

HEALTH AND SAFETY
We regard the health and safety of all employees and others directly associated with our activities,
as our outmost priority. This is an area of continuous focus for the Company and has been
particularly highlighted during the Covid 19 pandemic which continues to affect us. In general,
the Company complies with relevant local health and safety laws, regulations, and best practices
to provide and maintain a healthy and safe working environment.
Leave of absence was measured to 0.0% in 2020 of the total working hours in the Company in
2020. Furthermore, we had no incidents or accidents reported neither of personnel injury or
materials during the year. The COVID-19 pandemic was an important event throughout 2020
and HydrogenPro has focused on safeguarding employees by implementing infection control
measures and following government advice and regulations. This has included working fromhome orders when and where possible. No employees in HydrogenPro have been confirmed with
COVID-19 during 2020.

EXTERNAL COMMUNICATION AND INVESTOR RELATIONS
HydrogenPro seeks transparency and is committed to provide its shareholders with precise and
relevant information to ensure that the Company’s share price reflects its true value and prospects.
HydrogenPro upholds the equal treatment of shareholders and potential investors. HydrogenPro
has implemented a process for handling of sensitive information to ensure that the Company, its
employees, and representatives fulfill their obligations regarding the handling and publication of
sensitive information. HydrogenPro’s financial calendar, press releases and stock exchange notices
are published on Oslo Børs’ platform Newsweb and is also made available on the Company’s web
site.
The Investor Relations activities are conducted by the IR team, which includes the CFO, the CEO,
and the Chairman of the Board as well as other personnel appointed by the team. Only members
of the IR team act as spokespersons.

AUDITORS
HydrogenPro’s auditor is BDO AS. The partners of BDO AS are members of The Norwegian
Institute of Public Accountants (Nw.: “Den Norske Revisorforeningen”). The auditors provide a
statement each year confirming their independence (see “Independent Auditor’s Report”). At each
year’s annual general meeting, the Board of Directors discloses the fees paid to the auditors.
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Board of Directors
Walter Quam
Chairman of the board
Walter has 40 years of experience from executive management and board
positions in international corporations such as DNV GL, Gemini Consulting,
CapGemini and Kongsberg Gruppen ASA based in Norway, East Asia,
Continental Europe and the Nordics.
Walter has since stepping down as the President and CEO of Kongsberg
Gruppen ASA mid 2016 devoted his time to non-executive board roles and
strategic engagements through his own advisory business, miway.no. He is
currently chairperson in Petroleum Geo-Services ASA, SINTEF, Council of the
Foundation DNV, mnemonic, wheel.me and Digital Norway. Walter holds a
MSc from NTNU/NTH in Trondheim. Qvam is a Norwegian citizen and resides
in Norway.
Terje Mikalsen
Director
Terje has a long list of top management and board positions. He co-founded
Norsk Data AS and has been an active owner in many companies as well as
heading the listings of Norsk Data, Hafslund, Nycomed and NCL at the NY
stock exchanges (NYSE/Nasdaq). Terje holds an MSc from NTH. He is a
Norwegian citizen and resides in Norway.
Ellen Merete Hanetho
Director
Ellen has 20 years of experience from investment banking and private equity
as a finance and business development executive in corporations such as
Frigaard Invest, Credo Partners, Goldman Sachs Investment Banking Division
in London and New York, and the Brussels Stock Exchange and Citibank in
Brussels. She is founder and chairperson of Cercis, a cleantech investment
company established in 2020. Ellen holds a BSBA from Boston University,
US and an MBA from Solvay University, Belgium in addition to executive
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training from INSEAD, France and Harvard Business School, US. Hanetho is
a Norwegian citizen and resides in Norway.
Richard Espeseth
Director
Richard founded HydrogenPro in 2013. He has 25 years international
industry experience from Norsk Hydro, Statoil, ABB and RPR. More than 10
years of experience from the hydrogen electrolyser business. M.Sc. in
Mechanical Engineering from South Dakota School of Mine & Technology.

Management
Mårten Lunde
CEO
Mårten has held several positions as CEO and CFO, primarily within shipping
and offshore. Previous CFO of Bonheur and CEO in Fred.Olsen Production
and the Troms Offshore Supply group. M.Sc. in Economics and Business
Administration from the Norwegian School of Economics (NHH). Mårten was
appointed CEO as of 28th August 2020.
Richard Espeseth
CBDO
Richard founded HydrogenPro in 2013. He has 25 years international
industry experience from Norsk Hydro, Statoil, ABB and RPR. More than 10
years of experience from the hydrogen electrolyser business. M.Sc. in
Mechanical Engineering from South Dakota School of Mine & Technology.
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Martin Thanem Holtet
CFO
Martin was appointed as CFO in December 2020 and joined HydrogenPro
on 1st of March 2021. Martin comes from the position as VP, Head of
Treasury and IR in Hurtigruten. Prior to this, he worked with strategy and
M&A in Yara International and Corporate Finance in Carnegie. Martin holds
a master’s degree from Norwegian School of Economics (NHH) with a major
in financial economics.
Additionally, Sindre Utne has been appointed as COO. He starts in
HydrogenPro on 3rd of May 2021. He comes from the role as General
Manager at Wärtsilä where he is heading the global business of Power &
Energy Management Systems. Sindre has broad experience from business
operations, strategy development, risk management and cost control. Sindre
has a M.Sc. Offshore Safety and Risk Management.
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Financial statements
INCOME STATEMENT
(NOK)
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BALANCE SHEET
(NOK)
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(NOK)
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PORSGRUNN/OSLO, 29 APRIL 2021
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Walter Quam
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Chairman of the Board
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(Electronically signed)

(Electronically signed)

Terje Mikalsen

Richard Espeseth

Board member

Board member

(Electronically signed)

(Electronically signed)

Mårten Lunde
CEO
(Electronically signed)
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
(NOK)
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ACCOUNTING PRICINCIPLES
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act
and generally accepted accounting principles in Norway.

Basis for consolidation
The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise HydrogenPro AS and companies in which
HydrogenPro AS has a controlling interest. A controlling interest is normally obtained when the
Group owns more than 50% of the shares in the company and can exercise control over the
company.
The consolidated financial statement has been prepared in accordance with the same accounting
principles for both parent and subsidiary.
Material transactions and balances between the companies in the group have been eliminated.
The purchase method is applied when accounting for business combinations. Companies which
have been bought or sold during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date when control is achieved and until the date when control ceases. Differences
between the cost price of the subsidiaries' shares and the book value of net assets in the same
subsidiaries at the time of acquisition have been analyzed and attributed to the assets to which
the differences relate. The part of the excess cost that cannot be attributed to acquired assets is
classified as goodwill and amortized over its economic life.
Consolidation has been carried out from the time of takeover until the time of disposal.

Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in compliance with the Accounting Act requires the use of
estimates. The application of the company's accounting principles also require management to
apply assessments. Areas which to a great extent contain such assessments, a high degree of
complexity, or areas in which assumptions and estimates are significant for the financial
statements, are described in the notes.

Revenue
Income from sale of goods and services are recognised at fair value of the consideration, net after
deduction of VAT, returns,
discounts and reductions. Sales are taken to income when the company has delivered its products
to the customer and there are no unsatisfied commitments which may influence the customer's
acceptance of the product. Delivery is not completed until the products have been sent to the
agreed place, and risks relating to loss and obsolescence have been transferred to the customer.
Historical data is applied to estimate and recognise provisions for quantity rebates and returns at
the sales date. Provisions for expected guarantee work are recognised as expenses and provisions
for liabilities. Services are recognised in proportion to the work performed.
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Classification of balance sheet items
Assets intended for long term ownership or use have been classified as fixed assets. Assets
relating to the trading cycle have been classified as current assets. Other receivables are classified
as current assets if they are to be repaid within one year after the transaction date. Similar criteria
apply to liabilities. First year's instalment on long term liabilities and long term receivables are,
however, not classified as short term liabilities and current assets.

Purchase costs
The purchase cost of assets includes the cost price for the asset, adjusted for bonuses, discounts
and other rebates received, and purchase costs (freight, customs fees, public fees which are nonrefundable and any other direct purchase costs). Purchases in foreign currencies are reflected in
the balance sheet at the exchange rate at the transaction date. For fixed assets and intangible
assets purchase cost also includes direct expenses to prepare the asset for use, such as expenses
for testing of the asset.
R&D expenses are taken into the balance sheet providing a future financial benefit relating to the
development of an identifiable intangible asset can be identified and the expenses can be reliably
measured. Otherwise such expenses are expensed as and when incurred. R&D expenses are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset's expected useful life.

Long term contracts
Work in progress on long term fixed-price contracts is valued according to the percentage of
completion method. The degree of completion is calculated as expenses incurred as a percentage
of estimated total expense. Total expenses are reviewed on a regular basis. If projects are
expected to result in losses, the total estimated loss is recognised immediately.

Debtors
Trade debtors are recognised in the balance sheet after provision for bad debts. The bad debts
provision is made on basis of an individual assessment of each debtor and an additional provision
is made for other debtors to cover expected losses. Significant financial problems at the
customers, the likelihood that the customer will become bankrupt or experience financial
restructuring and postponements and insufficient payments, are considered indicators that the
debtors should be written down.

Investments in quoted shares
Short term investments in listed companies the fair value principle is used. The value in the balance
sheet corresponds to the market value of the investments at the period end. Dividends received,
and both realised and unrealised gains/losses are recognised as other financial income.

Foreign currencies
Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are valued at the exchange rate on the balance sheet
date. Exchange gains and losses relating to sales and purchases in foreign currencies are
recognised as operating income and cost of goods sold.
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Liabilities
Liabilities, with the exception of certain liability provisions, are recognised in the balance sheet at
nominal amount.

Taxes
The tax charge in the income statement includes both payable taxes for the period and changes
in deferred tax. Deferred tax is calculated at relevant tax rates on the basis of the temporary
differences which exist between accounting and tax values, and any carryforward losses for tax
purposes at the year-end. Tax enhancing or tax reducing temporary differences, which are
reversed or may be reversed in the same period, have been eliminated. The disclosure of deferred
tax benefits on net tax reducing differences which have not been eliminated, and carryforward
losses, is based on estimated future earnings. Deferred tax and tax benefits which may be shown
in the balance sheet are presented net.
Tax reduction on group contributions given and tax on group contribution received, booked as a
reduction of cost price or taken directly to equity, are booked directly against tax in the balance
sheet (offset against payable taxes if the group contribution has affected payable taxes, and offset
against deferred taxes if the group contribution has affected deferred taxes).
Deferred tax is reflected at nominal value.

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement has been prepared according to the indirect method. Cash and cash
equivalents include cash, bank deposits, and other short-term investments which immediately and
with minimal exchange risk can be converted into known cash amounts, with due date less than
three months from purchase date.
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NOTES
(NOK)
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Note 12

Stock options

The fair value of the options granted in the period has been calculated by using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model and a deemed option price where relevant. The fair value has been calculated to
NOK 10 676 838 per 31.12.
The basis for the valuation model consists of several factors which affects the calculated fair value of granted
options. The assumptions used in the calculation are:
Price at grant date
Exercise price
Option life
Risk-free interest rate
Volatility

7
7
4 years
1.17 %
58 %

Options to leading employees
During the period, member of the board, employees and others have been granted 2.249.000 new stock options.
Total options awarded per 31.12.2020 is 3.740.000. Below is an overview of the Group Management and Board
Members' share options:

Walter Hafslo Qvam, Chair of
the Board
TM Holding AS, Board member
Ellen Merete Hanetho, Board
member
Other employees
Other

Opening
balance

Granted
options

Forfeited options

Exercised
options

Ending balance
314 000

314 000
163 005

163 005

216 000
275 000
936 995
1 591 000

216 000
275 000
2 771 995
3 740 000

1 935 000
2 249 000

100 000
100 000

-

(A) - average exercise price for options exercised during the year
Granted options are generally vested or earned during a period of three years according to a predetermined
schedule. Options vested or earned can be exercised at any time and must be exercised latest four years after
award. The vesting requires continued employment or association with the company.
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APPENDIX E:
The Group's audited consolidated financial statements for 2019 (NGAAP)

Leirvollen 21A, 3736 Skien
Løkkebakken 24, 3770 Kragerø
www.bdo.no

Independent Auditor's Report
To the General Meeting in HydrogenPro AS
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

The financial statements comprise:
• The balance sheet as at 31 December
2019
• The income statement for 2019
• Statement of cash flow for the year
that ended 31 December 2019
• Notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant
accounting policies

In our opinion:
The accompanying financial statements are
prepared in accordance with the law and
regulations and give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Company as at 31
December 2019 and its financial performance
for the year then ended in accordance with the
Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting
standards and practices generally accepted in
Norway.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company as
required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the Financial
Statements
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (management) are responsible for the preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act
and accounting standards and practices generally accepted in Norway, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern.
The financial statements use the going concern basis of accounting insofar as it is not likely that the
enterprise will cease operations.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

BDO AS, et norsk aksjeselskap, er deltaker i BDO International Limited, et engelsk selskap med begrenset ansvar, og er en del av det
internasjonale BDO-nettverket, som består av uavhengige selskaper i de enkelte land. Foretaksregisteret: NO 993 606 650 MVA.
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Penneo Dokumentnøkkel: DLJ3A-PF0Q4-QZH7W-EUVAN-G7KJ7-MW5IN

We have audited the financial statements of HydrogenPro AS.

For further description of Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
reference is made to:
https://revisorforeningen.no/revisjonsberetninger

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Opinion on Registration and Documentation
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements
(ISAE) 3000, «Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information», it is our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and
clearly set out registration and documentation of the company’s accounting information in
accordance with the law and bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in Norway.

Penneo Dokumentnøkkel: DLJ3A-PF0Q4-QZH7W-EUVAN-G7KJ7-MW5IN

BDO AS
Espen Åsulfsen
State Authorised Public Accountant
(This document is signed electronically)

BDO AS, et norsk aksjeselskap, er deltaker i BDO International Limited, et engelsk selskap med begrenset ansvar, og er en del av det
internasjonale BDO-nettverket, som består av uavhengige selskaper i de enkelte land. Foretaksregisteret: NO 993 606 650 MVA.
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